

# Government Gazette

of the State of
New South Wales

Number 212 - Other Friday, 30 May 2025

The New South Wales Government Gazette is the permanent public record of official NSW Government notices. It can also contain local council, non-government and other notices.

Each notice in the Government Gazette has a unique reference number that appears in parentheses at the end of each page of the notice and can be used as a reference for that notice. For example, [NSWGG-2024-10-1].

The Gazette is compiled by the Parliamentary Counsel's Office and published on the NSW Government Gazette website (www.gazette.nsw.gov.au) under the authority of the NSW Government. The website contains a permanent archive of past Gazettes.

To submit a notice for gazettal, visit the website.

**By Authority**Government Printer



# Anti-Discrimination Act 1977

# **EXEMPTION ORDER**

Under the provisions of section 126 of the *Anti-Discrimination Act* 1977 (NSW), an exemption is given from sections 8 and 51 of the *Anti-Discrimination Act* 1977 (NSW) to Social Futures Ltd to advertise, designate, and recruit up to two positions, including an Aboriginal Family Connect and Support Program Worker and a Senior Aboriginal Engagement Officer, for Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander persons only.

This exemption will remain in force for 4 years.

Date: 23 May 2025

Jackie Lyne

A/ Executive Manager, Governance & Advice
Delegate of the President
Anti-Discrimination NSW

# **GEOGRAPHICAL NAMES ACT 1966**

PURSUANT to the provisions of Section 10 of the *Geographical Names Act 1966*, the Geographical Names Board has this day assigned the names listed hereunder as geographical names.

**Brunswick Heads Beach** for a beach that extends from the southern breakwater of the Brunswick River to the northern boundary of the Tyagarah Nature Reserve in the suburb of Brunswick Heads.

**Tyagarah Beach** for a beach extending for approximately 6.3kms, defined to the north by the boundary of the Tyagarah Nature Reserve and to the south by the mouth of Belongil Beach. The beach stretches through the suburbs of Brunswick Heads, Tyagarah and Byron Bay.

The Geographical Names Board notifies to amend the extent of the hereunder assigned names:

**Belongil Beach** for a beach extending for approximately 2.8kms from Belongil Creek to the rock groins at Main Beach near the intersection of Jonson Street and Bay Street in the suburb of Byron Bay.

**Main Beach** for a beach that extends from the rock groin at the southern extent of Belongil Beach to Clarkes Beach. The beach stretches for approximately 850 metres along the shoreline near the intersection of Bay Street and Jonson Street to the northern extent of Massinger Street, in the suburb of Byron Bay.

The position and extent for these features are recorded and shown within the Geographical Names Register of New South Wales. This information can be accessed through the Board's website at Geographical Names Board | NSW Government.

NARELLE UNDERWOOD Chair

Geographical Names Board 346 Panorama Ave BATHURST NSW 2795

# **GEOGRAPHICAL NAMES ACT 1966**

PURSUANT to the provisions of Section 8 of the *Geographical Names Act 1966*, the Geographical Names Board hereby notifies that it proposes to assign the name:

**Bank Street Light Rail Stop** for a Railway Station located at the intersection of Banks Street and Miller Street, underneath the Western Distributor in Pyrmont, Sydney Local Government Area.

The position and extent for this feature is recorded and shown within the Geographical Names Register of New South Wales. The proposal can be viewed and submissions lodged on the Geographical Names Board website at https://www.nsw.gov.au/departments-andagencies/geographical-names-board from 30 May until 30 June 2025. Alternatively, written submissions may be mailed to the Secretary, Geographical Names Board, 346 Panorama Ave, Bathurst, NSW 2795.

In accordance with Section 9 of the *Geographical Names Act 1966*, all submissions lodged may be subject to a Government Information (Public Access) application and may be viewed by a third party to assist the Board in considering this proposal.

NARELLE UNDERWOOD Chair

Geographical Names Board 346 Panorama Ave BATHURST NSW 2795

# **GEOGRAPHICAL NAMES ACT 1966**

PURSUANT to the provisions of Section 8 of the *Geographical Names Act 1966*, the Geographical Names Board hereby notifies that it proposes to assign the name:

**Ronda Alterator Reserve** for a reserve located at 3 Boondah Road, Warriewood in the Northern Beaches Local Government Area.

The position and extent for this feature is recorded and shown within the Geographical Names Register of New South Wales. The proposal can be viewed and submissions lodged on the Geographical Names Board website at https://www.nsw.gov.au/departments-andagencies/geographical-names-board from 30 May 2025 until 30 June 2025. Alternatively, written submissions may be mailed to the Secretary, Geographical Names Board, 346 Panorama Ave, Bathurst, NSW 2795.

In accordance with Section 9 of the *Geographical Names Act 1966*, all submissions lodged may be subject to a Government Information (Public Access) application and may be viewed by a third party to assist the Board in considering this proposal.

NARELLE UNDERWOOD Chair

Geographical Names Board 346 Panorama Ave BATHURST NSW 2795 The Health Insurance Levies Act 1982 – Notice of Prescribed Rate was published in the NSW Government Gazette of 21 March 2025 (NSWGG-2025-112-3)). This Notice did not contain the correct prescribed rate for the purposes of Schedule 2 of the Act.

A new Notice containing the correct prescribed rate is now published in full below.

# **HEALTH INSURANCE LEVIES ACT 1982**

# **NOTICE OF PRESCRIBED RATE**

Pursuant to the Health Insurance Levies Act 1982, the prescribed rate for the purposes of the Act for the period commencing on 1 April 2025 is \$1.86.

**Scott Johnston** Chief Commissioner of State Revenue

Date: 26 May 2025



# **Anti-Discrimination Act 1977**

# **EXEMPTION ORDER**

Under the provisions of section 126 of the *Anti-Discrimination Act* 1977 (NSW), the exemption order granted to NAISDA Dance College on 6 December 2024 is HEREBY VARIED to read:

Under the provisions of section 126 of the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 (NSW), an exemption is given from sections 8 and 51 of the *Anti-Discrimination Act 1977* (NSW) to NAISDA Limited to advertise, designate and recruit positions of:

- Facilities Officer
- Catering Assistant
- People and Organisational Culture Coordinator
- Information Services Officer
- Marketing Officer
- Trainee Administrator
- Creative Producer
- Corporate Services Executive Assistant
- Dance Practice Lead
- Development Officer
- People and Organisational Culture Administrator

for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people only.

This exemption will remain in force until 6 December 2034.

adbcontact@justice.nsw.gov.au | Locked Bag 5000, Parramatta NSW 2124 Phone: 02 9268 5555 | Free call: 1800 670 812 antidiscrimination.nsw.gov.au

Date: 27 May 2025

Katherine Nelson

A/Manager, Governance & Advice Delegate of the President Anti-Discrimination NSW



# Anti-Discrimination Act 1977

# **EXEMPTION ORDER**

Under the provisions of section 126 of the *Anti-Discrimination Act* 1977 (NSW), an exemption is given from sections 8 and 51 of the *Anti-Discrimination Act* 1977 (NSW) to **KU Children's Services** to advertise, designate and recruit the following positions for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people only:

- Manager, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Programs (1)
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Programs Cultural Facilitator (6)
- Identified Early Childhood Teacher (5)
- Identified Advanced Child Care Educator Qualified (5)
- Identified Child Care Educators (5).

This exemption will remain in force for 10 years.

Date: 27 May 2025

Khllon

Katherine Nelson

A/ Executive Manager

Delegate of the President
Anti-Discrimination NSW

#### **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996**

# WEEKDAY WINDFALL & SATURDAY LOTTO RULES - APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE RULES

I, Natalie Wright, Executive Director of Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, pursuant to section 23 of the *Public Lotteries Act 1996* (hereafter referred to as "the Act") DO HEREBY APPROVE, under delegation of the Minister for Gaming & Racing pursuant to section 81 of the Act, the Rules for the conduct of the Games known as Weekday Windfall and Saturday Lotto and Promotional Events by the New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd, as annexed to this instrument, effective from 13 June 2025. On 13 June 2025, these Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette, subject to the Explanatory Note in this Instrument.

Dated this 27th of May 2025.

# **Natalie Wright**

Executive Director, Policy & Programs

Hospitality & Racing `

Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport

Delegate of the Minister for Gaming & Racing

# PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996 WEEKDAY WINDFALL & SATURDAY LOTTO RULES

# **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

It is hereby notified that the Executive Director, Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, under delegation of the Minister administering the Public Lotteries Act 1996 has approved of the following Rules for the Conduct of the Games known as Weekday Windfall and Saturday Lotto and Promotional Events. In accordance with Section 23(3)(b) of the Act, these Rules take effect on and from 13 June 2025. These Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette.

Issue No.: 12.7

Effective: 13 June 2025

NSW Government Gazette

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

RULE 1	DEFINITIONS	3	
RULE 2	CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES AND PROMOTIONAL EVENTS	9	
RULE 3	APPLICATION OF RULES	11	
RULE 4	OBJECT	12	
RULE 5	ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME	13	
RULE 6	RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS	14	
RULE 7	COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE	16	
RULE 8	STANDARD ENTRY	17	
RULE 9	SYSTEM ENTRY	18	
RULE 10	SYNDICATE ENTRY	19	
RULE 11	SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY	21	
RULE 12	PRIZES	23	
RULE 13	ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES	28	
RULE 14	PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES	29	
RULE 15	DISQUALIFICATIONS	34	
RULE 16	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	35	
RULE 17	EFFECTIVE DATE	37	
RULE 18	AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A PROMOTIONAL EVENT	38	
SCHEDULE 139		39	
SCHEDULE 24		41	
SCHEDULE 34		43	
SCHEDULE	SCHEDULE 4		

# RULE 1 DEFINITIONS

- (a) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - "Act" means the Public Lotteries Act 1996 any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;
  - (ii) "Advance Entry" means an Entry or Syndicate Entry for a nominated Draw in advance of the current Draw, whereby the maximum number of advanced Draws will be determined by the Licensee;
  - (iii) "Ancillary Fee" means a fee charged to a Player or Syndicate Player from whom a Reseller accepts an Entry over and above the Subscription and the Commission;
  - (iv) "Approved" means approved in writing by the Minister;
  - (v) "Australian Consumer Law" means schedule 2 of the *Competition and Consumer Act 2010* (Cth);
  - (vi) "Automatic Entry" means an Entry or Syndicate Entry in respect of a Game made pursuant to verbal instruction or electronic instruction (not requiring completion of an Entry Coupon) wherein:
    - (1) the selection of Numbers is made by way of a Computer Linked Terminal or the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee; and/or
    - (2) the Numbers are the Numbers previously selected by a Player and stored in the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - (vii) "Chief Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee or such delegate appointed by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3(g);
  - (viii) "Close of Acceptance" means the day and time of day determined by the Licensee and published on the Website after which Entries and/or Syndicate Entries will not be accepted;
  - (ix) "Commission" means an amount:
    - (1) paid to, deducted by or retained by a Retailer in connection with a Subscription (whether or not in the person's capacity as a Retailer); and
    - (2) determined by or in accordance with, and identified as Commission in, the conditions of the Product Licence or these Rules:
  - (x) "Computer Linked Terminal" means computer equipment located in branches of the Licensee or its related bodies corporate, or places of business of its Retailers or otherwise which is linked to the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee for purposes associated with the Games or Promotional Events;
  - (xi) "Computer Records" means the sum of information which is provided to the Licensee by way of the Licensee's central processing computer equipment in respect of a Player or Syndicate Player and in respect of details of:
    - (1) a Player's Entry in a Game;
    - (2) a Syndicate Entry in a Game;
    - (3) a Syndicate Player's Syndicate Share in a Game; and

- (4) where appropriate a Player's entry in a Promotional Event;
- (xii) "Conduct" in relation to a Game and a Promotional Event has the same meaning as assigned to it by Section 4(1) of the Act;
- (xiii) "Director" means a Director of the Board of Directors of the Licensee;
- (xiv) "Division 1 Prize Guarantee" means the Division 1 Prize amounts for Weekday Windfall and Saturday Lotto that may be determined by the Licensee from time to time;
- (xv) "Drawing" means:
  - (1) in relation to a Game(but not including a Second Drawing) the selection of the Winning Numbers and the two Supplementary Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device; and
  - in relation to a Second Drawing the selection of the Winning Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device;
- (xvi) "Drawing Date" in relation to a Game means the date on which the Winning Numbers and the two Supplementary Numbers are selected in respect of that Game and, provided there is no inconsistency and where the context admits, includes the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of a Second Drawing of a Game;
- (xvii) "Drawing Device" means equipment as Approved by the Minister from time to time used to conduct a Drawing;
- (xviii) "Employee" means an employee of the Licensee. In other contexts, where appropriate, "Employee" includes an employee of a Retailer;
- (xix) "Entry" means the Numbers in a Game which have been recorded in the central processing computer equipment, which have been selected by way of an Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry, which (subject to Rule 6(d)) have been Imprinted on a Ticket and in respect of which the correct Selling Fee or correct Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, has been paid;
- (xx) "Entry Coupon" means a form, approved by the Licensee/Chief Executive Officer, to be completed by a Player containing instructions (including the chances of winning) to effect an Entry in the relevant Game and/or a Promotional Event via a Computer Linked Terminal;
- "Game" means a public lottery Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, Rules and Regulations but does not include Promotional Events;
- (xxii) "Game Panel" means:
  - (1) a separate matrix on an Entry Coupon containing the Numbers from 1 to 45 in arithmetical sequence; or
  - (2) a single game on a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates;
- (xxiii) "Imprinted" means printed upon a Ticket by the Computer Linked Terminal;
- (xxiv) "Jackpot Drawing" means the next Drawing of Saturday Lotto (other than a Second Drawing), as approved by the Licensee, following the Drawing of Saturday Lotto (other than a Second Drawing), where there is no winner in accordance with Rule 12(j)(i)(2);

- (xxv) "Licensee" means New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Limited;
- (xxvi) "Lotto Rules" means the rules in force and effective from 12 January 2024 for Monday and Wednesday Lotto and Saturday Lotto;
- (xxvii) "Malfunction" means a failure of any of the following:
  - (1) the Drawing Device:
  - (2) the Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (3) the central processing computer equipment,

to operate in the manner in which it is designed to operate;

- (xxviii) "Minister" means the Minister for the time being administering the Act;
- (xxix) "Multiple Draws Entry" means an Entry that is valid for more than one Drawing;
- (xxx) "Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket" means a Ticket issued to a Player:
  - (1) who surrenders a Multiple Draws Ticket to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (2) who surrenders a Syndicate Share Ticket that contains more than one product to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (3) where at the time the Prize is collected or claimed there is one or more Drawing/s remaining in respect of the Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (4) where the Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket shall be Imprinted with the same Numbers as the Multiple Draws Ticket surrendered;
  - (5) where the Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket shall be considered the Multiple Draws Ticket in respect of the remaining Drawing/s;
- (xxxi) "Multiple Draws Ticket" means a Ticket issued in respect of more than one Drawing;
- (xxxii) "Numbers" has the same meaning as Section 5 of the Act;
- (xxxiii) "Operator Licence" means the operator licence granted to the Licensee, pursuant to the Act, to conduct any public lottery for which it, from time to time, holds a Product Licence granted pursuant to the Act;
- (xxxiv) "Outlet" means a place at which a Retailer is permitted to accept completed Entries into Games and entries into Promotional Events;
- (xxxv) "Player" means a person who:
  - (1) has paid the correct Subscription and Commission and Ancillary Fee (where applicable) for an Entry; and/or
  - (2) holds a Valid Entry; and/or
  - (3) holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes where relevant a person who has Validly entered a Promotional Event and who

holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Promotional Event to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

- (xxxvi) "Prize" means any Prize determined in accordance with Rule 12;
- (xxxvii) "Prize Allocation" means that proportion of Subscriptions paid into the Prize Fund for a particular Game as specified in Rule 12(a);
- (xxxviii) "Prize Fund" means an account established under Section 27 of the Act for each Game and known as the "Weekday Windfall Prize Fund Account" and the "Saturday Lotto Prize Fund Account";
- (xxxix) "Prize Pool" has the meaning in Rule 12(b);
- (xl) "Prize Reserve Fund" means the fund located in each Prize Fund under Section 27 of the Act containing:
  - (1) the amounts specified in Rule 12(c); and
  - (2) an amount representing any unclaimed Prizes, subject to a direction under Section 27A of the Act;
- (XII) "Product Licence" means the product licence granted to the Licensee to Conduct Games and Promotional Events pursuant to Section 12 of the Act;
- (xlii) "Promotional Event" means a public lottery, which is not a Game, that is Conducted for the purpose of promoting a Game and in respect of which:
  - (1) eligibility to enter is confined to Players and Syndicate Players in a Game; and
  - (2) no further Subscription, Commission or Syndicate Share Fee is charged;
- (xliii) "Provisional Period" means the period of consecutive calendar days approved from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer which starts on the day immediately following the Drawing Date, and which shall be no longer than twenty one (21) consecutive calendar days:
- (xliv) "Provisional Prize" is a Prize in Division 1 and/or a Prize (or additional Prize in the case of a Second Drawing) that exceeds \$1,000.00 as shown on a Computer Linked Terminal;
- (xlv) "Provisional Prize Winner" means a Player who holds a Ticket which is eligible for a Provisional Prize;
- (xlvi) "Registered Player" means a Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Player;
- (xlvii) "Registered Syndicate Player" means a Syndicate Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Syndicate Player;
- (xlviii) "Regulation" means a regulation made under the Act;
- (xlix) "Reseller" means a Retailer, Approved by the Minister, who is authorised by the Licensee to receive Subscriptions, Commissions and instructions in respect of a Game and instructions with respect to a Promotional Event from a Player. Such Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prizes for and on behalf of a Player;

Issue No.: 12.7

- (l) "Retailer" means a person or agent appointed by the Licensee for purposes associated with Games and Promotional Events Conducted by the Licensee and includes a Reseller;
- (li) "Rules" means these Rules made under the Act, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;
- (lii) "Saturday Lotto" means the Game drawn, subject to Rule 2(c), on the Saturday of each week;
- (liii) "Second Drawing" means an additional Drawing conducted as part of a Game in accordance with the Rules;
- (liv) "Selling Fee" means the sum of the Commission and Subscription and Ancillary Fee (where applicable);
- (lv) "Standard Entry" means the Entry referred to in Rule 8;
- (Ivi) "Subscription" means the amounts paid for Entries but does not include the following:
  - (1) Ancillary Fees; or
  - (2) Commission, unless the Act expressly provides otherwise;
- (Ivii) "Supplementary Numbers" in relation to a Game means the seventh and eighth Numbers drawn for each Game;
- (Iviii) "Syndicate Entry" is an arrangement under which a type of Entry or combination of types of Entries, in the Game or other products, is divided into a number of equal shares;
- (lix) "Syndicate Organiser" is a person referred to in Rule 10;
- (lx) "Syndicate Player" means a person who:
  - (1) has paid the correct Syndicate Share Fee for a Syndicate Share; and
  - (2) holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes a person who has Validly entered a Promotional Event and who holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Promotional Event to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

- (lxi) "Syndicate Share" means a share of a Syndicate Entry;
- (Ixii) "Syndicate Share Fee" means the amount payable by a Syndicate Player to participate in a Syndicate comprising the relevant apportionment of both the Subscription and Commission rounded as necessary to the nearest whole cent in accordance with these Rules;
- (Ixiii) "System Entry" means the Entry referred to in Rule 9 (System 4 and 5 Entries are also known as 'Pick' 4 and 5 Entries);
- (Ixiv) "Ticket" means the receipt, whether it be in documentary, electronic or other form, which is the official confirmation that a Player has paid the correct Selling Fee for a valid Entry in a Game or that a Syndicate Player has paid the correct Syndicate Share Fee for a valid Syndicate Share in a Game, and which:

- (1) contains Entry or Syndicate Share details; and
- (2) may include a Ticket Number and other such tests to determine the identity, validity and status of the Ticket and whether it has won a Prize; and
- (3) may include other particulars as determined by the Licensee:
- (lxv) "Ticket Number" means the numbers and/or letters Imprinted on a Ticket which constitute official verification of the valid issue of a Ticket in a particular Game;
- (lxvi) "Valid" means:
  - (1) in respect of an Entry Coupon, that it satisfies the requirements of these Rules;
  - (2) in respect of a Ticket, an Entry or Syndicate Share, that nothing in these Rules would prevent the Player or Syndicate Player who purchased it from being able to claim a Prize otherwise attributable to it;
- (lxvii) "Website" means the internet site located at www.thelott.com/nswlotteries (or such other address as may be advertised from time to time);
- (lxviii) "Weekday Windfall" is a Game drawn, subject to Rule 2(c), on Monday, Wednesday and Friday of each week;
- (lxix) "Winning Numbers" in relation to a Game (including a Second Drawing) means the first six numbers drawn for each Drawing of a Game.
- (b) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - (i) a reference to the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;
  - (ii) headings are for convenient reference only and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of the provisions to which they refer.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

#### **RULE 2** CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES AND PROMOTIONAL EVENTS

- (a) These Rules are to be read subject to the Act, its Regulations, the Operator Licence and the Product Licence, and shall apply to every Game and Promotional Event.
- A Drawing in relation to a Game shall take place after the Close of Acceptance of Entries and (b) Syndicate Shares has closed for that Game.
- (c) Games will be drawn on Monday, Wednesday, Friday and Saturday of each week unless the Chief Executive Officer determines otherwise necessary (acting reasonably) to overcome an operational issue. Games which are scheduled to be drawn on:
  - (i) Monday, Wednesday and Friday of each week will be known as "Weekday Windfall";
  - (ii) Saturday of each week will be known as "Saturday Lotto".
- (d) Drawings undertaken in the State of New South Wales shall be conducted by the Licensee and supervised by a person or persons nominated by the Minister in accordance with Drawing procedures agreed between the Licensee and the Minister's nominee(s).

Certification of the validity of a Drawing by the Minister's nominee(s) shall be final and binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.

- (e) Where a Malfunction in a Drawing Device occurs:
  - (i) only the Number/s drawn before a Malfunction has commenced shall be Winning Numbers and/or Supplementary Number/s;
  - in the event that any Winning Number/s and/or Supplementary Number/s are still to be (ii) selected after the Malfunction:
    - (1) the Drawing shall commence or re-commence, as the case may be, as soon as practicable after the rectification of the Malfunction; or
    - (2)where the Malfunction cannot be rectified, the Drawing shall commence or recommence as the case may be, using a substitute Drawing Device as soon as practicable after the commencement of the Malfunction and shall continue until all Winning Numbers and Supplementary Numbers are drawn.
- (f) Drawings conducted outside the State of New South Wales shall be conducted and supervised in accordance with the requirements of the relevant regulatory body for the State or Territory in which the Drawings are conducted.
- The Licensee may Conduct a Promotional Event in such manner and at such times and places as (g) the Chief Executive Officer determines, including (but not limited to), at the absolute discretion of the Chief Executive Officer, the Conduct of a Promotional Event in conjunction with another Game or separately from a Game or otherwise in conjunction with another lottery Conducted by the Licensee.
- (h) A Promotional Event shall, at commencement, have a Prize structure as determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- The Prize structure for a Promotional Event shall comprise the number, nature and value of Prizes to (i) be offered by the Licensee to Players and Syndicate Players during the period of each Promotional Event.
- (j) During the period in which the Licensee accepts entries in a Promotional Event some of the Prizes in the approved Prize structure may already have been won when a Player or Syndicate Player enters the Promotional Event leaving the balance of Prizes still available to be won by Players and Syndicate

Issue No.: 12.7

Players at the time of their respective entries.

- (k) A ticket in a Promotional Event may include one or more Prizes to be won on the same ticket.
- (I) A Promotional Event may require the Player or Syndicate Player to have a winning Number on more than one ticket in order to win a Prize.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

# RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES

- (a) All instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon and Ticket and these Rules shall apply to each Game and shall be binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.
- (b) In the event of any inconsistency between these Rules and the instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon, Ticket or promotional materials, these Rules shall prevail to the extent of any inconsistency.
- (c) These Rules shall apply to each Promotional Event and shall be binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.
- (d) By entering a Game or a Promotional Event, Players and Syndicate Players agree to be bound by these Rules. To the extent that a situation or issue arises for which these Rules make no provision or in relation to which these Rules or their application are unclear, the Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to make a decision regarding such situation or issue acting in good faith and, subject to any regulator direction to the contrary, such decision will be final and binding.
- (e) The Rules that are in force and applicable at the time of purchase of a Ticket in a Game or a Promotional Event are contractually binding on the Licensee and the Player.
- (f) A Retailer has no authority to bind the Licensee in contract or otherwise.
- (g) The Chief Executive Officer may appoint a delegate to perform a function under these Rules which function would otherwise be required to be performed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such appointment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Chief Executive Officer may determine.
- (h) Any reference to the Chief Executive Officer in these Rules shall include a reference to a duly authorised delegate of the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 3(g).
- (i) These Rules will be displayed and made available for inspection at each Outlet.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

# RULE 4 OBJECT

The Object of the Game is to select six (6) Winning Numbers in a Game Panel.

# RULE 5 ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME

- (a) In order for an Entry or Syndicate Share to be eligible for inclusion in a Game, before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into that Game;
  - (i) the Entry or Syndicate Share must have been recorded by the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - (ii) a Valid Ticket must have been issued by the Computer Linked Terminal;
  - (iii) the Entry or Syndicate Share details recorded on such Ticket issued under Rule 5(a)(ii) must match the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records; and
  - (iv) the Player or Syndicate Player must have paid the correct Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee as the case may be in relation to such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (b) Any Ticket issued shall be subject to Rule 6 hereof.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

### RULE 6 RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS

- (a) An Entry Coupon may be used by a Player to enter a Game by completing or marking the Entry Coupon in accordance with the instructions appearing on the Entry Coupon. In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players, a Player or Syndicate Player shall not mark an Entry Coupon other than by hand unless the prior approval of the Licensee has been obtained. Without this approval such Entry Coupon will not be considered to be properly completed and a Player or Syndicate Player claiming a resultant Prize may not be entitled to payment of the Prize.
- (b) A completed Entry Coupon or any other approved form of entry (including Automatic Entry) or Syndicate Share made in accordance with these Rules shall be accepted by a Retailer and processed on a Computer Linked Terminal and evidenced by the issue of the Ticket to the Player or Syndicate Player on the payment of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee.
- (c) Subject to Rule 6(e) below, acceptance of a Ticket by a Player or a Syndicate Player shall constitute the Player's or Syndicate Player's acknowledgment of the correctness of the details (including Entry or Syndicate Share details) thereon. The Ticket issued to a Player or Syndicate Player shall be the only form issued by the Licensee or its Retailer to the Player or Syndicate Player evidencing the Player's Entry or Syndicate Player's Syndicate Share, as the case may be. It is the responsibility of the Player or Syndicate Player to check the accuracy of all details on the Ticket, that all details on the Ticket are legible, and that the Ticket does not appear to have been defectively printed, at the time the Ticket is received by a Player or Syndicate Player from the Retailer. The Player or Syndicate Player will be taken to have acknowledged that all particulars and details appearing on the Ticket are correct if, promptly after receiving the Ticket, they do not seek a replacement Ticket that addresses such matters. No Entry Coupon shall have any validity or be of evidence for any purpose after the Ticket has been issued to the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (d) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players, in the event that the details recorded on the Player's or Syndicate Player's Ticket are not consistent with the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records, the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records shall be considered final and shall determine what Prize, if any, the Player or Syndicate Player shall be entitled to and the Player or Syndicate Player shall be bound by any such determination.
- (e) Without limiting the provisions of Rule 15 the following apply
  - (i) A Player or Syndicate Player may return a Ticket and request that the Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates be cancelled by a Retailer. The Retailer shall cancel the Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates on that day provided it is returned to the place of purchase and prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of the first Drawing on that Ticket and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal.
  - (ii) A Retailer who has sold an Entry or Syndicate Share into a Game may cancel the Entry or the Syndicate Share and the Ticket to which it relates.
  - (iii) A Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates may be voided or cancelled by the Licensee (acting reasonably) prior to the Close of Acceptance and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal to void or cancel a Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates.
- (f) Where an Entry or Syndicate Share and the Ticket to which it relates has been cancelled by the Licensee or the Retailer, the Player or Syndicate Player shall be refunded the Selling Fee, or Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, paid in respect of such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (g) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records are regarded as final. As such, a Ticket which is recorded

Issue No.: 12.7

as void or cancelled in the Licensee's Computer Records shall be void regardless of whether such Ticket was cancelled in error, and no Prize shall be payable in respect of such Ticket unless such voiding or cancellation was the result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. When cancelling a Ticket, it is the responsibility of the Player to ensure that the correct Ticket has been cancelled based on the cancellation receipt or other information provided to the Player or Syndicate Player, and to inform the Retailer or the Licensee if, based on that receipt or other information, there has been an error in relation to cancellation of the Ticket. The Licensee shall not be liable to the Player or the Syndicate Player in respect of an error in the cancellation of a Ticket if the Player or Syndicate Player has failed to inform the Retailer or the Licensee of the error in the cancellation of a Ticket unless resulting from fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission of the Licensee.

- (h) Where an Entry or Syndicate Share in a Game has been transferred to the central processing computer equipment via a Computer Linked Terminal and recorded on the Computer Records but:
  - (i) no Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee has been paid to the Retailer in whose place of business the Computer Linked Terminal is located prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game; and
  - (ii) the Retailer has failed to cancel the Entry or Syndicate Share before the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game; then

the Retailer shall meet the cost of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, in respect of the Entry or Syndicate Share and in such case, for the purposes of these Rules, such Retailer shall:

- (iii) be considered a Player or Syndicate Player as the case may be; and
- (iv) be the holder of the Entry or Syndicate Share, as the case may be; and
- (v) owe the Licensee the amount of the unpaid Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee as a debt due and owing to the Licensee.
- It is the responsibility of the Player to check that the Numbers and other details shown on a Ticket are correct.
- (j) A Reseller has no authority to verify the accuracy or completion by a Player or a Syndicate Player of any part of an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share whether received by post, telephone, facsimile, modem (internet) or otherwise. Entry into a Game by a Player or Syndicate Player with a Reseller does not exempt the Player or Syndicate Player from being bound by these Rules and a Player or Syndicate Player using a Reseller to submit an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share shall accept all risks, losses, delays, errors or omissions which may occur in any manner in relation to such Entry Coupon, or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share, the issue of any Ticket and the payment of any Prize.
- (k) It shall be the responsibility of the Player or Syndicate Player to ensure the safe custody of a Ticket issued to the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (I) A Ticket shall at all times remain the property of the Licensee and a Player or Syndicate Player shall deliver up any Ticket to the Licensee upon demand.

Issue No.: 12.7

# RULE 7 COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE

- (a) The Licensee is Approved to charge a Player Commission as specified in these Rules in Schedules 1 and 2 in respect of Weekday Windfall and Schedules 3 and 4 in respect of Saturday Lotto. By entering a Game the Player accepts liability to pay the Commission to the Licensee. By entering a Game a Syndicate Player accepts liability to pay to the Licensee that part of the Commission payable in respect of a Syndicate Share.
- (b) A Reseller may charge an Ancillary Fee as authorised by the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee from time to time. Players will be notified of any such changes in accordance with the Reseller's terms and conditions.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

# RULE 8 STANDARD ENTRY

- (a) A Standard Entry is the selection of six (6) Numbers in a Game Panel which may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A Standard Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry, Advance Entry, or Syndicate Entry.
- (c) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry, six (6) Numbers shall have been marked in the Game Panel completed on the Entry Coupon.
- (d) The minimum number of Standard Entries that can be played is:
  - (i) four (4) Game Panels where entry is made via an Entry Coupon; or
  - (ii) four (4) Game Panels where entry is made via an Automatic Entry using Numbers previously selected and stored by the Player; or
  - (iii) six (6) Game Panels where entry is made via an Automatic Entry except for in the circumstances described in Rule 8(d)(ii).
- (e) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (f) The Selling Fee payable for each Standard Entry for:
  - (i) Weekday Windfall is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers; and
  - (ii) Saturday Lotto is set out in Schedule 3 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 4 for Resellers.

### RULE 9 SYSTEM ENTRY

- (a) A System Entry may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A System Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry, Advance Entry, or Syndicate Entry;
- (c) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a System Entry:
  - (i) for a System 7 to 20 Entry, 7 to 20 numbers shall be selected in a Game Panel; and
  - (ii) for a System 4 or 5 Entry (also known as a 'Pick' 4 or 5 Entry), 4 or 5 numbers shall be selected in a Game Panel.
- (d) Where an Entry Coupon is used to effect a System Entry the appropriate System area on the Entry Coupon shall be marked.
- (e) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a System Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked, the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (f) The Selling Fee payable for each System Entry for:
  - (i) Weekday Windfall is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers; and
  - (ii) Saturday Lotto is set out in Schedule 3 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 4 for Resellers.

#### RULE 10 SYNDICATE ENTRY

- (a) A Syndicate Entry may be formed by:
  - (i) the Licensee;
  - (ii) a Retailer;
  - (iii) a group of two (2) or more Retailers, and

each will be known as "Syndicate Organisers".

- (b) If a Syndicate Share is not sold 10 minutes prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries for the first Drawing applicable to that Syndicate Entry, the Syndicate Share is automatically issued to:
  - (i) for a Syndicate Entry formed by one (1) Retailer only, the Retailer that formed that Syndicate Entry;
  - (ii) for a Syndicate Entry formed by a group of two (2) or more Retailers:
    - (1) the Retailer who is responsible for the sale of the Syndicate Share; or
    - (2) if the Syndicate Share was sold and then cancelled by a Retailer, the Retailer who cancelled that Syndicate Share; or
    - in accordance with Rule 10(b)(iii)(2) if the Licensee joined the Syndicate and was responsible for the sale of the relevant Syndicate Share;
  - (iii) for a Syndicate Entry formed by the Licensee:
    - (1) if the Syndicate Share was sold and then cancelled by a Retailer, the Retailer who cancelled the Syndicate Share; or
    - (2) otherwise, the central processing computer equipment will randomly register the Syndicate Share to a person (at no cost to such person) who is at that time a Registered Player.
  - (iv) if a Syndicate Share is issued under Rule 10(b)(i), 10(b)(ii)(1), 10(b)(ii)(2), or 10(b)(ii)(3) the Licensee will collect the amount owing for the Syndicate Share from the Retailer to whom the Syndicate Share is issued under this Rule.
- (c) A Syndicate Entry may only be cancelled if all Syndicate Shares are available for sale.
- (d) A Syndicate Share that is sold but later cancelled is a Syndicate Share that is available for sale.
- (e) The Syndicate Player must pay the Syndicate Share Fee in respect of each Syndicate Share purchased by the Syndicate Player.
- (f) Where no Syndicate Share in a Syndicate Entry has been sold at the Close of Acceptance, that Syndicate Entry will be cancelled and:
  - (i) is not eligible to be entered into a Game; and
  - (ii) shall not be included in a Drawing; and
  - (iii) no person or other legal entity is entitled to receive any Prize.

- (g) The Licensee may pay a fee or reward to its Retailers for the promotion of any Syndicate Entry or sale of any Syndicate Shares other than the Syndicate Share Fee.
- (h) Upon payment of the Syndicate Share Fee in respect of a Syndicate Share a Syndicate Player shall be entitled to receive a Ticket.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

# RULE 11 SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY

- (a) The Licensee may impose a reasonable registration fee payable by a Player or a Syndicate Player for the provision by the Licensee of the player registration service. The registration fee will be advised to the Player or a Syndicate Player prior to application. Application will be by way of an application form as approved by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (b) A person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not enter a Game or a Promotional Event.
- (c) An Entry or Automatic Entry may only be made through the Licensee or a Retailer.
- (d) The correct Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee and player registration fee (if applicable) must be paid by a Player or Syndicate Player to a Retailer or to the Licensee in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Share;
- (e) The form of payment of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee or player registration fee (if applicable) must be acceptable to the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).
- (f) A Player or Syndicate Player will remain anonymous with respect to having won a Prize unless the Player or Syndicate Player opts out of anonymity by:
  - (i) appropriately marking a Prize claim form;
  - (ii) advising the Licensee's representative upon being contacted by such person with notice of having won a Prize; or
  - (iii) completing the relevant section on the membership application form (for Players or Syndicate Players who become Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players).
- (g) All marks and other written notations appearing on an Entry Coupon are taken to be made or given exclusively by the Player in respect of an Entry.
- (h) No Player may submit an Entry Coupon or other form of entry, or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, no Syndicate Player may purchases a Syndicate Share, as trustee, representative or nominee for another person or persons. Each transaction effected by a Player or Syndicate Plater will be conducted solely with the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (i) An Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry instructions must be received by the Licensee or a Retailer in sufficient time to be processed before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into the first Weekday Windfall or Saturday Lotto Drawing relating to that Entry or Syndicate Share. For the purposes of this paragraph an Entry or Syndicate Share will be taken to be received when details thereof have been recorded on the central processing computer equipment held by the Licensee and the Ticket has issued from a Computer Linked Terminal.
- (j) Other than as provided for in Rules 6(e) no Ticket may be withdrawn or altered after issue to a Player or Syndicate Player without the consent of the Licensee (acting reasonably).
- (k) Form of entry in a Promotional Event:
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to approve the form of entry for a Promotional Event prior to commencement of the Promotional Event;
  - (ii) Without limiting Rule 11(k)(i), the form of entry in a Promotional Event may be any of the following (or combination of the following):
    - (1) part of a Ticket;
    - (2) any other ticket or document; or

- (3) entries made by means of an electronic or mechanical device or by telecommunications system.
- (iii) If any entry in a Promotional Event is to consist of a ticket, part of a Ticket or document, such ticket, part of a Ticket or document issued to an entrant in a Promotional Event:
  - (1) constitutes the Player's or Syndicate Player's official receipt;
  - (2) is, following its acceptance, to constitute the Player's or Syndicate Player's acknowledgment of the details on the entry, and acknowledgment that those details are correct; and
  - is to be the only document issued by the Licensee or its Retailers to the entrant evidencing the processing of an entry in the Promotional Event.

#### RULE 12 PRIZES

- (a) The Prize Allocation in a Game shall be not less than sixty percent (60%) of Subscriptions.
- (b) The Prize Pool for each Draw of a Game shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall be:
  - (i) not less than thirty three percent (33%) of Subscriptions for Weekday Windfall; and
  - (ii) not less than fifty five percent (55%) of Subscriptions for Saturday Lotto.
- (c) The Prize Reserve Fund in respect of a Game shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall retain not more than:
  - (i) twenty seven percent (27%) of Subscriptions for Weekday Windfall; and
  - (ii) five percent (5%) of Subscriptions for Saturday Lotto.
- (d) The Prize Reserve Fund in respect of a Game shall be used to:
  - (i) fund any difference between a Division 1 Prize Guarantee and the Prize Pool allocation pursuant to Rule 12(i) and Rule 12(j); and/or
  - (ii) fund any prize payable pursuant to Rule 12(j), Rule 12(l) and Rule 12(m).
- (e) Prizes for each Game shall be paid by the Licensee from the Prize Pool and the Prize Reserve Fund in accordance with the provisions and classifications of Rule 12(i) and Rule 12(j).
- (f) Except as provided for in Rule 12(i) Division 1 for Weekday Windfall, any Prize shall, where only one (1) Entry or Syndicate Entry is eligible for that Prize, be payable in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Entry, or shall, where two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries are eligible for that Prize, be shared equally between those Entries and/or Syndicate Entries.
- (g) Where a Syndicate Entry is eligible for a Prize, such Prize shall be divided by the number of Syndicate Shares in the Syndicate Entry to determine the amount payable in respect of each Syndicate Share.
- (h) Subject to Rule 12(g), the Prize amount payable in respect of a Syndicate Share shall be rounded to the nearest cent.
- (i) Weekday Windfall

In respect of Weekday Windfall, unless otherwise Approved, the Prize Pool and the Prize Reserve Fund will be distributed in the following indicative amounts or percentages for each Draw that may be varied up or down by the Licensee by a maximum of five (5) percentage points provided the resultant allocation is no lower than half the indicative percentage specified. The Prize Pool distribution for other than Division 1 shall be subject to a rounding process (which shall be to the nearest sum containing a five (5) cent multiple). Monies required for rounding up shall be drawn from the Prize Reserve Fund. Where a rounding down process has occurred, the excess monies shall be paid into the Prize Reserve Fund. Where there is no winner in Division 6, the percentage of the Prize Pool listed in Rule 12(i)(vi) shall be added to the Prize Reserve Fund. Where there is no winner in Divisions 2, 3, 4 or 5, the percentage of the Prize Pool specified in that Division shall be added to the percentage of the Prize Pool specified in the next lower Division that contains a winning Entry or Entries or Syndicate Entry or Syndicate Entries in the order as shown below.

For Draws conducted on and after 20 May 2024:

(i) Division 1: a Prize of an amount equal to 0.0% of the Prize Pool plus the amount set out below shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains all six

NSW Government Gazette

- (6) Winning Numbers. Such amount shall be paid from monies held in the Prize Reserve Fund as follows:
- (1) If there are no more than six (6) Division 1 winners, \$1,000,000.00 to each Division 1 winner; or
- (2) If there are more than six (6) Division 1 winners, \$6,000,000.00 to be divided equally among those Division 1 winners; or
- (3) Any other amount determined by the Licensee from time to time as a Division 1 Prize Guarantee.
- (4) If no Prize in this Division is payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry, the amount of such Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Reserve Fund to be used in accordance with Rule 12(d).
- (ii) Division 2: a Prize of an amount equal to 4.20% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains five (5) but not more than five (5) of the six (6) Winning Numbers together with one (1) or both of the Supplementary Numbers.
- (iii) Division 3: a Prize of an amount equal to 6.50% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains five (5) but no more than five (5) of the six (6) Winning Numbers.
- (iv) Division 4: a Prize of an amount equal to 18.50% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains four (4) but not more than four (4) of the six (6) Winning Numbers.
- (v) Division 5: a Prize of an amount equal to 26.30% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains three (3) but not more than three (3) of the six (6) Winning Numbers together with one (1) or both of the Supplementary Numbers.
- (vi) Division 6: a Prize of an amount equal to 44.50% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains one (1) or two (2) but not more than two (2) of the six (6) Winning Numbers together with two (2) Supplementary Numbers.

# (j) Saturday Lotto

In respect of Saturday Lotto, unless otherwise Approved, the Prize Pool will be distributed in the indicative percentages that may be varied up or down by the Licensee by a maximum of five (5) percentage points provided the resultant allocation is no lower than half the indicative percentage specified. The Prize Pool distribution for other than the Division 1 Prize Pool shall be subject to a rounding process (which shall be to the nearest sum containing a five (5) cent multiple). Monies required for rounding up shall be drawn from the Division 1 Prize Pool. Where a rounding down process has occurred, the excess monies shall be paid into the Division 1 Prize Pool. Where there is no winner in Division 6, the percentage of the Prize Pool listed in Rule 12(j)(vi) shall be added to the Prize Reserve Fund. Where there is no winner in Divisions 2, 3, 4 or 5, subject to the provisions of Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(b) the percentage of the Prize Pool specified in that division shall be added to the percentage of the Prize Pool specified in the next lower Division that contains a winning Entry or Entries or Syndicate Entry or Syndicate Entries in the order as shown below:

Issue No.: 12.7

- (i) Division 1: either
  - (1) a Prize of an amount equal to 32.75% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains all six (6) of the Winning Numbers. Such amount may be supplemented from monies held in the Prize Reserve Fund as determined by the Licensee or
  - (2) Jackpot of Division 1 Prize Pool whereby:
    - (a) if there is no Prize winner in Division 1, an amount equal to the Division 1 Prize Pool shall be retained in the Prize Fund so as to form part of the monies payable in respect of a Division 1 Prize winner for a Jackpot Drawing; and
    - (b) subject to Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(c), in the event that there are no winners of the Jackpot Drawing referred to in Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(a), the amount held in the Prize Fund applicable to that Jackpot Drawing shall form part of the Division 1 Prize Pool for the next consecutive Drawing of Saturday Lotto; and
    - (c) in the event that there are no winners of the Division 1 Prize in the fourth (4<sup>th</sup>) consecutive Jackpot Drawing, (being the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) consecutive Drawing of Saturday Lotto), then the amount held in the Prize Fund as the total prize money payable in respect of the fourth (4<sup>th</sup>) Jackpot Drawing shall be added to the prize money allocated to the next lower division in which a prize is payable in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Entry or Entries or Syndicate Entries in the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) consecutive Drawing of Saturday Lotto.
- (ii) Division 2: subject to Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(c), a Prize of an amount equal to 3.70% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains five (5) but not more than five (5) of the six (6) Winning Numbers together with one (1) or both of the Supplementary Numbers.
- (iii) Division 3: subject to Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(c), a Prize of an amount equal to 5.60% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains five (5) but no more than five (5) of the six (6) Winning Numbers.
- (iv) Division 4: subject to Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(c), a Prize of an amount equal to 8.30% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains four (4) but not more than four (4) of the six (6) Winning Numbers.
- (v) Division 5: subject to Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(c), a Prize of an amount equal to 12.25% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains three (3) but not more than three (3) of the six (6) Winning Numbers together with one (1) or both of the Supplementary Numbers.
- (vi) Division 6: subject to Rule 12(j)(i)(2)(c), a Prize of an amount equal to 37.40% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains three (3) but not more than three (3) of the six (6) Winning Numbers.

# (k) Second Drawing

The Licensee may, subject to the Approval of the Minister, and shall where the Minister so directs, provide for the payment of an additional Prize or Prizes, in accordance with the Conditions of the Product Licence, by means of a Second Drawing in any Game whether following a Drawing of Weekday Windfall and/or Saturday Lotto, provided that:

- the Second Drawing shall be conducted following a Drawing of Weekday Windfall and/or Saturday Lotto or any combination thereof;
- (ii) an Entry or Syndicate Entry made in respect of a Drawing of Weekday Windfall or Saturday Lotto shall be automatically entered into the Second Drawing in respect of that Drawing of Weekday Windfall or Saturday Lotto and such Entry or Syndicate Entry shall not require the payment of any further Subscription;
- (iii) the Prize or Prizes payable in relation to the Second Drawing shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, or shall be payable in equal shares in respect of any two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries each of which, contains all the Winning Numbers;
- (iv) the amount or amounts of such Prize or Prizes shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer;
- (v) the Second Drawing shall not involve the Drawing of any Supplementary Numbers; and
- (vi) the Second Drawing shall not constitute a separate Game but shall be part of either a Drawing of Weekday Windfall and/or Saturday Lotto.
  - (I) A Game may include:
- (i) an additional Prize or Prizes; and/or
- (ii) Prizes paid on special occasions; and/or
- (iii) Prizes paid pursuant to Rule 12(i) and Rule 12(j);

Any such Prize or Prizes may be paid in monetary terms or in kind.

- (m) Prizes in a Promotional Event
  - (i) The Prizes payable in a Promotional Event may consist of one or more of the following:
    - (1) money;
    - (2) holidays;
    - (3) travel;
    - (4) accommodation;
    - (5) services or goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee, whether or not for valuable consideration;
    - (6) Entries in a Game or another lottery Conducted by the Licensee; and
    - (7) such other Prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
  - (ii) A Prize in a Promotional Event must not consist of or include tobacco.
  - (iii) A Prize in a Promotional Event must not consist of or include liquor within the meaning of the Liquor Act 1982.
- (n) Determination of Prizes in a Promotional Event

- (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the number, nature and value of Prizes in each Promotional Event.
- (ii) The Licensee is to publicly advertise the number, nature and value of, and the conditions relating to payment of, Prizes in each Promotional Event Conducted by it.
- (iii) The Chief Executive Officer may (acting reasonably) change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in a Promotional Event, including (but not limited to) the following:
  - (1) the replacement of any holiday destination offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another holiday destination;
  - (2) the replacement of any mode of travel offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another mode of travel:
  - (3) the replacement of any form of accommodation offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another form of accommodation;
  - (4) the resupply of services or the replacement of goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee; and
  - (5) the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) provided by the Licensee or by another person or body into a monetary equivalent.
- (iv) The Prizes in a Promotional Event are payable in such manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of that Promotional Event.

#### **RULE 13** ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES

- Following each Drawing of a Game the Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere (a) at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the Winning Numbers and the Supplementary Numbers;
  - the amount of the Prize Pool allocated to each Division; (ii)
  - (iii) the value of each Prize Division and the number of Prize Winners in each Prize Division.
- (b) Following each Drawing of a Game the Licensee may make available to the media as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - the names and addresses of Provisional Prize Winners only where anonymity does not (i) apply in accordance with Rule 11(f) or where Provisional Prize Winners are not Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players;
  - (ii) information on the manner of payment of Prizes; and
  - (iii) the manner in which claims under Rules 14(a), 14(b), 14(i) and 14(l) must be made.
- (c) The Licensee may make available to the media the results of each Promotional Event as soon as possible after the completion of such Promotional Event.
- The Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's (d) discretion) the results of each Second Drawing as soon as possible after the completion of that Second Drawing.

30 May 2025

#### RULE 14 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) In relation to a Game:
  - (i) Other than as provided for Registered Players and Registered Syndicate Players, any Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a share of any Division 1 Prize) must be claimed by lodgement with the Licensee of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the particulars set out in Rule 14(m) and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably); and

The date of lodgement of a Prize claim in accordance with Rule 14(a)(i) is the day of receipt by the Licensee.

- (b) A Registered Player winning a Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a Registered Syndicate Player winning a share of a Division 1 Prize) will be notified personally or by mail within five (5) calendar days after the Drawing Date. In respect of any Provisional Prize won by a Registered Player (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, any share of a Provisional Prize won by a Registered Syndicate Player) the Chief Executive Officer may require that Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player to lodge with the Licensee a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the particulars set out in Rule 14(m) hereof.
- (c) Where a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player has been requested to claim a Provisional Prize in accordance with Rule 14(b) the Prize may be paid in accordance with the procedure and conditions set out in Rule 14(d) hereof.
- (d) A Provisional Prize or share of a Provisional Prize shall not be payable as a Prize until after the expiry of the Provisional Period and shall be payable by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account.
- (e) For Registered Players:
  - (i) a Prize (or in the case of a Registered Syndicate Player, any share of a Prize) not exceeding \$1,000.00, shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by the Registered Player to a Retailer, unless the Ticket is also entitled to a Provisional Prize in which case the Prize will be paid in accordance with Rules 14(b)-(d); or
    - a Prize not claimed in accordance with Rule 14(e)(i) may be paid by the Licensee (at its election) either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or nominated Australian bank account.

Prizes paid in accordance with this Rule 14(e) will be paid not earlier than the day immediately after the relevant Drawing Date, and only after the expiry of a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).

- (f) For a Player or Syndicate Player who is not a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player, any Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, any share of a Prize) not exceeding \$1,000.00 shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid to a Player or Syndicate Player, upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal within a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer following the Drawing Date (acting reasonably).
- (g) Subject to Rules 14(a) to 14(f) above, a Player being eligible for a Prize on a Multiple Draws Ticket may claim or collect that Prize and be issued with a Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket for any subsequent Drawings. For Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players, any unclaimed Multiple Draws Ticket Prizes will not be paid until after the last Drawing on the winning Ticket.
- (h) A Prize or, in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a share of a Prize, not paid by a Retailer in accordance with Rule 14(f) will be paid by the Licensee (by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account upon the

submission to the Licensee of a Prize claim form, the Prize winning Ticket and such other evidence as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).

- (i) Claiming a Division 1 Prize or a Provisional Prize: A
  - (i) Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share of a Division 1 Prize) pursuant to Rule 14(b) and who has not been notified within five (5) days in accordance with Rule 14(b) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Player or Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Provisional Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share of a Provisional Prize) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal;

must claim promptly by completing a Prize claim form and delivering it to the Licensee at the address printed on the Prize claim form. Such Prize claim form must contain or be accompanied by the particulars set out in Rule 14(m) and be received not later than ten (10) consecutive calendar days after the Drawing Date, starting on the day immediately following the Drawing Date.

A claim not received in accordance with this Rule 14(i) will be rejected and the Licensee shall have no liability in relation thereto unless the Ticket was wrongly not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal as a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (j) The Entry or Syndicate Entry subject of a claim for a Provisional Prize made in accordance with Rule 14(i) shall be entitled to that Provisional Prize if it is found by the Licensee to be a winning Entry or winning Syndicate Entry before the expiry of the Provisional Period, and in such case the Provisional Prize amount shall be varied to take into account the new Provisional Prize Winner.
- (k) A nominal and reasonable postage, handling or processing fee may be deducted from all Prize payments other than in respect of non-monetary Prizes.
- (I) Claiming a minor Prize:
  - (i) Player or Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal and/or where the Prize has not been paid in accordance with Rule 14(e);

must lodge a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the particulars set out in Rule 14(m).

- (m) The particulars required for a Prize claim are:
  - (i) the name and address of the Player or Syndicate Player;
  - (ii) the Ticket Number;
  - (iii) the Numbers included on the relevant numbered line on the Ticket;
  - (iv) the Player's or Syndicate Player's registration number if a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player;
  - (v) the Ticket, which must be legible and be consistent with the details held by the Licensee's

Computer Records and must not be mutilated, altered, reconstituted, counterfeit or stolen; and

- (vi) such further evidence or information as the Licensee reasonably requires.
- (n) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Rule 14:
  - the Licensee may elect or agree to pay a prize by cheque once the accumulated and consolidated value of Prizes payable reaches a threshold amount determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) if an Entry or Syndicate Entry which would otherwise have been entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 is discovered after the payment of Prizes has commenced the Chief Executive Officer will pay to the Player or Syndicate Player the same Prize or share of a Prize as is being paid to winning Players or winning Syndicate Players.
- (o) The Chief Executive Officer may, in the Chief Executive Officer's absolute discretion, require a person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share of a Prize or a Provisional Prize) to furnish such additional or alternative evidence as the Chief Executive Officer deems necessary to prove that the person is the Player entitled to that Prize or Provisional Prize (or, in the case of a Syndicate Entry, is the Syndicate Player entitled to a share of that Prize or Provisional Prize). Such entitlement may be proved to the satisfaction of the Chief Executive Officer, notwithstanding the fact that the person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or Provisional Prize may fail to meet one or more of the elements (1), (2) or (3) contained in the definition of Player or elements (1) or (2) contained in the definition of Syndicate Player or may fail to meet some or all of the provisions contained in these Rules governing Prize entitlement.
- (p) All cheques will be crossed and marked "Not Negotiable" and will be drawn in favour of the Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (q) Subject to Rule 14(i), at any time before the payment of Prizes the Chief Executive Officer may correct an error made in determining the number of Entries or Syndicate Entries entitled thereto or the amount thereof.
- (r) The payment of a Prize or share of a Prize to any Player or Syndicate Player who is known to have died before receiving any or all of a particular Prize shall be made in accordance with the laws of New South Wales.
- (s) Subject to Section 27 of the Act, all unclaimed or uncollected Prizes or shares of Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Fund for payment to the Players or Syndicate Players entitled thereto.
- (t) Remittances for payments of Prizes or shares of Prizes may include all Prizes or shares of Prizes won on the same Ticket.
- (u) Where payment by the Licensee of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque, such cheque will be forwarded by such of the following methods as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably):
  - (i) by hand upon any conditions that the Chief Executive Officer may determine;
  - (ii) by post whether certified, registered, or ordinary post; or
  - (iii) as otherwise directed in writing by the Player or Syndicate Player.

Issue No.: 12.7

(v) Where payment of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque and mailed, it shall be posted to the name and address shown on the claim form or, in the case of a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player, to the name and address appearing on the Licensee's records relating to that Player or Syndicate Player. Thereafter the Licensee shall not be held liable for any loss, delay in the delivery thereof or any negotiation of such cheque other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. A certificate under the hand of the Chief Executive Officer verifying the date of posting shall be conclusive evidence of same. A nominal and reasonable sum may be deducted to cover postage and processing.

- (w) Any Prize or share of a Prize sent by the Licensee to a Player or Syndicate Player and any refund of Selling Fees sent by post will be sent to the name and address advised in writing by the Player or Syndicate Player. Where more than one name is advised, payment to any one person so named at any address so given shall discharge the Licensee from all liability other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.
- (x) The payment of all Prizes or shares of Prizes pursuant to this Rule 14 will discharge the Licensee from liability notwithstanding the existence of any trust whether express, constructive or implied. Where the Licensee has paid a Player or Syndicate Player pursuant to this Rule 14 and the Chief Executive Officer is, after such payment has been made, of the view (acting reasonably) that:
  - (i) the Player or Syndicate Player was not the Player or Syndicate Player to whom such payment should have been made; or
  - (ii) a Prize is not payable to the Player or Syndicate Player;

the Player or Syndicate Player shall upon being requested to do so by the Licensee in writing refund to the Licensee the monies forwarded to him or her unless the payment of the Prize to the Player or Syndicate Player was a result of the fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (y) A Prize or share of a Prize may be claimed through a Retailer or by mail directed to the postal address publicly notified from time to time on promotional material published by the Licensee or on the Website. A Prize claim form for a Prize or a share of a Prize must be forwarded by the Player to the Licensee direct.
- (z) Any Prize or share of a Prize to be paid in accordance with Rule 12(k) or Rule 12(m) shall be forwarded to the winner thereof in such manner as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably).
- (aa) No Prize shall be payable in respect of a Ticket which fails any confidential security test of the Licensee.
- (bb) The Licensee shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to recognise the person who holds, bears and submits a Ticket as the Prize winner.
- (cc) The Licensee accepts no responsibility or liability for lost or stolen Tickets.
- (dd) Payment of Prizes in a Promotional Event
  - (i) A Prize is not payable in a Promotional Event unless:
    - (1) the entry submitted in a Promotional Event is in the form determined by the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 11(k)(i); and
    - (2) if the form of entry requires the Player or Syndicate Player to have purchased a Ticket in a Game, the Ticket in the Game must satisfy any test used by the Chief Executive Officer to determine whether the Ticket in the Game is Valid; and
    - (3) the claimant has complied with all conditions relating to the Promotional Event advertised under Rule 12(m)(ii).

(ii) The Licensee may record on an entry in a Promotional Event a verification code or other test and use it to determine whether the entry in a Promotional Event is Valid and whether it has won a Prize. A Prize is not payable in respect of an entry in a Promotional Event, on which such a test is recorded, if the entry does not satisfy the test.

#### RULE 15 DISQUALIFICATIONS

- (a) Notwithstanding that:
  - (i) acceptance of Entries or Syndicate Shares into a Game has closed;
  - (ii) a Ticket may have issued; or
  - (iii) a Drawing has occurred in respect of a Ticket;

an Entry or a Syndicate Share in a Game or entry in a Promotional Event may be disqualified and no Prize claim shall be made in respect of it, if the Chief Executive Officer is of the opinion that it should be so disqualified in any of the circumstances described in Rule 15(b), or in other circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer reasonably considers are of a similar nature or similarly justify the disqualification of the Entry. Any Ticket having issued in respect of an Entry or a Syndicate Share in a Game which is disqualified shall automatically be void and cancelled.

- (b) The reasons for disqualification include:
  - (i) tender of insufficient Selling Fee or, in the case of a Syndicate Share, insufficient Syndicate Share Fee, a dishonoured cheque or unacceptable form of remittance;
  - (ii) reasonable suspicion of fraud or attempted fraud (whether computer related or otherwise);
  - (iii) Ticket fails any security tests of the Licensee;
  - (iv) reasonable suspicion of unauthorised use of a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - a Malfunction occurring in respect of the Computer Linked Terminal or the Licensee's central processing computer equipment.
- (c) The Licensee shall use its best endeavours to notify a Player or Syndicate Player, whose name and address is known to the Licensee, that an Entry or Syndicate Share has been disqualified and the reason therefore and the Licensee shall in respect thereof refund to the Player any Selling Fee paid or to the Syndicate Player any Syndicate Share Fee paid less that part of the Syndicate Share Fee that represents the relevant proportion of Commission. Where the Licensee does not know of the name and address of a Player or Syndicate Player the Licensee shall publicise, in a reasonable manner, the disqualification of such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (d) If an Entry or Syndicate Entry which would otherwise be eligible for a Provisional Prize is disqualified during the Provisional Period then the value of the Provisional Prize shall be varied to take into account such disqualification.
- (e) Where there is no Provisional Prize winner as a result of a disqualification in accordance with Rule 15(d) then:
  - (i) in the case of a Division 1 Prize, the provisions of Rules 12(i) and Rule 12(j) will apply; or
  - (ii) in the case of a Division 2, Division 3, Division 4, Division 5 and Division 6 Prize, the value of Prizes and numbers of Prize winners will be varied in accordance with Rule 12(i)(ii) to Rules 12(i)(vi) and Rules 12(j)(ii) to 12(j)(vi), as the case may be.

#### **RULE 16** LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) Nothing in these Rules (including in the following provisions of this Rule 16, which must be read subject to this Rule 16(a)):
  - (i) excludes, restricts, or modifies any guarantee, term, condition, warranty or any right or remedy, implied or imposed by any law or legislation which cannot lawfully be excluded or limited, including the Australian Consumer Law which contains guarantees that protect the purchasers of goods and services in certain circumstances; or
  - (ii) limits the liability of the Licensee or any Retailer for fraud or wilful misconduct.
- The total amount recoverable by the Player or Syndicate Player in respect of any liability owed to a (b) Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules is limited as follows:
  - (i) if the liability relates to an Entry or Syndicate Share, to the greater of:
    - (1) the total amount paid by the Player or Syndicate Player in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Share; and
    - (2) if the Player or Syndicate Player would have won a Prize in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Share but for the events giving rise to the liability, the amount of such Prize; and
  - (ii) in all other cases, \$10,000.
- Without limiting Rule 16(b), the Licensee will have no responsibility or liability to a Player or Syndicate (c) Player in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Share until a Ticket is issued to that Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (d) By entering a Game or a Promotional Event a Player or Syndicate Player acknowledges that they have entered into an agreement with the Licensee and, where the Entry is purchased from a Retailer, the Retailer, and agrees to be bound by the provisions of these Rules which subsist for the benefit of the Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Retailer and all Employees thereof.
- (e) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability to a Player or Syndicate Player or any person for or in respect of any failure, disruption or malfunction of Computer Linked Terminals, electrical power, telecommunications links or computers resulting in loss or corruption of information retained on any Computer Records held by the Licensee except to the extent the loss or corruption was caused by the fraud or wilful misconduct of such person.
- (f) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability for any consequence of interference with or interruption to any Game or Promotional Event due to fire, storm, flood, riot, civil commotion, strike, failure or disruption of electrical power supply or telecommunications or other cause not within the reasonable control of such person.
- (g) In the acceptance and processing of any Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry culminating in the issue of a Ticket or a ticket in a Promotional Event, a Retailer shall for all purposes be the agent of a Player or Syndicate Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (h) In the cancellation of a Ticket, the processing of a Prize claim form, the submission of a Prize claim form to the Licensee and the payment of a Prize, a Retailer shall at all times and for all purposes be the agent of a Player or Syndicate Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.

- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 16(d), in the acceptance of Commission in respect of an Entry by a Retailer on behalf of the Licensee, the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Player and in the acceptance by a Retailer of that part of the Syndicate Share Fee that represents the relevant proportion of Commission in respect of a Syndicate Entry the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Syndicate Player.
- (j) The State of New South Wales, the Crown in right of that State, the Government of that State, the Minister, their successors and the employees and agents of each and every one of them shall have as ample protection from liability in respect of their acts and omissions (whether arising from, or contributed to by, negligence or otherwise) and the acts, omissions and contingencies the subject of Rules 16(a) to 16(i) inclusive as those protected by said Rules.

30 May 2025

#### RULE 17 EFFECTIVE DATE

- (a) The Lotto Rules made pursuant to the Act and in force immediately prior to the date upon which these Rules take effect are rescinded on and from 20 May 2024 but otherwise operate in conjunction with these Rules until such date. The Lotto Rules will continue to apply to draws (including entries into draws) up to draw no. 4391 for Monday Lotto and Wednesday Lotto and draw no. 4469 for Saturday Lotto.
- (b) Entries made pursuant to rules previously in force under any earlier Product Licence and which relate to a Drawing or Drawings to be conducted before 20 May 2024 shall be taken to be submitted as entries in such Drawing or Drawings pursuant to those previous rules.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

#### RULE 18 AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A PROMOTIONAL EVENT

The Licensee may enter into agreements or arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Act, with other persons or bodies for the purpose of promoting any Promotional Event.

Weekday Windfall & Saturday Lotto Rules [NSWGG-2025-212-8] Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

#### **SCHEDULE 1**

# SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR WEEKDAY WINDFALL THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
4 Games	4	\$2.70	\$2.40	\$0.30
5 Games	5	\$3.35	\$3.00	\$0.35
6 Games	6	\$4.00	\$3.60	\$0.40
7 Games	7	\$4.75	\$4.20	\$0.55
8 Games	8	\$5.40	\$4.80	\$0.60
9 Games	9	\$6.05	\$5.40	\$0.65
10 Games	10	\$6.80	\$6.00	\$0.80
11 Games	11	\$7.45	\$6.60	\$0.85
12 Games	12	\$8.10	\$7.20	\$0.90
13 Games	13	\$8.80	\$7.80	\$1.00
14 Games	14	\$9.45	\$8.40	\$1.05
15 Games	15	\$10.10	\$9.00	\$1.10
16 Games	16	\$10.80	\$9.60	\$1.20
17 Games	17	\$11.45	\$10.20	\$1.25
18 Games	18	\$12.10	\$10.80	\$1.30
19 Games	19	\$12.80	\$11.40	\$1.40
20 Games	20	\$13.45	\$12.00	\$1.45
21 Games	21	\$14.15	\$12.60	\$1.55
22 Games	22	\$14.80	\$13.20	\$1.60
23 Games	23	\$15.50	\$13.80	\$1.70
24 Games	24	\$16.15	\$14.40	\$1.75
25 Games	25	\$16.90	\$15.00	\$1.90
26 Games	26	\$17.55	\$15.60	\$1.95
27 Games	27	\$18.20	\$16.20	\$2.00
28 Games	28	\$18.85	\$16.80	\$2.05
29 Games	29	\$19.55	\$17.40	\$2.15
30 Games	30	\$20.20	\$18.00	\$2.20
31 Games	31	\$20.90	\$18.60	\$2.30
32 Games	32	\$21.55	\$19.20	\$2.35
33 Games	33	\$22.25	\$19.80	\$2.45
34 Games	34	\$22.90	\$20.40	\$2.50
35 Games	35	\$23.60	\$21.00	\$2.60
36 Games	36	\$24.30	\$21.60	\$2.70
37 Games	37	\$24.95	\$22.20	\$2.75

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
39 Games	39	\$26.30	\$23.40	\$2.90
40 Games	40	\$26.95	\$24.00	\$2.95
41 Games	41	\$27.60	\$24.60	\$3.00
42 Games	42	\$28.30	\$25.20	\$3.10
43 Games	43	\$29.00	\$25.80	\$3.20
44 Games	44	\$29.70	\$26.40	\$3.30
45 Games	45	\$30.35	\$27.00	\$3.35
46 Games	46	\$31.00	\$27.60	\$3.40
47 Games	47	\$31.65	\$28.20	\$3.45
48 Games	48	\$32.30	\$28.80	\$3.50
49 Games	49	\$32.95	\$29.40	\$3.55
50 Games	50	\$33.60	\$30.00	\$3.60
System 4	820	\$552.50	\$492.00	\$60.50
System 5	40	\$26.95	\$24.00	\$2.95
System 7	7	\$4.75	\$4.20	\$0.55
System 8	28	\$18.85	\$16.80	\$2.05
System 9	84	\$56.60	\$50.40	\$6.20
System 10	210	\$141.50	\$126.00	\$15.50
System 11	462	\$311.30	\$277.20	\$34.10
System 12	924	\$622.60	\$554.40	\$68.20
System 13	1,716	\$1,156.20	\$1,029.60	\$126.60
System 14	3,003	\$2,023.40	\$1,801.80	\$221.60
System 15	5,005	\$3,372.50	\$3,003.00	\$369.50
System 16	8,008	\$5,395.80	\$4,804.80	\$591.00

\$25.60

\$22.80

\$7,425.60

\$11,138.40

\$16,279.20

\$23,256.00

\$9.00

\$27.00

\$2.80

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 1, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

\$8,338.95

\$12,508.40

\$18,281.55

\$26,116.50

\$10.00

\$30.00

System 17

System 18

System 19

System 20

5 Games in 3

consecutive

draws

15 Games in 3

consecutive

draws

12,376

18,564

27,132

38,760

5 per Draw or

15 over 3 Draws

15 per Draw or

45 over 3 Draws

38 Games

38

\$913.35

\$1,370.00

\$2,002.35

\$2,860.50

\$1.00

\$3.00

#### **SCHEDULE 2**

## SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR WEEKDAY WINDFALL THAT APPLY TO RESELLERS

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
4 Games	4	\$2.60	\$2.40	\$0.20
5 Games	5	\$3.30	\$3.00	\$0.30
6 Games	6	\$3.95	\$3.60	\$0.35
7 Games	7	\$4.60	\$4.20	\$0.40
8 Games	8	\$5.25	\$4.80	\$0.45
9 Games	9	\$5.94	\$5.40	\$0.50
10 Games	10	\$6.55	\$6.00	\$0.55
11 Games	11	\$7.20	\$6.60	\$0.60
12 Games	12	\$7.85	\$7.20	\$0.65
13 Games	13	\$8.55	\$7.80	\$0.75
14 Games	14	\$9.20	\$8.40	\$0.80
15 Games	15	\$9.85	\$9.00	\$0.85
16 Games	16	\$10.50	\$9.60	\$0.90
17 Games	17	\$11.15	\$10.20	\$0.95
18 Games	18	\$11.80	\$10.80	\$1.00
19 Games	19	\$12.45	\$11.40	\$1.05
20 Games	20	\$13.10	\$12.00	\$1.10
21 Games	21	\$13.75	\$12.60	\$1.15
22 Games	22	\$14.45	\$13.20	\$1.25
23 Games	23	\$15.10	\$13.80	\$1.30
24 Games	24	\$15.75	\$14.40	\$1.35
25 Games	25	\$16.40	\$15.00	\$1.40
26 Games	26	\$17.05	\$15.60	\$1.45
27 Games	27	\$17.70	\$16.20	\$1.50
28 Games	28	\$18.35	\$16.80	\$1.55
29 Games	29	\$19.00	\$17.40	\$1.60
30 Games	30	\$19.65	\$18.00	\$1.65
31 Games	31	\$20.35	\$18.60	\$1.75
32 Games	32	\$21.00	\$19.20	\$1.80
33 Games	33	\$21.65	\$19.80	\$1.85
34 Games	34	\$22.30	\$20.40	\$1.90
35 Games	35	\$22.95	\$21.00	\$1.95
36 Games	36	\$23.60	\$21.60	\$2.00
37 Games	37	\$24.25	\$22.20	\$2.05
38 Games	38	\$24.90	\$22.80	\$2.10

Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
39 Games	39	\$25.60	\$23.40	\$2.20
40 Games	40	\$26.25	\$24.00	\$2.25
41 Games	41	\$26.90	\$24.60	\$2.30
42 Games	42	\$27.55	\$25.20	\$2.35
43 Games	43	\$28.20	\$25.80	\$2.40
44 Games	44	\$28.85	\$26.40	\$2.45
45 Games	45	\$29.50	\$27.00	\$2.50
46 Games	46	\$30.15	\$27.60	\$2.55
47 Games	47	\$30.80	\$28.20	\$2.60
48 Games	48	\$31.05	\$28.80	\$2.70
49 Games	49	\$32.15	\$29.40	\$2.75
50 Games	50	\$32.80	\$30.00	\$2.80
System 4	820	\$537.75	\$492.00	\$45.75
System 5	40	\$26.25	\$24.00	\$2.25
System 7	7	\$4.60	\$4.20	\$0.40
System 8	28	\$18.35	\$16.80	\$1.55
System 9	84	\$55.10	\$50.40	\$4.70
System 10	210	\$137.70	\$126.00	\$11.70
System 11	462	\$303.00	\$277.20	\$25.80
System 12	924	\$605.95	\$554.40	\$51.55
System 13	1,716	\$1,125.35	\$1,029.60	\$95.75
System 14	3,003	\$1,969.35	\$1,801.80	\$167.55
System 15	5,005	\$3,282.30	\$3,003.00	\$279.30
System 16	8,008	\$5,251.65	\$4,804.80	\$446.85
System 17	12,376	\$8,116.20	\$7,425.60	\$690.60
System 18	18,564	\$12,174.25	\$11,138.40	\$1,035.85
System 19	27,132	\$17,793.15	\$16,279.20	\$1,513.95
System 20	38,760	\$25,418.80	\$23,256.00	\$2,162.80

<sup>\*</sup> The Selling Fee may be subject to an Ancillary Fee in accordance with Rule 7(b).

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 2, which may be subject to an Ancillary Fee, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

**SCHEDULE 3** 

# SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR SATURDAY LOTTO THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
4 Games	4	\$3.85	\$3.40	\$0.45
5 Games	5	\$4.80	\$4.25	\$0.55
6 Games	6	\$5.75	\$5.10	\$0.65
7 Games	7	\$6.70	\$5.95	\$0.75
8 Games	8	\$7.65	\$6.80	\$0.85
9 Games	9	\$8.60	\$7.65	\$0.95
10 Games	10	\$9.60	\$8.50	\$1.100
11 Games	11	\$10.50	\$9.35	\$1.15
12 Games	12	\$11.50	\$10.20	\$1.30
13 Games	13	\$12.45	\$11.05	\$1.40
14 Games	14	\$13.40	\$11.90	\$1.50
15 Games	15	\$14.35	\$12.75	\$1.60
16 Games	16	\$15.30	\$13.60	\$1.70
17 Games	17	\$16.25	\$14.45	\$1.80
18 Games	18	\$17.20	\$15.30	\$1.90
19 Games	19	\$18.15	\$16.15	\$2.00
20 Games	20	\$19.10	\$17.00	\$2.10
21 Games	21	\$20.05	\$17.85	\$2.20
22 Games	22	\$21.00	\$18.70	\$2.30
23 Games	23	\$21.95	\$19.55	\$2.40
24 Games	24	\$22.90	\$20.40	\$2.50
25 Games	25	\$23.90	\$21.25	\$2.65
26 Games	26	\$24.80	\$22.10	\$2.70
27 Games	27	\$25.75	\$22.95	\$2.80
28 Games	28	\$26.75	\$23.80	\$2.95
29 Games	29	\$27.70	\$24.65	\$3.05
30 Games	30	\$28.65	\$25.50	\$3.15
31 Games	31	\$29.60	\$26.35	\$3.25
32 Games	32	\$30.55	\$27.20	\$3.35
33 Games	33	\$31.50	\$28.05	\$3.45
34 Games	34	\$32.45	\$ 28.90	\$3.55
35 Games	35	\$33.40	\$29.75	\$3.65
36 Games	36	\$34.40	\$30.60	\$3.80
37 Games	37	\$35.30	\$31.45	\$3.85
38 Games	38	\$36.25	\$32.30	\$3.95

Issue No.: 12.7 Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
39 Games	39	\$37.25	\$33.15	\$4.10
40 Games	40	\$38.20	\$34.00	\$4.20
41 Games	41	\$39.15	\$34.85	\$4.30
42 Games	42	\$ 40.10	\$35.70	\$4.40
43 Games	43	\$41.05	\$36.55	\$4.50
44 Games	44	\$42.00	\$37.40	\$4.60
45 Games	45	\$42.95	\$38.25	\$4.70
46 Games	46	\$43.90	\$39.10	\$4.80
47 Games	47	\$44.85	\$39.95	\$4.90
48 Games	48	\$45.80	\$40.80	\$5.00
49 Games	49	\$46.75	\$41.65	\$5.10
50 Games	50	\$47.80	\$42.50	\$5.30
System 4	820	\$782.75	\$697.00	\$85.75
System 5	40	\$38.20	\$34.00	\$4.20
System 7	7	\$6.70	\$5.95	\$0.75
System 8	28	\$26.75	\$23.80	\$2.95
System 9	84	\$80.20	\$71.40	\$8.80
System 10	210	\$200.45	\$178.50	\$21.95
System 11	462	\$441.00	\$392.70	\$48.30
System 12	924	\$882.00	\$785.40	\$96.60
System 13	1,716	\$1,638.00	\$1,458.60	\$179.40
System 14	3,003	\$2,866.50	\$2,552.55	\$313.95
System 15	5,005	\$4,777.50	\$4,254.25	\$523.25
System 16	8,008	\$7,644.05	\$6,806.80	\$837.25
System 17	12,376	\$11,813.50	\$10,519.60	\$1,293.90
System 18	18,564	\$17,721.40	\$15,779.40	\$1,942.00
System 19	27,132	\$25,899.20	\$23,062.20	\$2,837.00
System 20	38,760	36,999.00	\$32,946.00	\$4,053.00

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 3, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

SCHEDULE 4

# SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR SATURDAY LOTTO THAT APPLY TO RESELLERS

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
4 Games	4	\$3.70	\$3.40	\$0.30
5 Games	5	\$4.65	\$4.25	\$0.40
6 Games	6	\$5.55	\$5.10	\$0.45
7 Games	7	\$6.50	\$5.95	\$0.55
8 Games	8	\$7.45	\$6.80	\$0.65
9 Games	9	\$8.35	\$7.65	\$0.70
10 Games	10	\$9.30	\$8.50	\$0.80
11 Games	11	\$10.20	\$9.35	\$0.85
12 Games	12	\$11.15	\$10.20	\$0.95
13 Games	13	\$12.10	\$11.05	\$1.05
14 Games	14	\$13.00	\$11.90	\$1.10
15 Games	15	\$13.95	\$12.75	\$1.20
16 Games	16	\$14.85	\$13.60	\$1.25
17 Games	17	\$15.80	\$14.45	\$1.35
18 Games	18	\$16.70	\$15.30	\$1.40
19 Games	19	\$17.65	\$16.15	\$1.50
20 Games	20	\$18.60	\$17.00	\$1.60
21 Games	21	\$19.50	\$17.85	\$1.65
22 Games	22	\$20.45	\$18.70	\$1.75
23 Games	23	\$21.35	\$19.55	\$1.80
24 Games	24	\$22.30	\$20.40	\$1.90
25 Games	25	\$23.25	\$21.25	\$2.00
26 Games	26	\$24.15	\$22.10	\$2.05
27 Games	27	\$25.10	\$22.95	\$2.15
28 Games	28	\$26.00	\$23.80	\$2.20
29 Games	29	\$26.95	\$24.65	\$2.30
30 Games	30	\$27.85	\$25.50	\$2.35
31 Games	31	\$28.80	\$26.35	\$2.45
32 Games	32	\$29.75	\$27.20	\$2.55
33 Games	33	\$30.65	\$28.05	\$2.60
34 Games	34	\$31.60	\$28.90	\$2.70
35 Games	35	\$32.50	\$29.75	\$2.75
36 Games	36	\$33.45	\$30.60	\$2.85
37 Games	37	\$34.35	\$31.45	\$2.90
38 Games	38	\$35.30	\$32.30	\$3.00
39 Games	39	\$36.25	\$33.15	\$3.10

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
40 Games	40	\$37.15	\$34.00	\$3.15
41 Games	41	\$38.10	\$34.85	\$3.25
42 Games	42	\$39.00	\$35.70	\$3.30
43 Games	43	\$39.95	\$36.55	\$3.40
44 Games	44	\$40.90	\$37.40	\$3.50
45 Games	45	\$41.80	\$38.25	\$3.55
46 Games	46	\$42.75	\$39.10	\$3.65
47 Games	47	\$43.65	\$39.95	\$3.70
48 Games	48	\$44.60	\$40.80	\$3.80
49 Games	49	\$45.50	\$41.65	\$3.85
50 Games	50	\$46.45	\$42.50	\$3.95
System 4	820	\$761.80	\$697.00	\$64.80
System 5	40	\$37.15	\$34.00	\$3.15
System 7	7	\$6.50	\$5.95	\$0.55
System 8	28	\$26.00	\$23.80	\$2.20
System 9	84	\$78.05	\$71.40	\$6.65
System 10	210	\$195.10	\$178.50	\$16.60
System 11	462	\$429.20	\$392.70	\$36.50
System 12	924	\$858.45	\$785.40	\$73.05
System 13	1,716	\$1,594.25	\$1,458.60	\$135.65
System 14	3,003	\$2,789.95	\$2,552.55	\$237.40
System 15	5,005	\$4,649.90	\$4,254.25	\$395.65
System 16	8,008	\$7,439.85	\$6,806.8	\$633.05
System 17	12,376	\$11,497.90	\$10,519.60	\$978.30
System 18	18,564	\$17,246.90	\$15,779.40	\$1,467.50
System 19	27,132	\$25,207.00	\$23,062.20	\$2,144.80
System 20	38,760	\$36,010.00	\$32,946.00	\$3,064.00

<sup>\*</sup> The Selling Fee may be subject to an Ancillary Fee in accordance with Rule 7(b).

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 4, which may be subject to an Ancillary Fee, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

#### **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996**

#### SET FOR LIFE - APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE RULES

I, Natalie Wright, Executive Director of Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, pursuant to section 23 of the Public Lotteries Act 1996 (hereafter referred to as "the Act") DO HEREBY APPROVE, under delegation of the Minister for Gaming & Racing pursuant to section 81 of the Act, the Rules for the conduct of the Games known as Set for Life and Promotional Set for Life by the New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd, as annexed to this instrument, effective from 13 June 2025. On 13 June 2025, these Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette, subject to the Explanatory Note in this Instrument.

Dated this 27th day of May 2025.

#### **Natalie Wright**

Executive Director, Policy & Programs
Hospitality & Racing `
Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport
Delegate of the Minister for Gaming & Racing

## PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996 SET FOR LIFE RULES

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

It is hereby notified that the Executive Director, Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport under delegation of the Minister administering the Public Lotteries Act 1996 has approved of the following Rules for the Conduct of the Game of Set for Life and Promotional Set for Life. In accordance with Section 23(3)(b) of the Act, these Rules take effect on and from 13 June 2025. These Rules supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 1 Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

RULE 1 DEFINITIONS	3
RULE 2 CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES OF SET FOR LIFE AND GAMES OF PROMOTIONAL SET FOR LIFE	9
RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES	11
RULE 4 OBJECT	12
RULE 5 ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF SET FOR LIFE	13
RULE 6 RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS	14
RULE 7 COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE	16
RULE 8 STANDARD ENTRY	17
RULE 9 SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY	18
RULE 10 PRIZES	20
RULE 11 ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES	24
RULE 12 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES	25
RULE 13 DISQUALIFICATIONS	30
RULE 14 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	31
RULE 15 AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL SET FOR LIFE	33
SCHEDULE 1 SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF SET FOR LIFE THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)	
SCHEDULE 2 SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF SET FOR LIFE THAT APPLY TO RESELLERS	36

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 2
Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULF 1 DEFINITIONS

(a) In these Rules unless inconsistent within the context:

"Act" means the Public Lotteries Act 1996 and any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

"Advance Entry" means an Entry for a nominated Draw at least 8 days in advance of the current Draw, whereby the maximum number of advanced Draws will be determined by the Licensee;

"Ancillary Fee" means a fee charged to a Player from whom a Reseller accepts an Entry over and above the Subscription and the Commission;

"Approved" means approved in writing by the Minister;

"Australian Consumer Law" means schedule 2 of the *Competition and Consumer Act 2010* (Cth);

"Automatic Entry" means an Entry in respect of a Game of Set for Life made pursuant to verbal instruction or electronic instruction (not requiring completion of an Entry Coupon) wherein:

- (1) the selection of Numbers is made by way of a Computer Linked Terminal or the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee; and/or
- (2) the Numbers are the Numbers previously selected by a Player and stored in the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;

"Chief Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee or such delegate appointed by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3(g);

"Close of Acceptance" means the day and time of day determined by the Licensee and published on the Website after which Entries will not be accepted in respect of a particular Drawing;

"Commission" means an amount:

- (1) paid to, deducted by or retained by a Retailer in connection with a Subscription (whether or not in the person's capacity as a Retailer); and
- (2) determined by or in accordance with, and identified as Commission in, the conditions of the Product Licence or these Rules;

"Computer Linked Terminal" means computer equipment located in branches of the Licensee or its related bodies corporate, or places of business of its Retailers or otherwise which is linked to the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Set for Life or Games of Promotional Set for Life;

"Computer Records" means the sum of information which is provided to the Licensee by way of the Licensee's central processing computer equipment in respect of a Player and in respect of details of:

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 3
Effective: 13 June 2025

- (1) a Player's Entry in a Game of Set for Life;
- (2) where appropriate a Player's entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life;

"Conduct" in relation to a Game of Set for Life and a Game of Promotional Set for Life has the same meaning as assigned to it by Section 4(1) of the Act;

"Director" means a Director of the Board of Directors of the Licensee:

"Division 1 Prize Guarantee" means the applicable Division 1 amount for the Set for Life as set out in Rule 10(g)(i);

"Division 2 Prize Guarantee" means the applicable Division 2 amount for Set for Life as set out in Rule 10(g)(ii);

"Drawing" means:

- in relation to a Game of Set for Life (but not including a Second Drawing) the selection of the Winning Numbers and the two Extra Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device;
- in relation to a Second Drawing the selection of the Winning Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device;

"Drawing Date" in relation to a Game of Set for Life means the date on which the Winning Numbers and the two Supplementary Numbers are selected in respect of that Game of Set for Life and, provided there is no inconsistency and where the context admits, includes the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of a Second Drawing of a Game of Set for Life;

"Drawing Device" means equipment as Approved by the Minister from time to time used to conduct a Drawing;

"Employee" means an employee of the Licensee and, where appropriate, also includes an employee of a Retailer;

"Entry" means the Numbers in a Game of Set for Life which have been recorded in the central processing computer equipment, which have been selected by way of an Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry, which (subject to Rule 6(d)) have been Imprinted on a Ticket and the correct Selling Fee has been paid;

"Entry Coupon" means a form, approved by the Licensee/Chief Executive Officer, to be completed by a Player containing instructions (including the chances of winning) to effect an Entry in the relevant Game of Set for Life and/or a Game of Promotional Set for Life via a Computer Linked Terminal;

"Game of Set for Life" means a public lottery Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, Rules and Regulations but does not include Games of Promotional Set for Life:

"Game of Promotional Set for Life" means a public lottery Conducted for the purpose of promoting a Game of Set for Life, and in respect of which:

(1) eligibility to enter is confined to Players in a Game of Set for Life; and

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 4 Effective: 13 June 2025

(2) no further Subscription or Commission is charged;

"Game Panel" means:

- (1) a separate matrix on an Entry Coupon containing the Numbers from 1 to 44 in arithmetical sequence; or
- (2) a single game on a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates:

"Imprinted" means printed upon a Ticket by the Computer Linked Terminal;

"Licensee" means New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd;

"Malfunction" means a failure of any of the following:

- the Drawing Device; (1)
- (2) the Computer Linked Terminal:
- (3) the central processing computer equipment;

to operate in the manner in which it is designed to operate;

"Minister" means the Minister for the time being administering the Act:

"Multiple Weeks Exchange Ticket" means a Ticket issued to a Player:

- (1) who surrenders a Multiple Weeks Ticket to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Weeks Ticket;
- where at the time the Prize is collected or claimed there is one or (2) more Drawing/s remaining in respect of the Multiple Weeks Ticket;
- where the Multiple Weeks Exchange Ticket shall be Imprinted with the (3) same Numbers as the Multiple Weeks Ticket surrendered;
- where the Multiple Weeks Exchange Ticket shall be considered the (4)Multiple Weeks Ticket in respect of the remaining Drawing/s.

"Multiple Weeks Ticket" means a Ticket issued in respect of a Multiple Weeks Entry:

"Multiple Weeks Entry" means more than one (1) Weekly Entry that is valid in multiples of seven (7) consecutive Drawings;

"Numbers" has the same meaning as Section 5 of the Act;

"Operator Licence" means the operator licence granted to the Licensee, pursuant to the Act, to conduct any public lottery for which it, from time to time, holds a Product Licence granted pursuant to the Act;

"Outlet" means a place at which a Retailer is permitted to accept completed Entries into Games of Set for Life and entries into Games of Promotional Set for Life:

Page 5

Issue No: 11.3 Effective: 13 June 2025

Set for Life Rules

"Player" means a person who:

- (1) has paid the correct Subscription and Commission and Ancillary Fee (where applicable) for an Entry; and/or
- (2) holds a Valid Entry; and/or
- (3) holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes where relevant a person who has entered a Game of Promotional Set for Life and who holds, bears and submits a Valid ticket in the Game of Promotional Set for Life to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

"Prize" means any prize determined in accordance with Rule 10;

"Prize Allocation" means that proportion of Subscriptions paid into the Prize Fund for a particular Game of Set for Life as specified in Rule 10(a);

"Prize Fund" means an account established under Section 27 of the Act and known as the Set for Life Prize Fund Account;

"Prize Pool" has the meaning in Rule10(b);

"Prize Reserve Fund" means the fund located in the Prize Fund under Section 27 of the Act containing:

- (1) the amounts specified in Rule10(c); and
- (2) an amount representing any unclaimed Prizes, subject to a direction under Section 27A of the Act:

"Product Licence" means the product licence granted to the Licensee to Conduct Games of Set for Life and Games of Promotional Set for Life pursuant to Section 12 of the Act;

"Provisional Period" means the period of consecutive calendar days approved from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer which starts on the day immediately following the Drawing Date, and which shall be no longer than twenty-one (21) consecutive calendar days;

"Provisional Prize" is a Prize in Division 1, Division 2 and/or a Prize (or additional Prize in the case of a Second Drawing) that exceeds \$1,000.00 as shown on a Computer Linked Terminal;

"Provisional Prize Winner" means a Player who holds a Ticket which is eligible for a

Provisional Prize:

"Registered Player" means a Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Player;

"Regulation" means a regulation made under the Act;

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 6
Effective: 13 June 2025

"Reseller" means a Retailer, Approved by the Minister, who is authorised by the Licensee to receive Subscriptions, Commissions and instructions in respect of a Game of Set for Life and instructions with respect to a Game of Promotional Set for Life from a Player. Such Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prizes for and on behalf of a Player:

"Retailer" means a person or agent appointed by the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Set for Life and Games of Promotional Set for Life Conducted by the Licensee and includes a Reseller;

"Rules" means these Rules made under the Act and any amendment, modification,

variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

"Second Drawing" means an additional Drawing conducted as part of a Game of Set

for Life in accordance with the Rules;

"Set for Life" means the Game of Set for Life drawn, subject to Rule 2(c), every day of each week;

"Selling Fee" means the sum of the Commission and Subscription and Ancillary Fee

(where applicable);

"Standard Entry" means the Entry referred to in Rule 8;

"Subscription" means the amounts paid for Entries but does not include the following:

- (1) Ancillary Fees; or
- (2) Commission, unless the Act expressly provides otherwise;

"Supplementary Numbers" in relation to a Game of Set for Life means the eighth and ninth numbers drawn for each Game of Set for Life;

"Ticket" means the receipt, whether it be in documentary, electronic or other form, which is the official confirmation that a Player has paid the correct Selling Fee for a valid Entry in a Game of Set for Life, and which:

- (1) contains Entry details; and
- (2) may include a Ticket Number and other such tests to determine the identity, validity and status of the Ticket and whether it has won a Prize; and
- (3) may include other particulars as determined by the Licensee;

"Ticket Number" means the numbers and/or letters Imprinted on a Ticket which constitute official verification of the valid issue of a Ticket in a particular Game of Set for Life:

"Valid" means:

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 7
Effective: 13 June 2025

- in respect of an Entry Coupon, that it satisfies the requirements of these Rules: and
- in respect of a Ticket, an Entry, that nothing in these Rules would prevent the Player who purchased it from being able to claim a Prize otherwise attributable to it;

"Website" means the internet site located at <a href="www.thelott.com">www.thelott.com</a> (or such other address as may be advised from time to time);

"Weekly Entry" means an Entry that is valid for seven (7) consecutive Drawings;

"Winning Numbers" in relation to a Game of Set for Life (including a Second Drawing) means the first seven (7) numbers drawn for each Drawing of a Game of Set for Life.

- (b) In these Rules unless inconsistent within the context:
  - (i) a reference to the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;
  - (ii) headings are for convenient reference only and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of the provisions to which they refer.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 8 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 2 CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES OF SET FOR LIFE AND **GAMES OF PROMOTIONAL SET FOR LIFE**

- These Rules are to be read subject to the Act, its Regulations, the Operator Licence (a) and the Product Licence, and shall apply to every Game of Set for Life and Game of Promotional Set for Life.
- (b) A Drawing in relation to a Game of Set for Life shall take place after the Close of Acceptance of Entries for that Drawing of Set for Life.
- Games of Set for Life will be drawn every day of each week unless the Chief Executive (c) Officer determines otherwise necessary (acting reasonably) to overcome an operational issue.
- (d) Drawings undertaken in the State of New South Wales shall be conducted by the Licensee and supervised by a person or persons nominated by the Minister in accordance with Drawing procedures agreed between the Licensee and the Minister's nominee(s). Certification of the validity of a Drawing by the Minister's nominee(s) shall be final and binding on all Players.
- Where a Malfunction in a Drawing Device occurs: (e)

Set for Life Rules

- the Number/s drawn before a Malfunction has commenced shall be invalid (i) Number/s:
- another Drawing shall be declared null and void; and (ii)
  - another Drawing shall commence or re-commence, as the case may be, (1) as soon as practicable after the rectification of the Malfunction; or
  - (2) where the Malfunction cannot be rectified, the Drawing shall commence (or re-commence as the case may be), using a substitute Drawing Device as soon as practicable after the commencement of the Malfunction and shall continue until all Winning Numbers and Supplementary Numbers are drawn.
- (f) Drawings conducted outside the State of New South Wales shall be conducted and supervised in accordance with the requirements of the relevant regulatory body for the State or Territory in which the Drawings are conducted.
- The Licensee may Conduct a Game of Promotional Set for Life in such manner and at (g) such times and places as the Chief Executive Officer determines, including (but not limited to), at the absolute discretion of the Chief Executive Officer, the Conduct of a Game of Promotional Set for Life in conjunction with another Game of Set for Life or separately from a Game of Set for Life or otherwise in conjunction with another lottery Conducted by the Licensee.
- (h) A Game of Promotional Set for Life shall, at commencement, have a Prize structure as determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (i) The Prize structure for a Game of Promotional Set for Life shall comprise the number, nature and value of Prizes to be offered by the Licensee to Players during the period of each Game of Promotional Set for Life.

Issue No: 11.3 Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 9

- (j) During the period in which the Licensee accepts entries in a Game of Promotional Set for Life some of the Prizes in the approved Prize structure may already have been won when a Player enters the Game of Promotional Set for Life leaving the balance of Prizes still available to be won by Players at the time of their respective entries.
- (k) A ticket in a Game of Promotional Set for Life may include one or more Prizes to be won on the same ticket.
- (I) A Game of Promotional Set for Life may require the Player to have a winning Number on more than one ticket in order to win a Prize.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 10 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES

- (a) All instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon and Ticket and these Rules shall apply to each Game of Set for Life and shall be binding on all Players.
- (b) In the event of any inconsistency between these Rules and the instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon, Ticket or promotional materials, these Rules shall prevail to the extent of any such inconsistency.
- (c) These Rules shall apply to each Game of Promotional Set for Life and shall be binding on all Players.
- (d) By entering a Game of Set for Life or a Game of Promotional Set for Life, Players agree to be bound by these Rules. To the extent that a situation or issue arises for which these Rules make no provision or in relation to which these Rules or their application are unclear, the Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to make a decision regarding such situation or issue acting in good faith and, subject to any regulator direction to the contrary, such decision will be final and binding.
- (e) The Rules that are in force at the time of purchase of a Ticket in a Game of Set for Life or a Game of Promotional Set for Life are contractually binding on the Licensee and the Player.
- (f) A Retailer has no authority to bind the Licensee in contract or otherwise.
- (g) The Chief Executive Officer may appoint a delegate to perform a function under these Rules which function would otherwise be required to be performed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such appointment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Chief Executive Officer may determine.
- (h) Any reference to the Chief Executive Officer in these Rules shall include a reference to a duly authorised delegate of the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 3(g).
- (i) These Rules may be displayed and made available for inspection at each Outlet.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 11 Effective: 13 June 2025

# RULE 4 OBJECT The Object of the Game of Set for Life is to select seven (7) Winning Numbers in a Game Panel.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 12 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 5 ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF SET FOR LIFE

- (a) In order for an Entry to be eligible for inclusion in a Game of Set for Life, before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into that Game of Set for Life;
  - (i) the Entry must have been recorded by the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - (ii) a Valid Ticket must have been issued by the Computer Linked Terminal;
  - (iii) the Entry details recorded on such Ticket issued under Rule 5(a)(ii) must match the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records; and
  - (iv) the Player must have paid the correct Selling Fee as the case may be in relation to such Entry.

(b) Any Ticket issued shall be subject to Rule 6 hereof.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 13 Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 6 RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS

- (a) An Entry Coupon may be used by a Player to enter a Game of Set for Life by completing or marking the Entry Coupon in accordance with the instructions appearing on the Entry Coupon. In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players, a Player shall not mark an Entry Coupon other than by hand unless the prior approval of the Licensee has been obtained. Without this approval such Entry Coupon will not be considered to be properly completed and a Player claiming a resultant Prize may not be entitled to payment of the Prize.
- (b) A completed Entry Coupon or any other approved form of entry (including Automatic Entry) made in accordance with these Rules shall be accepted by a Retailer and processed on a Computer Linked Terminal and evidenced by the issue of the Ticket to the Player on the payment of the Selling Fee.
- (c) Subject to Rule 6(e) below, acceptance of a Ticket by a Player shall constitute the Player's acknowledgment of the correctness of the details (including Entry details) thereon. The Ticket issued to a Player shall be the only form issued by the Licensee or its Retailer to the Player evidencing the Player's Entry. It is the responsibility of the Player to check the accuracy of all details on the Ticket, that all details on the Ticket are legible, and that the Ticket does not appear to have been defectively printed, at the time the Ticket is received by a Player from the Retailer. The Player will be taken to have acknowledged that all particulars and details appearing on the Ticket are correct if, promptly after receiving the Ticket, they do not seek a replacement Ticket that addresses such matters. No Entry Coupon shall have any validity or be of evidence for any purpose after the Ticket has been issued to the Player.
- (d) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players, in the event that the details recorded on the Player's Ticket are not consistent with the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records, the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records shall be considered final and shall determine what Prize, if any, the Player shall be entitled to and the Player shall be bound by any such determination.
- (e) Without limiting the provisions of Rule 13, the following apply
  - (i) A Player may return a Ticket and request that the Ticket and the Entry to which it relates be cancelled by a Retailer. The Retailer shall cancel the Ticket and the Entry to which it relates on that day provided it is returned to the place of purchase and prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of the first Drawing on that Ticket and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal.
  - (ii) A Retailer who has sold an Entry into a Game of Set for Life may cancel the Entry and the Ticket to which it relates.
  - (iii) A Ticket and the Entry to which it relates may be voided or cancelled by the Licensee (acting reasonably) prior to the Close of Acceptance and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal to void or cancel a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates.
- (f) Where an Entry and the Ticket to which it relates has been cancelled by the Licensee or the Retailer, the Player shall be refunded the cost of the Ticket (inclusive of any Selling Fee) paid in respect of such Entry.
- (g) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records are regarded as final. As such, a Ticket which is recorded

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 14 Effective: 13 June 2025

as void or cancelled in the Licensee's Computer Records shall be void regardless of whether such Ticket was cancelled in error, and no Prize shall be payable in respect of such Ticket unless such voiding or cancellation was the result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. When cancelling a Ticket, it is the responsibility of the Player to ensure that the correct Ticket has been cancelled based on the cancellation receipt or other information provided to the Player, and to inform the Retailer or the Licensee if, based on that receipt or other information provided to the Player, there has been an error in relation to cancellation of the Ticket. The Licensee shall not be liable to the Player in respect of an error in the cancellation of a Ticket unless resulting from fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission of the Licensee.

- (h) Where an Entry in a Game of Set for Life has been transferred to the central processing computer equipment via a Computer Linked Terminal and recorded on the Computer Records but:
  - (i) no Selling Fee has been paid to the Retailer in whose place of business the Computer Linked Terminal is located prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Set for Life; and
  - (ii) the Retailer has failed to cancel the Entry before the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Set for Life; then

the Retailer shall meet the cost of the Selling Fee, as the case may be, in respect of the Entry and in such case, for the purposes of these Rules, such Retailer shall:

- (iii) be considered a Player as the case may be; and
- (iv) be the holder of the Entry, as the case may be; and
- (v) owe the Licensee the amount of the unpaid Selling Fee as a debt due and owing to the Licensee.
- (i) It is the responsibility of the Player to check that the Numbers and other details shown on a Ticket are correct.
- (j) A Reseller has no authority to verify the accuracy or completion by a Player of any part of an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry whether received by post, telephone, facsimile, modem (internet) or otherwise. Entry into a Game of Set for Life by a Player with a Reseller does not exempt the Player from being bound by these Rules and a Player using a Reseller to submit an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry shall accept all risks, losses, delays, errors or omissions which may occur in any manner in relation to such Entry Coupon, or any other approved Entry, the issue of any Ticket and the payment of any Prize.
- (k) It shall be the responsibility of the Player to ensure the safe custody of a Ticket issued to the Player.
- (I) A Ticket shall at all times remain the property of the Licensee and a Player shall deliver up any Ticket to the Licensee upon demand.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 15 Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 7 COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE

- (a) The Licensee is Approved to charge a Player Commission as specified in these Rules in Schedules 1 and 2 in respect of a Game of Set for Life. By entering a Game of Set for Life the Player accepts liability to pay the Commission to the Licensee.
- (b) A Reseller may charge an Ancillary Fee as authorised by the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee from time to time. Players will be notified of any changes in accordance with the Reseller's terms and conditions.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 16 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 8 STANDARD ENTRY

- (a) A Standard Entry is the selection of seven (7) Numbers in a Game Panel which may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A Standard Entry must be played as a Weekly Entry or Advance Entry.
- (c) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry, seven (7) Numbers shall have been marked in the Game Panel completed on the Entry Coupon.
- (d) The number of Standard Entries that must be played in each Drawing is two (2) or more.
- (e) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry and two or more Game Panels have been marked the Player may request additional Standard Games and/or Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (f) The Selling Fee payable for each Weekly Entry is set out in the Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 17 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 9 SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY

- (a) The Licensee may impose a reasonable registration fee payable by a Player for the provision by the Licensee of the player registration service. The registration fee will be advised to the Player prior to application. Application will be by way of an application form as approved by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (b) A person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not enter a Game of Set for Life or a Game of Promotional Set for Life.
- (c) An Entry or Automatic Entry may only be made through the Licensee or a Retailer.
- (d) The correct Selling Fee and player registration fee (if applicable) must be paid by a Player to a Retailer or to the Licensee in respect of an Entry.
- (e) The form of payment of the Selling Fee or player registration fee (if applicable) must be acceptable to the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).
- (f) A Player may will remain anonymous with respect to having won a Prize unless the Player opts out of anonymity by:
  - (i) appropriately marking a Prize claim form;
  - (ii) advising the Licensee's representative upon being contacted by such person with notice of having won a Prize; or
  - (iii) completing the relevant section of the membership application form (for Players who become a Registered Player).
- (g) All marks and other written notations appearing on an Entry Coupon are taken to be made or given exclusively by the Player in respect of an Entry.
- (h) No Player may submit an Entry Coupon or other form of Entry, as trustee, representative or nominee for another person or persons. Each transaction effected by the Player will be conducted solely with the Player.
- (i) An Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry instructions must be received by the Licensee or a Retailer in sufficient time to be processed before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into the first Set for Life Drawing relating to that Entry. For the purposes of this paragraph an Entry is taken as received when details are recorded on the central processing computer equipment held by the Licensee and the Ticket has issued from a Computer Linked Terminal.
- (j) Other than as provided for in Rule 6(i) no Ticket may be withdrawn or altered after issue to a Player without the consent of the Licensee (acting reasonably).

Form of entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life:

- (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to approve the form of entry for a Game of Promotional Set for Life prior to commencement of the Game of Promotional Set for Life;
- (ii) Without limiting Rule 9(k)(i), the form of entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life may be any of the following (or combination of the following):

(1) part of a Ticket;

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 18 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (2) any other ticket or document;
- (3) entries made by means of an electronic or mechanical device or by telecommunications system.
- (iii) If any entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life is to consist of a ticket, part of a Ticket or document, such ticket, part of a Ticket or document issued to an entrant in a Game of Promotional Set for Life:
  - (1) constitutes the Player's official receipt;
  - (2) is, following its acceptance, to constitute the Player's acknowledgment of the details on the entry, and acknowledgment that those details are correct; and
  - is to be the only document issued by the Licensee or its Retailers to the entrant evidencing the processing of an entry in the Game of Promotional Set for Life.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 19 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 10 PRIZES

- (a) The Prize Allocation in a Game of Set for Life shall be not less than sixty-three and one quarter percent (63.25%) of Subscriptions.
- (b) The Prize Pool in a Game of Set for Life shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall be not more than forty percent (40%) of Subscriptions for a Game of Set for Life.
- (c) The Prize Reserve Fund in respect of a Game of Set for Life shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall retain not less than twenty-three and one quarter percent (23.25%) of Subscriptions for a Game of Set for Life.
- (d) The Prize Reserve Fund in respect of a Game of Set for Life shall be used to:
  - (i) fund any difference between a Division 1 Prize Guarantee or a Division 2 Prize Guarantee, and the Prize Pool distribution pursuant to Rule 10(g);
  - (ii) fund any prize payable pursuant to Rule 10(i), Rule 10(j) and Rule 10(k).
- (e) Prizes for each Game of Set for Life shall be paid by the Licensee from the Prize Pool and the Prize Reserve Fund.
- (f) Except as provided for in Rule 10(g)(i) and (ii), any Prize shall, where only one (1) Entry is eligible for that Prize, be payable in respect of that Entry, or shall, where two (2) or more Entries are eligible for that Prize, be shared equally between those Entries.
- (g) Unless otherwise Approved, the Prize Pool and the Prize Reserve Fund will be distributed in the following indicative amounts or percentages that may be varied up or down by the Licensee by a maximum of five (5) percentage points provided the resultant allocation is no lower than half the indicative percentage specified. The Prize Pool distribution for other than Division 1 and Division 2 Prize/s shall be subject to a rounding process (which shall be to the nearest sum containing a five (5) cent multiple). Monies required for rounding up shall be drawn from the Prize Reserve Fund. Where a rounding down process has occurred, the excess monies shall be paid into the Prize Reserve Fund. Where there is no winner in Divisions 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 or 8, the percentage of the Prize Pool specified in that prize level shall be added to the percentage of the Prize Pool specified in the next lower prize level that contains a winning Entry or Entries in that Drawing or, if there are no Prize winning entries in any lower Division, the next higher prize level that contains a winning Entry or Entries.
  - (i) Division 1 Prize Guarantee: a Prize of an amount equal to 0.00% of the Prize Pool plus the amount set out below from the Prize Reserve Fund shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains all seven (7) Winning Numbers. A Division 1 Prize shall be paid from monies held in the Prize Reserve Fund as follows:
    - (1) If there are no more than four (4) Division 1 Prize winners the maximum total sum of \$19,200,000 but not exceeding \$4,800,000 for each Division 1 Prize winner, will be paid by equal monthly instalments of \$20,000.00 per month for 20 years to each Division 1 Prize winner; or
    - (2) If there are more than four (4) Division 1 Prize winners, the maximum total sum of \$19,200,000 will be shared equally among those Division 1 Prize

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 20 Effective: 13 June 2025

- winners and paid by equal monthly instalments (subject to rounding to the nearest sum containing a one (1) cent multiple) for 20 years; and
- (3) Division 1 Prizes will be paid by 240 equal monthly instalments to each Division 1 Prize winner with the first instalment being paid by the Licensee as soon as practicable after 14 days following the Drawing and with each subsequent instalment being paid on the 15th day of each subsequent month until all instalments have been paid; and
- (4) If no Division 1 Prize is payable in respect of any Entry in a Game of Set for Life, the amount of such Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Reserve Fund.
- (ii) Division 2 Prize Guarantee: a Prize of an amount equal to 0.00% of the Prize Pool plus the amount set out below from the Prize Reserve Fund shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains six (6) Winning Numbers together with one (1) of the Supplementary Numbers. A Division 2 Prize shall be paid from monies held in the Prize Reserve Fund as follows:
  - (1) If there are no more than four (4) Division 2 Prize winners, the maximum total sum of \$240,000 but not exceeding \$60,000 for each Division 2 Prize winner, will be paid by equal monthly instalments of \$5,000.00 per month for 12 months to each Division 2 Prize winner; or
  - (2) If there are more than four (4) Division 2 Prize winners, the maximum total sum of \$240,000 will be shared equally among those Division 2 Prize winners and paid by equal monthly instalments (subject to rounding to the nearest sum containing a one (1) cent multiple) for 12 months; and
  - (3) Division 2 Prizes will be paid by 12 equal monthly instalments to each Division 2 Prize winner with the first instalment being paid as soon as practicable following the Drawing and with each subsequent instalment being paid on the 15<sup>th</sup> day of each subsequent month until all instalments have been paid; and
  - (4) If no Division 2 Prize is payable to an Entry in a Game of Set for Life, the amount of such Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Reserve Fund.
- (iii) Division 3: a Prize of an amount equal to 2.20 % of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains six (6) Winning Numbers.
- (iv) Division 4: a Prize of an amount equal to 2.00 % of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains five (5) Winning Numbers together with one (1) or both of the Supplementary Numbers.
- (v) Division 5: a Prize of an amount equal to 4.60 % of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains five (5) Winning Numbers.
- (vi) Division 6: a Prize of an amount equal to 10.60 % of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains four (4) Winning Numbers together with one (1) or both of the Supplementary Numbers.
- (vii) Division 7: a Prize of an amount equal to 28.20 % of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains four (4) Winning Numbers.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 21 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (viii) Division 8: a Prize of an amount equal to 52.40 % of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains three (3) Winning Numbers together with one (1) or both of the Supplementary Numbers.
- (h) Each Standard Entry in each Drawing of a Game of Set for Life cannot win a prize in more than one (1) prize level.
- (i) Second Drawing:

The Licensee may, subject to the Approval of the Minister, and shall where the Minister so directs, provide for the payment of an additional Prize or Prizes, in accordance with the Conditions of the Product Licence, by means of a Second Drawing in any Game of Set for Life provided that:

- (i) the Second Drawing shall be conducted following any Drawing of a Game of Set for Life, or any combination thereof;
- (ii) an Entry made in respect of a Game of Set for Life shall be automatically entered into the Second Drawing in respect of that Game of Set for Life and such Entry shall not require the payment of any further Subscription;
- (iii) the Prize or Prizes payable in relation to the Second Drawing shall be payable in respect of any Entry which, or shall be payable in equal shares in respect of any two (2) or more Entries each of which, contains all the Winning Numbers;
- (iv) the amount or amounts of such Prize or Prizes shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer;
- (v) the Second Drawing may involve the Drawing of any Supplementary Numbers; and
- (vi) the Second Drawing shall not constitute a separate Game of Set for Life and will be considered as an additional draw of a Game of Set for Life to which and Entry relates.
- (j) A Game of Set for Life may include:
  - (i) an additional Prize or Prizes; and/or
  - (ii) Prizes paid on special occasions; and/or
  - (iii) Prizes paid pursuant to Rule 10(i); and
  - (iv) may be paid in monetary terms or in kind.
- (k) Prizes in a Game of Promotional Set for Life:
  - (i) may consist of one or more of the following:
    - (1) money;
    - (2) holidays;
    - (3) travel;
    - (4) accommodation;

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 22 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (5) services or goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee, whether or not for valuable consideration;
- (6) Entries in a Game of Set for Life or another lottery Conducted by the Licensee; and
- (7) such other Prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Chief Executive Officer; and
- (ii) must not consist of or include:
  - (1) tobacco; or
  - (2) liquor within the meaning of the Liquor Act 1982.
- (I) Determination of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Set for Life:
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the number, nature and value of Prizes in each Game of Promotional Set for Life.
  - (ii) The Licensee is to publicly advertise the number, nature and value of, and the conditions relating to payment of, Prizes in each Game of Promotional Set for Life Conducted by it.
  - (iii) The Chief Executive Officer may (acting reasonably) change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in a Game of Promotional Set for Life, including (but not limited to) the following:
    - the replacement of any holiday destination offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another holiday destination;
    - (2) the replacement of any mode of travel offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another mode of travel;
    - the replacement of any form of accommodation offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another form of accommodation:
    - the resupply of services or the replacement of goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee; and
    - (5) the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) provided by the Licensee or by another person or body into a monetary equivalent.
  - (iv) The Prizes in a Game of Promotional Set for Life are payable in such manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of that Game of Promotional Set for Life.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 23 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 11 ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) Following each Drawing of a Game of Set for Life the Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the Winning Numbers and the Supplementary Numbers;
  - (ii) the total amount of the Prize Pool and Prize Reserve Fund allocated to each prize level; and
  - (iii) the value of each Prize level and the number of Prize Winners in each Prize level.
- (b) Following each Drawing of a Game of Set for Life the Licensee may make available to the media as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the names and addresses of Provisional Prize Winners (only where anonymity does not apply in accordance with Rule 9(f) or where Provisional Prize Winners are not Registered Players;
  - (ii) information on the manner of payment of Prizes; and
  - (iii) the manner in which claims under Rule 12(a), Rule 12(b), Rule 12(i) and Rule 12(k) must be made.
- (c) The Licensee may make available to the media the results of each Game of Promotional Set for Life as soon as possible after the completion of such Game of Promotional Set for Life.
- (d) The Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) the results of each Second Drawing as soon as possible after the completion of that Second Drawing.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 24 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 12 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) In relation to a Game of Set for Life:
  - (i) Other than as provided for Registered Players, any Division 1 Prize must be claimed by lodgement with the Licensee of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 12(n) and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) The date of lodgement of a Prize claim in accordance with Rule 12(a)(i) is the day of receipt by the Licensee.
- (b) A Registered Player winning a Division 1 Prize will be notified personally or by mail within five
  - (5) calendar days after the Drawing Date. In respect of any Provisional Prize won by a Registered Player the Chief Executive Officer may require that Registered Player to lodge with the Licensee a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 12(n) hereof.
- (c) Where a Registered Player has been requested to claim a Provisional Prize in accordance with Rule 12(b) the Prize may be paid in accordance with the procedure and conditions set out in Rule 12(d) hereof.
- (d) A Provisional Prize shall not be payable as a Prize until after the expiry of the Provisional Period and shall be payable by remittance of funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize winner's online Australian bank account.
  - But if the Provisional Prize is a Division 1 or Division 2 Prize, such a Prize is strictly payable by electronic funds transfer into the Prize winner's online account and Rule 12(d)(ii) does not apply.
- (e) The right of a Division 1 Prize winner or Division 2 Prize winner to receive an instalment of any Prize, is not transferable or assignable.
- (f) If the winner of a Division 1 Prize or Division 2 Prize receives one or more instalments of the relevant Prize and then fails to update his or her personal details and/or his or her nominated Australian bank account details resulting in an instalment of the prize being unpaid to such winner then the relevant unpaid instalment of the prize will remain payable to such winner.
- (g) For Registered Players, any Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid upon surrender of a winning Ticket either:
  - (i) by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal not earlier than the day immediately after the relevant Drawing Date, and not later than a period determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably); or
  - (ii) if the Prize is linked to a winning Entry that is entitled to a Provisional Prize, at the same time the Provisional Prize is payable to the Player in accordance with these Rules.

Prizes not so claimed will be paid by the Licensee (at its election) either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or players' nominated Australian bank account.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 25 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (h) For a Player who is not a Registered Player, any Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid to a Player, upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal within a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer following the Drawing Date (acting reasonably).
- (i) Subject to Rule 12(a), Rule 12(b), Rule 12(c), Rule 12(d), Rule 12(g) and Rule 12(h) above, a Player being eligible for a Prize on a Multiple Weeks Ticket may claim or collect that Prize and be issued with a Multiple Weeks Exchange Ticket for any subsequent Drawings. For Registered Players, any unclaimed Multiple Weeks Ticket Prizes will not be paid until after the last Drawing on the winning Ticket.
- (j) A Prize not paid by a Retailer in accordance with Rule 12(h) will be paid by the Licensee by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account upon the submission to the Licensee of a Prize claim form, the Prize winning Ticket and such other evidence as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).
- (k) A:
  - (i) Registered Player who claims to be entitled to a Division 1 Prize pursuant to Rule 12(b) and who has not been notified within five (5) days in accordance with Rule 12(b) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Player who claims to be entitled to a Provisional Prize and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal;

must claim promptly by completing a Prize claim form and delivering it to the Licensee at the address printed on the Prize claim form. Such Prize claim form must contain or be accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 12(n) and be received not later than ten (10) consecutive calendar days after the Drawing Date, starting on the day immediately following the Drawing Date. A claim not received in accordance with Rule 12(k) will be rejected and the Licensee shall have no liability in relation thereto unless the Ticket was wrongly not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal as a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (I) The Entry subject of a claim for a Provisional Prize made in accordance with Rule 12(k) shall be entitled to that Provisional Prize if it is found by the Licensee to be a winning Entry before the expiry of the Provisional Period, and in such case the Provisional Prize amount shall be varied to take into account the new Provisional Prize Winner.
- (m) A:
  - (i) Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Registered Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal and/or where the Prize has not been paid in accordance with Rule 12(g);

must lodge a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 12(n).

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 26 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (n) The particulars required in accordance with the provisions of Rule 12(a), Rule 12(b), Rule 12(k) and Rule 12(m), are:
  - (i) The name and address of the Player;
  - (ii) the Ticket Number:
  - (iii) the Numbers included on the relevant numbered line on the Ticket;
  - (iv) the Player's registration number if a Registered Player;
  - (v) the winning Ticket, which must be legible and be consistent with the details held by the Licensee's Computer Records and must not be mutilated, altered, reconstituted, counterfeit or stolen; and
  - (vi) such further evidence or information as the Licensee reasonably requires.
- (o) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Rule 12:
  - the Licensee may elect or agree to pay a prize by cheque once the accumulated and consolidated value of Prizes payable reaches a threshold amount determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) if an Entry which would otherwise have been entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 is discovered after the payment of Prizes has commenced the Chief Executive Officer will pay to the Player the same Prize or share of a Prize as is being paid to winning Players.
- (p) The Chief Executive Officer may, in the Chief Executive Officer's absolute discretion, require a person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize to furnish the winning Ticket together with such evidence as the Chief Executive Officer deems necessary to prove that the person is the Player entitled to that Prize or Provisional Prize. Such entitlement must be proved to the satisfaction of the Chief Executive Officer notwithstanding the fact that the person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or Provisional Prize may fail to meet one or more of the elements (1), (2) or (3) contained in the definition of Player or may fail to meet some or all of the provisions contained in these Rules governing Prize entitlement.
- (q) All cheques will be crossed and marked "Not Negotiable" and will be drawn in favour of the Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (r) Subject to Rule 12(k), at any time before the payment of Prizes the Chief Executive Officer may correct an error made in determining the number of Entries entitled thereto or the amount thereof.
- (s) The payment of a Prize or share of a Prize to any Player who is known to have died before receiving any or all of the monthly Instalments shall be paid in a single lump sum to the deceased winner's estate, subject to the provision of documentation acceptable to the Chief Executive Officer.
- (t) Subject to Section 27 of the Act and Rule 12(f), all unclaimed or uncollected Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Fund for payment to the Players entitled thereto.
- (u) Remittances for payments of Prizes may include all Prizes won on the same Ticket.
- (v) Where payment by the Licensee of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque, such

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 27 Effective: 13 June 2025

cheque will be forwarded by such of the following methods as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably):

- (i) by hand upon any conditions that the Chief Executive Officer may determine;
- (ii) by post whether certified, registered, or ordinary post; or
- (iii) as otherwise directed in writing by the Player.
- (w) Where payment of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque and mailed, it shall be posted to the name and address shown on the claim form or, in the case of a Registered Player, to the name and address appearing on the Licensee's records relating to that Player. Thereafter the Licensee shall not be held liable for any loss, delay in the delivery thereof or any negotiation of such cheque other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. A certificate under the hand of the Chief Executive Officer verifying the date of posting shall be conclusive evidence of same. A nominal and reasonable sum may be deducted to cover postage and processing.
- (x) Any Prize or share of a Prize sent by the Licensee to a Player and any refund of Selling Fees sent by post will be sent to the name and address advised in writing by the Player. Where more than one name is advised, payment to any one person so named at any address so given shall discharge the Licensee from all liability other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.
- (y) The payment of all Prizes pursuant to this Rule 12 will discharge the Licensee from liability notwithstanding the existence of any trust whether express, constructive or implied. Where the Licensee has paid a Player pursuant to this Rule 12 and the Chief Executive Officer is, after such payment has been made, of the view (acting reasonably) that:
  - (i) the Player was not the Player to whom such payment should have been made; or
  - (ii) a Prize is not payable to the Player;

the Player shall upon being requested to do so by the Licensee in writing refund to the Licensee the monies forwarded to him or her unless the payment of the Prize to the Player was a result of the fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (z) A Prize or share of a Prize may be claimed through a Retailer or by mail directed to:
  - the postal address publicly notified from time to time on promotional material published by the Licensee or on the Website. A Prize claim form for a Prize or a share of a Prize must be forwarded by the Player to the Licensee direct.
- (aa) Any Prize or share of a Prize to be paid in accordance with Rule 10(i) or Rule 10(k) shall be forwarded to the winner thereof in such manner as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably).
- (bb) No Prize shall be payable in respect of a Ticket which fails any confidential security test of the Licensee.
- (cc) The Licensee shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to recognise the person who holds, bears and submits a Ticket as the Prize winner (which is a requirement), except where such a Ticket is identified as belonging to a Registered Player and the person

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 28 Effective: 13 June 2025

- presenting the relevant Ticket is not the Registered Player to whom the Ticket is registered.
- (dd) The Licensee accepts no responsibility or liability for lost or stolen Tickets. The Licensee is not liable to pay a prize where the winning Ticket cannot be furnished.
- (ee) Payment of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Set for Life:
  - (i) A Prize is not payable in a Game of Promotional Set for Life unless:
    - (1) the entry submitted in a Game of Promotional Set for Life is in the form determined by the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 9(k)(i); and
    - (2) if the form of entry requires the Player to have purchased a Ticket in a Game of Set for Life, the Ticket in the Game of Set for Life must satisfy any test used by the Chief Executive Officer to determine whether the Ticket in the Game of Set for Life is Valid; and
    - the claimant has complied with all conditions relating to the Game of Promotional Set for Life advertised under Rule 9(k)(ii).
  - (ii) The Licensee may record on an entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life a verification code or other test and use it to determine whether the entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life is Valid and whether it has won a Prize. A Prize is not payable in respect of an entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life, on which such a test is recorded, if the entry does not satisfy the test.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 29 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 13 DISQUALIFICATIONS

- (a) Notwithstanding that:
  - (i) acceptance of Entries into a Game of Set for Life has closed;
  - (ii) a Ticket may have issued; or
  - (iii) a Drawing has occurred in respect of a Ticket;

an Entry in a Game of Set for Life or entry in a Game of Promotional Set for Life may be disqualified and no Prize claim shall be made or accepted in respect of it, if the Chief Executive Officer is of the opinion that it should be so disqualified in any of the circumstances described in Rule 13Error! Reference source not found., or in other circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer reasonably considers are of a similar nature or similarly justify the disqualification of the Entry. Any Ticket having issued in respect of an Entry in a Game of Set for Life which is disqualified shall automatically be void and cancelled.

- (b) The reasons for disqualification include:
  - (i) tender of insufficient Selling Fee, a dishonoured cheque or unacceptable form of remittance:
  - (ii) reasonable suspicion of fraud or attempted fraud (whether computer related or otherwise);
  - (iii) Ticket fails any security tests of the Licensee;
  - (iv) reasonable suspicion of unauthorised use of a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (v) a Malfunction occurring in respect of the Computer Linked Terminal or the Licensee's central processing computer equipment.
- (c) The Licensee shall use its best endeavours to notify a Player, whose name and address is known to the Licensee, that an Entry has been disqualified and the reason therefore and the Licensee shall in respect thereof refund to the Player any Selling Fee paid. Where the Licensee does not know of the name and address of a Player the Licensee shall publicise, in a reasonable manner, the disqualification of such Entry.
- (d) If an Entry which would otherwise be eligible for a Provisional Prize is disqualified during the Provisional Period then the value of the Provisional Prize shall be varied to take into account such disqualification.
- (e) Where there is no Provisional Prize winner as a result of a disqualification in accordance with Rule 13(d) then:
  - (i) in the case of a Division 1 Prize and/or Division 2 Prize, the provisions of Rule 10(g)(i) and Rule 10(g)(ii) will apply;
  - (ii) otherwise the value and numbers of winners will be varied in accordance with Rule 10(g)(iii) to (viii).

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 30 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 14 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) Nothing in these Rules (including in the following provisions of this Rule 14, which must be read subject to this Rule 14(a)):
  - (i) excludes, restricts, or modifies any guarantee, term, condition, warranty or any right or remedy, implied or imposed by any law or legislation which cannot lawfully be excluded or limited, including the Australian Consumer Law which contains guarantees that protect the purchasers of goods and services in certain circumstances; or
  - (ii) limits the liability of the Licensee or any Retailer for fraud or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The total amount recoverable by the Player in respect of any liability owed to a Player in accordance with these Rules is limited as follows:
  - (i) if the liability relates to an Entry, to the greater of:
    - (1) the total amount paid by the Player in respect of that Entry; and
    - (2) if the Player would have won a Prize in respect of that Entry but for the events giving rise to the liability, the amount of such Prize; and
  - (ii) in all other cases, \$10,000.
- (c) By entering a Game of Set for Life or a Game of Promotional Set for Life a Player acknowledges that they have entered into an agreement with the Licensee and, where the Entry is purchased from a Retailer, the Retailer and agrees to be bound by the provisions of these Rules which subsist for the benefit of the Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Retailer and all Employees thereof.
- (d) The Licensee will have no responsibility or liability to a Player in respect of an Entry until a Ticket is issued to that Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (e) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability to a Player or any person for or in respect of any failure, disruption or malfunction of Computer Linked Terminals, electrical power, telecommunications links or computers resulting in loss or corruption of information retained on any Computer Records held by the Licensee except to the extent the loss or corruption was caused by the fraud or wilful misconduct of such person.
- (f) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee of the Licensee, shall have no liability for any consequence of interference with or interruption to any Game of Set for Life or Game of Promotional Set for Life due to fire, storm, flood, riot, civil commotion, strike, failure or disruption of electrical power supply or telecommunications or other cause not within the reasonable control of such person.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 31 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (g) In the acceptance and processing of any Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry culminating in the issue of a Ticket or a ticket in a Game of Promotional Set for Life, a Retailer shall for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (h) In the cancellation of a Ticket, the processing of a Prize claim form, the submission of a Prize claim form to the Licensee and the payment of a Prize, a Retailer shall at all times and for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 14(d)in the acceptance of Commission in respect of an Entry by a Retailer on behalf of the Licensee, the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Player.
- (j) The State of New South Wales, the Crown in right of that State, the Government of that State, the Minister, their successors and the employees and agents of each and every one of them shall have as ample protection from liability in respect of their acts and omissions (whether arising from, or contributed to by, negligence or otherwise) and the acts, omissions and contingencies the subject of Rules 14(a) to 14(i) inclusive as those protected by said Rules.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 32 Effective: 13 June 2025

# **RULE 15** AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL SET FOR LIFE The Licensee may enter into agreements or arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Act, with other persons or bodies for the purpose of promoting any Game of Promotional Set for Life.

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 33 Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

## SCHEDULE 1 SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF SET FOR LIFE THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Weekly Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in this Schedule 1, multiplied by the number of weeks that the Entry is entered into.

Entry Type (Game Panels)	Equivalent Standard Games for a Weekly Entry	Selling Fee	Subscripti on	Commissi on
2	14	\$9.45	\$8.40	\$1.05
3	21	\$14.15	\$12.60	\$1.55
4	28	\$18.85	\$16.80	\$2.05
5	35	\$23.60	\$21.00	\$2.60
6	42	\$28.30	\$25.20	\$3.10
7	49	\$33.00	\$29.40	\$3.60
8	56	\$37.75	\$33.60	\$4.15
9	63	\$42.45	\$37.80	\$4.65
10	70	\$47.15	\$42.00	\$5.15
11	77	\$51.90	\$46.20	\$5.70
12	84	\$56.60	\$50.40	\$6.20
13	91	\$61.30	\$54.60	\$6.70
14	98	\$66.05	\$58.80	\$7.25
15	105	\$70.80	\$63.00	\$7.80
16	112	\$75.45	\$67.20	\$8.25
17	119	\$80.20	\$71.40	\$8.80
18	126	\$84.90	\$75.60	\$9.30
19	133	\$89.60	\$79.80	\$9.80
20	140	\$94.35	\$84.00	\$10.3 5
21	147	\$99.05	\$88.20	\$10.8 5
22	154	\$103.7 5	\$92.40	\$11.3 5
23	161	\$108.5 0	\$96.60	\$11.9 0
24	168	\$113.2 0	\$100.8 0	\$12.4 0
25	175	\$117.9 0	\$105.0 0	\$12.9 0
26	182	\$122.6 5	\$109.2 0	\$13.4 5
27	189	\$127.3 5	\$113.4 0	\$13.9 5
28	196	\$132.0 5	\$117.6 0	\$14.4 5

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3

Issue No: 11.3 Effective: 13 June 2025

29	203	\$136.8 0	\$121.8 0	\$15.0 0
30	210	\$141.5 0	\$126.0 0	\$15.5 0
31	217	\$146.2 0	\$130.2 0	\$16.0 0

Entry Type (Game Panels)	Equivalent Standard Games for a Weekly Entry	Selling Fee	Subscripti on	Commissi on
32	224	\$150.9 5	\$134.4 0	\$16.5 5
33	231	\$155.6 5	\$138.6 0	\$17.0 5
34	238	\$160.3 5	\$142.8 0	\$17.5 5
35	245	\$165.1 0	\$147.0 0	\$18.1 0
36	252	\$169.8 0	\$151.2 0	\$18.6 0
37	259	\$174.5 0	\$155.4 0	\$19.1 0
38	266	\$179.2 5	\$159.6 0	\$19.6 5
39	273	\$183.9 5	\$163.8 0	\$20.1 5
40	280	\$188.6 5	\$168.0 0	\$20.6 5
41	287	\$193.4 0	\$172.2 0	\$21.2 0
42	294	\$198.1 0	\$176.4 0	\$21.7 0
43	301	\$202.8 0	\$180.6 0	\$22.2 0
44	308	\$207.5 5	\$184.8 0	\$22.7 5
45	315	\$212.2 5	\$189.0 0	\$23.2 5
46	322	\$216.9 5	\$193.2 0	\$23.7 5
47	329	\$221.7 0	\$197.4 0	\$24.3 0
48	336	\$226.4 0	\$201.6 0	\$24.8 0
49	343	\$231.1 0	\$205.8 0	\$25.3 0
50	350	\$235.8 5	\$210.0 0	\$25.8 5

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3

Issue No: 11.3 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### **SCHEDULE 2** SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF SET FOR LIFE THAT **APPLY TO RESELLERS**

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Weekly Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in this Schedule 2, which may be subject to an Ancillary Fee, multiplied by the number of weeks that the Entry is entered into.

Entry Type (Game Panels)	Equivalent Standard Games for a Weekly Entry	Selling Fee*	Subscripti on	Commissi on
2	14	\$9.20	\$8.40	\$0.80
3	21	\$13.75	\$12.60	\$1.15
4	28	\$18.35	\$16.80	\$1.55
5	35	\$22.95	\$21.00	\$1.95
6	42	\$27.55	\$25.20	\$2.35
7	49	\$32.15	\$29.40	\$2.75
8	56	\$36.70	\$33.60	\$3.10
9	63	\$41.30	\$37.80	\$3.50
10	70	\$45.90	\$42.00	\$3.90
11	77	\$50.50	\$46.20	\$4.30
12	84	\$55.10	\$50.40	\$4.70
13	91	\$59.70	\$54.60	\$5.10
14	98	\$64.25	\$58.80	\$5.45
15	105	\$68.85	\$63.00	\$5.85
16	112	\$73.45	\$67.20	\$6.25
17	119	\$78.05	\$71.40	\$6.65
18	126	\$82.65	\$75.60	\$7.05
19	133	\$87.20	\$79.80	\$7.40
20	140	\$91.80	\$84.00	\$7.80
21	147	\$96.40	\$88.20	\$8.20
22	154	\$101.0 0	\$92.40	\$8.60
23	161	\$105.6 0	\$96.60	\$9.00
24	168	\$110.1 5	\$100.8 0	\$9.35
25	175	\$114.7 5	\$105.0 0	\$9.75
26	182	\$119.3 5	\$109.2 0	\$10.1 5
27	189	\$123.9 5	\$113.4 0	\$10.5 5
28	196	\$128.5 5	\$117.6 0	\$10.9 5
29	203	\$133.1 5	\$121.8 0	\$11.3 5

Set for Life Rules

Issue No: 11.3 Effective: 13 June 2025

30	210	\$137.7 0	\$126.0 0	\$11.7 0
31	217	\$142.3 0	\$130.2 0	\$12.1 0
32	224	\$146.9 0	\$134.4 0	\$12.5 0

Entry Type (Game Panels)	Equivalent Standard Games for a Weekly Entry	Selling Fee*	Subscripti on	Commissi on
33	231	\$151.5 0	\$138.6 0	\$12.9 0
34	238	\$156.1 0	\$142.8 0	\$13.3 0
35	245	\$160.6 5	\$147.0 0	\$13.6 5
36	252	\$165.2 5	\$151.2 0	\$14.0 5
37	259	\$169.8 5	\$155.4 0	\$14.4 5
38	266	\$174.4 5	\$159.6 0	\$14.8 5
39	273	\$179.0 5	\$163.8 0	\$15.2 5
40	280	\$183.6 0	\$168.0 0	\$15.6 0
41	287	\$188.2 0	\$172.2 0	\$16.0 0
42	294	\$192.8 0	\$176.4 0	\$16.4 0
43	301	\$197.4 0	\$180.6 0	\$16.8 0
44	308	\$202.0 0	\$184.8 0	\$17.2 0
45	315	\$206.6 0	\$189.0 0	\$17.6 0
46	322	\$211.1 5	\$193.2 0	\$17.9 5
47	329	\$215.7 5	\$197.4 0	\$18.3 5
48	336	\$220.3 5	\$201.6 0	\$18.7 5
49	343	\$224.9 5	\$205.8 0	\$19.1 5
50	350	\$229.5 5	\$210.0 0	\$19.5 5

<sup>\*</sup> The Selling Fee may be subject to an Ancillary Fee in accordance with Rule 7(b).

Set for Life Rules Issue No: 11.3 Page 37 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996**

#### POWERBALL - APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE RULES

I, Natalie Wright, Executive Director of Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, pursuant to section 23 of the Public Lotteries Act 1996 (hereafter referred to as "the Act") DO HEREBY APPROVE, under delegation of the Minister for Gaming & Racing pursuant to section 81 of the Act, the Rules for the conduct of the Games known as Powerball and Promotional Powerball by the New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd, as annexed to this instrument, effective from 13 June 2025. On 13 June 2025, these Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette, subject to the Explanatory Note in this Instrument.

Dated this 27th day of May 2025.

#### **Natalie Wright**

Executive Director, Policy & Programs
Hospitality & Racing
Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport
Delegate of the Minister for Gaming & Racing

# PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996 POWERBALL RULES

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

It is hereby notified that the Executive Director, Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport under delegation of the Minister administering the Public Lotteries Act 1996 has approved of the following Rules for the Conduct of the Game of Powerball and Promotional Powerball. In accordance with Section 23(3)(b) of the Act, these Rules take effect on and from 13 June 2025. These Rules supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 1

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

RULE 1	DEFINITIONS	3
RULE 2	CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES OF POWERBALL AND GAMES OF PROMOTIONA POWERBALL	
RULE 3	APPLICATION OF RULES	11
RULE 4	OBJECT	12
RULE 5	ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF POWERBALL	13
RULE 6	RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS	14
RULE 7	COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE	16
RULE 8	STANDARD ENTRY	17
RULE 9	SYSTEM ENTRY	18
RULE 10	SYNDICATE ENTRY	19
RULE 11	SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY	21
RULE 12	PRIZES	23
RULE 13	ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES	27
RULE 14	PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES	28
RULE 15	DISQUALIFICATIONS	33
RULE 16	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	34
RULE 17	EFFECTIVE DATE	36
RULE 18	AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL POWERBALL	37
SCHEDULE	1	38
SCHEDIII E	2	/11

30 May 2025

#### RULE 1 DEFINITIONS

(a) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:

"Act" means the Public Lotteries Act 1996, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

"Advance Entry" means an Entry or Syndicate Entry for a nominated Draw in advance of the current Draw, whereby the maximum number of advanced Draws will be determined by the Licensee;

"Ancillary Fee" means a fee charged to a Player or Syndicate Player from whom a Reseller accepts an Entry over and above the Subscription and the Commission;

"Approved" means approved in writing by the Minister;

"Australian Consumer Law" means schedule 2 of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth);

"Automatic Entry" means an Entry or Syndicate Entry in respect of a Game of Powerball made pursuant to verbal instruction or electronic instruction (not requiring completion of an Entry Coupon) wherein:

- (1) The selection of Numbers is made by way of a Computer Linked Terminal or the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee; and/or
- (2) The Numbers are the Numbers previously selected by a Player and stored in the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee.

"Chief Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee or such delegate appointed by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3(g);

"Close of Acceptance" means the day and time of day determined by the Licensee and published on the Website after which Entries and/or Syndicate Entries will not be accepted;

"Commission" means an amount:

- (1) paid to, deducted by or retained by a Retailer in connection with a Subscription (whether or not in the person's capacity as a Retailer); and
- (2) determined by or in accordance with, and identified as Commission in, the conditions of the Product Licence or these Rules;

"Computer Linked Terminal" means computer equipment located in branches of the Licensee or its related bodies corporate, or places of business of its Retailers, or otherwise which is linked to the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Powerball or Games of Promotional Powerball;

"Computer Records" means the sum of information which is provided to the Licensee by way of the Licensee's central processing computer equipment in respect of a Player and in respect of details of:

Page 3

- a Player's Entry in a Game of Powerball;
- (2) a Syndicate Entry in a Game of Powerball;

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025

- (3) a Syndicate Player's Syndicate Share in a Game of Powerball; and
- (4) where appropriate a Player's entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball;

"Conduct" in relation to a Game of Powerball and a Game of Promotional Powerball has the same meaning as assigned to it by Section 4(1) of the Act;

"Director" means a Director of the Board of Directors of the Licensee;

"Division 1 Prize Guarantee" means the Division 1 Prize amounts for a Drawing of a Game of Powerball, determined by the Licensee from time to time;

#### "Drawing" means:

- (1) in relation to a Game of Powerball (but not including a Second Drawing) the selection of the Winning Numbers by lot using Drawing Devices;
- (2) in relation to a Second Drawing the selection by lot of the Winning Numbers using Drawing Devices;

"Drawing Date" in relation to a Game of Powerball means the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of that Game of Powerball and, provided there is no inconsistency and where the context admits, includes the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of a Second Drawing of a Game of Powerball;

"Drawing Devices" means equipment as Approved by the Minister from time to time used to conduct a Drawing;

"Employee" means an employee of the Licensee. In other contexts where appropriate "Employee" includes an employee of a Retailer;

"Entry" means the Numbers in a Game of Powerball which have been recorded in the central processing computer equipment, which have been selected by way of an Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry, which (subject to Rule 6(d)) have been Imprinted on a Ticket and in respect of which the correct Selling Fee or correct Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, has been paid;

"Entry Coupon" means a form, approved by the Licensee/Chief Executive Officer, to be completed by a Player containing instructions (including the chances of winning) to effect an Entry in the relevant Game of Powerball and/or a Game of Promotional Powerball via a Computer Linked Terminal;

"Game of Powerball" means a public lottery Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, Rules and Regulations but does not include Games of Promotional Powerball:

"Game of Promotional Powerball" means a public lottery Conducted for the purpose of promoting a Game of Powerball, and in respect of which:

- eligibility to enter is confined to Players and Syndicate Players in a Game of Powerball; and
- (2) no further Subscription, Commission or Syndicate Share Fee is charged;

"Game Panel" means:

(1) the two separate but related matrices on an Entry Coupon: the main matrix containing the Numbers from 1 to 35 in arithmetical sequence and the related

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 4

Powerball matrix containing the Numbers from 1 to 20 in arithmetical sequence; or

(2) a single game on a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates.

"Imprinted" means printed upon a Ticket by the Computer Linked Terminal;

"Jackpot Drawing" means the next Drawing of a Game of Powerball (other than a Second Drawing), as approved by the Licensee following the Drawing of a Game of Powerball (other than a Second Drawing) where there is no winner in accordance with Rule 12(h) Division 1(i);

"Licensee" means New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd;

"Malfunction" means a failure of any of the following:

- (1) the Drawing Device;
- (2) the Computer Linked Terminal;
- (3) the central processing computer equipment;

to operate in the manner in which it is designed to operate;

"Minister" means the Minister for the time being administering the Act;

"Multiple Draws Entry" means an Entry that is valid for more than one Drawing;

"Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket" means a Ticket issued to a Player:

- (1) who surrenders a Multiple Draws Ticket to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Draws Ticket;
- (2) who surrenders a Syndicate Share Ticket that contains more than one product to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Draws Ticket;
- (3) where at the time the Prize is collected or claimed there is one or more Drawing/s remaining in respect of the Multiple Draws Ticket;
- (4) where the Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket shall be Imprinted with the same Numbers as the Multiple Draws Ticket surrendered;
- (5) where the Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket shall be considered the Multiple Draws Ticket in respect of the remaining Drawing/s.

"Multiple Draws Ticket" means a Ticket issued in respect of more than one Drawing;

"Numbers" has the same meaning as Section 5 of the Act;

"Operator Licence" means the operator licence granted to the Licensee, pursuant to the Act, to conduct any public lottery for which it, from time to time, holds a Product Licence granted pursuant to the Act;

"Outlet" means a place at which a Retailer is permitted to accept completed Entries into Games of Powerball and entries into Games of Promotional Powerball;

"Player" means a person who:

(1) has paid the correct Subscription and Commission and Ancillary Fee (if applicable) for a

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 5

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

valid Entry; and/or

- (2) holds a valid Entry; and/or
- (3) holds, bears and submits a valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes where relevant a person who has validly entered a Game of Promotional Powerball and who holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Game of Promotional Powerball to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

"Powerball Number" in relation to a Game of Powerball means the first and only Number drawn from the second Drawing Device

"Prize" means any Prize determined in accordance with Rule 12;

"Prize Allocation" means that proportion of Subscriptions paid into the Prize Fund for a particular Game of Powerball as specified in Rule 12(a);

"Prize Fund" means an account established under Section 27 of the Act and known as the Powerball Prize Fund Account;

"Prize Pool" has the meaning in Rule 12(b);

"Prize Reserve Fund" means the fund located in the Prize Fund under Section 27 of the Act containing:

- (1) the amounts specified in Rule 12(c); and
- (2) an amount representing any unclaimed Prizes, subject to a direction under Section 27A of the Act;

"Product Licence" means the product licence granted to the Licensee to Conduct Games of Powerball and Games of Promotional Powerball pursuant to Section 12 of the Act;

"Provisional Period" means the period of consecutive calendar days approved from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer which starts on the day immediately following the Drawing Date, and which shall be no longer than twenty one (21) consecutive calendar days;

"Provisional Prize" is a Prize in Division 1 and/or a Prize (or additional Prize in the case of a Second Drawing) that exceeds \$1,000.00 as shown on a Computer Linked Terminal;

"Provisional Prize Winner" means a Player who holds a Ticket which is eligible for a Provisional Prize;

"Registered Player" means a Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Player;

"Registered Syndicate Player" means a Syndicate Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Syndicate Player;

"Regulation" means a regulation made under the Act;

"Reseller" means a Retailer, Approved by the Minister, who is authorised by the Licensee to receive Subscriptions, Commissions and instructions in respect of a Game of Powerball and instructions with respect to a Game of Promotional Powerball from a Player. Such

Powerball Rules

Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prizes for and on behalf of a Player;

"Retailer" means a person or agent appointed by the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Powerball and Games of Promotional Powerball Conducted by the Licensee and includes a Reseller:

"Rules" means these Rules made under the Act any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

"Second Drawing" means an additional Drawing Conducted as part of a Game of Powerball in accordance with the Rules;

"Selling Fee" means the sum of the Commission and Subscription and Ancillary Fee (where applicable);

"Standard Entry" means the Entry referred to in Rule 8;

"Subscription" means the amounts paid for Entries but does not include the following:

- (1) Ancillary Fees; or
- (2) Commission, unless the Act expressly provides otherwise;

"Syndicate Entry" is an arrangement under which a type of Entry or combination of types of Entries, in the Game of Powerball or other products is divided into a number of equal shares:

"Syndicate Organiser" is a person referred to in Rule 10;

"Syndicate Player" means a person who:

- (1) has paid the correct Syndicate Share Fee for a valid Syndicate Share; and
- (2) holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes a person who has Validly entered a Game of Promotional Powerball and who holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Game of Promotional Powerball to the Licensee, a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

"Syndicate Share" means a share of a Syndicate Entry;

"Syndicate Share Fee" means the amount payable by a Syndicate Player to participate in a Syndicate comprising the relevant apportionment of both the Subscription and Commission rounded as necessary to the nearest whole cent in accordance with these Rules;

"System Entry" means an Entry referred to in Rule 9;

"Ticket" means the receipt, whether it be in documentary, electronic or other form, which is the official confirmation that a Player has paid the correct Selling Fee for a valid Entry in a Game of Powerball or that a Syndicate Player has paid the correct Syndicate Share Fee for a valid Syndicate Share in a Game of Powerball, and which:

- (1) contains Entry or Syndicate Share details; and
- (2) may include a Ticket Number and other such tests to determine the identity,

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 7

validity and status of the Ticket and whether it has won a Prize; and

(3) may include other particulars as determined by the Licensee;

"Ticket Number" means the numbers and/or letters Imprinted on a Ticket which constitute official verification of the valid issue of a Ticket in a Game of Powerball;

"Website" means the internet site located at <a href="www.thelott.com/nswlotteries">www.thelott.com/nswlotteries</a> (or such other address as may be advised from time to time);

"Winning Numbers" in relation to a Game of Powerball (including a Second Drawing) means the seven numbers drawn from the first Drawing Device.

- (b) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - (i) a reference to the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;
  - (ii) headings are for convenient reference only and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of the provisions to which they refer.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

### RULE 2 CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES OF POWERBALL AND GAMES OF PROMOTIONAL POWERBALL

- (a) These Rules are to be read subject to the Act, its Regulations the Operator Licence and the Product Licence and shall apply to every Game of Powerball and Game of Promotional Powerball.
- (b) A Drawing in relation to a Game of Powerball shall take place after the Close of Acceptance of Entries and Syndicate Shares has closed for that Game of Powerball.
- (c) Games of Powerball will be drawn on Thursday of each week unless the Chief Executive Officer determines otherwise as necessary (acting reasonably) to overcome an operational issue.
- (d) Drawings undertaken in the State of New South Wales shall be conducted in such manner as approved by the Licensee and supervised by a person or persons nominated by the Minister in accordance with drawing procedures agreed between the Licensee and the Minister's nominee(s).

Certification of the validity of a Drawing by the Minister's nominee(s) shall be final and binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.

- (e) Where a Malfunction in a Drawing Device occurs:
  - only the Number/s drawn before a Malfunction has commenced shall be Winning Number/s;
  - (ii) in the event that any Winning Number/s are still to be selected after the Malfunction:
    - (1) the Drawing shall commence or re-commence, as the case may be, as soon as practicable after the rectification of the Malfunction; or
    - (2) where the Malfunction cannot be rectified, the Drawing shall commence or recommence, as the case may be, using substitute Drawing Devices as soon as practicable after the commencement of the Malfunction and shall continue until all Winning Numbers and the Powerball Number are drawn.
- (f) Drawings conducted outside the State of New South Wales shall be conducted and supervised in accordance with the requirements of the relevant regulatory body for the State or Territory in which the Drawing is conducted.
- (g) The Licensee may Conduct a Game of Promotional Powerball in such manner and at such times and places as the Chief Executive Officer determines, including (but not limited to), at the absolute discretion of the Chief Executive Officer, the Conduct of a Game of Promotional Powerball in conjunction with another Game of Powerball or separately from a Game of Powerball or otherwise in conjunction with another lottery Conducted by the Licensee.
- (h) A Game of Promotional Powerball shall, at commencement, have a Prize structure as determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (i) The Prize structure for a Game of Promotional Powerball shall comprise the number, nature and value of Prizes to be offered by the Licensee to Players and Syndicate Players during the period of each Game of Promotional Powerball.
- (j) During the period in which the Licensee accepts entries in a Game of Promotional Powerball some of the Prizes in the approved Prize structure may already have been won when a Player or

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Syndicate Player enters the Game of Promotional Powerball leaving the balance of Prizes still available to be won by Players and Syndicate Players at the time of their respective entries.

- (k) A ticket in a Game of Promotional Powerball may include one or more Prizes to be won on the same ticket.
- (I) A Game of Promotional Powerball may require the Player or Syndicate Player to have a winning Number on more than one ticket in order to win a Prize.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES

- (a) All instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon and Ticket and these Rules shall apply to each Game of Powerball and shall be binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.
- (b) In the event of any inconsistency between these Rules and the instructions and conditions printed on Entry Coupons, Tickets or promotional materials, these Rules shall prevail to the extent of any inconsistency.
- (c) These Rules shall apply to each Game of Promotional Powerball and shall be binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.
- (d) By entering a Game of Powerball or a Game of Promotional Powerball Players and Syndicate Players agree to be bound by these Rules. To the extent that a situation or issue arises for which these Rules make no provision or in relation to which these Rules or their application are unclear, the Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to make a decision regarding such situation or issue acting in good faith and, subject to any regulator direction to the contrary, such decision will be final and binding.
- (e) The Rules that are in force at the time of purchase of a Ticket in a Game of Powerball or a Promotional Game of Powerball are contractually binding on the Licensee and the Player.
- (f) A Retailer has no authority to bind the Licensee in contract or otherwise.
- (g) The Chief Executive Officer may appoint a delegate to perform a function under these Rules which function would otherwise be required to be performed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such appointment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Chief Executive Officer may determine.
- (h) Any reference to the Chief Executive Officer in these Rules shall include a reference to a duly authorised delegate of the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 3(g).
- (i) These Rules will be displayed and made available for inspection at each Outlet.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 11

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 4 OBJECT

The object of the Game of Powerball is to select seven (7) Winning Numbers in the main matrix and one (1) Powerball Number in the Powerball matrix in a Game Panel.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 12

#### **RULE 5 ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF POWERBALL**

- In order for an Entry or Syndicate Share to be eligible for inclusion in a Game of Powerball, before (a) the Close of Acceptance of Entries into that Game of Powerball;
  - the Entry or Syndicate Share must have been recorded by the central processing (i) computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - a Valid Ticket must have been issued by the Computer Linked Terminal; (ii)
  - the Entry or Syndicate Share details recorded on such Ticket issued under Rule 5(a)(ii) (iii) must match the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records; and
  - (iv) the Player or Syndicate Player must have paid the correct Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee as the case may be in relation to such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- Any Ticket issued shall be subject to Rule 6 hereof. (b)

Powerball Rules Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 13

[NSWGG-2025-212-8]

#### RULE 6 RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS

- (a) An Entry Coupon may be used by a Player to enter a Game of Powerball by completing or marking the Entry Coupon in accordance with the instructions appearing on the Entry Coupon. In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players, a Player or Syndicate Player shall not mark an Entry Coupon other than by hand unless the prior approval of the Licensee has been obtained. Without this approval such Entry Coupon will not be considered to be properly completed and a Player or Syndicate Player claiming a resultant Prize may not be entitled to payment of the Prize.
- (b) A completed Entry Coupon or any other approved form of entry (including Automatic Entry) or Syndicate Share made in accordance with these Rules shall be accepted by a Retailer and processed on a Computer Linked Terminal and evidenced by the issue of the Ticket to the Player or Syndicate Player on the payment of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee.
- (c) Subject to Rule 6(e) acceptance of a Ticket by a Player or Syndicate Player shall constitute the Player's or Syndicate Player's acknowledgment of the correctness of the details (including Entry or Syndicate Share details) thereon. The Ticket issued to a Player or Syndicate Player shall be the only form issued by the Licensee or its Retailer to the Player or Syndicate Player evidencing the Player's Entry or Syndicate Player's Syndicate Share, as the case may be. It is the responsibility of the Player or Syndicate Player to check the accuracy of all details on the Ticket, that all details on the Ticket are legible, and that the Ticket does not appear to have been defectively printed, at the time the Ticket is received by a Player or Syndicate Player from the Retailer. The Player or Syndicate Player will be taken to have acknowledged that all particulars and details appearing on the Ticket are correct if, promptly after receiving the Ticket, they do not seek a replacement Ticket that addresses such matters. No Entry Coupon shall have any validity or be of evidence for any purpose after the Ticket has been issued to the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (d) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players, in the event that the details recorded on the Player's or Syndicate Player's Ticket are not consistent with the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records then the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records shall be considered final and shall determine what Prize, if any, the Player or Syndicate Player shall be entitled to and the Player or Syndicate Player shall be bound by any such determination.
- (e) Without limiting the provisions of Rule 15 the following apply
  - (i) A Player or Syndicate Player may return a Ticket and request that the Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates be cancelled by a Retailer. The Retailer shall cancel the Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates on that day provided it is returned to the place of purchase and prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of the first Drawing on that Ticket and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal.
  - (ii) A Retailer who has sold an Entry or Syndicate Share into a Game of Powerball may cancel the Entry or the Syndicate Share and the Ticket to which it relates.
  - (iii) A Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates may be voided or cancelled by the Licensee (acting reasonably) prior to the Close of Acceptance and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal to void or cancel a Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates.
- (f) Where an Entry or Syndicate Share and the Ticket to which it relates has been cancelled by the Licensee or the Retailer, the Player or Syndicate Player shall be refunded the Selling Fee, or Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, paid in respect of such Entry or Syndicate Share.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 14

- (g) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records are regarded as final. As such, a Ticket which is recorded as void or cancelled in the Licensee's Computer Records shall be void regardless of whether such Ticket was cancelled, and no Prize shall be payable in respect of such Ticket unless such voiding or cancellation was the result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. When cancelling a Ticket, it is the responsibility of the Player or Syndicate Player to ensure that the correct Ticket has been cancelled based on the cancellation receipt or other information provided to the Player or Syndicate Player, and to inform the Retailer or the Licensee if, based on that receipt or other information, there has been an error in relation to cancellation of the Ticket. The Licensee shall not be liable to the Player or Syndicate Player in respect of an error in the cancellation of a Ticket if the Player or Syndicate Player has failed to inform the Retailer or the Licensee of the error in the cancellation of a Ticket unless the error in the cancellation of the Ticket resulted from fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission of the Licensee.
- (h) Where an Entry or Syndicate Share in a Game of Powerball has been transferred to the central processing computer equipment via a Computer Linked Terminal and recorded on the Computer Records but:
  - (i) no Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee has been paid to the Retailer in whose place of business the Computer Linked Terminal is located prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Powerball; and
  - (ii) the Retailer has failed to cancel the Entry or Syndicate Share before the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Powerball; then

the Retailer shall meet the cost of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, in respect of the Entry or Syndicate Share and in such case, for the purposes of these Rules, such Retailer shall:

- (iii) be considered a Player or Syndicate Player as the case may be; and
- (iv) be the holder of the Entry or Syndicate Share, as the case may be; and
- (v) owe the Licensee the amount of the unpaid Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee as a debt due and owing to the Licensee.
- It is the responsibility of the Player to check that the Numbers and other details shown on a Ticket are correct.
- (j) A Reseller has no authority to verify the accuracy or completion by a Player or Syndicate Player of any part of an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share whether by post, telephone, facsimile, modem (internet) or otherwise. Entry into a Game of Powerball by a Player or Syndicate Player with a Reseller does not exempt the Player or Syndicate Player from being bound by these Rules and a Player or Syndicate Player using a Reseller to submit an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share shall accept all risks, losses, delays, errors or omissions which may occur in any manner in relation to such Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share, the issue of any Ticket and the payment of any Prize.
- (k) It shall be the responsibility of the Player or Syndicate Player to ensure the safe custody of a Ticket issued to the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (I) A Ticket shall at all times remain the property of the Licensee and a Player or Syndicate Player shall deliver up any Ticket to the Licensee upon demand.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 15

#### **RULE 7 COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE**

- The Licensee is Approved to charge a Player Commission in the amounts specified in Schedules 1 (a) and 2 of these Rules. By entering a Game of Powerball the Player accepts liability to pay the Commission to the Licensee. By entering a Game of Powerball a Syndicate Player accepts liability to pay to the Licensee that part of the Commission payable in respect of a Syndicate Share.
- (b) A Reseller may charge an Ancillary Fee as authorised by the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee from time to time. Players will be notified of any such changes in accordance with the Reseller's terms and conditions.

Powerball Rules Issue No.: 9.6 Page 16

#### RULE 8 STANDARD ENTRY

- (a) A Standard Entry is the selection of seven (7) Numbers in the main matrix of a Game Panel, and either:
  - (i) one (1) Powerball Number in the Powerball matrix in a Game Panel; or
  - (ii) all twenty (20) Powerball Numbers in the Powerball matrix in a Game Panel;

and may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.

- (b) A Standard Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry, Advance Entry, or Syndicate Entry.
- (c) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry, seven (7) Numbers shall have been marked in the main matrix in a Game Panel.
- (d) In the case of Rule 8(a)(i) the minimum number of Standard Entries that can be played is
  - (i) four (4) Game Panels where entry is made via an Entry Coupon; or
  - (ii) four (4) Game Panels where entry is made via an Automatic Entry using Numbers previously selected and stored by the Player; or
  - (iii) six (6) Game Panels where entry is made via an Automatic Entry except for in the circumstances described in Rule 8 (d) (ii)
  - (iv) the Selling Fee for each Standard Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.
- (e) In the case of Rule 8(a)(ii):
  - (i) The minimum number of Standard Entries that can be played is one (1) Game Panel;and
  - (ii) the Selling Fee for each Standard Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.
- (f) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025 | Page 17

#### RULE 9 SYSTEM ENTRY

- (a) A System Entry may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A System Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry, Advance Entry, or Syndicate Entry.
- (c) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a System 8 to 20 Entry, 8 to 20 numbers shall be selected by marking the Numbers and the appropriate area for a System Entry in the main matrix of the Game Panel and:
  - (i) one (1) Number shall be selected by marking that Number in the Powerball matrix in a Game Panel; or
  - (ii) all twenty (20) Numbers shall be selected in the Powerball matrix by marking the appropriate area in a Game Panel.
- (d) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a System 5 or 6 Entry, 5 or 6 numbers shall be selected by marking the Numbers and the appropriate area for a System Entry in the main matrix of the Game Panel and:
  - (i) one (1) Number shall be selected by marking that Number in the Powerball matrix in a Game Panel; or
  - (ii) all twenty (20) Numbers shall be selected in the Powerball matrix by marking the appropriate area in a Game Panel.
- (e) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a System Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked, the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (f) The Selling Fee payable for each System Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 18

#### **RULE 10** SYNDICATE ENTRY

- (a) A Syndicate Entry may be formed by:
  - (i) the Licensee:
  - (ii) a Retailer; or
  - (iii) a group of two (2) or more Retailers;

and each will be known as "Syndicate Organisers".

- (b) If a Syndicate Share is not sold 10 minutes prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries for the first Drawing applicable to that Syndicate Entry, the Syndicate Share is automatically issued to:
  - for a Syndicate Entry formed by one (1) Retailer only, the Retailer that formed that (i) Syndicate Entry; or
  - (ii) for a Syndicate Entry formed by a group of two (2) or more Retailers:
    - (1) the Retailer who is responsible for the sale of the Syndicate Share; or
    - (2) if the Syndicate Share was sold and then cancelled by a Retailer, the Retailer who cancelled that Syndicate Share; or
    - (3) in accordance with Rule 10(b)(iii)(2) if the Licensee joined the Syndicate and was responsible for the sale of the relevant Syndicate Share:
  - (iii) for a Syndicate Entry formed by the Licensee:
    - if the Syndicate Share was sold and then cancelled by a Retailer, the Retailer (1) who cancelled the Syndicate Share; or
    - (2)otherwise, the central processing computer equipment will randomly register the Syndicate Share to a person (at no cost to such person) who is at that time a Registered Player;
  - if a Syndicate Share is issued under Rule 10(b)(i), 10(b)(ii)(1), 10(b)(ii)(2), or 10(b)(ii)(3) (iv) the Licensee will collect the amount owing for the Syndicate Share from the Retailer to whom the Syndicate Share is issued under this Rule.
- (c) A Syndicate Entry may only be cancelled if all Syndicate Shares are available for sale.
- A Syndicate Share that is sold but later cancelled is a Syndicate Share that is available for sale. (d)
- (e) The Syndicate Player must pay the Syndicate Share Fee in respect of each Syndicate Share purchased by the Syndicate Player.
- Where no Syndicate Share in a Syndicate Entry has been sold at the Close of Acceptance, that (f) Syndicate Entry will be cancelled and:
  - (i) is not eligible to be entered into a Game of Powerball and
  - (ii) shall not be included in a Drawing; and

no person or other legal entity is entitled to receive any Prize.

Effective: 13 June 2025

Powerball Rules Issue No.: 9.6 Page 19

- (g) The Licensee may pay a fee or reward to its Retailers for the promotion of any Syndicate Entry or sale of any Syndicate Shares other than the Syndicate Share Fee.
- (h) Upon payment of the Syndicate Share Fee in respect of a Syndicate Share a Syndicate Player shall be entitled to receive a Ticket.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 20

#### RULE 11 SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY

- (a) The Licensee may impose a reasonable registration fee payable by a Player or a Syndicate Player for the provision by the Licensee of the player registration service. The registration fee will be advised to the Player or Syndicate Player prior to application. Application will be by way of an application form as approved by Chief Executive Officer.
- (b) A person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not enter a Game of Powerball or a Game of Promotional Powerball.
- (c) An Entry or Automatic Entry may be made through the Licensee or a Retailer.
- (d) The correct Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee and player registration fee (if applicable) must be paid by a Player or Syndicate Player to a Retailer or to the Licensee in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Share;
- (e) The form of payment of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee or player registration fee (if applicable) must be acceptable to the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).
- (f) A Player or Syndicate Player will remain anonymous with respect to having won a Prize unless the Player or Syndicate Player opts out of anonymity by:
  - (i) appropriately marking a Prize claim form;
  - (ii) advising the Licensee's representative upon being contacted by such person with notice of having won a Prize; or
  - (iii) completing the relevant section of the membership application form (for Players or Syndicate Players who become Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players).
- (g) All marks appearing on an Entry Coupon are taken to be made or given exclusively by the Player in respect of an Entry.
- (h) No Player may submit an Entry Coupon or other form of entry, and no Syndicate Player may purchase a Syndicate Share, as trustee, representative or nominee for another person or persons. Each transaction effected by a Player or Syndicate Player will be conducted solely with the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (i) An Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry instructions must be received by the Licensee or a Retailer in sufficient time to be processed before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into the Drawing relating to that Entry or Syndicate Share. For the purposes of this paragraph an Entry or Syndicate Share will be taken to be received when details thereof have been recorded on the central processing computer equipment held by the Licensee and the Ticket has issued from a Computer Linked Terminal.
- (j) Other than as provided for in Rule 6(e), no Ticket may be withdrawn or altered after issue to a Player or Syndicate Player without the consent of the Licensee (acting reasonably).
- (k) Form of entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball:
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to approve the form of entry for a Game of Promotional Powerball prior to commencement of the Game of Promotional Powerball;
  - (ii) Without limiting Rule 11(k)(i), the form of entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball may be any of the following (or combination of the following):
    - (1) part of a Ticket
    - (2) any other ticket or document;

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025 | Page 21

- (3) entries made by means of an electronic or mechanical device or by telecommunications system.
- (iii) If any entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball is to consist of a ticket, part of a Ticket or document, such ticket, part of a Ticket or document issued to an entrant in a Game of Promotional Powerball:
  - (1) constitutes the Player's or Syndicate Player's official receipt;
  - (2) is, following its acceptance, to constitute the Player's or Syndicate Player's acknowledgment of the details on the entry, and acknowledgment that those details are correct; and
  - (3) is to be the only document issued by the Licensee, its Retailers to the entrant evidencing the processing of an entry in the Game of Promotional Powerball.

#### RULE 12 PRIZES

- (a) The Prize Allocation in a Game of Powerball shall be not less than sixty percent (60%) of Subscriptions.
- (b) The Prize Pool in a Game of Powerball shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall be not less than fifty five percent (55%) of Subscriptions.
- (c) The Prize Reserve Fund in respect of a Game of Powerball shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall retain not more than five percent (5%) of Subscriptions and shall be used to:
  - (i) fund any difference between the Division 1 Prize Guarantee and the Prize Pool allocation pursuant to Rule 12(h) Division 1;
  - (ii) fund any prize payable pursuant to Rule 12(i), Rule 12(j) and Rule 12(k).
- (d) Prizes for each Game of Powerball shall be paid by the Licensee from the Prize Pool and the Prize Reserve Fund in accordance with the provisions and classifications of Rule 12(h) Division 1, Division 2, Division 3, Division 4, Division 5, Division 6, Division 7, Division 8 and Division 9.
- (e) Any such Prize shall, where only one (1) Entry or Syndicate Entry is eligible for that Prize, be payable in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Entry, or shall, where two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries are eligible for that Prize, be shared equally between those Entries and/or Syndicate Entries.
- (f) Where a Syndicate Entry is eligible for a Prize, such Prize shall be divided by the number of Syndicate Shares in the Syndicate Entry to determine the amount payable in respect of each Syndicate Share.
- (g) Subject to Rule 12(f), the amount payable in respect of a Syndicate Share shall be rounded to the nearest cent.
- (h) Unless otherwise Approved, the Prize Pool will be distributed in the following indicative percentages that may be varied up or down by the Licensee by a maximum of five (5) percentage points provided the resultant allocation is no lower than half the indicative percentage specified. The Prize Pool distribution for other than the Division 1 Prize Pool shall be subject to a rounding off process (which shall be to the nearest sum containing a five (5) cent multiple). Monies required for rounding up shall be drawn from the Division 1 Prize Pool. Where a rounding down process has occurred, the excess monies shall be paid into the Division 1 Prize Pool.

#### Division 1 -

- (i) A Prize of an amount equal to 35.0% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains all the Winning Numbers plus the Powerball Number. Such amount may be supplemented from monies held in the Prize Reserve Fund as determined by the Licensee.
- (ii) If no Prize in this Division is payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry, an amount equal to 35% of the Prize Pool shall be retained in the Prize Fund so as to form part of the monies payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains all the Winning Numbers plus the Powerball Number in the Jackpot Drawing; provided that no such additional jackpotting shall be effected for more than twenty five (25) consecutive games of the same type, so that if no Division 1 Prize is payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry in twenty five (25) consecutive games of that type and there is no such Prize is payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry in the next (or 26th) consecutive game of that type, then the total Prize money of such additions or jackpot, when added to the Division 1 Prize payable in respect of such 26th game, shall be added to the Prize money allocated to the next lower division in which a Prize is payable in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Entry or Entries or Syndicate Entries.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 23

#### Division 2 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 1.8% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains the seven (7) Winning Numbers.

#### Division 3 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 1.1% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains six (6) but not more than six (6) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers plus the Powerball Number.

#### Division 4 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 2% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains six (6) but not more than six (6) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers.

#### Division 5 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 1.5% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains five (5) but not more than five (5) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers from the first barrel plus the Powerball Number.

#### Division 6 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 9.7% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains four (4) but not more than four (4) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers from the first barrel plus the Powerball Number.

#### Division 7 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 7.6% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains five (5) but not more than five (5) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers from the first barrel.

#### Division 8 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 15% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains three (3) but not more than three (3) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers plus the Powerball Number.

#### Division 9 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 26.3% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains two (2) but not more than two (2) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers plus the Powerball Number.

#### (i) Second Drawing

The Licensee may, subject to the Approval of the Minister, and shall where the Minister so directs, provide for the payment of an additional Prize or Prizes, in accordance with the Conditions of the Product Licence, by means of a Second Drawing in any Game of Powerball following the Powerball Draw, provided that:

- (i) the Second Drawing shall be Conducted following the Drawing of the Game of Powerball;
- (ii) an Entry or Syndicate Entry made in respect of a Game of Powerball shall be automatically entered into the Second Drawing in respect of a Game of Powerball and such entry shall not require the payment of any further Subscription;

- (iii) the Prize or Prizes payable in relation to the Second Drawing shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, or shall be payable in equal shares in respect of any two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries each of which, contains all the Winning Numbers from the first barrel plus the Powerball Number from the Powerball barrel:
- (iv) the amount or amounts of such Prize or Prizes shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer;
- (v) the Second Drawing shall not constitute a separate Game of Powerball but shall be part of the normal weekly Game of Powerball.
- (j) A Game of Powerball may include:
  - (i) an additional Prize or Prizes; and/or
  - (ii) Prizes paid on special occasions; and/or
  - (iii) Prizes paid pursuant to Rule 12(i).

Any such Prize or Prizes may be paid in monetary terms or in kind.

- (k) Prizes in a Game of Promotional Powerball
  - (i) The Prizes payable in a Game of Promotional Powerball may consist of one or more of the following:
    - (1) money;
    - (2) holidays;
    - (3) travel;
    - (4) accommodation;
    - (5) services or goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee, whether or not for valuable consideration;
    - (6) Entries in a Game of Powerball or another lottery Conducted by the Licensee; and
    - (7) such other Prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
  - (ii) A Prize in a Game of Promotional Powerball must not consist of or include tobacco.
  - (iii) A Prize in a Game of Promotional Powerball must not consist of or include liquor within the meaning of the Liquor Act 1982.
- (I) Determination of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Powerball
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the number, nature and value of Prizes in each Game of Promotional Powerball.
  - (ii) The Licensee is to publicly advertise the number, nature and value of, and the conditions relating to payment of, Prizes in each Game of Promotional Powerball Conducted by it.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025 | Page 25

- (iii) The Chief Executive Officer may (acting reasonably) change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in a Game of Promotional Powerball, including (but not limited to) the following:
  - (1) the replacement of any holiday destination offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another holiday destination;
  - (2) the replacement of any mode of travel offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another mode of travel;
  - (3) the replacement of any form of accommodation offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another form of accommodation;
  - (4) the resupply of services or the replacement of goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee; and
  - (5) the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) provided by the Licensee or by another person or body into a monetary equivalent.
- (iv) The Prizes in a Game of Promotional Powerball are payable in such manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of that Game of Promotional Powerball.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025 | Page 26

#### **RULE 13 ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES**

- Following each Drawing of a Game of Powerball the Licensee shall make available to the media (and (a) elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the Winning Numbers and the Powerball Number;
  - the amount of the Prize Pool allocated to each Division; (ii)
  - (iii) the value of each Prize Division and the number of Prize Winners in each Prize Division.
- (b) Following each Drawing of a Game of Powerball the Licensee may make available to the media as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the names and addresses of Provisional Prize Winners only where anonymity does not apply in accordance with Rule 11(f) or where Provisional Prize Winners are not Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players;
  - (ii) information on the manner of payment of Prizes; and
  - (iii) the manner in which claims under Rules 14(a), 14(b), 14(i) and 14(k) must be made.
- (c) The Licensee may make available to the media the results of each Game of Promotional Powerball as soon as possible after the completion of such Game of Promotional Powerball.
- (d) The Licensee shall make available to the media the results of each Second Drawing as soon as possible after the completion of that Second Drawing.

Powerball Rules Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 27

#### RULE 14 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) In relation to a Game of Powerball:
  - (i) other than as provided for Registered Players and Registered Syndicate Players, any Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a share of any Division 1 Prize) must be claimed by lodgement with the Licensee of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 14(I) and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) the date of lodgement of a Prize claim in accordance with Rule 14(a)(i) is the day of receipt by the Licensee.
- (b) A Registered Player winning a Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a Registered Syndicate Player winning a share of a Division 1 Prize) will be notified personally or by mail within five (5) calendar days after the Drawing Date. In respect of any Provisional Prize won by a Registered Player (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, any share of a Provisional Prize won by a Registered Syndicate Player) the Chief Executive Officer may require that Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player to lodge with the Licensee a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 14(I) hereof.
- (c) Where a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player has been requested to claim a Provisional Prize in accordance with Rule 14(b) the Prize may be paid in accordance with the procedure and conditions set out in Rule 14(d) hereof.
- (d) A Provisional Prize or share of a Provisional Prize shall not be payable as a Prize until after the expiry of the Provisional Period, and shall be payable by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account.
- (e) For Registered Players:
  - a Prize (or in the case of a Registered Syndicate Player, any share of a Prize) not exceeding \$1,000.00, shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by the Registered Player to a Retailer unless the Ticket is also entitled to a Provisional Prize in which case it will be paid in accordance with Rules 14(b)-(d);
  - (ii) a Prize not claimed or paid in accordance with Rule 14(e)(i) may be paid by the Licensee either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or nominated Australian bank account.

Prizes paid in accordance with this Rule 14(e) will be paid not earlier than the day immediately after the relevant Drawing Date, and not later than a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer.

- (f) For a Player or Syndicate Player who is not a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player, any Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, any share of a Prize) not exceeding \$1,000.00 shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid to a Player or Syndicate Player, upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal within a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer, following the Drawing Date (acting reasonably).
- (g) Subject to Rules 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(d) and 14(e) above, a Player being eligible for a Prize on a Multiple Draws Ticket may claim or collect that Prize and be issued with an Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket for any subsequent Drawings. For Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players, any unclaimed Multiple Draws Ticket Prizes will not be paid until after the last Drawing on the winning Ticket.
- (h) A Prize or, in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a share of a Prize, not paid by a Retailer in accordance with Rule 14(f) will be paid by the Licensee by remittance of funds by electronic funds transfer into

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025 | Page 28

the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account upon the submission to the Licensee of a Prize claim form, the Prize winning Ticket and such other evidence as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).

- (i) A:
  - (i) Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Division 1 Prize, (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share in a Division 1 Prize) pursuant to Rule 14(b) and who has not been notified within five (5) days in accordance with Rule 14(b) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Player or Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Provisional Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share in a Provisional Prize) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal;

must claim promptly by completing a Prize claim form and delivering it to the Licensee at the address printed on the Prize claim form and such Prize claim form must contain or be accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 14(I) and be received not later than ten (10) consecutive calendar days after the Drawing Date starting on the day immediately following the Drawing Date.

A claim not received in accordance with this Rule 14(i) will be rejected and the Licensee shall have no liability in relation thereto unless the Ticket was wrongly not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal as a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (j) The Entry or Syndicate Entry subject of a claim for a Provisional Prize made in accordance with Rule 14(i) shall be entitled to that Provisional Prize if it is found by the Licensee to be a winning Entry or winning Syndicate Entry before the expiry of the Provisional Period, and in such case the Provisional Prize amount shall be varied to take into account the new Provisional Prize Winner.
- (k) A nominal and reasonable postage, handling or processing fee may be deducted from all Prize payments other than in respect of non-monetary Prizes.
- (I) A:
  - (i) Player or Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal and/or where the Prize has not been paid in accordance with Rule 14(e);

must lodge a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the particulars set out in Rule 14(I).

- (m) The particulars required in accordance with the provisions of Rules 14(a), 14(b), 14(i) and 14(k) are:
  - (i) the name and address of the Player or Syndicate Player;
  - (ii) the Ticket Number;

Effective: 13 June 2025

- (iii) the Numbers included on the relevant numbered line on the Ticket;
- (iv) the Player's or Syndicate Player's registration number if a Registered Player or Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Page 29

Registered Syndicate Player:

- (v) the Ticket, which must be legible and be consistent with the details held by the Licensee's Computer Records and must not be mutilated, altered, reconstituted, counterfeit or stolen; and
- (vi) such further evidence or information as the Licensee reasonably requires.
- (n) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Rule 14:
  - the Licensee may elect or agree to pay a prize by cheque once the accumulated and consolidated value of Prizes payable reaches a threshold amount determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) if an Entry or Syndicate Entry which would otherwise have been entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 is discovered after payment of Prizes has commenced the Chief Executive Officer will pay to the Player or Syndicate Player the same Prize or Share of a Prize as is being paid to winning Players or winning Syndicate Players.
- (o) The Chief Executive Officer may, in the Chief Executive Officer's absolute discretion, require a person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share of a Prize or of a Provisional Prize) to furnish such additional or alternative evidence as the Chief Executive Officer deems necessary to prove that the person is the Player entitled to that Prize or Provisional Prize (or, in the case of a Syndicate Entry, is the Syndicate Player entitled to a share of that Prize or Provisional Prize). Such entitlement may be proved to the satisfaction of the Chief Executive Officer, notwithstanding the fact that the person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or Provisional Prize may fail to meet some or all of the elements (1), (2) or (3) contained in the definition of Player or elements (1) or (2) contained in the definition of Syndicate Player or may fail to meet one or more of the provisions contained in these Rules governing Prize entitlement.
- (p) All cheques will be crossed and marked "Not Negotiable" and will be drawn in favour of the Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (q) Subject to Rule 14(i) at any time before the payment of Prizes the Chief Executive Officer may correct an error made in determining the number of Entries or Syndicate Entries entitled thereto or the amount thereof.
- (r) The payment of a Prize or share of a Prize to any Player or Syndicate Player who is known to have died before receiving any or all of a particular Prize shall be made in accordance with the laws of New South Wales.
- (s) Subject to Section 27 of the Act, all unclaimed or uncollected Prizes or shares of Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Fund for payment to the Players or Syndicate Players entitled thereto.
- (t) Remittances for payments of Prizes or shares of Prizes may include all Prizes or shares of Prizes won on the same Ticket.
- (u) Where payment by the Licensee of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque, such cheque will be forwarded by such of the following methods as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably):
  - (i) by hand upon any conditions that the Chief Executive Officer may determine;
  - (ii) by post whether certified, registered, or ordinary post; or
  - (iii) as otherwise directed in writing by the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (v) Where payment of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque and mailed, it shall be posted to the name and address shown on the claim form or, in the case of a Registered Player or Registered

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025 | Page 30

Syndicate Player, to the name and address appearing on the Licensee's records relating to that Player or Syndicate Player;

Thereafter the Licensee shall not be held liable for any loss, delay in the delivery thereof or any negotiation of such cheque other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. A certificate under the hand of the Chief Executive Officer verifying the date of posting shall be conclusive evidence of same. A nominal and reasonable sum may be deducted to cover postage and processing.

- (w) Any Prize or share of a Prize sent by the Licensee to a Player or Syndicate Player and any refund of Selling Fees sent by post will be sent to the name and address advised in writing by the Player or Syndicate Player. Where more than one name is advised, payment to any one person so named at any address so given shall discharge the Licensee from all liability other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.
- (x) The payment of all Prizes or shares of Prizes pursuant to this Rule 14 will discharge the Licensee from liability notwithstanding the existence of any trust, whether express, constructive or implied. Where the Licensee has paid a Player or Syndicate Player pursuant to this Rule 14 and the Chief Executive Officer is, after such payment has been made, of the view (acting reasonably) that:
  - (i) the Player or Syndicate Player was not the Player or Syndicate Player to whom such payment should have been made; or
  - (ii) a Prize is not payable to the Player or Syndicate Player;

the Player or Syndicate Player shall upon being requested to do so by the Licensee in writing refund to the Licensee the monies forwarded to him or her unless the payment of the Prize to the Player or Syndicate Player was a result of the fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (y) A Prize or share of a Prize may be claimed through a Retailer or by mail directed to:
  - the postal address publicly notified from time to time on promotional material published by the Licensee or on the Website. A Prize claim form for a Prize or a share of a Prize must be forwarded by the Player to the Licensee direct.
- (z) Any Prize or share of a Prize to be paid in accordance with Rule 12(i) or Rule 12(k) shall be forwarded to the winner thereof in such manner as the Chief Executive Officer may, direct (acting reasonably).
- (aa) No Prize shall be payable in respect of a Ticket which fails any confidential security test of the Licensee.
- (bb) The Licensee shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to recognise the person who holds, bears and submits a Ticket as the Prize winner.
- (cc) The Licensee accepts no responsibility or liability for lost or stolen Tickets.
- (dd) Payment of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Powerball
  - (i) A Prize is not payable in a Game of Promotional Powerball unless:
    - (1) the entry submitted in a Game of Promotional Powerball is in the form determined by the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 11(k)(i); and
    - (2) if the form of entry requires the Player or Syndicate Player to have purchased a Ticket in a Game of Powerball, the Ticket in the Game of Powerball must satisfy any test used by Chief Executive Officer to determine whether the Ticket in the Game of Powerball is Valid; and

Page 31

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

- (3) the claimant has complied with all conditions relating to the Game of Promotional Powerball advertised under Rule 12(I)(ii).
- (ii) The Licensee may record on an entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball a verification code or other test and use it to determine whether the entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball is Valid and whether it has won a Prize. A Prize is not payable in respect of an entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball, on which such a test is recorded, if the entry does not satisfy the test.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 32

#### RULE 15 DISQUALIFICATIONS

- (a) Notwithstanding that:
  - (i) acceptance of Entries or Syndicate Shares in a Game of Powerball has closed;
  - (ii) a Ticket may have issued; or
  - (iii) a Drawing has occurred in respect of a Ticket;

an Entry or a Syndicate Share in a Game of Powerball or entry in a Game of Promotional Powerball may be disqualified and no Prize claim shall be made in respect of it if the Chief Executive Officer is of the opinion that it should be so disqualified in any of the circumstances described in Rule 15**Error! Reference source not found.**, or in other circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer reasonably considers are of a similar nature or similarly justify the disqualification of the Entry. Any Ticket having issued in respect of an Entry or a Syndicate Share in a Game of Powerball which is disqualified shall automatically be void and cancelled.

- (b) The reasons for disqualification include:
  - (i) tender of insufficient Selling Fee or, in the case of a Syndicate Share, insufficient Syndicate Share Fee, a dishonoured cheque or unacceptable form of remittance;
  - (ii) reasonable suspicion of fraud or attempted fraud (whether computer related or otherwise);
  - (iii) Ticket fails any security tests of the Licensee;
  - (iv) reasonable suspicion of unauthorised use of a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - a Malfunction occurring in respect of the Computer Linked Terminal or the Licensee's central processing computer equipment.
- (c) The Licensee shall use its best endeavours to notify a Player or Syndicate Player, whose name and address is known to the Licensee, that an Entry or Syndicate Share has been disqualified and the reason therefore and the Licensee shall in respect thereof refund to the Player any Selling Fee paid or to the Syndicate Player any Syndicate Share Fee paid less that part of the Syndicate Share Fee that represents the relevant proportion of Commission. Where the Licensee does not know of the name and address of a Player or Syndicate Player the Licensee shall publicise, in a reasonable manner, the disqualification of such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (d) If an Entry or Syndicate Entry which would otherwise be eligible for a Provisional Prize is disqualified during the Provisional Period then the value of the Provisional Prize shall be varied to take into account such disqualification.
- (e) Where there is no Provisional Prize winner as a result of a disqualification in accordance with Rule 15(d) then:
  - (i) in the case of a Division 1 Prize, the provisions of Rule 12(h)(ii) will apply;
  - (ii) otherwise the value and number of winners will be varied in accordance with Rule 12(h) Division 2, Division 3, Division 4, Division 5, Division 6, Division 7, Division 8 and Division 9 as the case may be.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025 | Page 33

#### RULE 16 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) Nothing in these Rules (including in the following provisions of this Rule 16, which must be read subject to this Rule 16(a)):
  - excludes, restricts, or modifies any guarantee, term, condition, warranty or any right or remedy, implied or imposed by any law or legislation which cannot lawfully be excluded or limited, including the Australian Consumer Law which contains guarantees that protect the purchasers of goods and services in certain circumstances; or
  - (ii) limits the liability of the Licensee or any Retailer for fraud or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The total amount recoverable by the Player or Syndicate Player in respect of any liability owed to a Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules is limited as follows:
  - (i) if the liability relates to an Entry or Syndicate Share, to the greater of:
    - (1) the total amount paid by the Player or Syndicate Player in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Share; and
    - (2) if the Player or Syndicate Player would have won a Prize in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Share but for the circumstances giving rise to the liability, the amount of such Prize; and
  - (ii) in all other cases, \$10,000.
- (c) The Licensee will have no responsibility or liability to a Player or Syndicate Player in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Share until a Ticket is issued to that Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (d) By entering a Game of Powerball or a Game of Promotional Powerball a Player or Syndicate Player acknowledges that they have entered into an agreement with the Licensee and, where an Entry is purchased from a Retailer, the Retailer and agrees to be bound by the provisions of these Rules which subsist for the benefit of the Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Retailer and all Employees thereof.
- (e) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability to a Player or Syndicate Player or any person for or in respect of any failure, disruption or malfunction of Computer Linked Terminals, electrical power, telecommunications links or computers resulting in loss or corruption of information retained on any Computer Records held by the Licensee except to the extent the loss or corruption was caused by the fraud or wilful misconduct of such person.
- (f) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability for any consequence of interference with or interruption to any Game of Powerball or Game of Promotional Powerball due to fire, storm, flood, riot, civil commotion, strike, failure or disruption of electrical power supply or telecommunications or other cause not within the reasonable control of such person.
- (g) In the acceptance and processing of any Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry instructions culminating in the issue of a Ticket or a ticket in a Game of Promotional Powerball, a Retailer shall for all purposes be the agent of a Player or Syndicate Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer
- (h) In the cancellation of a Ticket, the processing of a Prize claim form, the submission of a Prize claim form to the Licensee and the payment of a Prize, a Retailer shall at all times and for all purposes be the agent of a Player or Syndicate Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6 | Effective: 13 June 2025

- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 16(h), in the acceptance of Commission by a Retailer, on behalf of the Licensee, the Retailer in respect of an Entry shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Player and in the acceptance by a Retailer of that part of the Syndicate Share Fee that represents the relevant proportion of Commission in respect of a Syndicate Entry the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Syndicate Player.
- (j) The State of New South Wales, the Crown in right of that State, the Government of that State, the Minister, their successors and the employees and agents of each and every one of them shall have as ample protection from liability in respect of their acts and omissions (whether arising from, or contributed to by, negligence or otherwise) and the acts, omissions and contingencies the subject of Rules 16(a) to 16(i) inclusive as those protected by said Rules.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 35

#### RULE 17 EFFECTIVE DATE

- (a) The Powerball Rules made pursuant to the Act and in force immediately prior to the date upon which these Rules take effect are rescinded.
- (b) Entries made pursuant to Rules previously in force under any earlier Product Licence and which relate to a Drawing or Drawings to be conducted on or after the date these Rules take effect shall be taken to be submitted as entries in such Drawing or Drawings pursuant to those previous Rules.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 36

# RULE 18 AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL POWERBALL

The Licensee may enter into agreements or arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Act, with other persons or bodies for the purpose of promoting any Game of Promotional Powerball.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 37

### **SCHEDULE 1**

# SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF POWERBALL THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)

#### **One Powerball Number Selected**

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
4 Games	4	\$5.40	\$4.80	\$0.60
5 Games	5	\$6.75	\$6.00	\$0.75
6 Games	6	\$8.10	\$7.20	\$0.90
7 Games	7	\$9.45	\$8.40	\$1.05
8 Games	8	\$10.80	\$9.60	\$1.20
9 Games	9	\$12.15	\$10.80	\$1.35
10 Games	10	\$13.50	\$12.00	\$1.50
11 Games	11	\$14.80	\$13.20	\$1.60
12 Games	12	\$16.15	\$14.40	\$1.75
13 Games	13	\$17.50	\$15.60	\$1.90
14 Games	14	\$18.85	\$16.80	\$2.05
15 Games	15	\$20.20	\$18.00	\$2.20
16 Games	16	\$21.55	\$19.20	\$2.35
17 Games	17	\$22.90	\$20.40	\$2.50
18 Games	18	\$24.25	\$21.60	\$2.65
19 Games	19	\$25.60	\$22.80	\$2.80
20 Games	20	\$26.95	\$24.00	\$2.95
21 Games	21	\$28.30	\$25.20	\$3.10
22 Games	22	\$29.65	\$26.40	\$3.25
23 Games	23	\$31.00	\$27.60	\$3.40
24 Games	24	\$32.35	\$28.80	\$3.55
25 Games	25	\$33.70	\$30.00	\$3.70
26 Games	26	\$35.05	\$31.20	\$3.85
27 Games	27	\$36.40	\$32.40	\$4.00
28 Games	28	\$37.75	\$33.60	\$4.15
29 Games	29	\$39.10	\$34.80	\$4.30
30 Games	30	\$40.45	\$36.00	\$4.45
31 Games	31	\$41.80	\$37.20	\$4.60
32 Games	32	\$43.10	\$38.40	\$4.70
33 Games	33	\$44.45	\$39.60	\$4.85
34 Games	34	\$45.80	\$40.80	\$5.00
35 Games	35	\$47.15	\$42.00	\$5.15
36 Games	36	\$48.50	\$43.20	\$5.30

Powerball Rules

Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
37 Games	37	\$49.85	\$44.40	\$5.45
38 Games	38	\$51.20	\$45.60	\$5.60
39 Games	39	\$52.55	\$46.80	\$5.75
40 Games	40	\$53.90	\$48.00	\$5.90
41 Games	41	\$55.25	\$49.20	\$6.05
42 Games	42	\$56.60	\$50.40	\$6.20
43 Games	43	\$57.95	\$51.60	\$6.35
44 Games	44	\$59.30	\$52.80	\$6.50
45 Games	45	\$60.65	\$54.00	\$6.65
46 Games	46	\$62.00	\$55.20	\$6.80
47 Games	47	\$63.35	\$56.40	\$6.95
48 Games	48	\$64.70	\$57.60	\$7.10
49 Games	49	\$66.05	\$58.80	\$7.25
50 Games	50	\$67.40	\$60.00	\$7.40
System 5	435	\$586.20	\$522.00	\$64.20
System 6	29	\$39.10	\$34.80	\$4.30
System 8	8	\$10.80	\$9.60	\$1.20
System 9	36	\$48.50	\$43.20	\$5.30
System 10	120	\$161.70	\$144.00	\$17.70
System 11	330	\$444.70	\$396.00	\$48.70
System 12	792	\$1,067.30	\$950.40	\$116.90
System 13	1,716	\$2,312.50	\$2,059.20	\$253.30
System 14	3,432	\$4,624.95	\$4,118.40	\$506.55
System 15	6,435	\$8,671.80	\$7,722.00	\$949.80
System 16	11,440	\$15,416.55	\$13,728.00	\$1,688.55
System 17	19,448	\$26,208.10	\$23,337.60	\$2,870.50
System 18	31,824	\$42,886.00	\$38,188.80	\$4,697.20
System 19	50,388	\$67,902.85	\$60,465.60	\$7,437.25
System 20	77,520	\$104,465.95	\$93,024.00	\$11,441.95

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9

Issue No.: 9.6 Effective: 13 June 2025

### **Twenty Powerball Numbers Selected**

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
1 Game	20	\$26.95	\$24.00	\$2.95
System 5	8,700	\$11,724.10	\$10,440.00	\$1,284.10
System 6	580	\$781.60	\$696.00	\$85.60
System 8	160	\$215.60	\$192.00	\$23.60
System 9	720	\$970.25	\$864.00	\$106.25
System 10	2,400	\$3,234.25	\$2,880.00	\$354.25
System 11	6,600	\$8,894.15	\$7,920.00	\$974.15
System 12	15,840	\$21,346.00	\$19,008.00	\$2,338.00
System 13	34,320	\$46,249.65	\$41,184.00	\$5,065.65
System 14	68,640	\$92,499.25	\$82,368.00	\$10,131.25
System 15	128,700	\$173,436.10	\$154,440.00	\$18,996.10

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 1, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 40

### **SCHEDULE 2**

## SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF POWERBALL THAT APPLY TO RESELLERS

### **One Powerball Number Selected**

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
4 Games	4	\$5.25	\$4.80	\$0.45
5 Games	5	\$6.55	\$6.00	\$0.55
6 Games	6	\$7.85	\$7.20	\$0.65
7 Games	7	\$9.20	\$8.40	\$0.80
8 Games	8	\$10.50	\$9.60	\$0.90
9 Games	9	\$11.80	\$10.80	\$1.00
10 Games	10	\$13.10	\$12.00	\$1.10
11 Games	11	\$14.45	\$13.20	\$1.25
12 Games	12	\$15.75	\$14.40	\$1.35
13 Games	13	\$17.05	\$15.60	\$1.45
14 Games	14	\$18.35	\$16.80	\$1.55
15 Games	15	\$19.65	\$18.00	\$1.65
16 Games	16	\$21.00	\$19.20	\$1.80
17 Games	17	\$22.30	\$20.40	\$1.90
18 Games	18	\$23.60	\$21.60	\$2.00
19 Games	19	\$24.90	\$22.80	\$2.10
20 Games	20	\$26.25	\$24.00	\$2.25
21 Games	21	\$27.55	\$25.20	\$2.35
22 Games	22	\$28.85	\$26.40	\$2.45
23 Games	23	\$30.15	\$27.60	\$2.55
24 Games	24	\$31.50	\$28.80	\$2.70
25 Games	25	\$32.80	\$30.00	\$2.80
26 Games	26	\$34.10	\$31.20	\$2.90
27 Games	27	\$35.40	\$32.40	\$3.00
28 Games	28	\$36.70	\$33.60	\$3.10
29 Games	29	\$38.05	\$34.80	\$3.25
30 Games	30	\$39.35	\$36.00	\$3.35
31 Games	31	\$40.65	\$37.20	\$3.45
32 Games	32	\$41.95	\$38.40	\$3.55
33 Games	33	\$43.30	\$39.60	\$3.70
34 Games	34	\$44.60	\$40.80	\$3.80
35 Games	35	\$45.90	\$42.00	\$3.90
36 Games	36	\$47.20	\$43.20	\$4.00

Powerball Rules

Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
37 Games	37	\$48.55	\$44.40	\$4.15
38 Games	38	\$49.85	\$45.60	\$4.25
39 Games	39	\$51.15	\$46.80	\$4.35
40 Games	40	\$52.45	\$48.00	\$4.45
41 Games	41	\$53.80	\$49.20	\$4.60
42 Games	42	\$55.10	\$50.40	\$4.70
43 Games	43	\$56.40	\$51.60	\$4.80
44 Games	44	\$57.70	\$52.80	\$4.90
45 Games	45	\$59.00	\$54.00	\$5.00
46 Games	46	\$60.35	\$55.20	\$5.15
47 Games	47	\$61.65	\$56.40	\$5.25
48 Games	48	\$62.95	\$57.60	\$5.35
49 Games	49	\$64.25	\$58.80	\$5.45
50 Games	50	\$65.60	\$60.00	\$5.60
System 5	435	\$570.55	\$522.00	\$48.55
System 6	29	\$38.05	\$34.80	\$3.25
System 8	8	\$10.50	\$9.60	\$0.90
System 9	36	\$47.20	\$43.20	\$4.00
System 10	120	\$157.40	\$144.00	\$13.40
System 11	330	\$432.85	\$396.00	\$36.85
System 12	792	\$1,038.80	\$950.40	\$88.40
System 13	1,716	\$2,250.70	\$2,059.20	\$191.50
System 14	3,432	\$4,501.40	\$4,118.40	\$383.00
System 15	6,435	\$8,440.15	\$7,722.00	\$718.15
System 16	11,440	\$15,004.70	\$13,728.00	\$1,276.70
System 17	19,448	\$25,508.00	\$23,337.60	\$2,170.40
System 18	31,824	\$41,740.35	\$38,188.80	\$3,551.55
System 19	50,388	\$66,088.90	\$60,465.60	\$5,623.30
System 20	77,520	\$101,675.25	\$93,024.00	\$8,651.25

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9

Issue No.: 9.6 Effective: 13 June 2025

### **Twenty Powerball Numbers Selected**

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
1 Game	20	\$26.25	\$24.00	\$2.25
System 5	8,700	\$11,410.90	\$10,440.00	\$970.90
System 6	580	\$760.75	\$696.00	\$64.75
System 8	160	\$209.85	\$192.00	\$17.85
System 9	720	\$944.35	\$864.00	\$80.35
System 10	2,400	\$3,147.85	\$2,880.00	\$267.85
System 11	6,600	\$8,656.55	\$7,920.00	\$736.55
System 12	15,840	\$20,775.75	\$19,008.00	\$1,767.75
System 13	34,320	\$45,014.10	\$41,184.00	\$3,830.10
System 14	68,640	\$90,028.20	\$82,368.00	\$7,660.20
System 15	128,700	\$168,802.90	\$154,440.00	\$14,362.90

<sup>\*</sup> The Selling Fee may be subject to an Ancillary Fee in accordance with Rule 7(b).

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 2, which may be subject to an Ancillary Fee, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

Powerball Rules | Issue No.: 9.6

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 43

#### **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996**

#### **OZ LOTTO - APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE RULES**

I, Natalie Wright, Executive Director of Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, pursuant to section 23 of the *Public Lotteries Act 1996* (hereafter referred to as "the Act") DO HEREBY APPROVE, under delegation of the Minister for Gaming & Racing pursuant to section 81 of the Act, the Rules for the conduct of the Games known as Oz Lotto and Promotional Oz Lotto by the New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd, as annexed to this instrument, effective from 13 June 2025. On 13 June 2025, these Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette, subject to the Explanatory Note in this Instrument.

Dated this 27th day of May 2025.

#### **Natalie Wright**

Executive Director, Policy & Programs

Hospitality & Racing

Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport

Delegate of the Minister for Gaming & Racing

# PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996 OZ LOTTO RULES

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

It is hereby notified that the Executive Director, Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport under delegation of the Minister administering the *Public Lotteries Act 1996* has approved of the following Rules for the Conduct of the Game of Oz Lotto and Promotional Oz Lotto. In accordance with Section 23(3)(b) of the Act, these Rules take effect on and from 13 June 2025. These Rules supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 1

Effective: 13 June 2025

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

RULE 1	DEFINITIONS	3
RULE 2	CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES OF OZ LOTTO AND GAMES OF PROMOTIONAL OZ LOTTO	9
RULE 3	APPLICATION OF RULES	11
RULE 4	OBJECT	12
RULE 5	ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF OZ LOTTO	13
RULE 6	RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS	14
RULE 7	COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE	16
RULE 8	STANDARD ENTRY	17
RULE 9	SYSTEM ENTRY	18
RULE 10	SYNDICATE ENTRY	19
RULE 11	SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY	21
RULE 12	PRIZES	23
RULE 13	ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES	27
RULE 14	PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES	28
RULE 15	DISQUALIFICATIONS	33
RULE 16	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	34
RULE 17	EFFECTIVE DATE	36
RULE 18	AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL OZ LOTTO	37
SCHEDUL	E1	38
SCHEDUL	E 2	40

#### RULE 1 DEFINITIONS

- (a) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - (i) "Act" means the Public Lotteries Act 1996, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;
  - (ii) "Advance Entry" means an Entry or Syndicate Entry for a nominated Draw in advance of the current Draw, whereby the maximum number of advanced Draws will be determined by the Licensee:
  - (iii) "Ancillary Fee" means a fee charged a Player or Syndicate Player from whom a Reseller accepts an Entry over and above the Subscription and the Commission;
  - (iv) "Approved" means approved in writing by the Minister;
  - (v) "Australian Consumer Law" means schedule 2 of the *Competition and Consumer Act 2010* (Cth);
  - (vi) "Automatic Entry" means an Entry or Syndicate Entry in respect of a Game of Oz Lotto made pursuant to verbal instruction or electronic instruction (not requiring completion of an Entry Coupon) wherein:
    - (1) the selection of Numbers is made by way of a Computer Linked Terminal or the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee; and/or
    - (2) the Numbers are the Numbers previously selected by a Player and stored in the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - (vii) "Chief Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee or such delegate appointed by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3(g);
  - (viii) "Close of Acceptance" means the day and time of day determined by the Licensee and published on the Website after which Entries and/or Syndicate Entries will not be accepted;
  - (ix) "Commission" means an amount:
    - (1) paid to, deducted by or retained by a Retailer in connection with a Subscription (whether or not in the person's capacity as a Retailer); and
    - (2) determined by or in accordance with, and identified as Commission in, the conditions of the Product Licence or these Rules:
  - "Computer Linked Terminal" means computer equipment located in branches of the Licensee or its related bodies corporate, or places of business of its Retailers or otherwise which is linked to the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Oz Lotto or Games of Promotional Oz Lotto;
  - (xi) "Computer Records" means the sum of information which is provided to the Licensee by way of the Licensee's central processing computer equipment in respect of a Player or a Syndicate Player and in respect of details of:
    - (1) a Player's Entry in a Game of Oz Lotto;
    - (2) a Syndicate Entry in a Game of Oz Lotto;
    - (3) a Syndicate Player's Syndicate Entry Share in a Game of Oz Lotto; and
    - (4) where appropriate a Player's entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto;

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 3 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (xii) "Conduct" in relation to a Game of Oz Lotto and a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto has the same meaning as assigned to it by Section 4(1) of the Act;
- (xiii) "Director" means a Director of the Board of Directors of the Licensee;
- (xiv) "Division 1 Prize Guarantee" means the Division 1 Prize amounts for a Drawing of a Game of Oz Lotto, determined by the Licensee from time to time;
- (xv) "Drawing" means:
  - (1) in relation to a Game of Oz Lotto (but not including a Second Drawing) the selection of the Winning Numbers and the Supplementary Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device; and
  - in relation to a Second Drawing the selection of the Winning Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device;
- (xvi) "Drawing Date" in relation to a Game of Oz Lotto means the date on which the Winning Numbers and the Supplementary Numbers are selected in a Drawing in respect of that Game of Oz Lotto and, provided there is no inconsistency and where the context admits, includes the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of a Second Drawing of a Game of Oz Lotto;
- (xvii) "Drawing Device" means equipment as Approved by the Minister from time to time used to Conduct a Drawing;
- (xviii) "Employee" means an employee of the Licensee. In other contexts where appropriate "Employee" includes an employee of a Retailer;
- (xix) "Entry" means the Numbers in a Game of Oz Lotto which have been recorded in the central processing computer equipment, which have been selected by way of an Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry, which (subject to Rule 6(d)) have been Imprinted on a Ticket, and in respect of which the correct Subscription or correct Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, has been paid;
- (xx) "Entry Coupon" means a form, approved by the Licensee/Chief Executive Officer, to be completed by a Player containing instructions (including the chances of winning) to effect an Entry in the relevant Game of Oz Lotto and/or Game of Promotional Oz Lotto via a Computer Linked Terminal;
- "Game of Oz Lotto" means a public lottery Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, Rules and Regulations but does not include Games of Promotional Oz Lotto;
- (xxii) "Game of Promotional Oz Lotto" means a public lottery Conducted for the purpose of promoting a Game of Oz Lotto, and in respect of which:
  - eligibility to enter is confined to Players and Syndicate Players in a Game of Oz Lotto;
     and
  - (2) no further Subscription or Commission or Syndicate Share Fee is charged;
- (xxiii) "Game Panel" means:
  - (1) a separate matrix in relation to an Entry Coupon containing the Numbers from 1 to 47 in arithmetical sequence; or
  - (2) a single game on a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates;

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 4
Effective: 13 June 2025

- (xxiv) "Imprinted" means printed upon a Ticket by the Computer Linked Terminal;
- (xxv) "Jackpot Drawing" means the next Drawing of a Game of Oz Lotto (other than a Second
- (xxvi) Drawing), as approved by the Licensee, following the Drawing of a Game of Oz Lotto (other than a Second Drawing), where there is no winner in accordance with Rule 12(i) Division 1(i);
- (xxvii) "Licensee" means New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd;
- (xxviii) "Malfunction" means a failure of any of the following:
  - (1) the Drawing Device;
  - (2) the Computer Linked Terminal;
  - (3) the central processing computer equipment;

to operate in the manner in which it is designed to operate;

- (xxix) "Minister" means the Minister for the time being administering the Act;
- (xxx) "Multiple Draws Entry" means an Entry that is valid for more than one Drawing;
- (xxxi) "Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket" means a Ticket issued to a Player:
  - (1) who surrenders a Multiple Draws Ticket to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (2) who surrenders a Syndicate Share Ticket that contains more than one product to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (3) where at the time the Prize is collected or claimed there is one or more Drawing/s remaining in respect of the Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (4) where the Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket shall be Imprinted with the same Numbers as the Multiple Draws Ticket surrendered;
  - (5) where the Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket shall be considered the Multiple Draws Ticket in respect of the remaining Drawing/s;
- (xxxii) "Multiple Draws Ticket" means a Ticket issued in respect of more than one Drawing;
- (xxxiii) "Numbers" has the same meaning as Section 5 of the Act;
- (xxxiv) "Operator Licence" means the operator licence granted to the Licensee, pursuant to the Act, to conduct any public lottery for which it, from time to time, holds a Product Licence granted pursuant to the Act;
- (xxxv) "Outlet" means a place at which a Retailer is permitted to accept completed Entries into Games of Oz Lotto and entries into Games of Promotional Oz Lotto;
- (xxxvi) "Player" means a person who:
  - has paid the correct Subscription and Commission and Ancillary Fee (where applicable) for a valid Entry; and/or
  - (2) holds a valid Entry; and/or

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 5
Effective: 13 June 2025

(3) holds, bears and submits a valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes where relevant a person who has Validly entered a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto and who holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Game of Promotional Oz Lotto to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

- (xxxvii) "Prize" means any Prize determined in accordance with Rule 12;
- (xxxviii) "Prize Allocation" means that proportion of Subscriptions paid into the Prize Fund for a particular Game of Oz Lotto as specified in Rule 12(a);
- (xxxix) "Prize Fund" means an account established under Section 27 of the Act and known as the Oz Lotto Prize Fund Account:
- (xl) "Prize Pool" has the meaning in Rule 12(b);
- (xli) "Prize Reserve Fund" means the fund located in the Prize Fund under Section 27 of the Act containing:
  - (1) the amounts specified in Rule 12(c); and
  - (2) an amount representing any unclaimed Prizes, subject to a direction under Section 27A of the Act;
- (xlii) "Product Licence" means the product licence granted to the Licensee to Conduct Games of Oz Lotto and Games of Promotional Oz Lotto pursuant to Section 12 of the Act:
- (xliii) "Provisional Period" means the period of consecutive calendar days approved from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer which starts on the day immediately following the Drawing Date, and which shall be no longer than twenty one (21) consecutive calendar days;
- (xliv) "Provisional Prize" is a Prize in Division 1 and/or a Prize (or additional Prize in the case of a Second Drawing) that exceeds \$1,000.00 as shown on a Computer Linked Terminal;
- (xlv) "Provisional Prize Winner" means a Player who holds a Ticket which is eligible for a Provisional Prize;
- (xlvi) "Registered Player" means a Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Player;
- (xlvii) "Registered Syndicate Player" means a Syndicate Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Syndicate Player;
- (xlviii) "Regulation" means a regulation made under the Act;
- (xlix) "Reseller" means a Retailer, approved by the Minister, who is authorised by the Licensee to receive Subscriptions, Commissions and instructions in respect of a Game of Oz Lotto and instructions with respect to a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto from a Player. Such Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prizes for and on behalf of a Player;
- (I) "Retailer" means a person or agent appointed by the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Oz Lotto and Games of Promotional Oz Lotto Conducted by the Licensee and includes a Reseller;

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 6
Effective: 13 June 2025

- (li) "Rules" means these Rules made under the Act, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;
- (lii) "Second Drawing" means an additional Drawing Conducted as part of a Game of Oz Lotto in accordance with the Rules:
- (liii) "Selling Fee" means the sum of the Commission and Subscription and Ancillary Fee (where applicable);
- (liv) "Standard Entry" means an entry referred to in Rule 8;
- (Iv) "Subscription" means the amounts paid for Entries but does not include the following:
  - (1) Ancillary Fees; or
  - (2) Commission, unless the Act expressly provides otherwise;
- (Ivi) "Supplementary Numbers" in relation to a Game of Oz Lotto means the eighth, ninth and tenth Numbers drawn for each game;
- (Ivii) "Syndicate Entry" is an arrangement under which a type of Entry or combination of types of Entries, in the Game of Oz Lotto or other products is divided into a number of equal shares;
- (Iviii) "Syndicate Organiser" is a person referred to in Rule 10;
- (lix) "Syndicate Player" means a person who:
  - (1) has paid the correct Syndicate Share Fee for a valid Syndicate Share; and
  - (2) holds, bears and submits a valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes a person who has validly entered a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto and who holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Game of Promotional Oz Lotto to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

- (lx) "Syndicate Share" means a share of a Syndicate Entry;
- (lxi) "Syndicate Share Fee" means the amount payable by a Syndicate Player to participate in a Syndicate comprising the relevant apportionment of both the Subscription and Commission rounded as necessary to the nearest whole cent in accordance with these Rules;
- (lxii) "System Entry" means an Entry referred to in Rule 9;
- (Ixiii) "Ticket" means the receipt, whether it be in documentary, electronic or other form, which is the official confirmation that a Player has paid the correct Selling Fee for a valid Entry in a Game of Oz Lotto or that a Syndicate Player has paid the correct Syndicate Share Fee for a valid Syndicate Share in a Game of Oz Lotto, and which:
  - (1) contains Entry or Syndicate Share details; and
  - (2) may include a Ticket Number and other such tests to determine the identity, validity and status of the Ticket and whether it has won a Prize; and
  - (3) may include other particulars as determined by the Licensee;
- (Ixiv) "Ticket Number" means the numbers and/or letters Imprinted on a Ticket and which constitute official verification of the valid issue of a Ticket in a particular Game of Oz Lotto;

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 7
Effective: 13 June 2025

- (lxv) "Website" means the internet site located at www.thelott.com/nswlotteries (or such other address as may be advised from time to time);
- (Ixvi) "Winning Numbers" in relation to a Game of Oz Lotto (including a Second Drawing) means the first seven Numbers drawn for each Drawing of a Game of Oz Lotto.
- (b) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - (i) a reference to the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;
  - (ii) headings are for convenient reference only and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of the provisions to which they refer.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 8

Effective: 13 June 2025

### RULE 2 CONDUCT AND DRAWING OF GAMES OF OZ LOTTO AND GAMES OF PROMOTIONAL OZ LOTTO

- (a) These Rules are to be read subject to the Act its Regulations, the Operator Licence and the Product Licence, and shall apply to every Game of Oz Lotto and Game of Promotional Oz Lotto.
- (b) A Drawing in relation to a Game of Oz Lotto shall take place after the Close of Acceptance of Entries and Syndicate Shares has closed for that Game of Oz Lotto.
- (c) Games of Oz Lotto will be drawn on Tuesday of each week unless the Chief Executive Officer determines otherwise necessary (acting reasonably) to overcome an operational issue.
- (d) Drawings undertaken in the State of New South Wales shall be Conducted by the Licensee and supervised by a person or persons nominated by the Minister in accordance with Drawing procedures agreed between the Licensee and the Minister's nominee(s).
- (e) Certification of the validity of a Drawing by the Minister's nominees shall be final and binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.
- (f) Where a Malfunction in a Drawing Device occurs:
  - (i) only the Number/s drawn before a Malfunction has commenced shall be Winning Number/s and/or Supplementary Number/s;
  - (ii) in the event that any Winning Number/s and/or Supplementary Number/s are still to be selected after the Malfunction:
    - (1) the Drawing shall commence or re-commence, as the case may be, as soon as practicable after the rectification of the Malfunction; or
    - (2) where the Malfunction cannot be rectified, the Drawing shall commence or recommence, as the case may be, using a substitute Drawing Device as soon as practicable after the commencement of the Malfunction and shall continue until all Winning Numbers and Supplementary Numbers are drawn.
- (g) Drawings conducted outside the State of New South Wales shall be conducted and supervised in accordance with the requirements of the relevant regulatory body for the State or Territory in which the Drawings are conducted.
- (h) The Licensee may Conduct a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto in such manner and at such times and places as the Chief Executive Officer determines, including (but not limited to), at the absolute discretion of the Chief Executive Officer, the Conduct of a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto in conjunction with another Game of Oz Lotto or separately from a Game of Oz Lotto or otherwise in conjunction with another lottery Conducted by the Licensee.
- A Game of Promotional Oz Lotto shall, at commencement, have a Prize structure as determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (j) The Prize structure for a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto shall comprise the number, nature and value of Prizes to be offered by the Licensee to Players and Syndicate Players during the period of each Game of Promotional Oz Lotto.
- (k) During the period in which the Licensee accepts entries in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto some of the Prizes in the approved Prize structure may already have been won when a Player or Syndicate Player enters the Game of Promotional Oz Lotto leaving the balance of Prizes still available to be won by Players and Syndicate Players at the time of their respective entries.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 9 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (I) A ticket in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto may include one or more Prizes to be won on the same ticket.
- (m) A Game of Promotional Oz Lotto may require the Player or Syndicate Player to have a winning Number on more than one ticket in order to win a Prize.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 10 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES

- (a) All instructions and conditions printed on Entry Coupon and Ticket and these Rules shall apply to each Game of Oz Lotto and shall be binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.
- (b) In the event of any inconsistency between these Rules and the instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon, Ticket or promotional materials, these Rules shall prevail to the extent of any inconsistency.
- (c) These Rules shall apply to each Game of Promotional Oz Lotto and shall be binding on all Players and Syndicate Players.
- (d) By entering a Game of Oz Lotto or a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto, Players and Syndicate Players agree to be bound by these Rules. To the extent that a situation or issue arises for which these Rules make no provision or in relation to which these Rules or their application are unclear, the Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to make a decision regarding such situation or issue acting in good faith and, subject to any regulator direction to the contrary, such decision will be final and binding.
- (e) The Rules that are in force at the time of purchase of a Ticket in a Game of Oz Lotto or a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto are contractually binding on the Licensee and the Player.
- (f) A Retailer has no authority to bind the Licensee in contract or otherwise.
- (g) The Chief Executive Officer may appoint a delegate to perform a function under these Rules which function would otherwise be required to be performed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such appointment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Chief Executive Officer may determine.
- (h) Any reference to the Chief Executive Officer in these Rules shall include a reference to a duly authorised delegate of the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 3(g).
- (i) These Rules will be displayed and made available for inspection at each Outlet.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 11 Effective: 13 June 2025

# RULE 4 OBJECT The object of the Game of Oz Lotto is to select seven (7) Winning Numbers in a Game Panel.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 12 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 5 ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF OZ LOTTO

- (a) In order for an Entry or Syndicate Share to be eligible for inclusion in a Game of Oz Lotto, before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into that Game of Oz Lotto;
  - (i) the Entry or Syndicate Share must have been recorded by the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - (ii) a valid Ticket must have been issued by the Computer Linked Terminal;
  - (iii) the Entry or Syndicate Share details recorded on such Ticket issued under Rule 5(a)(ii) must match the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records; and
  - (iv) the Player or Syndicate Player must have paid the correct Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee as the case may be in relation to such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (b) Any Ticket issued shall be subject to Rule 6 hereof.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 13
Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 6 RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS

- (a) An Entry Coupon may be used by a Player to enter a Game of Oz Lotto by completing or marking the Entry Coupon in accordance with the instructions appearing on the Entry Coupon. In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players, a Player or Syndicate Player shall not mark an Entry Coupon other than by hand unless the prior approval of the Licensee has been obtained. Without this approval such Entry Coupon will not be considered to be properly completed and a Player or Syndicate Player claiming a resultant Prize may not be entitled to payment of the Prize.
- (b) A completed Entry Coupon or any other approved entry (including Automatic Entry) or Syndicate Share made in accordance with these Rules shall be accepted by a Retailer and processed on a Computer Linked Terminal and evidenced by the issue of the Ticket to the Player or Syndicate Player on the payment of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee.
- (c) Subject to Rule 6(e) below acceptance of a Ticket by a Player or Syndicate Player shall constitute the Player's or Syndicate Player's acknowledgment of the correctness of the details (including Entry or Syndicate Share details) thereon. The Ticket issued to a Player or Syndicate Player shall be the only form issued by the Licensee or its Retailer to the Player or Syndicate Player evidencing the Player's Entry or Syndicate Player's Syndicate Share, as the case may be. It is the responsibility of the Player or Syndicate Player to check the accuracy of all details on the Ticket, that all details on the Ticket are legible, and that the Ticket is received by a Player or Syndicate Player from the Retailer. The player will be taken to have acknowledged that all particulars and details appearing on the Ticket are correct if, promptly after receiving the Ticket, they do not seek a replacement Ticket that addresses such matters. No Entry Coupon shall have any validity or be of evidence for any purpose after the Ticket has been issued to the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (d) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players, in the event that the details recorded on the Player's or Syndicate Player's Ticket are not consistent with the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records shall be considered final and shall determine what Prize, if any, the Player or Syndicate Player shall be entitled to and the Player or Syndicate Player shall be bound by any such determination.
- (e) Without limiting the provisions of Rule 15 the following apply
  - (i) A Player or Syndicate Player may return a Ticket and request that the Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates be cancelled by a Retailer. The Retailer shall cancel the Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates on that day provided it is returned to the place of purchase and prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of the first Drawing on that Ticket and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal.
  - (ii) A Retailer who has sold an Entry or Syndicate Share into a Game of Lotto may cancel the Entry or the Syndicate Share and the Ticket to which it relates.
  - (iii) A Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates may be voided or cancelled by the Licensee (acting reasonably) prior to the Close of Acceptance and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal to void or cancel a Ticket and the Entry or Syndicate Share to which it relates.
- (f) Where an Entry or Syndicate Share and the Ticket to which it relates has been cancelled by the Licensee or the Retailer, the Player or Syndicate Player shall be refunded the Selling Fee, or Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, paid in respect of such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (g) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players and Syndicate Players the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records are regarded as final. As such, a Ticket which is recorded as void or cancelled in the Licensee's Computer Records shall be void regardless of whether such Ticket was cancelled in error, and no Prize shall be payable in respect of such Ticket unless such

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 14 Effective: 13 June 2025

voiding or cancellation was the result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. When cancelling a Ticket, it is the responsibility of the Player to ensure that the correct Ticket has been cancelled based on the cancellation receipt or other information provided to the Player, and to inform the Retailer or the Licensee if, based on the receipt or other information provided to the Player, there has been an error in relation to cancellation of the Ticket. The Licensee shall be liable to the Player in respect of an error in the cancellation of a Ticket if the Player has failed to inform the Retailer or the Licensee, of the error in the cancellation of a Ticket unless resulting fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission of the Licensee.

- (h) Where an Entry or Syndicate Share in a Game of Oz Lotto has been transferred to the central processing computer equipment via a Computer Linked Terminal and recorded on the Computer Records but:
  - no Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee has been paid to the Retailer in whose place of business the Computer Linked Terminal is located prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Oz Lotto; and
  - (ii) the Retailer has failed to cancel the Entry or Syndicate Share before the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Oz Lotto; then

the Retailer shall meet the cost of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee, as the case may be, in respect of the Entry or Syndicate Share and in such case, for the purposes of these Rules, such Retailer shall:

- (iii) be considered a Player or Syndicate Player as the case may be; and
- (iv) be the holder of the Entry or Syndicate Share, as the case may be; and
- (v) owe the Licensee the amount of the unpaid Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee as a debt due and owing to the Licensee.
- (i) It is the responsibility of the Player to check that the Numbers and other details shown on a Ticket are correct.
- (j) A Reseller has no authority to verify the accuracy or completion by a Player or a Syndicate Player of any part of an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share whether received by post, telephone, facsimile, modem (internet) or otherwise. Entry into a Game of Oz Lotto by a Player or Syndicate Player with a Reseller does not exempt the Player or Syndicate Player from being bound by these Rules and a Player or Syndicate Player using a Reseller to submit an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share shall accept all risks, losses, delays, errors or omissions which may occur in any manner in relation to such Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry or Syndicate Share, the issue of any Ticket and the payment of any Prize.
- (k) It shall be the responsibility of the Player or Syndicate Player to ensure the safe custody of a Ticket issued to the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (I) A Ticket shall at all times remain the property of the Licensee and a Player or Syndicate Player shall deliver up any Ticket to the Licensee upon demand.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 15
Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 7 COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE

- (a) The Licensee is Approved to charge a Player Commission in the amounts specified in Schedules 1 and 2. By entering a Game of Oz Lotto the Player accepts liability to pay the Commission to the Licensee. By entering a Game of Oz Lotto a Syndicate Player accepts liability to pay to the Licensee that part of the Commission payable in respect of a Syndicate Share.
- (b) A Reseller may charge an Ancillary Fee as authorised by the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee from time to time. Players will be notified of any such charges in accordance with the Reseller's terms and conditions.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 16
Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 8 STANDARD ENTRY

- (a) A Standard Entry is the selection of seven (7) Numbers in a Game Panel which may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A Standard Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry, Advance Entry, or Syndicate Entry.
- (c) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry, seven (7) Numbers shall have been marked in each Game Panel completed on the Entry Coupon.
- (d) The minimum number of Standard Entries that can be played is:
  - (i) one (1) Game Panel where entry is made via an Entry Coupon; or
  - (ii) one (1) Game Panel where entry is made via an Automatic Entry using Numbers previously selected and stored by the Player; or
  - (iii) four (4) Game Panels where entry is made via an Automatic Entry except for in the circumstances described in Rule 8(d)(ii).
- (e) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (f) The Selling Fee payable for each Standard Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 17 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 9 SYSTEM ENTRY

- (a) A System Entry may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A System Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry, Advance Entry or Syndicate Entry.
- (c) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a System Entry:
  - (i) for a System 8 to 20 Entry, 8 to 20 numbers shall be selected in a Game Panel;
  - (ii) for a System 5 or 6 Entry (also known as a "Pick" 5 or 6 Entry), 5 or 6 numbers shall be selected in a Game Panel.
- (d) Where an Entry Coupon is used to effect a System Entry the appropriate System area on the Entry Coupon shall be marked.
- (e) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a System Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked, the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (f) The Selling Fee payable for each System Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 18 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 10 SYNDICATE ENTRY

- (a) A Syndicate Entry may be formed by:
  - (i) the Licensee;
  - (ii) a Retailer;
  - (iii) a group of two (2) or more Retailers

and each will be known as "Syndicate Organisers".

- (b) If a Syndicate Share is not sold 10 minutes prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries for the first Drawing applicable to that Syndicate Entry, the Syndicate Share is automatically issued to:
  - (i) for a Syndicate Entry formed by one (1) Retailer only, the Retailer that formed that Syndicate Entry.
  - (ii) for a Syndicate Entry formed by a group of two (2) or more Retailers:
    - (1) the Retailer who is responsible for the sale of the Syndicate Share; or
    - (2) if the Syndicate Share was sold and then cancelled by a Retailer, the Retailer who cancelled that Syndicate Share; or
    - in accordance with Rule 10(b)(iii)(2) if the Licensee joined the Syndicate and was responsible for the sale of the relevant Syndicate Share.
  - (iii) for a Syndicate Entry formed by the Licensee :
    - (1) if the Syndicate Share was sold and then cancelled by a Retailer, the Retailer who cancelled the Syndicate Share; or
    - (2) otherwise, the central processing computer equipment will randomly register the Syndicate Share to a person (at no cost to such person) who is at that time a Registered Player.
  - (iv) if a Syndicate Share is issued under Rule 10(b)(i), 10(b)(ii)(1), 10(b)(ii)(2), or 10(b)(ii)(3) the Licensee will collect the amount owing for the Syndicate Share from the Retailer to whom the Syndicate Share is issued under this Rule.
- (c) A Syndicate Entry may only be cancelled if all Syndicate Shares are available for sale.
- (d) A Syndicate Share that is sold but later cancelled is a Syndicate Share that is available for sale.
- (e) The Syndicate Player must pay the Syndicate Share Fee in respect of each Syndicate Share purchased by the Syndicate Player.
- (f) Where no Syndicate Share in a Syndicate Entry has been sold at the Close of Acceptance, that Syndicate Entry will be cancelled and:
  - (i) is not eligible to be entered into a Game of Oz Lotto; and
  - (ii) shall not be included in a Drawing; and

no person or other legal entity is entitled to receive any Prize.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 19 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (g) The Licensee may pay a fee or reward to its Retailers for the promotion of any Syndicate Entry or sale of any Syndicate Shares other than the Syndicate Share Fee.
- (h) Upon payment of the Syndicate Share Fee in respect of a Syndicate Share a Syndicate Player shall be entitled to receive a Ticket.
- (i) A Syndicate Share may not be purchased by post from the Licensee.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 20 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### **RULE 11** SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY

- (a) The Licensee may impose a reasonable registration fee payable by a Player or a Syndicate Player for the provision by the Licensee of the player registration service. The registration fee will be advised to the Player or Syndicate Player prior to application. Application will be by way of an application form as approved by the Chief Executive Officer.
- A person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not enter a Game of Oz Lotto or a Game of (b) Promotional Oz Lotto.
- An Entry or Automatic Entry may only be made through the Licensee or a Retailer. (c)
- (d) The correct Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee and player registration fee (if applicable) must be paid by a Player or Syndicate Player to a Retailer or to the Licensee in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (e) The form of payment of the Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee or player registration fee (if applicable) must be acceptable to the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).
- (f) A Player or Syndicate Player will remain anonymous with respect to having won a Prize unless the Player or Syndicate Player opts out of anonymity by:
  - (i) appropriately marking a Prize claim form; or
  - (ii) advising the Licensee's representative upon being contacted by such person with notice of having won a Prize;
  - (iii) completing the relevant section of the membership application form (for Players or Syndicate Players who become a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player).
- All marks and other written notations appearing on an Entry Coupon are taken to be made or given (g) exclusively by the Player in respect of an Entry.
- (h) No Player may submit an Entry Coupon or other form of entry and no Syndicate Player may purchase a Syndicate Share as trustee, representative or nominee for another person or persons. Each transaction effected by the Player or Syndicate Player will be conducted solely with the Player or Syndicate Player.
- An Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry instructions must be received by the Licensee or a Retailer in (i) sufficient time to be processed before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into the first Game of Oz Lotto relating to that Entry or Syndicate Entry Share. For the purposes of this paragraph an Entry or Syndicate Share will be taken to be received when details thereof have been recorded on the central processing computer equipment held by the Licensee and the Ticket has issued from a Computer Linked Terminal.
- (j) Other than as provided for in Rule 6(e), no Ticket may be withdrawn or altered after issue to a Player or Syndicate Player without the consent of the Licensee (acting reasonably).
- (k) Form of entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto:
  - The Chief Executive Officer is to approve the form of entry for a Game of Promotional Oz (i) Lotto prior to commencement of the Game of Promotional Lotto;
  - Without limiting Rule 11(k)(i), the form of entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto may (ii) be any of the following (or combination of the following):

Issue No.: 7.5 Oz Lotto Rules Page 21

- (1) part of a Ticket;
- any other ticket or document; or (2)
- entries made by means of an electronic or mechanical device or by (3)telecommunications system.
- (iii) If any entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto is to consist of a ticket, part of a Ticket or document, such ticket, part of a Ticket or document issued to an entrant in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto:
  - constitutes the Player's or Syndicate Player's official receipt; (1)
  - (2) is, following its acceptance, to constitute the Player's or Syndicate Player's acknowledgment of the details on the entry, and acknowledgment that those details are correct; and
  - is to be the only document issued by the Licensee, its Retailers to the entrant (3) evidencing the processing of an entry in the Game of Promotional Oz Lotto.

Issue No.: 7.5 Page 22 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### **RULE 12 PRIZES**

- (a) The Prize Allocation in a Game of Oz Lotto shall be not less than sixty percent (60%) of Subscriptions.
- (b) The Prize Pool in a Game of Oz Lotto shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall be not less than fifty five percent (55%) of Subscriptions.
- The Prize Reserve Fund in respect of a Game of Oz Lotto shall be funded from the Prize Allocation (c) and shall retain not more than five percent (5%) of Subscriptions, and shall be used to:
  - (i) fund any difference between the Division 1 Prize Guarantee and the Prize Pool allocation pursuant to Rule 12(h);
  - (ii) fund any prize payable pursuant to Rule 12(i), Rule 12(j) and Rule 12(k).
- (d) Prizes for each Game of Oz Lotto shall be paid by the Licensee from the Prize Pool and the Prize Reserve Fund in accordance with the provisions and classifications of Rule 12(i) Division 1, Division 2, Division 3, Division 4, Division 5, Division 6 and Division 7.
- (e) Any such Prize shall, where only one (1) Entry or Syndicate Entry is eligible for that Prize, be payable in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Entry, or shall, where two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries are eligible for that Prize, be shared equally between those Entries and/or Syndicate Entries.
- (f) Where a Syndicate Entry is eligible for a Prize, such Prize shall be divided by the number of Syndicate Shares in the Syndicate Entry to determine the amount payable in respect of each Syndicate Share.
- Subject to Rule 12(f), the amount payable in respect of a Syndicate Share shall be rounded to the (g) nearest cent.
- (h) The Prize Pool distribution for other than the Division 1 Prize Pool shall be subject to a rounding process (which shall be to the nearest sum containing a five (5) cent multiple). Monies required for rounding up shall be drawn from the Prize Reserve Fund. Where a rounding down process has occurred, the excess monies shall be paid into the Prize Reserve Fund.
- Unless otherwise Approved, the Prize Pool will be distributed in the following indicative percentages (i) that may be varied up or down by the Licensee by a maximum of five (5) percentage points provided the resultant allocation is no lower than half the indicative percentage specified.

#### Division 1 -

- (i) A Prize of an amount equal to 40% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains all seven (7) Winning Numbers. Such amount may be supplemented from monies held in the Prize Reserve Fund as determined by the Licensee:
- (ii) If no Prize in this Division is payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry, an amount equal to 40% of the Prize Pool shall be retained in the Prize Reserve Fund so as to form part of the monies payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which contains all seven (7) Winning Numbers in the Jackpot Drawing; provided that no such additional jackpotting shall be effected for more than twenty five (25) consecutive games of the same type, so that if no Division 1 Prize is payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry in twenty five (25) consecutive games of that type and there is no such Prize payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry in the next (or 26th) consecutive game of that type, then the total Prize money payable in respect of such additions or jackpot, when added to the Division 1 Prize payable in respect of such 26th game, shall be added to the Prize money allocated to the next lower division in which a Prize is payable in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Entry.

Issue No.: 7.5 Page 23 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### Division 2 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 2.2% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, contains six (6) but not more than six (6) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers together with at least one of the Supplementary Numbers.

#### Division 3 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 2.6% of the Prize Pool, or where there is no Prize winner in Division 2, 4.8% of the Prize Pool, shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, contains six (6) but no more than six (6) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers.

#### Division 4 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 2% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, contains five (5) but not more than five (5) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers together with at least one of the Supplementary Numbers.

#### Division 5 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 1.6% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, or shall be shared equally between any two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries each of which, contains five (5) but not more than five (5) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers.

#### Division 6 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 19.8% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, or shall be shared equally between any two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries each of which, contains four (4) but not more than four (4) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers.

#### Division 7 -

A Prize of an amount equal to 31.8% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, or shall be shared equally between any two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries each of which, contains three (3) but not more than three (3) of the seven (7) Winning Numbers together with at least one of the Supplementary Numbers.

#### (i) Second Drawing

The Licensee may, subject to the Approval of the Minister, and shall where the Minister so directs, provide for the payment of an additional Prize or Prizes, in accordance with the Conditions of the Product Licence, by means of a Second Drawing in any Game of Oz Lotto provided that:

- (i) the Second Drawing shall be Conducted following the Drawing of the Oz Lotto Game;
- (ii) an Entry or Syndicate Entry made in respect of a Game of Oz Lotto shall be automatically entered into the Second Drawing in respect of that Game of Oz Lotto and such Entry or Syndicate Entry shall not require the payment of any further Subscription;
- (iii) the Prize or Prizes payable in relation to the Second Drawing shall be payable in respect of any Entry or Syndicate Entry which, or shall be payable in equal shares in respect of any two (2) or more Entries and/or Syndicate Entries each of which, contains all the Winning Numbers;

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 24 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (iv) the amount or amounts of such Prize or Prizes shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer:
- (v) the Second Drawing shall not involve the Drawing of any Supplementary Numbers; and
- (vi) the Second Drawing shall not constitute a separate Game of Oz Lotto but shall be part of the normal weekly Game of Oz Lotto.
- (k) A Game of Oz Lotto may include:
  - (i) an additional Prize or Prizes; and/or
  - (ii) Prizes paid on special occasions; and/or
  - (iii) Prizes paid pursuant to Rule 12(i)

Any such Prize or Prizes may be paid in monetary terms or in kind.

- (I) Prizes in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto
  - (i) The Prizes payable in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto may consist of one or more of the following:
    - (1) money;
    - (2) holidays;
    - (3) travel;
    - (4) accommodation;
    - (5) services or goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee, whether or not for valuable consideration;
    - (6) Entries in a Game of Oz Lotto or another lottery Conducted by the Licensee; and
    - (7) such other Prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
  - (ii) A Prize in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto must not consist of or include tobacco.
  - (iii) A Prize in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto must not consist of or include liquor within the meaning of the Liquor Act 1982.
- (m) Determination of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the number, nature and value of Prizes in each Game of Promotional Oz Lotto.
  - (ii) The Licensee is to publicly advertise the number, nature and value of, and the conditions relating to payment of, Prizes in each Game of Promotional Oz Lotto Conducted by it.
  - (iii) The Chief Executive Officer may (acting reasonably) change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto, including (but not limited to) the following:
    - (1) the replacement of any holiday destination offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another holiday destination;

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 25 Effective: 13 June 2025

- (2) the replacement of any mode of travel offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another mode of travel;
- (3) the replacement of any form of accommodation offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another form of accommodation;
- (4) the resupply of services or the replacement of goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee; and
- (5) the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) provided by the Licensee or by another person or body into a monetary equivalent;
- (iv) The Prizes in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto are payable in such manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of that Game of Promotional Oz Lotto.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 26 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### **RULE 13 ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES**

- (a) Following each Drawing of a Game of Oz Lotto the Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the Winning Numbers and the Supplementary Numbers;
  - (ii) the amount of the Prize Pool allocated to each Division;
  - the value of the Provisional Prizes and the number of Provisional Prize Winners; and (iii)
  - (iv) the value of each Prize Division and the number of Prize Winners in each Prize Division.
- Following each Drawing of a Game of Oz Lotto the Licensee may make available to the media as (b) soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the names and addresses of Provisional Prize Winners only where anonymity does not apply in accordance with Rule 11(f) or where Provisional Prize Winners are not Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players;
  - information on the manner of payment of Prizes; and (ii)
  - (iii) the manner in which claims under Rules 14(a), 14(b), 14(i) and 14(l) must be made.
- (c) The Licensee may make available to the media the results of each Game of Promotional Oz Lotto as soon as possible after the completion of such Game of Promotional Oz Lotto.
- The Licensee shall make available to the media the results of each Second Drawing as soon as (d) possible after the completion of that Second Drawing.

Issue No.: 7.5 Oz Lotto Rules Page 27 Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] 30 May 2025 NSW Government Gazette

#### RULE 14 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) In relation to a Game of Oz Lotto:
  - (i) Other than as provided for Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players, any Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a share of any Division 1 Prize) must be claimed by lodgement with the Licensee of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 14(m) and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably); and
  - (ii) The date of lodgement of a Prize claim in accordance with Rule 14(a)(i) is the day of receipt by the Licensee.
- (b) A Registered Player winning a Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, a Registered Syndicate Player winning a share of a Division 1 Prize) will be notified personally or by mail within five (5) calendar days after the Drawing Date. In respect of any Provisional Prize won by a Registered Player (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, any share of a Provisional Prize won by a Registered Syndicate Player) the Chief Executive Officer may require that Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player to lodge with the Licensee a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 14(m) hereof.
- (c) Where a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player has been requested to claim a Provisional Prize in accordance with Rule 14(b) the Prize may be paid in accordance with the procedure and conditions set out in Rule 14(d) hereof.
- (d) A Provisional Prize or share of a Provisional Prize shall not be payable as a Prize until after the expiry of the Provisional Period and shall be payable by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account.
- (e) For Registered Players:
  - (i) a Prize (or in the case of a Registered Syndicate Player, any share of a Prize) not exceeding \$1,000.00, shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by the Registered Player to a Retailer unless the Ticket is also entitled to a Provisional Prize in which case it will be paid in accordance with Rules 14(b)-(d); or
  - (ii) a Prize not claimed or paid in accordance with Rule 14(e)(i) may be paid by the Licensee (at its election) either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or nominated Australian bank account.

Prizes paid in accordance with this Rule 14(e) will be paid not earlier than the day immediately after the relevant Drawing Date, and not later than a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).

- (f) For a Player or Syndicate Player who is not a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player, any Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry, any share of a Prize) not exceeding \$1,000.00 shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid to a Player or Syndicate Player, upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal within a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer following the Drawing Date (acting reasonably).
- (g) Subject to Rules 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(d), 14(e) and 14(f) above, a Player being eligible for a Prize on a Multiple Draws Ticket may claim or collect that Prize and be issued with a Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket for any subsequent Drawings. For Registered Players or Registered Syndicate Players, any unclaimed Multiple Draws Ticket Prizes will not be paid until after the last Drawing on the winning Ticket.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 28

- (h) A Prize or, in the case of a Syndicate Entry, as share of a Prize, not paid by a Retailer in accordance with Rule 14(e) will be paid by the Licensee by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account upon the submission to the Licensee of a Prize claim form, the Prize winning Ticket and such other evidence as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).
- (i) Claiming a Division 1 Prize or a Provisional Prize: A -:
  - (i) Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Division 1 Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share of a Division 1 Prize) pursuant to Rule 14(b) and who has not been notified within five (5) days in accordance with Rule 14(b) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Player or Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Provisional Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share of a Provisional Prize) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal;

must claim promptly by completing a Prize claim form and delivering it to the Licensee at the address printed on the Prize claim form and such Prize claim form must contain or be accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 14(m) and be received not later than ten (10) consecutive calendar days after the Drawing Date, starting on the day immediately following the Drawing Date.

A claim not received in accordance with this Rule 14(i) will be rejected and the Licensee shall have no liability in relation thereto unless the Ticket was wrongly not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal as a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (j) The Entry or Syndicate Entry subject of a claim for a Provisional Prize made in accordance with Rule 14(i) shall be entitled to that Provisional Prize if it is found by the Licensee to be a winning Entry or winning Syndicate Entry before the expiry of the Provisional Period, and in such case the Provisional Prize amount shall be varied to take into account the new Provisional Prize Winner.
- (k) A nominal and reasonable postage, handling or processing fee may be deducted from all Prize payments other than in respect of non-monetary Prizes.
- (I) Claiming a minor Prize: A -:
  - (i) Player or Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal and/or where the Prize has not been paid in accordance with Rule 14(e);

must lodge a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the particulars set out in Rule 14(m).

- (m) The particulars required in accordance with the provisions of Rules 14(a), 14(b), 14(i), and 14(l) are:
  - (i) the name and address of the Player or Syndicate Player;
  - (ii) the Ticket Number;
  - (iii) the Numbers included on the relevant numbered line on the Ticket;
  - (iv) the Player's or Syndicate Player's registration number if a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player;

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 29 Effective: 13 June 2025

- the Ticket, which must be legible and be consistent with the details held by the Licensee's Computer Records and must not be mutilated, altered, reconstituted, counterfeit or stolen; and
- (vi) such further evidence or information as the Licensee reasonably requires.
- (n) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Rule 14:
  - the Licensee may elect or agree to pay a prize by cheque once the accumulated and consolidated value of Prizes payable reaches a threshold amount determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) if an Entry or Syndicate Entry which would otherwise have been entitled to a Prize or share of a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 is discovered after the payment of Prizes has commenced the Chief Executive Officer will pay to the Player or Syndicate Player the same Prize or Share of a Prize as is being paid to winning Players or winning Syndicate Players.
- (o) The Chief Executive Officer may, in the Chief Executive Officer's absolute discretion, require a person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize (or in the case of a Syndicate Entry a share of a Prize or a Provisional Prize) to furnish such additional or alternative evidence as the Chief Executive Officer deems necessary to prove that the person is the Player entitled to that Prize or Provisional Prize (or, in the case of a Syndicate Entry, is the Syndicate Player entitled to a share of that Prize or Provisional Prize). Such entitlement may be proved to the satisfaction of the Chief Executive Officer, notwithstanding the fact that the person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize may fail to meet one or more of the elements (1), (2) or (3) contained in the definition of Player or elements (1) or (2) contained in the definition of Syndicate Player or may fail to meet some or all of the provisions contained in these Rules governing Prize entitlement.
- (p) All cheques will be crossed and marked "Not Negotiable" and will be drawn in favour of the Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (q) Subject to Rule 14(i), at any time before the payment of Prizes the Chief Executive Officer may correct an error made in determining the number of Entries or Syndicate Entries entitled thereto or the amount thereof.
- (r) The payment of a Prize or share of a Prize to any Player or Syndicate Player who is known to have died before receiving any or all of a particular Prize shall be made in accordance with the laws of New South Wales.
- (s) Subject to Section 27 of the Act, all unclaimed or uncollected Prizes or shares of Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Fund for payment to the Players or Syndicate Players entitled thereto.
- (t) Remittances for payments of Prizes or shares of Prizes may include all Prizes or shares of Prizes won on the same Ticket.
- (u) Where payment by the Licensee of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque, such cheque will be forwarded by such of the following methods as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably):
  - (i) by hand upon any conditions that the Chief Executive Officer may determine;
  - (ii) by post whether certified, registered, or ordinary post; or
  - (iii) as otherwise directed in writing by the Player or Syndicate Player.
- (v) Where payment of a Prize or share of a Prize is made by cheque and mailed, it shall be posted to the name and address shown on the claim form or, in the case of a Registered Player or Registered Syndicate Player, to the name and address appearing on the Licensee's records relating to that Player

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 30 Effective: 13 June 2025

or Syndicate Player.

Thereafter the Licensee shall not be held liable for any loss, delay in the delivery thereof or any negotiation of such cheque other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. A certificate under the hand of the Chief Executive Officer verifying the date of posting shall be conclusive evidence of same. A nominal and reasonable sum may be deducted to cover postage and processing.

- (w) Any Prize or share of a Prize sent by the Licensee to a Player or Syndicate Player and any refund of Selling Fees sent by post will be sent to the name and address advised in writing by the Player or Syndicate Player. Where more than one name is advised, payment to any one person so named at any address so given shall discharge the Licensee from all liability other than that which is a result of the fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.
- (x) The payment of all Prizes or shares of Prizes pursuant to this Rule 14 will discharge the Licensee from liability notwithstanding the existence of any trust, whether express, constructive or implied. Where the Licensee has paid a Player or Syndicate Player pursuant to this Rule 14 and the Chief Executive Officer is, after such payment has been made, of the view (acting reasonably) that:
  - (i) the Player or Syndicate Player was not the Player or Syndicate Player to whom such payment should have been made; or
  - (ii) a Prize is not payable to the Player or Syndicate Player;

the Player or Syndicate Player shall upon being requested to do so by the Licensee in writing refund to the Licensee the monies forwarded to him or her unless the payment of the Prize to the Player or Syndicate Player was a result of the fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

(y) A Prize or share of a Prize may be claimed through a Retailer or by mail directed to:

the postal address publicly notified from time to time on promotional material published by the Licensee or on the Website. A Prize claim form for a Prize or a share of a Prize must be forwarded by the Player to the Licensee direct.

- (z) Any Prize or share of a Prize to be paid in accordance with Rule 12(i) or Rule 12(k) shall be forwarded to the winner thereof in such manner as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably).
- (aa) No Prize shall be payable in respect of a Ticket which fails any confidential security test of the Licensee.
- (bb) The Licensee shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to recognise the person who holds, bears and submits a Ticket as the Prize winner.
- (cc) The Licensee accepts no responsibility or liability for lost or stolen Tickets.
- (dd) Payment of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto
  - (i) A Prize is not payable in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto unless:
    - (1) the entry submitted in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto is in the form determined by the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 11(k)(i);
    - (2) if the form of entry requires the Player or Syndicate Player to have purchased a Ticket in a Game of Oz Lotto, the Ticket in the Game of Oz Lotto must satisfy any test used by Chief Executive Officer to determine whether the Ticket in the Game of Oz Lotto is Valid; and
    - (3) the claimant has complied with all conditions relating to the Game of Promotional

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 31 Effective: 13 June 2025

Oz Lotto advertised under Rule 12(I)(ii).

(ii) The Licensee may record on an entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto a verification code or other test and use it to determine whether the entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto is Valid and whether it has won a Prize. A Prize is not payable in respect of an entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto, on which such a test is recorded, if the entry does not satisfy the test.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 32 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 15 DISQUALIFICATIONS

- (a) Notwithstanding that:
  - (i) acceptance of Entries or Syndicate Shares into a Game of Oz Lotto has closed;
  - (ii) a Ticket may have issued; or
  - (iii) a Drawing has occurred in respect of a Ticket;

an Entry or a Syndicate Share in a Game of Oz Lotto or entry in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto may be disqualified and no Prize claim shall be made in respect of it if the Chief Executive Officer is of the opinion that it should be so disqualified in any of the circumstances described in Rule 15**Error! Reference source not found.**, or in other circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer reasonably considers are of a similar nature or similarly justify the disqualification of the Entry. Any Ticket having issued in respect of an Entry or a Syndicate Share in a Game of Oz Lotto which is disqualified shall automatically be void and cancelled.

- (b) The reasons for disqualification include:
  - (i) tender of insufficient Selling Fee or, in the case of a Syndicate Share, insufficient Syndicate Share Fee, a dishonoured cheque or unacceptable form of remittance;
  - the Player or Syndicate Player had defaulted in payment of any previous Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee;
  - (iii) reasonable suspicion of fraud or attempted fraud by or on behalf of the Player or Syndicate Player (whether computer related or otherwise);
  - (iv) Ticket fails any security tests of the Licensee;
  - reasonable suspicion of unauthorised use of a Computer Linked Terminal by or on behalf of the Player or Syndicate Player; or
  - (vi) a Malfunction occurring in respect of the Computer Linked Terminal or the Licensee's central processing computer equipment.
- (c) The Licensee shall use its best endeavours to notify a Player or Syndicate Player, whose name and address is known to the Licensee, that an Entry or Syndicate Share has been disqualified and the reason therefore and the Licensee shall in respect thereof refund to the Player any Selling Fee paid or to the Syndicate Player any Syndicate Share Fee paid less that part of the Syndicate Share Fee that represents the relevant proportion of Commission. Where the Licensee does not know of the name and address of a Player or Syndicate Player the Licensee shall publicise, in a reasonable manner, the disqualification of such Entry or Syndicate Share.
- (d) If an Entry or Syndicate Entry that would otherwise be eligible for a Provisional Prize is disqualified during the Provisional Period then the value of the Provisional Prize shall be varied to take into account such disqualification.
- (e) Where there is no Provisional Prize winner as a result of a disqualification in accordance with Rule 15(d) then:
  - (i) in the case of a Division 1 Prize, the provisions of Rule 12(i)(ii) will apply;
  - (ii) in the case of a Division 2, Division 3, Division 4, Division 5, Division 6 and Division 7 Prize, the value of Prizes and numbers of Prize winners will be varied in accordance with Rule 12(i).

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 33

Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 16 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) Nothing in these Rules (including in the following provisions of this Rule 16, which must be read subject to this Rule 16(a)):
  - excludes, restricts, or modifies any guarantee, term, condition, warranty or any right or remedy, implied or imposed by any law or legislation which cannot lawfully be excluded or limited, including the Australian Consumer Law which contains guarantees that protect the purchasers of goods and services in certain circumstances; or
  - (ii) limits the liability of the Licensee or any Retailer for fraud or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The total amount recoverable by the Player or Syndicate Player in respect of any liability owed to a Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules is limited as follows:
  - (i) if the liability relates to an Entry or Syndicate Share, to the greater of:
    - (1) the total amount paid by the Player or Syndicate Player in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Share; and
    - (2) if the Player or Syndicate Player would have won a Prize in respect of that Entry or Syndicate Share but for the circumstances giving rise to the liability, the amount of such Prize; and
  - (ii) in all other cases, \$10,000.
- (c) The Licensee will have no responsibility or liability to a Player or Syndicate Player in respect of an Entry or Syndicate Share until a Ticket is issued to that Player or Syndicate Player in accordance with these Rules.
  - By entering a Game of Oz Lotto or a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto a Player or Syndicate Player acknowledges that he or she has entered into an agreement with the Licensee and, where the Entry is purchased from a Retailer, the Retailer and agrees to be bound by the provisions of these Rules which subsist for the benefit of the Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Retailer and all Employees thereof.
- (d) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability to a Player or Syndicate Player or any person for or in respect of any failure, disruption or malfunction of Computer Linked Terminals, electrical power, telecommunications links or computers (whether arising from, or contributed to by, negligence or otherwise) resulting in loss or corruption of information retained on any Computer Records held by the Licensee except to the extent the loss or corruption was caused by the fraud or wilful misconduct of such person.
- (e) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability for any consequence of interference with or interruption to any Game of Oz Lotto or Game of Promotional Oz Lotto due to fire, storm, flood, riot, civil commotion, strike, failure or disruption of electrical power supply or telecommunications or other cause not within the reasonable control of such person.
- (f) In the acceptance and processing of any Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry culminating in the issue of a Ticket or a ticket in a Game of Promotional Oz Lotto, a Retailer shall for all purposes be the agent of a Player or Syndicate Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (g) In the cancellation of a Ticket, the processing of a Prize claim form, the submission of a Prize claim form to the Licensee and the payment of a Prize, a Retailer shall at all times and for all purposes be the agent of a Player or Syndicate Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 34

Effective: 13 June 2025

- (h) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 16(f), in the acceptance of Commission in respect of an Entry by a Retailer, on behalf of the Licensee, the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Player and in the acceptance by an Agent of that part of the Syndicate Share Fee that represents the relevant proportion of Commission in respect of a Syndicate Entry the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Syndicate Player.
- (i) The State of New South Wales, the Crown in right of that State, the Government of that State, the Minister, their successors and the employees and agents of each and every one of them shall have as ample protection from liability in respect of their acts and omissions (whether arising from, or contributed to by, negligence or otherwise) and the acts, omissions and contingencies the subject of Rules 16(a) to 16(h) inclusive as those protected by said Rules.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 35 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 17 EFFECTIVE DATE

- (a) The Oz Lotto Rules made pursuant to the Act and in force immediately prior to the date upon which these Rules take effect are rescinded.
- (b) Entries made pursuant to Rules previously in force under any earlier Product Licence and which relate to a Drawing or Drawings to be Conducted on or after the date these Rules take effect shall be taken to be submitted as entries in such Drawing or Drawings pursuant to those previous Rules.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 36
Effective: 13 June 2025

# **RULE 18** AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL OZ LOTTO The Licensee may enter into agreements or arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Act, with other persons or bodies for the purpose of promoting any Game of Promotional Oz Lotto.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 37

Effective: 13 June 2025

#### **SCHEDULE 1**

## SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF OZ LOTTO THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
1 Game	1	\$1.50	\$1.30	\$0.20
2 Games	2	\$2.95	\$2.60	\$0.35
3 Games	3	\$4.40	\$3.90	\$0.50
4 Games	4	\$5.85	\$5.20	\$0.65
5 Games	5	\$7.30	\$6.50	\$0.80
6 Games	6	\$8.75	\$7.80	\$0.95
7 Games	7	\$10.20	\$9.10	\$1.10
8 Games	8	\$11.70	\$10.40	\$1.30
9 Games	9	\$13.15	\$11.70	\$1.45
10 Games	10	\$14.60	\$13.00	\$1.60
11 Games	11	\$16.05	\$14.30	\$1.75
12 Games	12	\$17.50	\$15.60	\$1.90
13 Games	13	\$19.00	\$16.90	\$2.10
14 Games	14	\$20.45	\$18.20	\$2.25
15 Games	15	\$21.90	\$19.50	\$2.40
16 Games	16	\$23.35	\$20.80	\$2.55
17 Games	17	\$24.80	\$22.10	\$2.70
18 Games	18	\$26.30	\$23.40	\$2.90
19 Games	19	\$27.75	\$24.70	\$3.05
20 Games	20	\$29.20	\$26.00	\$3.20
21 Games	21	\$30.65	\$27.30	\$3.35
22 Games	22	\$32.10	\$28.60	\$3.50
23 Games	23	\$33.60	\$29.90	\$3.70
24 Games	24	\$35.00	\$31.20	\$3.80
25 Games	25	\$36.50	\$32.50	\$4.00
26 Games	26	\$37.95	\$33.80	\$4.15
27 Games	27	\$39.40	\$35.10	\$4.30
28 Games	28	\$40.90	\$36.40	\$4.50
29 Games	29	\$42.35	\$37.70	\$4.65
30 Games	30	\$43.80	\$39.00	\$4.80
31 Games	31	\$45.25	\$40.30	\$4.95
32 Games	32	\$46.70	\$41.60	\$5.10
33 Games	33	\$48.20	\$42.90	\$5.30
34 Games	34	\$49.65	\$44.20	\$5.45

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5

Effective: 13 June 2025

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
35 Games	35	\$51.10	\$45.50	\$5.60
36 Games	36	\$52.60	\$46.80	\$5.80
37 Games	37	\$54.00	\$48.10	\$5.90
38 Games	38	\$55.50	\$49.40	\$6.10
39 Games	39	\$56.95	\$50.70	\$6.25
40 Games	40	\$58.40	\$52.00	\$6.40
41 Games	41	\$59.85	\$53.30	\$6.55
42 Games	42	\$61.30	\$54.60	\$6.70
43 Games	43	\$62.80	\$55.90	\$6.90
44 Games	44	\$64.25	\$57.20	\$7.05
45 Games	45	\$65.70	\$58.50	\$7.20
46 Games	46	\$67.15	\$59.80	\$7.35
47 Games	47	\$68.60	\$61.10	\$7.50
48 Games	48	\$70.10	\$62.40	\$7.70
49 Games	49	\$71.55	\$63.70	\$7.85
50 Games	50	\$73.00	\$65.00	\$8.00
Pick 5	861	\$1,256.95	\$1,119.30	\$137.65
Pick 6	41	\$59.85	\$53.30	\$6.55
System 8	8	\$11.70	\$10.40	\$1.30
System 9	36	\$52.60	\$46.80	\$5.80
System 10	120	\$175.20	\$156.00	\$19.20
System 11	330	\$481.75	\$429.00	\$52.75
System 12	792	\$1,156.25	\$1,029.60	\$126.65
System 13	1,716	\$2,505.20	\$2,230.80	\$274.40
System 14	3,432	\$5,010.40	\$4,461.60	\$548.80
System 15	6,435	\$9,394.45	\$8,365.50	\$1,028.95
System 16	11,440	\$16,701.25	\$14,872.00	\$1,829.25
System 17	19,448	\$28,392.15	\$25,282.40	\$3,109.75
System 18	31,824	\$46,459.85	\$41,371.20	\$5,088.65
System 19	50,388	\$73,561.45	\$65,504.40	\$8,057.05
System 20	77,520	\$113,171.45	\$100,776.00	\$12,395.45

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 1, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5 Page 39 Effective: 13 June 2025

#### SCHEDULE 2

#### SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE GAME OF OZ LOTTO THAT APPLY TO RESELLERS

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
1 Game	1	\$1.40	\$1.30	\$0.10
2 Games	2	\$2.85	\$2.60	\$0.25
3 Games	3	\$4.25	\$3.90	\$0.35
4 Games	4	\$5.70	\$5.20	\$0.50
5 Games	5	\$7.10	\$6.50	\$0.60
6 Games	6	\$8.55	\$7.80	\$0.75
7 Games	7	\$9.95	\$9.10	\$0.85
8 Games	8	\$11.35	\$10.40	\$0.95
9 Games	9	\$12.80	\$11.70	\$1.10
10 Games	10	\$14.20	\$13.00	\$1.20
11 Games	11	\$15.65	\$14.30	\$1.35
12 Games	12	\$17.05	\$15.60	\$1.45
13 Games	13	\$18.45	\$16.90	\$1.55
14 Games	14	\$19.90	\$18.20	\$1.70
15 Games	15	\$21.30	\$19.50	\$1.80
16 Games	16	\$22.75	\$20.80	\$1.95
17 Games	17	\$24.15	\$22.10	\$2.05
18 Games	18	\$25.60	\$23.40	\$2.20
19 Games	19	\$27.00	\$24.70	\$2.30
20 Games	20	\$28.40	\$26.00	\$2.40
21 Games	21	\$29.85	\$27.30	\$2.55
22 Games	22	\$31.25	\$28.60	\$2.65
23 Games	23	\$32.70	\$29.90	\$2.80
24 Games	24	\$34.10	\$31.20	\$2.90
25 Games	25	\$35.50	\$32.50	\$3.00
26 Games	26	\$36.95	\$33.80	\$3.15
27 Games	27	\$38.35	\$35.10	\$3.25
28 Games	28	\$39.80	\$36.40	\$3.40
29 Games	29	\$41.20	\$37.70	\$3.50
30 Games	30	\$42.65	\$39.00	\$3.65
31 Games	31	\$44.05	\$40.30	\$3.75
32 Games	32	\$45.45	\$41.60	\$3.85
33 Games	33	\$46.90	\$42.90	\$4.00
34 Games	34	\$48.30	\$44.20	\$4.10
35 Games	35	\$49.75	\$45.50	\$4.25

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.5

Effective: 13 June 2025

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
36 Games	36	\$51.15	\$46.80	\$4.35
37 Games	37	\$52.55	\$48.10	\$4.45
38 Games	38	\$54.00	\$49.40	\$4.60
39 Games	39	\$55.40	\$50.70	\$4.70
40 Games	40	\$56.85	\$52.00	\$4.85
41 Games	41	\$58.25	\$53.30	\$4.95
42 Games	42	\$59.70	\$54.60	\$5.10
43 Games	43	\$61.10	\$55.90	\$5.20
44 Games	44	\$62.50	\$57.20	\$5.30
45 Games	45	\$63.95	\$58.50	\$5.45
46 Games	46	\$65.35	\$59.80	\$5.55
47 Games	47	\$66.80	\$61.10	\$5.70
48 Games	48	\$68.20	\$62.40	\$5.80
49 Games	49	\$69.60	\$63.70	\$5.90
50 Games	50	\$71.05	\$65.00	\$6.05
Pick 5	861	\$1,223.40	\$1,119.30	\$104.10
Pick 6	41	\$58.25	\$53.30	\$4.95
System 8	8	\$11.35	\$10.40	\$0.95
System 9	36	\$51.15	\$46.80	\$4.35
System 10	120	\$170.50	\$156.00	\$14.50
System 11	330	\$468.90	\$429.00	\$39.90
System 12	792	\$1,125.35	\$1,029.60	\$95.75
System 13	1,716	\$2,438.25	\$2,230.80	\$207.45
System 14	3,432	\$4,876.55	\$4,461.60	\$414.95
System 15	6,435	\$9,143.50	\$8,365.50	\$778.00
System 16	11,440	\$16,255.10	\$14,872.00	\$1,383.10
System 17	19,448	\$27,633.65	\$25,282.40	\$2,351.25
System 18	31,824	\$45,218.70	\$41,371.20	\$3,847.50
System 19	50,388	\$71,596.30	\$65,504.40	\$6,091.90
System 20	77,520	\$110,148.15	\$100,776.00	\$9,372.15

<sup>\*</sup> The Selling Fee may be subject to an Ancillary Fee in accordance with Rule 7(b).

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 2, which may be subject to an Ancillary Fee, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

Oz Lotto Rules Issue No.: 7.4 Page 41 Effective: 12 January 2024

## **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996**

## LOTTO STRIKE - APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE RULES

I, Natalie Wright, Executive Director of Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, pursuant to section 23 of the *Public Lotteries Act 1996* (hereafter referred to as "the Act") DO HEREBY APPROVE, under delegation of the Minister for Gaming & Racing pursuant to section 81 of the Act, the Rules for the conduct of the Games known as Lotto Strike and Promotional Lotto Strike by the New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd, as annexed to this instrument, effective from 13 June 2025. On 13 June 2025, these Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette, subject to the Explanatory Note in this Instrument.

Dated this 27th day of May 2025.

## **Natalie Wright**

Executive Director, Policy & Programs

Hospitality & Racing

Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport

Delegate of the Minister for Gaming & Racing

# PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996 LOTTO STRIKE RULES

# **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

It is hereby notified that the Executive Director, Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport under delegation of the Minister administering the *Public Lotteries Act 1996* has approved of the following Rules for the Conduct of the Game of Lotto Strike and Promotional Lotto Strike. In accordance with Section 23(3)(b) of the Act, these Rules take effect on and from 13 June 2025. These Rules supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **1**Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

RULE 1	DEFINITIONS	3
RULE 2	CONDUCT AND DRAWINGS OF GAMES OF LOTTO STRIKE AND CONDUCT OF GAMES OF PROMOTIONAL LOTTO STRIKE	9
RULE 3	APPLICATION OF RULES	11
RULE 4	OBJECT	12
RULE 5	ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF LOTTO STRIKE	13
RULE 6	RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS	14
RULE 7	COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE	16
RULE 8	STANDARD ENTRY	16
RULE 9	BOXED ENTRY	18
RULE 10	SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY	19
RULE 11	PRIZES	21
RULE 12	ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES	25
RULE 13	PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES	26
RULE 14	DISQUALIFICATIONS	32
RULE 15	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	33
RULE 16	EFFECTIVE DATE	35
RULE 17	AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL LOTTO STRIKE	36
SCHEDULE	· 1	37
SCHEDULE 2		

Page 2

#### RULE 1 DEFINITIONS

- (a) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - (i) "Act" means the Public Lotteries Act 1996, any amendment, modification, variation or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;
  - (ii) "Advance Entry" means an Entry for a nominated Draw in advance of the current Draw, whereby the maximum number of advanced Draws will be determined by the Licensee.
  - (iii) "Ancillary Fee" means a fee charged to a Player from whom a Reseller accepts an Entry over and above the Subscription and the Commission:
  - (iv) "Approved" means approved in writing by the Minister;
  - (v) "Australian Consumer Law" means schedule 2 of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth);
  - (vi) "Automatic Entry" means an Entry in respect of a Game of Lotto Strike made pursuant to verbal instruction or electronic instruction (not requiring completion of an Entry Coupon) wherein:
    - (1) the selection of Numbers is made by way of a Computer Linked Terminal or the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee; and/or
    - (2) the Numbers are the Numbers previously selected by a Player and stored in the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee.
  - (vii) "Boxed Entry" means an Entry referred to in Rule 9;
  - (viii) "Chief Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee or such delegate appointed by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3(g);
  - (ix) "Close of Acceptance" means the day and time of day determined by the Licensee and published on the Website after which Entries will not be accepted;
  - (x) "Commission" means an amount:
    - (1) paid to, deducted by or retained by a Retailer in connection with a Subscription (whether or not in the person's capacity as a Retailer); and
    - (2) determined by or in accordance with, and identified as Commission in, the conditions of the Product Licence or these Rules;
  - (xi) "Computer Linked Terminal" means computer equipment located in branches of the Licensee or its related bodies corporate, or places of business of its Retailers or otherwise which is linked to the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Lotto Strike or Games of Promotional Lotto Strike;
  - (xii) "Computer Records" means the sum of information which is provided to the Licensee by way of the Licensee's central processing computer equipment in respect of a Player and in respect of details of:
    - (1) a Player's Entry in a Game of Lotto Strike; and
    - (2) where appropriate a Player's entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike;
  - (xiii) "Conduct" in relation to a Game of Lotto Strike, a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike and a Lottery Game has the same meaning as assigned to it by Section 4(1) of the Act;

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **3**Effective: 13 June 2025

- (xiv) "Corresponding Lottery Draw" means the Lottery Draw which is used to select the four (4) Winning Numbers for Lotto Strike:
- (xv) "Director" means a Director of the Board of Directors of the Licensee;
- (xvi) "Division 1 Prize Guarantee" means the Division 1 Prize amounts for the Monday, Wednesday, Friday and Saturday Lotto Strike games determined by the Licensee from time to time;

## (xvii)"Drawing" means:

- (1) in relation to a Game of Lotto Strike (but not including a Second Drawing) the selection of the Winning Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device;
- (2) in relation to a Second Drawing the selection of the Winning Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device;
- (xviii) "Drawing Date" in relation to a Game of Lotto Strike means the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of that Game of Lotto Strike and, provided there is no inconsistency and where the context admits, includes the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of a Second Drawing of a Game of Lotto Strike;
- (xix) "Drawing Device" means equipment as Approved by the Minister from time to time used to Conduct a Drawing;
- (xx) "Employee" means an employee of the Licensee. In other contexts where appropriate "Employee" includes an employee of a Retailer;
- (xxi) "Entry" means the Numbers in a Game of Lotto Strike which have been recorded in the central processing computer equipment, which have been selected by way of an Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry, which (subject to Rule 6(g)) have been Imprinted on a Ticket and in respect of which the correct Selling Fee has been paid;
- (xxii)"Entry Coupon" means a form, approved by the Licensee/Chief Executive Officer, to be completed by a Player containing instructions (including the chances of winning) to effect an Entry in the relevant Game of Lotto Strike and/or a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike via a Computer Linked Terminal;
- (xxiii) "Friday Lotto Strike" means the Game of Lotto Strike drawn, subject to Rule 2(c), on the Friday of each week;
- (xxiv) "Game of Lotto Strike" means a public lottery Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, Rules and Regulations but does not include a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike;
- (xxv) "Game of Promotional Lotto Strike" means a public lottery Conducted for the purpose of promoting a Game of Lotto Strike, and in respect of which:
  - (1) eligibility to enter is confined to Players in a Game of Lotto Strike; and
  - (2) no further Subscription or Commission is charged;

## (xxvi) "Game Panel" means:

- a separate matrix in relation to a Lotto Strike Entry Coupon consisting of four (4) lines, each line consisting of the Numbers 1 to 10 (inclusive) and 20, 30 and 40 in arithmetical sequence; or
- (2) a single game on a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates.

(xxvii) "Imprinted" means printed upon a Ticket by the Computer Linked Terminal;

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **4**Effective: 13 June 2025

- (xxviii)"Jackpot Drawing" means the next Drawing of a Game of Lotto Strike (other than a Second Drawing) as approved by the Licensee following the Drawing of a Game of Lotto Strike (other than a Second Drawing), where there is no winner in accordance with Rule 11(f) Division 1 (Strike 4)(i);
- (xxix) "Licensee" means New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd;
- (xxx) "Lottery Draw" means the drawing of the Lottery Games in accordance with the Product Licence granted to the Licensee;
- (xxxi) "Lottery Game" means the public lotteries known as "Weekday Windfall" and "Saturday Lotto" Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, the Weekday Windfall and Saturday Lotto Rules and Regulations but does not include a Promotional Event;
- (xxxii) "Malfunction" means a failure of any of the following:
  - (1) the Drawing Device;
  - (2) the Computer Linked Terminal;
  - (3) the central processing computer equipment;

to operate in the manner in which it is designed to operate.

- (xxxiii)"Maximum Jackpot Drawing Prize" means the maximum amount payable as a Prize in a Jackpot Drawing as approved by the Licensee from time to time;
- (xxxiv) "Minister" means the Minister for the time being administering the Act;
- (xxxv) "Monday Lotto Strike" means the Game of Lotto Strike drawn, subject to Rule 2(c), on the Monday of each week;
- (xxxvi) "Multiple Draws Entry" means an Entry where the same Numbers are Valid for more than one Drawing;
- (xxxvii) "Multiple Draws Exchange Ticket" means a Ticket issued to a Player:
  - (1) who surrenders a Multiple Draws Ticket to collect or to claim a Prize won in respect of that Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (2) where at the time the Prize is collected or claimed there is one or more Drawing/s remaining in respect of the Multiple Draws Ticket;
  - (3) where the Exchange Multiple Draws Ticket shall be Imprinted with the same Numbers as the Multiple Draws Ticket surrendered; and
  - (4) where the Exchange Multiple Draws Ticket shall be considered the Multiple Draws Ticket in respect of the remaining Drawing/s.
- (xxxviii) "Multiple Draws Ticket" means a Ticket issued in respect of more than one Drawing;
- (xxxix) Numbers" has the same meaning as section 5 of the Act;
- (xl) "Operator Licence" means the operator licence granted to the Licensee, pursuant to the Act, to conduct any public lottery for which it, from time to time, holds a Product Licence granted pursuant to the Act;

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **5**Effective: 13 June 2025

- (xli) "Outlet" means a place at which a Retailer is permitted to accept completed Entries into Games of Lotto Strike and entries into Games of Promotional Lotto Strike;
- (xlii) "Player" means a person who:
  - (1) has paid the correct Subscription and Commission and Ancillary Fee (where applicable) for an Entry; and/or
  - (2) holds a Valid Entry; and/or
  - (3) holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes where relevant a person who has Validly entered a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike and who holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Game of Promotional Lotto Strike to the Licensee, or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

- (xliii) "Prize" means any Prize determined in accordance with Rule 11;
- (xliv)"Prize Allocation" means that proportion of Subscriptions paid into the Prize Fund for a particular Game of Lotto Strike as specified in Rule 11(a);
- (xlv) "Prize Fund" means an account established under Section 27 of the Act and known as the Lotto Strike Prize Fund Account:
- (xlvi)"Prize Pool" has the meaning in Rule 11(b);
- (xlvii) "Prize Reserve Fund" means the fund located in the Prize Fund under Section 27 of the Act containing:
  - (1) the amounts specified in Rule 11(c); and
  - (2) an amount representing any unclaimed Prizes, subject to a direction under Section 27A of the Act;
- (xlviii) "Promotional Event" means a public lottery, which is not a Lottery Game, that is conducted for the purpose of promoting a Lottery Game in accordance with the Weekday Windfall and Saturday Lotto Rules;
- (xlix)"Product Licence" means the product licences granted to the Licensee to Conduct Games of Lotto Strike, Games of Promotional Lotto Strike and Lottery Games pursuant to Section 12 of the Act;
- (I) "Provisional Period" means the period of consecutive calendar days approved from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer which starts on the day immediately following the Drawing Date, and which shall be no longer than twenty one (21) consecutive calendar days;
- (li) "Provisional Prize" is a Prize in Division 1 and/or a Prize (or additional Prize in the case of a Second Drawing) that exceeds \$1,000.00 as shown on a Computer Linked Terminal;
- (lii) "Provisional Prize Winner" means a Player who holds a Ticket which is eligible for a Provisional Prize;
- (liii) "Registered Player" means a Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Player;
- (liv) "Regulation" means a regulation made under the Act;
- (Iv) "Reseller" means a Retailer, approved by the Minister, who is authorised by the Licensee to receive Subscriptions, Commissions and instructions in respect of a Game of Lotto Strike and instructions

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **6**Effective: 13 June 2025

- with respect to a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike from a Player. Such Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prizes for and on behalf of a Player:
- (Ivi) "Retailer" means a person or agent appointed or approved by the Licensee for purposes associated with Games of Lotto Strike and Games of Promotional Lotto Strike Conducted by the Licensee and includes a Reseller:
- (Ivii) "Rules" means these Rules made under the Act, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;
- (Iviii) "Saturday Lotto Strike" means the Game of Lotto Strike drawn, subject to Rule 2(c), on the Saturday of each week:
- (lix) "Second Drawing" means an additional Drawing conducted as part of a Game of Lotto Strike in accordance with the Rules;
- (lx) "Selling Fee" means the sum of the Commission and Subscription and Ancillary Fee (where applicable);
- (lxi) "Standard Entry" means an Entry referred to in Rule 8;
- (Ixii) "Subscription" means the amounts paid for Entries but does not include the following:
  - (1) Ancillary Fee; or
  - (2) Commission, unless the Act expressly provides otherwise;
- (lxiii)"Ticket" means the receipt, whether it be in documentary, electronic or other form, which is the official confirmation that a Player has paid the correct Selling Fee for a Valid Entry in a Game of Lotto Strike, and which:
  - (1) contains Entry details; and
  - (2) may include a Ticket Number and other such tests to determine the identity, validity and status of the Ticket and whether it has won a Prize; and
  - (3) may include other particulars as determined by the Licensee;
- (lxiv)"Ticket Number" means the numbers and/or letters Imprinted on a Ticket and which constitute an official identification of the issue of a Ticket in a particular Game of Lotto Strike;
- (lxv) "Valid" means:
  - (1) in respect of an Entry Coupon, that it satisfies the requirements of these Rules; and
  - (2) in respect of a Ticket or an Entry, that nothing in these Rules would prevent the Player who purchased it from being able to claim a Prize otherwise attributable to it;
- (lxvi)"Website" means the internet site located at www.thelott.com/nswlotteries (or such other address as may be advised from time to time);
- (Ixvii) "Wednesday Lotto Strike" means the Game of Lotto Strike drawn, subject to Rule 2(c), on the Wednesday of each week;
- (Ixviii) "Weekday Windfall and Saturday Lotto Rules" means the rules which:

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **7**Effective: 13 June 2025

- (1) govern the Conduct of the Lottery Games made under the Act, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force; and
- (2) are available on the Website and/or in each Outlet.
- (lxix)"Winning Number" in relation to a Game of Lotto Strike (including a Second Drawing) means a number corresponding with, and selected in the exact same order as, one of the first four (4) numbers drawn in the Corresponding Lottery Draw.
- (b) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - (i) a reference to the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;
  - (ii) headings are for convenient reference only and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of the provisions to which they refer.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **8**Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

# RULE 2 CONDUCT AND DRAWINGS OF GAMES OF LOTTO STRIKE AND CONDUCT OF GAMES OF PROMOTIONAL LOTTO STRIKE

- (a) These Rules are to be read subject to the Act, its Regulations, the Operator Licence and the Product Licence, and shall apply to every Game of Lotto Strike and Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.
- (b) A Drawing in relation to a Game of Lotto Strike shall take place after the Close of Acceptance of Entries has closed for that Game of Lotto Strike.
- (c) Games of Lotto Strike will be drawn on Monday, Wednesday, Friday and Saturday of each week unless the Chief Executive Officer determines otherwise as necessary (acting reasonably) to overcome an operational issue.
- (d) Drawings undertaken in the State of New South Wales shall be conducted by the Licensee and supervised by a person or persons nominated by the Minister in accordance with Drawing procedures agreed between the Licensee and the Minister's nominee(s);
- (e) Certification of the validity of a Drawing by the Minister's nominee(s) shall be final and binding on all Players.
- (f) Where a Malfunction in a Drawing Device occurs:
  - only the Number/s drawn before a Malfunction has commenced shall be Winning Number/s;
  - (ii) in the event that any Winning Number/s are still to be selected after the Malfunction:
    - (1) the Drawing shall commence or re-commence, as the case may be, as soon as practicable after the rectification of the Malfunction; or
    - (2) where the Malfunction cannot be rectified, the Drawing shall commence or recommence, as the case may be, using a substitute Drawing Device as soon as practicable after the commencement of the Malfunction and shall continue until all Winning Numbers are drawn.
- (g) Drawings conducted outside the State of New South Wales shall be conducted and supervised in accordance with the requirements of the relevant regulatory body for the State or Territory in which the Drawings are conducted.
- (h) The Licensee may Conduct a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike in such manner and at such times and places as the Chief Executive Officer determines, including (but not limited to), at the absolute discretion of the Chief Executive Officer, the Conduct of a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike in conjunction with another Game of Lotto Strike or separately from a Game of Lotto Strike or otherwise in conjunction with another lottery Conducted by the Licensee.
- (i) A Game of Promotional Lotto Strike shall, at commencement, have a Prize structure as determined by the Chief Executive Officer and set out in the relevant promotional terms and conditions.
- (j) The Prize structure for a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike shall comprise the number, nature and value of Prizes to be offered by the Licensee to Players during the period of each Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.
- (k) During the period in which the Licensee accepts entries in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike some of the Prizes in the approved Prize structure may already have been won when a Player

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **9**Effective: 13 June 2025

- enters the Game of Promotional Lotto Strike leaving the balance of Prizes still available to be won by Players at the time of their respective entries.
- (I) A ticket in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike may include one or more Prizes to be won on the same ticket.
- (m) A Game of Promotional Lotto Strike may require the Player to have a winning Number on more than one ticket in order to win a Prize.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **10** Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES

- (a) All instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon and Ticket and these Rules shall apply to each Game of Lotto Strike and shall be binding on all Players.
- (b) In the event of any inconsistency between these Rules and the instructions and conditions printed on the Entry Coupon, Ticket or promotional materials, these Rules shall prevail to the extent of any inconsistency.
- (c) These Rules shall apply to each Game of Promotional Lotto Strike and shall be binding on all Players.
- (d) By entering a Game of Lotto Strike or Game of Promotional Lotto Strike, Players agree to be bound by these Rules. To the extent that a situation or issue arises for which these Rules make no provision or in relation to which these Rules or their application are unclear, the Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to make a decision regarding such situation or issue acting in good faith and, subject to any regulator direction to the contrary, such decision will be final and binding.
- (e) The Rules that are enforced at the time of purchase of a ticket in a Game of Lotto Strike or a Promotional Game of Lotto Strike are contractually binding on the Licensee and the Player.
- (f) A Retailer has no authority to bind the Licensee in contract or otherwise.
- (g) The Chief Executive Officer may appoint a delegate to perform a function under these Rules which function would otherwise be required to be performed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such appointment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Chief Executive Officer may determine.
- (h) Any reference to the Chief Executive Officer in these Rules shall include a reference to a duly authorised delegate of the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 3(g).
- (i) These Rules will be displayed and made available for inspection at each Outlet.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **11** Effective: 13 June 2025

# RULE 4 OBJECT

The object of the Game of Lotto Strike is to select four (4) Numbers in a Game Panel, which are in the exact same order as the first four (4) Winning Numbers drawn in the Corresponding Lottery Draw.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **12** Effective: 13 June 2025

## RULE 5 ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A GAME OF LOTTO STRIKE

- (a) In order for an Entry to be eligible for inclusion in a Game of Lotto Strike, before the Close of Acceptance of Entries into that Game of Lotto Strike;
  - (i) the Entry must have been recorded by the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - (ii) a Valid Ticket must have been issued by the Computer Linked Terminal;
  - (iii) the Entry details recorded on such Ticket issued under Rule 5(a)(ii) must match the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records; and
  - (iv) the Player must have paid the correct Selling Fee in relation to such Entry.
- (b) Any Ticket issued shall be subject to Rule 6 hereof.
- (c) Entry into a Game of Lotto Strike is contingent on an Entry into a Game of Lotto being taken within the same transaction of a Lotto Strike Entry being purchased except where the Entry is a free Standard Automatic Entry.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **13** Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 6 RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS

- (a) A Lotto Strike Entry Coupon may be used by a Player to enter a Game of Lotto Strike within the same transaction as a Game of Lotto Entry, or by marking the Lotto Strike area on the Lotto Entry Coupon in accordance with the instructions appearing on the Entry Coupon. In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players, a Player shall not mark an Entry Coupon other than by hand unless the prior approval of the Licensee has been obtained. Without this approval such Entry Coupon will not be considered to be properly completed and a Player claiming a resultant Prize may not be entitled to payment of the Prize.
- (b) Where a Lotto Strike Entry Coupon is used to effect an Entry, a Number greater than 10, which is not 20, 30 or 40, must be selected by marking, in accordance with this provision, the two Numbers of which the sum totals the Number to be selected. For example, to select the number 25, a Player would select the Number 5 and the Number 20 in a single row of an Entry Coupon, which together total 25.
- (c) Where a Lotto Strike Entry is effected by marking the Lotto Strike area on a Lotto Entry Coupon, the Drawing Date for such Entry will be the same as the Drawing Date in respect of the Lottery Draw for which the Lottery Draw Entry Coupon has been submitted.
- (d) A completed Entry Coupon or any other approved form of entry (including Automatic Entry) made in accordance with these Rules shall be accepted by a Retailer and processed on a Computer Linked Terminal and evidenced by the issue of the Ticket to the Player on the payment of the Selling Fee.
- (e) Subject to Rule 6 (h) below acceptance of a Ticket by a Player shall constitute the Player's acknowledgment of the correctness of the details (including Entry details) thereon. The Ticket issued to a Player shall be the only form issued by the Licensee or its Retailer to the Player evidencing the Player's Entry. It is the responsibility of the Player to check the accuracy of all details on the Ticket, that all details on the Ticket are legible, and that the Ticket does not appear to have been defectively printed, at the time the Ticket is received by a Player from the Retailer. The Player will be taken to have acknowledged that all particulars and details appearing on the Ticket are correct if, promptly after receiving the Ticket, they do not seek a replacement Ticket that addresses such matters. No Entry Coupon shall have any validity or be of evidence for any purpose after the Ticket has been issued to the Player.
- (f) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players, in the event that the details recorded on the Player's Ticket are not consistent with the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records, the details held by way of Computer Records shall be considered final and shall determine what Prize, if any, the Player shall be entitled to and the Player shall be bound by any such determination.
- (g) Without limiting the provisions of Rule 14 the following apply
  - (i) A Player may return a Ticket and request that the Ticket and the Entry to which it relates be cancelled by a Retailer. The Retailer shall cancel the Ticket and the Entry to which it relates on that day provided it is returned to the place of purchase and prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Drawing, as determined by the Licensee.
  - (ii) A Retailer who has sold an Entry into a Game of Lotto Strike may cancel the Entry and the Ticket to which it relates.
  - (iii) A Ticket and the Entry to which it relates may be voided or cancelled by the Licensee (acting reasonably) prior to the Close of Acceptance and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal to void or cancel a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates.
- (h) Where an Entry and the Ticket to which it relates has been cancelled by the Licensee or the Retailer, the Player shall be refunded the Selling Fee paid in respect of such Entry. Rule 6(h) is not applicable
   Lotto Strike Rules
   Version: 4.6
   Effective: 13 June 2025

to a Division 4 (Strike 1) free Standard Entry Prize as described in Rule 11(f).

- (i) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records are regarded as final. As such, a Ticket which is recorded as void or cancelled in the Licensee's Computer Records shall be void regardless of whether such Ticket was cancelled in error, and no Prize shall be payable in respect of such Ticket unless such voiding or cancellation was the result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. When cancelling a Ticket, it is the responsibility of the Player to ensure that the correct Ticket has been cancelled based on the cancellation receipt or other information provided to the Player, and to inform the Retailer or the Licensee if, based on the receipt or other information, there has been an error in relation to cancellation of the Ticket. The Licensee shall not be liable to the Player in respect of an error in the cancellation of a Ticket if the Player has failed to inform the Retailer or the Licensee of the error in the cancellation of a Ticket unless resulting from fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission of the Licensee.
- (j) Where an Entry in a Game of Lotto Strike has been transferred to the central processing computer equipment via a Computer Linked Terminal and recorded in the Computer Records but:
  - no Selling Fee has been paid to the Retailer in whose place of business the Computer Linked Terminal is located prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Lotto Strike; and
  - (ii) the Retailer has failed to cancel the Entry before the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Game of Lotto Strike; then

the Retailer shall meet the cost of the Selling Fee in respect of that Entry and in such case, for the purposes of these Rules, such Retailer shall:

- (iii) be considered a Player; and
- (iv) be the holder of the Entry; and
- (v) owe the Licensee the amount of the unpaid Selling Fee as a debt due and owing to the Licensee.
- (k) It is the responsibility of the Player to check that the Numbers and other details shown on a Ticket are correct.
- (I) A Reseller has no authority to verify the accuracy or completion by a Player of any part of an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry whether received by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) or otherwise. Entry into a Game of Lotto Strike by a Player with a Reseller does not exempt the Player from being bound by these Rules and a Player using a Reseller to submit an Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry shall accept all risks, losses, delays, errors or omissions which may occur in any manner in relation to such Entry Coupon or any other approved Entry, the issue of any Ticket and the payment of any Prize.
- (m) It shall be the responsibility of the Player to ensure the safe custody of a Ticket issued to the Player.
- (n) A Ticket shall at all times remain the property of the Licensee and a Player shall deliver up any Ticket to the Licensee upon demand.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **15** Effective: 13 June 2025

## RULE 7 COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE

- (a) The Licensee is Approved to charge the Player Commission as specified in these Rules in Schedules 1 and 2. By entering a Game of Lotto Strike the Player accepts liability to pay the Commission to the Licensee.
- (b) A Reseller may charge an Ancillary Fee as authorised by the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee from time to time. Players will be notified of any such changes in accordance with the Reseller's terms and conditions.

RULE 8 STANDARD ENTRY

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **16**Effective: 13 June 2025

- (a) A Standard Entry is the selection of four (4) Numbers which may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A Standard Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry or Advance Entry.
- (c) Where a Lotto Strike Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry, four (4) Numbers shall have been marked in each selected Game Panel, comprising one (1) Number in each line in each Game Panel.
- (d) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Standard Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (e) The Selling Fee payable for each Standard Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.
- (f) The minimum number of Standard Entries that can be played is:
  - (i) one (1) Game Panel where entry is made via an Entry Coupon; or
  - (ii) one (1) Game Panel where entry is made via an Automatic Entry.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **17** Effective: 13 June 2025

## RULE 9 BOXED ENTRY

- (a) A Boxed Entry may be made by way of an Entry Coupon or via Automatic Entry.
- (b) A Boxed Entry may be played as a Multiple Draws Entry or Advance Entry.
- (c) A Boxed Entry is the equivalent of twenty four (24) Standard Games, and represents the entire twenty four (24) possible combinations of any four (4) selected Numbers.
- (d) Where a Boxed Entry is effected using an Entry Coupon, four (4) Numbers, and the Boxed Entry area are marked on that Entry Coupon for each relevant Game Panel.
- (e) Each Game Panel on the Entry Coupon may be marked in respect of each relevant Boxed Entry. An Automatic Entry may include one (1) or more Boxed Entries.
- (f) Where an Entry Coupon is used in respect of a Boxed Entry and one or more Game Panels have been marked, the Player may request additional Standard Entries to be randomly generated, subject to the capability of the Computer Linked Terminal and/or the central processing computer equipment.
- (g) The Selling Fee for a Boxed Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.
- (h) Numbers selected in a Boxed Entry are Winning Numbers if they match any of the first four (4) numbers drawn, in any order, in the Corresponding Lottery Draw.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **18** Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 10 SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY

- (a) The Licensee may impose a reasonable registration fee payable by a Player for the provision by the Licensee of the player registration service. The registration fee will be advised to the Player prior to application. Application will be by way of an application form as approved by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (b) A person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not enter a Game of Lotto Strike or Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.
- (c) An Entry or Automatic Entry may only be made through the Licensee or a Retailer.
- (d) The correct Selling Fee (as specified in Schedules 1 and 2) and player registration fee (if applicable) must be paid by a Player to a Retailer or to the Licensee in respect of an Entry.
- (e) The form of payment of the Selling Fee or player registration fee (if applicable) must be acceptable to the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).
- (f) A Player will remain anonymous with respect to having won a Prize unless the Player opts out of anonymity by:
  - (i) appropriately marking a Prize claim form;
  - (ii) notifying the Licensee's representative upon being contacted by such person with notice of having won a Prize; or
  - (iii) completing the relevant section of the membership application form (for Players who become a Registered Player).
- (g) All marks and other written notations appearing on an Entry Coupon are taken to be made or given exclusively by the Player in respect of an Entry.
- (h) No Player may submit an Entry Coupon or other form of entry as trustee, representative or nominee for another person or persons. Each transaction effected by the Player will be conducted solely with the Player.
- (i) An Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry instructions must be received by the Licensee or a Retailer in sufficient time to be processed before the close of acceptance of Entries relating to that Entry. For the purposes of this paragraph an Entry will be taken to be received when details thereof have been recorded on the central processing computer equipment held by the Licensee and the Ticket has issued from a Computer Linked Terminal.
- (j) Other than as provided for in Rule 6(g) no Ticket may be withdrawn or altered after issue to a Player without the consent of the Licensee (acting reasonably).
- (k) Form of entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike:
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to approve the form of entry for a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike prior to commencement of the Game of Promotional Lotto Strike:
  - (ii) Without limiting Rule 10(k)(i), the form of entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike may be any of the following (or combination of the following):
    - (1) part of a Ticket;
    - (2) any other ticket or document; and
    - (3) entries made by means of an electronic or mechanical device or by

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **19** Effective: 13 June 2025

telecommunications system.

- (iii) If any entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike is to consist of a ticket, part of a Ticket or document, such ticket, part of a Ticket or document issued to an entrant in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike:
  - (1) constitutes the Player's official receipt;
  - (2) is, following its acceptance, to constitute the Player's acknowledgment of the details on the entry, and acknowledgment that those details are correct; and
  - (3) is to be the only document issued by the Licensee, its Retailers to the entrant evidencing the processing of an entry in the Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **20** Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 11 PRIZES

- (a) The Prize Allocation in the Game of Lotto Strike shall be not less than sixty two percent (62%) of Subscriptions.
- (b) The Prize Pool in a Game of Lotto Strike shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall be not less than sixty percent (60%) of Subscriptions.
- (c) The Prize Reserve Fund in respect of a Game of Lotto Strike shall be funded from the Prize Allocation and shall retain an amount equal to two percent (2%) of Subscriptions and shall be used to:
  - (i) fund the rounding required pursuant to Rule 11(f);
  - (ii) fund any difference between the Division 1 Prize Guarantee and the Prize Pool allocation pursuant to Rule 11(f) Division 1;
  - (iii) fund any prize payable pursuant to Rule 11(h), Rule 11(i) and Rule 11(j).
- (d) Prizes for each Game of Lotto Strike shall be paid by the Licensee from the Prize Pool in accordance with the provisions and classifications of Rule 11(f) Division 1 (Strike 4), Division 2 (Strike 3), Division 3 (Strike 2) and Division 4 (Strike 1) Prizes.
- (e) Any such Prize shall, where only one (1) Entry is eligible for that Prize, be payable in respect of that Entry, or shall where two (2) or more Entries are eligible for that Prize, be shared equally between those Entries.
- (f) Subject to a rounding process (which shall be to the nearest sum containing a five (5) cent multiple) the Prize Pool shall be distributed as nearly as possible in the percentages shown below. Monies required for rounding shall be drawn from the Prize Reserve Fund. Where there is no winner in any one division, subject to the provisions of Division 1 (Strike 4) (ii) of this paragraph (c) the Prize money payable in respect of that division shall be added to the Prize money allocated to the next lower division in the order as shown below. Where there is no winner in Division 3 (Strike 2) the Prize money payable in respect of that division shall be added to the Prize money allocated to the next higher division. Where there is no winner in Division 2 (Strike 3) and Division 3 (Strike 2) the Prize money payable in respect of those divisions shall be added to the Prize money allocated to Division 1 (Strike 4) and jackpotted to the Jackpot Drawing if not won in the current Draw.

# Division 1 (Strike 4):

(i) A Prize of an amount equal to 45% of the Prize Pool, less that proportion of the Prize Pool required to fund the Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize, shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains all four (4) of the Winning Numbers.

The Division 1 Prize Guarantee is \$100,000.00.

- (ii) If no Prize in this division is payable in respect of any Entry in accordance with (i) above, the Prize which would otherwise have been payable shall be retained in the Prize Fund so as to form part of the monies which are payable in respect of any Entry which contains all the Winning Numbers in the Jackpot Drawing, provided that at no time shall a Prize in a Jackpot Drawing exceed the Maximum Jackpot Drawing Prize.
- (iii) Where the Jackpot Drawing Prize has reached the approved maximum level as provided in (ii) above, those monies in excess of the approved maximum

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **21** Effective: 13 June 2025

level that would otherwise have been payable shall be retained in the Prize Fund so as to form part of any Prize payable in accordance with (i) above.

#### Division 2 (Strike 3):

A Prize of an amount equal to 10% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains three (3) but not more than three (3) Winning Numbers.

# Division 3 (Strike 2):

A Prize of an amount equal to 45% of the Prize Pool shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains two (2) but not more than two (2) Winning Numbers.

# Division 4 (Strike 1):

A Prize of one (1) free Standard Automatic Entry shall be payable in respect of any Entry which contains one (1) but not more than one (1) Winning Number.

(g) Notwithstanding any provision of these Rules as to the payment of Prizes, where the total amount payable (whether to one (1) Entry alone or two (2) or more Entries in equal shares) in respect of the Prize described in Rule 11(f) Division 1 (Strike 4) (i) and (ii) in a Game of Lotto Strike would, but for this condition, be less than \$100,000.00 the Prize so payable shall be in the amount of \$100,000.00.

# (h) Second Drawing

The Licensee may, subject to the Approval of the Minister, and shall where the Minister so directs, provide for the payment of an additional Prize or Prizes, in accordance with the Conditions of the Product Licence, by means of a Second Drawing in any Game of Lotto Strike whether following a Monday Lotto Strike and/or Wednesday Lotto Strike and/or Friday Lotto Strike and/or Saturday Lotto Strike, provided that:

- (i) the Second Drawing shall be conducted following the Drawing of the Monday Lotto Strike and/or Wednesday Lotto Strike and/or Friday Lotto Strike and/or Saturday Lotto Strike or any combination thereof;
- (ii) an Entry made in respect of the Monday Lotto Strike or Wednesday Lotto Strike or Friday Lotto Strike or Saturday Lotto Strike shall be automatically entered into the Second Drawing in respect of that Monday Lotto Strike or Wednesday Lotto Strike or Friday Lotto Strike or Saturday Lotto Strike and such Entry shall not require the payment of any further Subscription;
- (iii) the Prize or Prizes payable in relation to the Second Drawing shall be payable in respect of any Entry which, or shall be payable in equal shares in respect of any two (2) or more Entries each of which, contains all the Winning Numbers;
- the amount or amounts of such Prize or Prizes shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (v) the Second Drawing shall not constitute a separate Game of Lotto Strike but shall be part of either a Monday Lotto Strike and/or Wednesday Lotto Strike and/or Friday Lotto Strike and/or Saturday Lotto Strike.
- (i) A Game of Lotto Strike may include:
  - (i) an additional Prize or Prizes; and/or
- (ii) Prizes paid on special occasions; and/or Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6

Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 22

(iii) Prizes paid pursuant to Rule 11(h).

Any such Prize or Prizes may be paid in monetary terms or in kind.

- (j) Prizes in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike:
  - (i) The Prizes payable in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike may consist of one or more of the following:
    - (1) money;
    - (2) holidays;
    - (3) travel;
    - (4) accommodation;
    - (5) services or goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee, whether or not for valuable consideration;
    - (6) Entries in a Game of Lotto Strike or another lottery conducted by the Licensee; and
    - (7) such other Prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
  - (ii) A Prize in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike must not consist of or include tobacco.
  - (iii) A Prize in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike must not consist of or include liquor within the meaning of the Liquor Act 1982.
- (k) Determination of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike:
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the number, nature and value of Prizes in each Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.
  - (ii) The Licensee is to publicly advertise the number, nature and value of, and the conditions relating to payment of, Prizes in each Game of Promotional Lotto Strike Conducted by it.
  - (iii) The Chief Executive Officer may (acting reasonably) change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike, including (but not limited to) the following:
    - (1) the replacement of any holiday destination offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another holiday destination;
    - (2) the replacement of any mode of travel offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another mode of travel;
    - (3) the replacement of any form of accommodation offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another form of accommodation;
    - (4) the resupply of services or the replacement of goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee; and
    - (5) the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) provided by the Licensee or by another person or body into a monetary equivalent.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page 23 Effective: 13 June 2025

(iv) The Prizes in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike are payable in such manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of that Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **24** Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 12 ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) Following each Drawing of a Game of Lotto Strike the Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the Winning Numbers;
  - (ii) the amount of the Prize Pool allocated to each Division;
  - (iii) the value of each Prize division and the number of Prize Winners in each division.
- (b) Following each Drawing of a Game of Lotto Strike the Licensee may make available to the media as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - the names and addresses of Provisional Prize Winners only where anonymity does not apply in accordance with Rule 10(f) or where Provisional Prize Winners are not Registered Players;
  - (ii) information on the manner of payment of Prizes; and
  - (iii) the manner in which claims under Rules 13(a), 13(i), 13(j) and 13(l) must be made.
- (c) The Licensee may make available to the media the results of each Game of Promotional Lotto Strike as soon as possible after the completion of such Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.
- (d) The Licensee shall make available to the media the results of each Second Drawing as soon as possible after the completion of that Second Drawing.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **25** Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 13 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) In relation to a Game of Lotto Strike:
  - (i) Other than as provided for Registered Players, any Provisional Prize must be claimed by lodgement with the Licensee of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 13(m) and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) The date of lodgement of a Prize claim in accordance with Rule 13(a)(i) is the day of receipt by the Licensee;
- (b) A Registered Player winning a Division 1 Prize will be notified personally or by mail within five (5) calendar days after the Drawing Date. In respect of any Provisional Prize won by a Registered Player, the Chief Executive Officer may require that Registered Player to lodge with the Licensee a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 13(m) hereof.
- (c) For Registered Players, where a:
  - (i) Prize must be claimed in accordance with Rule 13(b) hereof, the Prize may be paid in accordance with the procedure and conditions set out in Rule 13(d) hereof; and
  - (ii) Prize of one (1) free Standard Automatic Entry is to be paid in accordance with Rule 11(f) for a Division 4 Prize, and such Prize will be paid by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal upon surrender of a winning Ticket, not earlier than the day immediately after the relevant Drawing Date, and not later than a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer. Such Prizes not so claimed will be paid by the Licensee after a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (d) A Provisional Prize, shall not be payable as a Prize until after the expiry of the Provisional Period and shall be payable by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account.
- (e) For Registered Players:
  - (i) a Prize (or in the case of a Registered Syndicate Player, any share of a Prize) not exceeding \$1,000.00, shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by the Registered Player to a Retailer unless the Ticket is also entitled to a Provisional Prize in which case it will be paid in accordance with Rules 13(b)-(d);
  - (ii) a Prize not claimed in accordance with Rule 13(e)(i) may be paid by the Licensee (at its election) either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or nominated Australian bank account.

Prizes paid in accordance with this Rule 13(e) will be paid not earlier than the day immediately after the relevant Drawing Date, and not later than a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).

- (f) For a Player who is not a Registered Player, any Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid to a Player, upon surrender of a winning Ticket, except if it is linked to a winning Entry that is entitled to a Provisional Prize in which case the prizes will be paid at the same time to the Player in accordance with these Rules, by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal within a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer following the Drawing Date (acting reasonably).
- (g) Where a winning Entry is entitled to multiple Division 4 (Strike 1) Prizes which exceed the maximum number of Standard Games that can be issued by the Computer Linked Terminal, a Player will be issued the maximum number of Standard Games with the remainder of the total remittance due for the free Standard Games converted to cash.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **26** Effective: 13 June 2025

30 May 2025

- (h) Subject to Rules 13(a), 13(b), 13(c), 13(d), 13(e) and 13(f) above, a Player being eligible for a Prize which is not a Provisional Prize on a Multiple Draws Ticket may claim or collect that Prize and be issued with an Exchange Multiple Draws Ticket for any subsequent Drawings. For Registered Players, any unclaimed Multiple Draws Ticket Prizes may not be paid until after the expiry of a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer after the last Drawing on that Ticket.
- (i) A Prize not paid by a Retailer in accordance with Rule 13(f) will be paid by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account upon the submission to the Licensee of a Prize claim form, the Prize winning Ticket and such other evidence as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).
- (j) A:
  - (i) Registered Player who claims to be entitled to a Division 1 Prize pursuant to Rule 13(b) and who has not been notified within five (5) days in accordance with Rule 13(b) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Player who claims to be entitled to a Provisional Prize and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal;

must claim promptly by completing a Prize claim form and delivering it to the Licensee at the address printed on the Prize claim form and such Prize claim form must contain or be accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 13(n) and be received not later than ten (10) consecutive calendar days after the Drawing Date, starting on the day immediately following the Drawing Date.

A claim not received in accordance with this Rule 13(j) will be rejected and the Licensee shall have no liability in relation thereto unless the Ticket was wrongly not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal as a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (k) The Entry subject of a claim for a Provisional Prize made in accordance with Rule 13(j) shall be entitled to that Provisional Prize if it is found by the Licensee to be a winning Entry before the expiry of the Provisional Period, and in such case the Provisional Prize amount shall be varied to take into account the new Provisional Prize Winner.
- (I) A nominal and reasonable postage, handling or processing fee may be deducted from all Prize payments other than in respect of non-monetary Prizes.
- (m) A:
  - (i) Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Registered Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal and/or where the Prize has not been paid in accordance with Rule 13(e);

must lodge a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 13(m).

- (n) The particulars required in accordance with Rules 13(a), 13(b), 13(j) and 13(l) are:
  - (i) the name and address of the Player;
  - (ii) the Ticket Number;
  - (iii) the Numbers included on the relevant numbered line on the Ticket;

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **27**Effective: 13 June 2025

- (iv) the Player's registration number if a Registered Player;
- (v) the Ticket, which must be legible and be consistent with the details held by the Licensee's Computer Records and must not be mutilated, altered, reconstituted, counterfeit or stolen; and
- (vi) such further evidence or information as the Licensee reasonably requires.
- (o) A Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize not claimed through a Computer Linked Terminal within a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer will be processed in accordance with the following:
  - (i) A Registered Player who wins a cash Prize and a Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize:
    - (1) where the cash Prize is a Provisional Prize, it will be paid by the Licensee by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account, and the Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize will be sent by mail or through electronic form;
    - (2) where the cash Prize does not exceed \$1,000.00, it will be paid by the Licensee either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account, and the Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize will be sent by mail or through electronic form;
    - (3) where a winning Entry pursuant to Rule 13(o)(i) (1) or (2) is entitled to multiple Division 4 (Strike 1) Prizes, which exceed the maximum number of Standard Games that can be issued by the Computer Linked Terminal and/or central processing computer equipment, a Registered Player will be issued the maximum number of Standard Games with the remainder of the total remittance due for the free Standard Games converted to cash and will be paid together with the cash Prize:
  - (ii) A Registered Player who wins a Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize shall be issued with one free Standard Entry. The free Standard Entry will be sent by mail or through electronic form;
  - (iii) A Registered Player who wins multiple Division 4 (Strike 1) Prizes on one winning Entry, which exceed the maximum number of Standard Games that can be issued by the Computer Linked Terminal and/or central processing computer equipment, will be issued the maximum number of Standard Games with the remainder of the total remittance due for the free Standard Games converted to cash and will be paid by the Licensee either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account;
  - (iv) A Player who is not a Registered Player who wins a cash Prize and a Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize:
    - (1) where the cash Prize is a Provisional Prize, it will be paid by the Licensee by electronic funds transfer following receipt of a Prize claim form lodged in accordance with Rule 13(a)(i) and (ii), and the Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize will be sent by mail or through electronic form;
    - (2) where the cash Prize does not exceed \$1,000.00, it will be paid by the Licensee by electronic funds transfer following receipt of a Prize claim form lodged in accordance with Rule 13(a)(i) and (ii) and the Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize will be sent by mail or through electronic form;
    - (3) where a winning Entry pursuant to Rule 13(o)(iv) (1) or (2) is entitled to multiple Division 4 (Strike 1) Prizes, which exceed the maximum number of Standard Games that can be issued by the Computer Linked Terminal and/or central

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **28**Effective: 13 June 2025

processing computer equipment, a Player will be issued the maximum number of Standard Games with the remainder of the total remittance due for the free Standard Games converted to cash and will be paid by the Licensee by electronic funds transfer following receipt of a Prize claim form lodged in accordance with Rule 13(a)(i) and (ii);

- (v) A Player who wins a Division 4 (Strike 1) Prize shall be issued with one free Standard Entry following receipt of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 13(n) and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require;
- (vi) A Player who wins multiple Division 4 (Strike 1) Prizes on one winning Entry, which exceed the maximum number of Standard Games that can be issued by the Computer Linked Terminal and/or central processing computer equipment, will be issued the maximum number of Standard Games with the remainder of the total remittance due to be paid by cash and will be paid by the Licensee either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account following receipt of a Prize claim form lodged in accordance with Rule 13(a)(i) and (ii);
- (p) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Rule 13:
  - the Licensee may elect or agree to pay a prize by cheque once the accumulated and consolidated value of Prizes payable reaches a threshold amount determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) if an Entry which would otherwise have been entitled to a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 is discovered after the payment of Prizes has commenced the Chief Executive Officer will pay to the Player the same Prize as is being paid to winning Players.
- (q) The Chief Executive Officer may, in the Chief Executive Officer's absolute discretion, require a person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize to furnish such additional or alternative evidence as the Chief Executive Officer deems necessary to prove that the person is the Player entitled to that Prize or Provisional Prize. Such entitlement may be proved to the satisfaction of the Chief Executive Officer, notwithstanding the fact that the person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize may fail to meet one or more of the elements (1), (2) or (3) contained in the definition of Player or may fail to meet some or all of the provisions contained in these Rules governing Prize entitlement.
- (r) All cheques will be crossed and marked "Not Negotiable" and will be drawn in favour of the Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (s) Subject to Rule 13(j), at any time before the payment of Prizes the Chief Executive Officer may correct an error made in determining the number of Entries entitled thereto or the amount thereof.
- (t) The payment of a Prize to any Player who is known to have died before receiving any or all of a particular Prize shall be made in accordance with the laws of New South Wales.
- (u) Subject to Section 27 of the Act, all unclaimed or uncollected Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Fund for payment to the Players entitled thereto.
- (v) Remittances for payments of Prizes may include all Prizes won on the same Ticket.
- (w) Where payment by the Licensee of a Prize is made by cheque, such cheque will be forwarded by such of the following methods as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably),
  - (i) by hand upon any conditions that the Chief Executive Officer may determine;
  - (ii) by post whether certified, registered, or ordinary post; or

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page 29
Effective: 13 June 2025

- (iii) as otherwise directed in writing by the Player;
- (x) Where payment of a Prize is made by cheque and mailed, it shall be posted to the name and address shown on the Prize claim form or, in the case of a Registered Player, to the name and address appearing on the Licensee's records relating to that Player.

Thereafter the Licensee shall not be held liable for any loss, delay in the delivery thereof or any negotiation of such cheque other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. A certificate under the hand of the Chief Executive Officer verifying the date of posting shall be conclusive evidence of same. A nominal and reasonable sum may be deducted to cover postage and processing.

- (y) Any Prize sent by the Licensee to a Player and any refund of Selling Fee sent by post will be sent to the name and address advised in writing by the Player. Where more than one name is advised, payment to any one person so named at any address so given shall discharge the Licensee from all liability other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.
- (z) The payment of all Prizes pursuant to this Rule 13 will discharge the Licensee from liability notwithstanding the existence of any trust, whether express, constructive or implied. Where the Licensee has paid a Player pursuant to this Rule 13 and the Chief Executive Officer is, after such payment has been made, of the view (acting reasonably) that:
  - (i) the Player was not the Player to whom such payment should have been made; or
  - (ii) a Prize is not payable to the Player;

the Player shall upon being requested to do so by the Licensee in writing refund to the Licensee the monies forwarded to him or her unless the payment of the Prize to the Player was a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (aa) A Prize may be claimed through a Retailer or by mail directed to the postal address publicly notified from time to time on promotional material published by the Licensee or on the Website. A Prize claim form for a Prize must be forwarded by the Player to the Licensee direct.
- (bb) Any Prize to be paid in accordance with Rule 11(h) or Rule 11(j) shall be forwarded to the winner thereof in such manner as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably).
- (cc) No Prize shall be payable in respect of a Ticket which fails any confidential security test of the Licensee.
- (dd) The Licensee shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to recognise the person who holds, bears and submits a Ticket as the Prize winner.
- (ee) The Licensee accepts no responsibility or liability for lost or stolen Tickets.
- (ff) Payment of Prizes in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike
  - (i) A Prize is not payable in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike unless:
    - (1) The entry submitted in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike is in the form determined by the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 10(k)(i); and
    - (2) If the form of entry requires the Player to have purchased a Ticket in a Game of Lotto Strike, the Ticket in the Game of Lotto Strike must satisfy any test used by the Chief Executive Officer to determine whether the Ticket in the Game of Lotto Strike is Valid; and

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **30** Effective: 13 June 2025

- (3) the claimant has complied with all conditions relating to the Game of Promotional Lotto Strike advertised under Rule11(k)(ii).
- (ii) The Licensee may record on an entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike a verification code or other test and use it to determine whether the entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike is Valid and whether it has won a Prize. A Prize is not payable in respect of an entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike, on which such a test is recorded, if the entry does not satisfy the test.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **31** Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### RULE 14 DISQUALIFICATIONS

- (a) Notwithstanding that:
  - (i) acceptance of Entries into a Game of Lotto Strike has closed;
  - (ii) a Ticket may have issued; or
  - (iii) a Drawing has occurred in respect of a Ticket;

an Entry in a Game of Lotto Strike or entry in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike may be disqualified and no Prize claim shall be made in respect of it, if the Chief Executive Officer is of the opinion that it should be so disqualified in any of the circumstances described in Rule 14Error! Reference source not found., or in other circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer reasonably considers are of a similar nature or similarly justify the disqualification of the Entry. Any Ticket having issued in respect of an Entry in a Game of Lotto Strike which is disqualified shall automatically be void and cancelled.

- (b) The reasons for disqualification include:
  - (i) tender of insufficient Selling Fee, a dishonoured cheque or unacceptable form of remittance;
  - (ii) reasonable suspicion of fraud or attempted fraud (whether computer related or otherwise);
  - (iii) Ticket fails any security tests of the Licensee;
  - (iv) reasonable suspicion of unauthorised use of a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - a malfunction occurring in respect of the Computer Linked Terminal or the Licensee's central processing computer equipment.
- (c) The Licensee shall use its best endeavours to notify a Player, whose name and address is known to the Licensee, that an entry has been disqualified and the reason thereof and the Licensee shall in respect thereof refund to the Player any Selling Fee paid. Where the Licensee does not know of the name and address of a Player the Licensee shall publicise, in a reasonable manner, the disqualification of such entry.
- (d) If an Entry that would otherwise be eligible for a Provisional Prize is disqualified during the Provisional Period then the value of the Provisional Prize shall be varied to take into account such disqualification.
- (e) Where there is no Provisional Prize winner as a result of a disqualification in accordance with Rule 14(d) then:
  - (i) in the case of a Division 1 (Strike 4) Prize, the provisions of Rule 11(f)(ii) will apply;
  - (ii) otherwise the value and number of winners will be varied in accordance with Rule 11(f) Division 2 (Strike 3), Division 3 (Strike 2), and Division 4 (Strike 1) as the case may be.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **32** Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 15 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) Nothing in these Rules (including in the following provisions of this Rule 15, which must be read subject to this Rule 15(a)):
  - excludes, restricts, or modifies any guarantee, term, condition, warranty or any right or remedy, implied or imposed by any law or legislation which cannot lawfully be excluded or limited, including the Australian Consumer Law which contains guarantees that protect the purchasers of goods and services in certain circumstances; or
  - (ii) limits the liability of the Licensee or any Retailer for fraud or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The total amount recoverable by the Player in respect of any liability owed to a Player in accordance with these Rules is limited as follows:
  - (i) if the liability relates to an Entry, to the greater of:
    - (1) the total amount paid by the Player in respect of that Entry; and
    - (2) if the Player would have won a Prize in respect of that Entry but for the circumstances giving rise to the liability, the amount of such Prize; and
  - (ii) in all other cases, \$10,000.
- (c) The Licensee will have no responsibility or liability to a Player in respect of an Entry until a Ticket is issued to that Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (d) By purchasing an Entry, a player acknowledges that they have entered into an agreement with the Licensee and, where an Entry is purchased from a Retailer, the Retailer and agrees to be bound by the provisions of these Rules which are for the benefit of the Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and each and every Retailer.
- (e) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability to a Player or any person for or in respect of any failure, disruption or malfunction of Computer Linked Terminals, electrical power, telecommunications links or computers resulting in loss or corruption of information retained on any Computer Records held by the Licensee except to the extent the loss or corruption was caused by the fraud or wilful misconduct of such person.
- (f) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability for any consequence of interference with or interruption to any Game of Lotto Strike or Game of Promotional Lotto Strike due to fire, storm, flood, riot, civil commotion, strike, failure or disruption of electrical power supply or telecommunications or other cause not within the reasonable control of such person.
- (g) In the acceptance and processing of any Entry Coupon or Automatic Entry culminating in the issue of a Ticket or a ticket in a Game of Promotional Lotto Strike, a Retailer shall for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (h) In the cancellation of a Ticket, the processing of a Prize claim form, the submission of a Prize claim form to the Licensee and the payment of a Prize, a Retailer shall at all times and for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 15(d), in the acceptance of Commission in respect of an Entry by a Retailer on behalf of the Licensee, the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Player.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **33** Effective: 13 June 2025

(j) The State of New South Wales, the Crown in right of that State, the Government of that State, the Minister, their successors and the employees and agents of each and every one of them shall have as ample protection from liability in respect of their acts and omissions (whether arising from, or contributed to by, negligence or otherwise) and the acts, omissions and contingencies the subject of Rules 15(a) to 15(i) inclusive as those protected by said Rules.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **34** Effective: 13 June 2025

## RULE 16 EFFECTIVE DATE

- (a) The Lotto Strike Rules made pursuant to the Act and in force immediately prior to the date upon which these Rules take effect are rescinded.
- (b) Entries made pursuant to rules previously in force under any earlier Product Licence and which relate to a Drawing or Drawings to be conducted on or after these Rules take effect shall be taken to be submitted as entries in such Drawing or Drawings pursuant to those previous rules.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **35** Effective: 13 June 2025

# RULE 17 AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A GAME OF PROMOTIONAL LOTTO STRIKE The Licensee may enter into agreements or arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Act, with other persons or bodies for the purpose of promoting any Game of Promotional Lotto Strike.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **36** Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

SCHEDULE 1

SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE MONDAY OR WEDNESDAY OR FRIDAY OR SATURDAY LOTTO STRIKE THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
1 Game	1	\$1.15	\$1.00	\$0.15
2 Game	2	\$2.25	\$2.00	\$0.25
3 Game	3	\$3.35	\$3.00	\$0.35
4 Game	4	\$4.50	\$4.00	\$0.50
5 Game	5	\$5.60	\$5.00	\$0.60
6 Game	6	\$6.70	\$6.00	\$0.70
7 Game	7	\$7.85	\$7.00	\$0.85
8 Game	8	\$9.00	\$8.00	\$1.00
9 Game	9	\$10.10	\$9.00	\$1.10
10 Game	10	\$11.30	\$10.00	\$1.30
11 Game	11	\$12.35	\$11.00	\$1.35
12 Game	12	\$13.40	\$12.00	\$1.40
13 Game	13	\$14.60	\$13.00	\$1.60
14 Game	14	\$15.70	\$14.00	\$1.70
15 Game	15	\$16.85	\$15.00	\$1.85
16 Game	16	\$17.95	\$16.00	\$1.95
17 Game	17	\$19.10	\$17.00	\$2.10
18 Game	18	\$20.20	\$18.00	\$2.20
19 Game	19	\$21.35	\$19.00	\$2.35
20 Game	20	\$22.45	\$20.00	\$2.45
21 Game	21	\$23.60	\$21.00	\$2.60
22 Game	22	\$24.70	\$22.00	\$2.70
23 Game	23	\$25.85	\$23.00	\$2.85
24 Game	24	\$26.95	\$24.00	\$2.95
25 Game	25	\$28.10	\$25.00	\$3.10
26 Game	26	\$29.20	\$26.00	\$3.20
27 Game	27	\$30.30	\$27.00	\$3.30
28 Game	28	\$31.45	\$28.00	\$3.45
29 Game	29	\$32.55	\$29.00	\$3.55
30 Game	30	\$33.70	\$30.00	\$3.70
31 Game	31	\$34.80	\$31.00	\$3.80
32 Game	32	\$35.95	\$32.00	\$3.95
33 Game	33	\$37.05	\$33.00	\$4.05
34 Game	34	\$38.20	\$34.00	\$4.20
35 Game	35	\$39.30	\$35.00	\$4.30

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **37** Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
36 Game	36	\$40.45	\$36.00	\$4.45
37 Game	37	\$41.55	\$37.00	\$4.55
38 Game	38	\$42.65	\$38.00	\$4.65
39 Game	39	\$43.80	\$39.00	\$4.80
40 Game	40	\$44.90	\$40.00	\$4.90
41 Game	41	\$46.05	\$41.00	\$5.05
42 Game	42	\$47.15	\$42.00	\$5.15
43 Game	43	\$48.30	\$43.00	\$5.30
44 Game	44	\$49.40	\$44.00	\$5.40
45 Game	45	\$50.55	\$45.00	\$5.55
46 Game	46	\$51.65	\$46.00	\$5.65
47 Game	47	\$52.80	\$47.00	\$5.80
48 Game	48	\$53.90	\$48.00	\$5.90
49 Game	49	\$55.05	\$49.00	\$6.05
50 Game	50	\$56.15	\$50.00	\$6.15
Boxed 1 Game	24	\$26.95	\$24.00	\$2.95

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 1, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **38** Effective: 13 June 2025

**SCHEDULE 2** 

# SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR THE MONDAY OR WEDNESDAY OR FRIDAY OR SATURDAY LOTTO STRIKE THAT APPLY TO RESELLERS

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
1 Game	1	\$1.10	\$1.00	\$0.10
2 Game	2	\$2.20	\$2.00	\$0.20
3 Game	3	\$3.30	\$3.00	\$0.30
4 Game	4	\$4.35	\$4.00	\$0.35
5 Game	5	\$5.45	\$5.00	\$0.45
6 Game	6	\$6.55	\$6.00	\$0.55
7 Game	7	\$7.65	\$7.00	\$0.65
8 Game	8	\$8.75	\$8.00	\$0.75
9 Game	9	\$9.85	\$9.00	\$0.85
10 Game	10	\$10.95	\$10.00	\$0.95
11 Game	11	\$12.00	\$11.00	\$1.00
12 Game	12	\$13.10	\$12.00	\$1.10
13 Game	13	\$14.20	\$13.00	\$1.20
14 Game	14	\$15.30	\$14.00	\$1.30
15 Game	15	\$16.40	\$15.00	\$1.40
16 Game	16	\$17.50	\$16.00	\$1.50
17 Game	17	\$18.60	\$17.00	\$1.60
18 Game	18	\$19.65	\$18.00	\$1.65
19 Game	19	\$20.75	\$19.00	\$1.75
20 Game	20	\$21.85	\$20.00	\$1.85
21 Game	21	\$22.95	\$21.00	\$1.95
22 Game	22	\$24.05	\$22.00	\$2.05
23 Game	23	\$25.15	\$23.00	\$2.15
24 Game	24	\$26.25	\$24.00	\$2.25
25 Game	25	\$27.35	\$25.00	\$2.35
26 Game	26	\$28.40	\$26.00	\$2.40
27 Game	27	\$29.50	\$27.00	\$2.50
28 Game	28	\$30.60	\$28.00	\$2.60
29 Game	29	\$31.70	\$29.00	\$2.70
30 Game	30	\$32.80	\$30.00	\$2.80
31 Game	31	\$33.90	\$31.00	\$2.90
32 Game	32	\$35.00	\$32.00	\$3.00
33 Game	33	\$36.05	\$33.00	\$3.05
34 Game	34	\$37.15	\$34.00	\$3.15
35 Game	35	\$38.25	\$35.00	\$3.25

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **39** Effective: 13 June 2025

Entry Type	Equivalent Standard Games	Selling Fee*	Subscription	Commission
36 Game	36	\$39.35	\$36.00	\$3.35
37 Game	37	\$40.45	\$37.00	\$3.45
38 Game	38	\$41.55	\$38.00	\$3.55
39 Game	39	\$42.65	\$39.00	\$3.65
40 Game	40	\$43.70	\$40.00	\$3.70
41 Game	41	\$44.80	\$41.00	\$3.80
42 Game	42	\$45.90	\$42.00	\$3.90
43 Game	43	\$47.00	\$43.00	\$4.00
44 Game	44	\$48.10	\$44.00	\$4.10
45 Game	45	\$49.20	\$45.00	\$4.20
46 Game	46	\$50.30	\$46.00	\$4.30
47 Game	47	\$51.35	\$47.00	\$4.35
48 Game	48	\$52.45	\$48.00	\$4.45
49 Game	49	\$53.55	\$49.00	\$4.55
50 Game	50	\$54.65	\$50.00	\$4.65
Boxed 1 Game	24	\$26.25	\$24.00	\$2.25

<sup>\*</sup> The Selling Fee may be subject to an Ancillary Fee in accordance with Rule 7(b).

The Selling Fee, Subscription and Commission payable for a Multiple Draws Entry are the amounts payable for that Entry Type outlined in Schedule 2, which may be subject to an Ancillary Fee, multiplied by the number of draws that the Entry is entered into.

Lotto Strike Rules Version: 4.6 Page **40** Effective: 13 June 2025

#### **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996**

#### INSTANT LOTTERIES - APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE RULES

I, Natalie Wright, Executive Director of Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, pursuant to section 23 of the *Public Lotteries Act 1996* (hereafter referred to as "the Act") DO HEREBY APPROVE, under delegation of the Minister for Gaming & Racing pursuant to section 81 of the Act, the Rules for the conduct of the Games known as Instant Lottery and Promotional Instant Lotteries by the New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd, as annexed to this instrument, effective from 13 June 2025. On 13 June 2025, these Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette, subject to the Explanatory Note in this Instrument.

Dated this 27th day of May 2025.

#### **Natalie Wright**

Executive Director, Policy & Programs

Hospitality & Racing

Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport

Delegate of the Minister for Gaming & Racing

# **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996 INSTANT LOTTERIES RULES**

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

It is hereby notified that the Executive Director, Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, under delegation of the Minister administering the Public Lotteries Act 1996 has approved of the following Rules for the Conduct of Instant Lottery and Promotional Instant Lotteries. In accordance with Section 23(3)(a) of the Act, these Rules take effect on and from 13 June 2025. These Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

7

Page 1

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PUBLIC LOTTER	RIES ACT 1996 INSTANT LOTTERIES RULES	1
RULE 1	DEFINITIONS	3
RULE 2	CONDUCT OF INSTANT LOTTERIES AND PROMOTIONAL INSTANT LOTTERIES	6
RULE 3	APPLICATION OF RULES	7
RULE 4	RULES APPLYING TO TICKETS	8
RULE 5	PRICE OF TICKETS, COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE	9
RULE 6	SALE OF INSTANT LOTTERY TICKETS AND ENTRIES IN PROMOTIONAL INSTANT LOTTERIES	10
RULE 7	PRIZES	11
RULE 8	PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES	13
RULE 9	IDENTITY	15
RULE 10	EFFECT OF PAYMENT	16
RULE 11	ADDITIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN PRIZES ARE NOT PAYABLE	17
RULE 12	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	18
RULE 13	EFFECTIVE DATE	20
RULE 14	AGREEMENTS RELATED TO PROMOTIONAL INSTANT LOTTERIES	21

Effective: 13 June 2025

#### RULE 1 **DEFINITIONS**

(a) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:

> "Act" means the Public Lotteries Act 1996, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

> "Ancillary Fee" means a fee charged to a Player from whom a Reseller accepts an Entry over and above the Subscription and the Commission;

"Approved" means approved in writing by the Minister;

"Australian Consumer Law" means schedule 2 of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth):

"Chief Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee or such delegate appointed by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3(g);

"Commission" means an amount:

- (1) paid to, deducted by or retained by a Retailer in connection with a Subscription (whether or not in the person's capacity as a Retailer); and
- (2)determined by or in accordance with, and identified as Commission in, the conditions of the Product Licence or these Rules;

"Computer Linked Terminal" means the computer equipment located in branches of the Licensee or its related bodies corporate, or places of business of its Retailers or otherwise which is linked to the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee for purposes associated with Instant Lotteries and Promotional Instant Lotteries, including determining whether a Prize has been won;

"Computer Records" means the sum of information, including Ticket Number information, which is held by the Licensee by way of or through the Licensee's central processing computer equipment in respect of an Instant Lottery or a Promotional Instant Lottery and which is retained or recorded on a magnetic tape or otherwise stored;

"Conduct" in relation to an Instant Lottery and Promotional Instant Lottery has the same meaning as assigned to it by Section 4(1) of the Act;

"Director" means a Director of the Board of Directors of the Licensee;

"Draw" means the drawing of a public lottery conducted as part of an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery in accordance with Rule 7(g);

"Employee" means an employee of the Licensee. In other contexts where appropriate, "Employee" includes an employee of a Retailer;

"Instant Lottery" means a public lottery Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, Rules and Regulations whereby Prizes are determined (wholly or partly) by revealing Numbers on Tickets in the lottery (whether or not additional Prizes are determined in any other manner) but does not include Promotional Instant Lotteries:

"Licensee" means New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Limited;

"Minister" means the Minister for the time being administering the Act;

"Numbers" has the same meaning as contained in Section 5 of the Act;

"Operator Licence" means the operator licence granted to the Licensee, pursuant to the Act, to conduct any public lottery for which it, from time to time, holds a Product Licence granted pursuant to the Act;

Page 3

"Outlet" means a place at which the Licensee or a Retailer is allowed to:

Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

- (1) receive Subscriptions for and sell Tickets in an Instant Lottery;
- (2) receive entries in a Promotional Instant Lottery and provide Promotional Instant Lottery Tickets; and
- (3) in the case of a Reseller receive Subscriptions and instructions to purchase Instant Lottery Tickets and to provide Promotional Instant Lottery Tickets on behalf of Players;

"Player" means a person who:

- has paid the correct Subscription and Commission for a Valid Instant Lottery Ticket; and/or
- (2) holds a Valid Ticket; and/or
- (3) holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket to the Licensee and/or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes where relevant a person who has entered a Promotional Instant Lottery and who holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket in the Promotional Instant Lottery to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

"Prize" means any prize determined in accordance with Rule 7;

"Prize Allocation" shall be determined by the Licensee and has the meaning provided in Rule 7(b);

"Prize Fund" means the account established under Section 27 of the Act and known as the Instant Lottery Prize Fund Account;

"Prize Pool" is the proportion of Subscriptions paid into the Prize Fund for a particular Instant Lottery and has the meaning specified in Rule 7(a).

"Prize Reserve Fund" means the fund located in the Prize Fund under Section 27 of the Act containing

- (1) the amounts specified in Rule 7(c);
- (2) an amount representing any unclaimed Prizes, subject to a direction under Section 27A of the Act.

"Product Licence" means the product licence granted to the Licensee to Conduct Instant Lotteries and Promotional Instant Lotteries pursuant to Section 12 of the Act;

"Promotional Instant Lottery" means a public lottery Conducted for the purpose of promoting an Instant Lottery, and in respect of which:

- eligibility to enter is confined to Players in an Instant Lottery which is currently selling or in which selling has concluded; and
- (2) no further Subscription or Commission is charged;

"Regulation" means a regulation made under the Act;

"Reseller" means a Retailer, approved by the Minister, who is authorised by the Licensee to receive Subscriptions, Commissions and instructions in respect of an Instant Lottery and instructions with respect to a Promotional Instant Lottery from a Player. Such Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prizes for and on behalf on a Player;

"Retailer" means a person or agent appointed or approved by the Licensee for purposes associated with Instant Lottery and Promotional Instant Lottery Conducted by the Licensee and includes a Reseller;

Instant Lotteries Rules | Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

NSW Government Gazette

Page 4

30 May 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8]

"Rules" means these Rules made under the Act any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

"Selling Fee" means the sum of the Commission and Subscription and Ancillary Fee (where applicable);

"Subscription" means the amounts paid for Tickets but does not include the following:

- (1) Ancillary Fees; or
- (2) Commission, unless the Act expressly provides otherwise;

"Ticket" means the form of entry to an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery, whether it be in documentary or other approved form, as agreed by the Chief Executive Officer, which permits a Player to play an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery and which evidences:

- (1) in the case of an Instant Lottery, that the correct Selling Fee has been paid to enter the Instant Lottery; and
- (2) in the case of a Promotional Instant Lottery, that a Player has Validly entered the Promotional Instant Lottery;

and which may be validated by a Computer Linked Terminal and which may include a Ticket Number and such other tests to determine the validity of the Ticket and whether it has won a Prize;

"Ticket Number" means the verification code in the form of numbers and/or letters and/or bar codes which may be printed on Tickets and which constitute the means by which the Licensee can determine after the issue of the Ticket whether it is a valid Ticket and also whether it has won a Prize;

"Valid" means that the Ticket or entry satisfies the requirements of these Rules such that nothing in these Rules would prevent the Player who purchased the Ticket or received the entry from being able to claim a Prize attributable to it;

"Website" means the internet site located at <a href="www.thelott.com/nswlotteries">www.thelott.com/nswlotteries</a> (or such other address as may be advised from time to time);

- (b) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:
  - (i) a reference to the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;
  - (ii) headings are for convenient reference only and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of the provisions to which they refer.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No : 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

Page 5

[NSWGG-2025-212-8]

#### RULE 2 CONDUCT OF INSTANT LOTTERIES AND PROMOTIONAL INSTANT LOTTERIES

- (a) These Rules are to be read subject to the Act, its Regulations, the Operator Licence and the Product Licence and shall apply to every Instant Lottery and Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (b) An Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery shall, at its commencement, have a Prize structure as determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (c) The Prize structure shall comprise the number and value of Prizes to be offered by the Licensee to Players during the period of each Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery, as the case may be.
- (d) During the period in which the Licensee:
  - (i) offers for sale Tickets in an Instant Lottery; or
  - (ii) accepts entries in a Promotional Instant Lottery;

some or all of the Prizes in the approved Prize structure may already have been won when a Player:

- (iii) purchases a Ticket in an Instant Lottery; or
- (iv) enters a Promotional Instant Lottery;

leaving the balance of Prizes still available to be won by Players, or no Prizes, as the case may be, at the time of their respective purchase or entry.

- (e) A Ticket in an Instant Lottery may include a Promotional Instant Lottery on the same Ticket.
- (f) A Ticket in an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery may include one or more Prizes to be won on the same Ticket.
- (g) An Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery may require the Player to reveal a winning Number on more than one Ticket in order to win a Prize.
- (h) The Licensee may Conduct a Promotional Instant Lottery in such manner and at such times and places as the Licensee determines.
- (i) A Promotional Instant Lottery may be Conducted in conjunction with an Instant Lottery or separately from an Instant Lottery.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

NSW Government Gazette

30 May 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8]

### RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES

- (a) These Rules and all instructions and conditions printed on Tickets shall apply to each Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery and shall be binding on all Players.
- (b) In the event of any inconsistency between these Rules and the instructions and conditions printed on Tickets or promotional materials, these Rules shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.
- (c) These Rules shall apply to each Promotional Instant Lottery and shall be binding on all Players.
- (d) By entering an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery Players agree to be bound by these Rules. To the extent that a situation or issue arises for which these Rules make no provision or in relation to which these Rules or their application are unclear, the Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to make a decision regarding such situation or issue acting in good faith and, subject to any regulator direction to the contrary, such decision will be final and binding.
- (e) The Rules that are in force at the time of purchase of a Ticket in an Instant Lottery or a Promotional Instant Lottery are contractually binding on the Licensee and the Player.
- (f) A Retailer, including a Reseller, has no authority to bind the Licensee in contract or otherwise.
- (g) The Chief Executive Officer may appoint a delegate to perform a function under these Rules which function would otherwise be required to be performed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such appointment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Chief Executive Officer may determine.
- (h) Any reference to the Chief Executive Officer in these Rules shall include a reference to a duly authorised delegate of the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 3(g).
- (i) These Rules will be displayed and made available for inspection at each Outlet.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

Page 7

[NSWGG-2025-212-8]

#### RULE 4 RULES APPLYING TO TICKETS

- (a) The Ticket issued to the Player shall constitute the Player's official receipt and acceptance thereof shall constitute the Player's acknowledgment of all details thereon and shall be the only form issued by the Licensee or its Retailer to the Player evidencing the Player's entry in a particular Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (b) Neither the Licensee nor a Retailer shall be liable to a Player in the event of the destruction, loss, theft or mutilation of a Ticket issued to a Player. It shall be the responsibility of the Player to ensure the safe custody of a Ticket issued to the Player.
- (c) In the event that the particulars recorded on the Player's Ticket are not consistent with the particulars held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records or such other records held by the Licensee or otherwise available to the Licensee from its authorised contractor, then the particulars held by the Licensee or such other records held by or otherwise available to the Licensee (as the case may be) shall apply and shall determine what Prize, if any, the Player shall be entitled to and the Player shall be bound by any such determination. Particulars which may be recorded on a Ticket include the Ticket Number and other security and/or prize validation related information, the Numbers to be revealed and information regarding the particular Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery entered as well as the details of the particular book and ticket number.
- (d) A Ticket shall at all times remain the property of the Licensee and a Player shall deliver up any Ticket to the Licensee upon demand.
- (e) A Player in an Instant Lottery will remain anonymous with respect to a Prize unless the Player opts out of anonymity by clearly checking the box where indicated on the Prize claim form they submit in relation to a Prize (in circumstances when a Prize claim form is applicable for the Prize). Players may subsequently opt out of anonymity by notifying the Licensee's representative upon contact from such person to notify of a Prize having been won.
- (f) The identity of a Player must not be published by the Licensee, unless the Player has opted out of anonymity in accordance with Rule 4(e).
- (g) A Player may at any time revoke anonymity and participate in any promotion or marketing activity requested by the Licensee.
- (h) No Player may submit a Ticket as trustee, representative or nominee for another person or persons. Each transaction effected by the Player will be conducted solely with the Player.
- (i) A Ticket in an Instant Lottery shall contain instructions specifying:
  - (i) the manner in which the Ticket holder may determine whether an Instant Lottery Prize has been won; and
  - (ii) the procedures for claiming an Instant Lottery Prize.

Effective: 13 June 2025

(j) Subject to Rule 7 the Chief Executive Officer may pay a Prize to a person who holds, bears or submits a Ticket in an Instant Lottery or a Ticket in a Promotional Instant Lottery to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purpose of receiving a Prize if the Chief Executive Officer is satisfied that the Ticket Number and/or other security tests as the Chief Executive Officer thinks necessary show that the Ticket is a valid Ticket and has won a Prize.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No : 3.8

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

Page 8

#### **RULE 5** PRICE OF TICKETS, COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE

- The Licensee shall set, as Approved, the amount payable by Players, excluding Commission, in respect of the sale of Tickets in an Instant Lottery. (a)
- The Licensee shall set, as Approved, the Commission payable to Retailers in respect of the sale of Tickets in an Instant Lottery. (b)
- The Commission payable to any Retailer is not to exceed the amount set under Schedule 1, and does not include any Ancillary Fees charged by a Reseller. (c)
- A Reseller may charge an Ancillary Fee as authorised by the Chief Executive Officer from time to time. Players will be notified of any such changes in accordance with the Reseller's terms (d) and conditions.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

> Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

Page 9

# RULE 6 SALE OF INSTANT LOTTERY TICKETS AND ENTRIES IN PROMOTIONAL INSTANT LOTTERIES

- (a) The sale of a Ticket in an Instant Lottery shall not be considered to have been made until the Selling Fee has been paid in respect of that Ticket.
- (b) A person under the age of eighteen (18) years is not permitted to purchase a Ticket in an Instant Lottery or a Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (c) A Ticket in an Instant Lottery may only be sold by the Licensee or through a Retailer.
- (d) A Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prize cheques for and on behalf of Players.
- (e) The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the form of entries in a Promotional Instant Lottery that will be used by the Licensee in determining whether one or more Prizes have been won in the Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (f) Without limiting Rule 6(e), the Chief Executive Officer may determine that entries in a Promotional Instant Lottery are to be in the form of any of the following (or combination of the following):
  - (i) portions of a Ticket in an Instant Lottery nominated by the Chief Executive Officer;
  - (ii) any other Ticket or document;
  - (iii) entries made by means of an electronic or mechanical device or by a telecommunications system.
- (g) If an entry in a Promotional Instant Lottery is to consist of a portion of an Instant Lottery Ticket:
  - the manner in which each game is to be played is to be clearly displayed on separate portions of each Ticket; and
  - (ii) the play areas of the Instant Lottery and Promotional Instant Lottery are to be displayed on separate portions of each Ticket.
- (h) If an entry in a Promotional Instant Lottery is to consist of a Ticket or document, a Ticket or document issued to an entrant in the Promotional Instant Lottery:
  - (i) constitutes the Player's official receipt;
  - (ii) is, following its acceptance, to constitute the Player's acknowledgment of the details on the entry; and
  - (iii) is to be the only document issued by the Licensee, its Retailers to the entrant evidencing the processing of an entry in the Promotional Instant Lottery.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No : 3.8

NSW Government Gazette

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 10

30 May 2025

#### RULE 7 PRIZES

- (a) The Prize Pool in an Instant Lottery shall be not less than fifty five percent (55%) and not more than sixty five point two two percent (65.22%) of Subscriptions.
- (b) The Prize Allocation in a particular Instant Lottery shall comprise:
  - (i) the Prizes in the Instant Lottery;
  - (ii) the number of Tickets in the Instant Lottery; and
  - (iii) the cost of Prizes, which shall be not less than fifty five percent (55%) of Subscriptions, and which shall be funded in whole or in part from the Prize Pool.
- (c) Where the cost of Prizes in an Instant Lottery is less than sixty five point two two percent (65.22%) of Subscriptions, that amount representing the difference between that cost and sixty five point two two percent (65.22%) shall be retained in the Prize Reserve Fund.
- (d) Where the cost of Prizes in an Instant Lottery would otherwise exceed sixty five point two two percent (65.22%) of Subscriptions, the amount representing the difference between that cost and sixty five point two two percent (65.22%) of Subscriptions shall be drawn from the Prize Reserve Fund.
- (e) The Prizes payable in respect of an Instant Lottery are to be determined:
  - (i) by revealing the Number on the Tickets in the lottery; or
  - (ii) in such other manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of the particular Instant Lottery.
- (f) Without limiting Rule 7(e), Prizes in an Instant Lottery may be determined by the inclusion of Tickets in the lottery in a draw.
- (g) If any Prizes in an Instant Lottery are to be determined in a manner approved under Rule 7(e)(ii), the Licensee is to give notice of the manner of determination:
  - by indicating the manner of determining the Prize on each Ticket in the Instant Lottery;
     or
  - (ii) by publicly advertising the manner of determination of the Prize, or both.
- (h) The Prizes payable in an Instant Lottery are to consist of one or more of the following:
  - (i) money;
  - (ii) Tickets in an Instant lottery;
  - (iii) Tickets in any other lottery;

Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

- (iv) such other prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Licensee.
- (i) The Chief Executive Officer may change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in an Instant Lottery, including the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) into a monetary equivalent.
- (j) A Prize in an Instant Lottery or a Promotional Instant Lottery must not consist of or include tobacco.
- (k) A Prize in an Instant Lottery or a Promotional Instant Lottery must not consist of or include liquor within the meaning of the Liquor Act 2007.
- (I) The Prizes payable in a Promotional Instant Lottery may consist of one or more of the following:
  - (i) money;
  - (ii) holidays;
  - (iii) travel;

Instant Lotteries Rules

Page 11

- (iv) accommodation;
- services or goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee, whether or not for valuable consideration; and
- (vi) such other Prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (m) The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the number, nature and value of Prizes in each Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (n) The Licensee is to publicly advertise or otherwise promote the nature and value of, and the conditions relating to payment of, Prizes, and where practical the number of Prizes, in each Promotional Instant Lottery Conducted by it.
- (o) The Chief Executive Officer may (acting reasonably) change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in a Promotional Instant Lottery, including (but not limited to) the following:
  - the replacement of any holiday destination offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another holiday destination;
  - (ii) the replacement of any mode of travel offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another mode of travel:
  - (iii) the replacement of any form of accommodation offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another form of accommodation:
  - (iv) the resupply of services or the replacement of goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee; and
  - (V) the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) provided by the Licensee or by another person or body into a money equivalent.
- (p) The Prizes in a Promotional Instant Lottery are payable in such manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of that Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (q) Drawing for Instant Lottery Prizes

This Rule applies when the Licensee determines that some of the Prizes in an Instant Lottery are to be determined by a Draw:

- (i) A Ticket in an Instant Lottery is eligible to be included in a Draw in such circumstances as may be indicated or publicly advertised in accordance with Rule 7(g)(ii).
- A Draw is to be conducted at such times and in such manner as the Licensee may determine.
- (iii) Prize winners in a Draw are to be selected at random by such means (including the use of mechanical, electronic or other devices or aids) as the Minister may approve.
- (iv) A Draw is to be carried out under the control and direction of the Licensee.
- (V) The Licensee is, as far as is reasonably practicable, to ensure the security, performance and accuracy of any device or aid used in connection with a Draw.
- (vi) Each draw in an Instant Lottery is to be open to the public.

Effective: 13 June 2025

(vii) The Licensee will, if accurate contact details are held by the Licensee, use reasonable endeavours to notify Prize winners in a Draw that they have won a Prize and may require them to claim the Prize before payment of the Prize.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No : 3.8

Page 12

#### RULE 8 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) A Prize in an Instant Lottery is payable only on presentation of a Ticket in that Instant Lottery indicating that the Prize has been won and after the Licensee is satisfied that the Ticket Number and/or other security tests as the Licensee deems necessary show that the Ticket is valid and has won the Prize.
- (b) A Prize is not payable in a Promotional Instant Lottery unless:
  - (i) the entry submitted in the Promotional Instant Lottery is in the form determined by the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 6; and
  - (ii) if the form of entry requires the Player to have purchased a Ticket in an Instant Lottery, the Ticket satisfies any test used by the Chief Executive Officer to determine whether the Ticket is Valid.

and the claimant has complied with all conditions relating to the Promotional Instant Lottery advertised under Rule 7(n).

- (c) The Licensee may record on a Ticket in a Promotional Instant Lottery a verification code or other test and use it to determine whether the Ticket in a Promotional Instant Lottery is a valid entry and whether it has won a Prize. A Prize is only payable in respect of a Ticket in a Promotional Instant Lottery if such verification code or other test shows that the Ticket is Valid and has won a Prize.
- (d) The Chief Executive Officer shall from time to time approve the form and content of the Prize claim form to be forwarded by Players when claiming a Prize in an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (e) A Prize exceeding \$1,000.00 must be claimed by lodgement with the Licensee of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in the claim form and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).
- (f) A Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 (or up to a Retailer's payment limit as formally authorised in writing by the Licensee) shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid to a Player, upon surrender of the winning Ticket and subject to Rule 8(a), by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal.
- (g) A Prize not paid by a Retailer in accordance with Rule 8(f) will be paid by the Licensee (at its election) by electronic funds transfer or by cheque upon the submission to the Licensee of a Prize claim form, the Prize winning Ticket and such other evidence as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).
- (h) Any cheque drawn in payment of a Prize:

Instant Lotteries Rules

7

- (i) must be made payable to the order of one named Prize winner as shown on the Prize winning Ticket or otherwise indicated on a Prize claim form on submission of the Prize winning Ticket; and
- (ii) must be crossed and marked "not negotiable".

Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

- (i) A Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner by the Ticket Number and/or such other security test deemed necessary by the Chief Executive Officer must lodge a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the particulars required on the claim form.
- (j) The payment of Prizes to Players who are known to have died before receiving any or all of a particular Prize shall be made in accordance with the laws of New South Wales.
- (k) Subject to Section 27 of the Act, all unclaimed or uncollected Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Fund for payment to the Players or entitled thereto.
- (I) Where payment of a Prize is made by cheque and mailed, it shall be posted to the name and address shown on the Prize claim form. Thereafter, the Licensee shall not be held liable for any loss, delay in the delivery thereof or any negotiation of such cheque other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission of the Licensee. A certificate under the hand of the Chief Executive Officer verifying the date of posting shall be conclusive evidence of same.
- (m) A Prize may be claimed in person through a Retailer or the Licensee, or by mail directed to:

Page 13

the postal address publicly notified from time to time on promotional material published by the Licensee or on the Website. A Prize claim form for a Prize must be forwarded by the Player to the Licensee direct.

- Where more than one name is advised on a Ticket or on a Prize claim form, payment to any one (n) person so named at the address so given shall discharge the Licensee from all liability in respect of such payment to the other person so named.
- Where the Licensee has paid a Player pursuant to this Rule 8 and the Chief Executive Officer is, after (o) such payment has been made, of the view that:
  - (i) the Player was not the Player to whom such payment should have been made; or
  - (ii) a Prize is not payable to the Player

the Player shall upon being requested to do so by the Licensee in writing refund to the Licensee the monies forwarded to him or her unless the payment was made to the Player as a result of the fraud, wilful misconduct or negligent act or omission of the Licensee.

- The Licensee shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to recognise the person who holds, bears and submits a Ticket as the Prize winner. (p)
- (q) The Licensee accepts no responsibility or liability for lost or stolen Tickets.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025 30 May 2025

Page 14

#### **IDENTITY RULE 9**

The Licensee may require a claimant for a Prize in an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery:

- to furnish such evidence of the claimant's identity as the Licensee thinks sufficient to establish the claimant's identity; and (a)
- (b) to verify that evidence in such manner as the Licensee considers appropriate.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 15

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

### RULE 10 EFFECT OF PAYMENT

- (a) The Licensee need not inquire into the entitlement to claim a Prize of any person who presents a Prize winning Ticket in an Instant Lottery or presents or submits a Prize winning entry in a Promotional Instant Lottery.
- (b) Payment of a Prize to such a claimant in accordance with these Rules discharges the Licensee from any action, liability, claim or demand from any other person in relation to the entry.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 16

30 May 2025

#### RULE 11 ADDITIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN PRIZES ARE NOT PAYABLE

- (a) A Prize is not payable in an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery:
  - (i) if the Ticket in the Instant Lottery or an entry in the Promotional Instant Lottery presented by the claimant for the Prize is damaged, altered, reconstituted or counterfeit; or
  - (ii) if the Ticket in the Instant Lottery or entry in the Promotional Instant Lottery is stolen or is a Ticket or entry that has been printed but not issued by the Licensee; or
  - if the Licensee has reasonable cause to suspect fraud or attempted fraud (whether computer related or otherwise); or
  - (iv) if the Player has tendered insufficient Selling Fee for the Ticket or has presented a cheque that is subsequently dishonoured or if the form of payment tendered is not otherwise acceptable to the Licensee (acting reasonably); or
  - in such other circumstances as are specified on the Ticket or entry or as have been publicly advertised by the Licensee in relation to the Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery; or
  - (Vi) in respect of a Ticket which fails any confidential security test of the Licensee; or
  - (Vii) in other circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer reasonably considers are of a similar nature or similarly justify a Prize not being payable.
- (b) A Prize in an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery is not payable to a person apparently under the age of 18 years.
- (c) Where the Licensee receives a Prize claim form from a Player and a Prize is not payable under this clause on the Ticket or entry that relates to the Prize claim form, the Licensee must use its best endeavours to notify the person whose name and address is shown on the Prize claim form that a Prize is not payable under this clause and must provide reasons why the Prize is not payable.
- (d) Nothing in Rule 11(a) prevents a Prize from being paid in respect of a damaged Ticket or entry if the Licensee determines that the Ticket or entry is a valid Ticket or entry and that it has won a Prize.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

Page 17

#### RULE 12 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) Nothing in these Rules (including in the following provisions of this Rule 12, which must be read subject to this Rule 12(a)):
  - (i) excludes, restricts, or modifies any guarantee, term, condition, warranty or any right or remedy, implied or imposed by any law or legislation which cannot lawfully be excluded or limited, including the Australian Consumer Law which contains guarantees that protect the purchasers of goods and services in certain circumstances; or
  - (ii) limits the liability of the Licensee or any Retailer for fraud or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The total amount recoverable by the Player in respect of any liability owed to a Player in accordance with these Rules is limited as follows:
  - (i) if the liability relates to a Ticket, to the greater of:
    - (1) the total amount paid by the Player in respect of that Entry; and
    - (2) if the Player would have won a Prize in respect of that Ticket but for the events giving rise to the liability, the amount of such Prize; and
  - (ii) in all other cases, \$10,000.
- (c) The Licensee will have no responsibility or liability to a Player until a Ticket is issued to that Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (d) By entering an Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery a Player acknowledges that he or she has entered into an agreement with the Licensee and. where the Ticket was purchased from a Retailer, the Retailer and agrees to be bound by the provisions of these Rules which subsist for the benefit of the Licensee, Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Retailer and all Employees thereof.
- (e) The Licensee, Directors, and the Chief Executive Officer shall have no liability to pay a Player who claims a Prize and is unable to submit a Ticket. The Licensee shall have discharged all liability in relation to payment of a Prize by making payment to a person in accordance with the Rules.
- (f) The Licensee, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer and each and every Employee of the Licensee or a Retailer shall have no liability to a Player or any person for or in respect of any failure, disruption or malfunction of Computer Linked Terminals, electrical power, telecommunications links or computers resulting in loss or corruption of information retained on any Computer Records held by the Licensee except to the extent the loss or corruption was caused by the fraud or wilful misconduct of such person.
- (g) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer and each and every Employee of the Licensee or a Retailer shall have no liability for any consequence of interference with or interruption to any Instant Lottery or Promotional Instant Lottery due to fire, storm, flood, riot, civil commotion, strike, failure or disruption of electrical power supply or telecommunications or other cause not within the reasonable control of such person.
- (h) In the processing of any Ticket, Prize claim form or instructions received by a Retailer a Retailer shall for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (i) In the processing of a Prize claim form, the submission of a Prize claim form to the Licensee and the payment of a Prize, a Retailer shall at all times and for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (j) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 12(h), in the acceptance of Commission by a Retailer on behalf of the Licensee, the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Player.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No : 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

Page 18

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025



Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025

7

Page 19

#### **RULE 13 EFFECTIVE DATE**

- The Instant Lottery Rules made pursuant to the Act and in force immediately prior to the date upon which these Rules take effect are rescinded. (a)
- Any Ticket purchased in an Instant Lottery and Promotional Instant Lottery pursuant to Rules previously in force under any earlier Product Licence and which relate to an Instant Lottery to be Conducted on or after the date these Rules take effect shall be taken as being purchased or entered (b) pursuant to these Rules.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025 NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

Page 20

#### **RULE 14** AGREEMENTS RELATED TO PROMOTIONAL INSTANT LOTTERIES

The Licensee may enter into agreements or arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Act, with other persons or bodies for the purpose of promoting any Promotional Instant Lottery.

Instant Lotteries Rules Issue No.: 3.8

Effective: 13 June 2025 30 May 2025

Page 21

## **SCHEDULE 1**

# SUBSCRIPTIONS, COMMISSION AND SELLING FEE PAYABLE FOR INSTANT LOTTERIES

For Tickets printed prior to 21 May 2012:

Instant Lottery	Commission	Subscription	Selling Fee
\$1.10 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.10	\$1.00	\$1.10
\$2.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.15	\$1.85	\$2.00
\$2.50 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.18	\$2.32	\$2.50
\$3.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.20	\$2.80	\$3.00
\$4.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.25	\$3.75	\$4.00
\$5.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.30	\$4.70	\$5.00
\$10.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.60	\$9.40	\$10.00
\$15.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.90	\$14.10	\$15.00

For Tickets printed on or after 21 May 2012:

Instant Lottery	Commission	Subscription	Selling Fee
\$1.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.09	\$0.91	\$1.00
\$1.10 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.10	\$1.00	\$1.10
\$2.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.16	\$1.84	\$2.00
\$2.50 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.20	\$2.30	\$2.50
\$3.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.24	\$2.76	\$3.00
\$4.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.32	\$3.68	\$4.00
\$5.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.40	\$4.60	\$5.00
\$6.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.48	\$5.52	\$6.00
\$7.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.56	\$6.44	\$7.00
\$10.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.80	\$9.20	\$10.00
\$12.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$0.96	\$11.04	\$12.00
\$15.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$1.20	\$13.80	\$15.00
\$20.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$1.60	\$18.40	\$20.00
\$30.00 Instant Lottery Ticket	\$2.40	\$27.60	\$30.00

Effective: 13 June 2025 Page 22

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

#### **PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996**

#### DRAW LOTTERY - APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO THE RULES

I, Natalie Wright, Executive Director of Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport, pursuant to section 23 of the *Public Lotteries Act 1996* (hereafter referred to as "the Act") DO HEREBY APPROVE, under delegation of the Minister for Gaming & Racing pursuant to section 81 of the Act, the Rules for the conduct of the Games known as Draw Lottery and Games of Promotional Draw Lottery by the New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd, as annexed to this instrument, effective from 13 June 2025. On 13 June 2025, these Rules will supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette, subject to the Explanatory Note in this Instrument.

Dated this 27th day of May 2025.

#### **Natalie Wright**

Executive Director, Policy & Programs

Hospitality & Racing

Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport

Delegate of the Minister for Gaming & Racing

# PUBLIC LOTTERIES ACT 1996 DRAW LOTTERY RULES

#### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

It is hereby notified that the Executive Director, Policy & Programs, Hospitality & Racing at the Department of Creative Industries, Tourism, Hospitality & Sport under delegation of the Minister administering the Public Lotteries Act 1996 has approved of the following Rules for the Conduct of Draw Lottery and Promotional Draw Lottery Games. In accordance with Section 23(3)(b) of the Act, these Rules take effect on and from 13 June 2025. These Rules supersede the Rules notified previously in the Government Gazette.

### **CONTENTS**

RULE 1	DEFINITIONS	3
RULE 2	CONDUCT AND DRAWING IN RELATION TO DRAW LOTTERY GAMES AND PROMO DRAW LOTTERY GAMES	
RULE 3	APPLICATION OF RULES	9
RULE 4	OBJECT	10
RULE 5	ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A DRAW LOTTERY GAME	11
RULE 6	RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS	12
RULE 7	COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE	14
RULE 8	SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY	15
RULE 9	PRIZES	17
RULE 10	ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES	20
RULE 11	PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES	21
RULE 12	DISQUALIFICATIONS	25
RULE 13	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	26
RULE 14	EFFECTIVE DATE	28
RULE 15	AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A PROMOTIONAL DRAW LOTTERY GAME	29
SCHEDUL	E1	31
SCHEDUL	E 2	32
SCHEDUL	E3	33

#### RULE 1 DEFINITIONS

(a) In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:

"Act" means the Public Lotteries Act 1996, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

"Ancillary Fee" means a fee charged to a Player from whom a Reseller accepts an Entry over and above the Subscription and the Commission;

"Approved" means approved in writing by the Minister:

"Australian Consumer Law" means schedule 2 of the *Competition and Consumer Act* 2010 (Cth);

"Automatic Entry" means an Entry in respect of a Draw Lottery Game made pursuant to verbal instruction or electronic instruction and includes an Entry previously made by a Player and stored on the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;

"Chief Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee or such delegate appointed by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3(g);

"Close of Acceptance" means the day and time of day determined by the Licensee and published on the Website after which Entries into a Ticket Pool will not be accepted;

"Commission" means an amount:

- (1) paid to, deducted by or retained by a Retailer in connection with a Subscription (whether or not in the person's capacity as a Retailer); and
- determined by or in accordance with, and identified as Commission in, the conditions of the Product Licence or these Rules;

"Computer Linked Terminal" means computer equipment located in branches of the Licensee or its related bodies corporate, or places of business of its Retailers or otherwise which is linked to the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee for purposes associated with Draw Lottery Games or Promotional Draw Lottery Games;

"Computer Records" means the sum of information which is provided to the Licensee by way of the Licensee's central processing computer equipment in respect of a Player and in respect of details of;

- (1) a Player's Entry in a Draw Lottery Game; and
- (2) where appropriate a Player's entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game;

"Conduct" in relation to a Draw Lottery Game and a Promotional Draw Lottery Game has the same meaning as assigned to it by Section 4(1) of the Act;

"Consolation Prize" means the Prize won in accordance with Rule 9(f);

"Director" means a Director of the Board of Directors of the Licensee;

"Draw Lottery Game" means a public lottery Conducted pursuant to the Act, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence, Rules and Regulations and includes a public lottery named "Super Jackpot" and a public lottery named "Mega Jackpot" but does not include Promotional Draw Lotteries:

#### "Drawing" means:

- in relation to a Draw Lottery Game (but not including a Second Drawing) the selection from the Ticket Pool of the Winning Numbers and the Jackpot Number by lot using a Drawing Device;
- (2) in relation to a Second Drawing the selection of the Winning Numbers by lot using a Drawing Device.

"Drawing Date" in relation to a Ticket Pool means the date on which the Winning Numbers and the Jackpot Number are selected in respect of that Ticket Pool and, provided there is no inconsistency and where the context admits, includes the date on which the Winning Numbers are selected in respect of a Second Drawing of a Ticket Pool;

"Drawing Device" means equipment as Approved by the Minister from time to time used to conduct a Drawing;

"Employee" means an employee of the Licensee. In other contexts where appropriate "Employee" includes an employee of a Retailer;

"Entry" means the Numbers in a Ticket Pool which have been selected on behalf of a Player by the central processing computer equipment by way of an approved form of Entry (including an Automatic Entry), which have been recorded in the central processing computer equipment, which (subject to Rule 6(c)) have been Imprinted on a Ticket and in respect of which the correct Selling Fee has been paid;

"Imprinted" means printed upon a Ticket by the Computer Linked Terminal;

"Jackpot Prize" means the Prize won in accordance with Rule 9(g);

"Jackpot Number" means the Number selected in a Drawing after the selection of the Winning Numbers in that Drawing;

"Licensee" means New South Wales Lotteries Corporation Pty Ltd;

"Malfunction" means a failure of any of the following:

- (1) the Drawing Device;
- (2) the Computer Linked Terminal;
- (3) the central processing computer equipment;

to operate in the manner in which it is designed to operate;

"Minister" means the Minister for the time being administering the Act;

"Numbers" has the same meaning as Section 5 of the Act;

"Operator Licence" means the operator licence granted to the Licensee, pursuant to the Act, to conduct any public lottery for which it, from time to time, holds a Product Licence granted pursuant to the Act;

"Outlet" means a place at which a Retailer is permitted to accept completed Entries into Draw Lottery Games and entries into Promotional Draw Lottery Games;

"Player" means a person who:

- (1) has paid the correct Subscription and Commission and Ancillary Fee (where applicable) for an Entry; and/or
- (2) holds a Valid Entry; and/or
- (3) holds, bears and submits a Valid Ticket to the Licensee or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize; and

includes where relevant a person who has Validly entered a Promotional Draw Lottery Game and who holds, bears and submits a ticket in the Promotional Draw Lottery Game to the Licensee, or a Retailer for the purposes of receiving a Prize;

"Prize" means any Prize determined in accordance with Rule 9;

"Prize Fund" means an account established under Section 27 of the Act and known as the Draw Lottery Prize Fund Account;

"Prize Pool" has the meaning specified in Rule 9(a);

"Prize Pool Contribution" is an amount equal to a percentage of all subscriptions in a Drawing, as specified in Rule 9(c) and (d);

"Prize Reserve Fund" means the fund located in the Prize Fund under Section 27 of the Act containing:

- (1) the amounts specified in Rule 9(c) and (d);
- (2) an amount representing any unclaimed Prizes, subject to a direction under Section 27A of the Act;

"Prize Structure" means the number, nature and value of Prizes available in relation to a Draw Lottery Game as specified in Schedule 3;

"Product Licence" means the product licence granted to the Licensee to Conduct Draw Lottery Games and Promotional Draw Lottery Games pursuant to Section 12 of the Act;

"Promotional Draw Lottery Game" means a public lottery Conducted for the purpose of promoting a Draw Lottery Game, and in respect of which:

- (1) eligibility to enter is confined to Players in a Draw Lottery Game; and
- (2) no further Subscription or Commission is charged;

"Provisional Period" means the period of consecutive calendar days approved from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer which starts on the Drawing Date, and which shall be no longer than twenty one (21) consecutive calendar days;

"Provisional Prize" is a Prize (or additional Prize in the case of a Second Drawing) that exceeds \$1,000.00 as shown on a Computer Linked Terminal;

"Provisional Prize Winner" means a Player who holds a Ticket which is eligible for a Provisional Prize;

"Registered Player" means a Player whose personal details have been provided to the Licensee and have been recorded for the purpose of providing a player registration service to that Player;

"Regulation" means a regulation made under the Act;

#104427649y1RoTELC>ssc20240969 NSWL Lucky Lotteries Game Rules - SLINC (LL coupon)<sub>Page 5</sub> Effective: 13 June 2025

"Reseller" means a Retailer, approved by the Minister, who is authorised by the Licensee to receive Subscriptions, Commissions and instructions in respect of a Draw Lottery Game and instructions with respect to a Promotional Draw

Lottery Game from a Player. Such Reseller may receive instructions by post, telephone, facsimile or modem (internet) and such Reseller may receive Prizes for and on behalf of a Player;

"Retailer" means a person or agent appointed or approved by the Licensee for purposes associated with Draw Lottery Games and Promotional Draw Lottery Games Conducted by the Licensee and includes a Reseller;

"Rules" means these Rules made under the Act, any amendment, modification, variation, or abrogation thereof for the time being in force;

"Second Drawing" means an additional Drawing conducted as part of a Draw Lottery Game in accordance with these Rules;

"Selling Fee" means the sum of the Commission and Subscription and Ancillary Fee (where applicable);

"Subscription" means the amounts paid for Entries but does not include the following:

- (1) Ancillary Fees; or
- (2) Commission, unless the Act expressly provides otherwise;

"Ticket" means the receipt, whether it be in documentary, electronic or other form, which is the official confirmation that a Player has paid the correct Selling Fee for a Valid Entry in a Draw Lottery Game, and which:

- (1) contains Entry details; and
- (2) may include a Ticket Number and other such tests to determine the identity, validity and status of the Ticket; and whether it has won a Prize; and
- (3) may include other particulars as determined by the Licensee;

"Ticket Pool" means the pre-determined field of Numbers in a Draw Lottery Game;

"Ticket Number" means the numbers and/or letters Imprinted on a Ticket which constitute an official identification of the Valid issue of a Ticket in a particular Draw Lottery Game;

"Valid" means:

- in respect of an approved from of Entry, that it satisfies the requirements of these Rules; and
- (2) in respect of a Ticket, that nothing in these Rules would prevent the Player who purchased it from being able to claim a Prize otherwise attributable to it;

"Website" means the internet site located at <a href="www.thelott.com/nswlotteries">www.thelott.com/nswlotteries</a> (or such other address as may be advised from time to time);

"Winning Numbers" in relation to a Draw Lottery Game means:

- (1) the Numbers that are selected in a Drawing in respect of each Prize excepting the Jackpot Prize and Consolation Prizes in a Prize Structure;
- (2) the Numbers that are selected in a Second Drawing in respect of each Prize.

#104427649y1RoTELC>ssc20240969 NSWL Lucky Lotteries Game Rules - SLINC (LL coupon)<sub>Page 6</sub> Effective: 13 June 2025

(b)	In these R	In these Rules unless inconsistent with the context:		
	(i)	a reference to the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;		
	(ii)	headings are for convenient reference only and have no effect in limiting or extending the language of the provisions to which they refer.		

## RULE 2 CONDUCT AND DRAWING IN RELATION TO DRAW LOTTERY GAMES AND PROMOTIONAL DRAW LOTTERY GAMES

- (a) These Rules are to be read subject to the Act, its Regulations, the Operator Licence, the Product Licence and shall apply to every Drawing in relation to Draw Lottery Games and Promotional Draw Lottery Games.
- (b) Drawings will be conducted in relation to a Draw Lottery Game once all Numbers in a Ticket Pool have been sold and included on Entries in relation to that Draw Lottery Game.
- (c) Drawings undertaken in the State of New South Wales shall be conducted by the Licensee and supervised by a person or persons nominated by the Minister in accordance with Drawing procedures agreed between the Licensee and the Minister's nominee(s).

Certification of the validity of a Drawing by the Minister's nominee(s) shall be final and binding on all Players.

- (d) Where a Malfunction in a Drawing Device occurs:
  - (i) any Numbers drawn in respect of that Drawing prior to the Malfunction will not be Winning Numbers:
  - (ii) the Drawing shall be declared null and void; and
    - (1) the Drawing shall be conducted as soon as practicable after the rectification of the Malfunction; or
    - (2) where the Malfunction cannot be rectified, the Drawing shall be conducted using a substitute Drawing Device as soon as practicable after the Malfunction.
- (e) Drawings conducted outside the State of New South Wales shall be conducted and supervised in accordance with the requirements of the relevant regulatory body of the State or Territory in which the Drawings are conducted.
- (f) The Licensee may Conduct a Promotional Draw Lottery Game in such manner and at such times and places as the Chief Executive Officer determines, including (but not limited to), at the absolute discretion of the Chief Executive Officer, the Conduct of a Promotional Draw Lottery Game in conjunction with another Draw Lottery Game or separately from a Draw Lottery Game or otherwise in conjunction with another lottery Conducted by the Licensee.
- (g) A Promotional Draw Lottery Game shall, at commencement, have a Prize structure as determined by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (h) The Prize structure for a Promotional Draw Lottery Game shall comprise the number, nature and value of Prizes to be offered by the Licensee to Players during the period of each Promotional Draw Lottery Game.
- (i) During the period in which the Licensee accepts entries in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game, some of the Prizes in the approved Prize structure may already have been won when a Player enters the Promotional Draw Lottery Game, leaving the balance of Prizes still available to be won by Players at the time of their respective entries.
- (j) A ticket in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game may include one or more Prizes to be won on the same ticket.
- (k) A Promotional Draw Lottery Game may require the Player to have a winning Number on more than one ticket in order to win a prize.

### RULE 3 APPLICATION OF RULES

- (a) All instructions and conditions printed on an approved form of Entry and Ticket and these Rules shall apply to each Draw Lottery Game and shall be binding on all Players.
- (b) In the event of any inconsistency between these Rules and the instructions and conditions printed on an approved form of Entry, Ticket or promotional materials, these Rules shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.
- (c) These Rules shall apply to each Promotional Draw Lottery Game and shall be binding on all Players.
- (d) By entering a Draw Lottery Game or a Promotional Draw Lottery Game, Players agree to be bound by these Rules. To the extent that a situation or issue arises for which these Rules make no provision or in relation to which these Rules or their application are unclear, the Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to make a decision regarding such situation or issue acting in good faith and, subject to any regulator direction to the contrary, such decisions will be final and binding.
- (e) The Rules that are in force at the time of purchase of a Ticket in a Draw Lottery Game or a Promotional Draw Lottery Game are contractually binding on the Licensee and the Player.
- (f) A Retailer has no authority to bind the Licensee in contract or otherwise.
- (g) The Chief Executive Officer may appoint a delegate to perform a function under these Rules which function would otherwise be required to be performed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such appointment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Chief Executive Officer may determine.
- (h) Any reference to the Chief Executive Officer in these Rules shall include a reference to a duly authorised delegate of the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 3(g).
- (i) These Rules will be displayed and made available for inspection at each Outlet.

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

RULE 4	OBJECT
The object of the Winning Number	Draw Lottery Game is to purchase an Entry containing Numbers that are the same as the sand/or the Jackpot Number.

### RULE 5 ELIGIBILITY FOR INCLUSION IN A DRAW LOTTERY GAME

- (a) In order for an Entry to be eligible for inclusion in a Drawing, before the Close of Acceptance of Entries in such Drawing;
  - the Entry must have been recorded in the central processing computer equipment of the Licensee;
  - (ii) a Valid Ticket must have been issued by the Computer Linked Terminal;
  - (iii) the Entry details recorded on such Ticket issued under Rule 5(a)(ii) must match the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records; and
  - (iv) the Player must have paid the correct Selling Fee in relation to such Entry.
- (b) Any Ticket issued shall be subject to Rule 6 hereof.

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

### RULE 6 RULES APPLYING TO ENTRIES AND TICKETS

- (a) An approved form of Entry (including Automatic Entry) completed or made in accordance with these Rules shall be accepted by a Retailer and processed on a Computer Linked Terminal and evidenced by the issue of the Ticket to the Player on the payment of the Selling Fee.
- (b) Subject to Rule 6(e) below, acceptance of a Ticket by a Player shall constitute the Player's acknowledgment of the correctness of the details (including Entry details) thereon. The Ticket issued to a Player shall be the only form of acknowledgment issued by the Licensee or its Retailer to the Player evidencing the Player's Entry. It is the responsibility of the Player to check the accuracy of all details on the Ticket, that all details on the Ticket are legible, and that the Ticket does not appear to have been defectively printed, at the time the Ticket is received by a Player from the Retailer. The Player will be taken to have acknowledged that all particulars and details appearing on the Ticket are correct if, promptly after receiving the Ticket, they do not seek a replacement Ticket that addresses such matters. An approved form of Entry shall not have any validity or be of evidence for any purpose after the Ticket has been issued to the Player.
- (c) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players in the event that the details recorded on the Player's Ticket are not consistent with the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records, the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records shall be considered final and shall determine what Prize or Jackpot Prize, if any, the Player shall be entitled to and the Player shall be bound by any such determination.
- (d) Without limiting the provisions of Rule 12 the following apply
  - (i) A Player may return a Ticket and request that the Ticket and the Entry to which it relates be cancelled by a Retailer. The Retailer shall cancel the Ticket and the Entry to which it relates on that day provided it is returned on the day of purchase, to the place of purchase and prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Drawing, as determined by the Licensee.
  - (ii) A Retailer who has sold an Entry into a Draw Lottery Game may cancel the Ticket and the Entry to which it relates on the day of purchase of the Entry only.
  - (iii) Upon a Player request, a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates may be voided or cancelled by the Licensee (acting reasonably) prior to the Close of Acceptance and subject to the capability of the central processing computer equipment and/or a Computer Linked Terminal to void or cancel a Ticket and the Entry to which it relates.

Where an Entry and the Ticket to which it relates has been cancelled by the Licensee or the Retailer, the Player shall be refunded the Selling Fee paid in respect of such Entry. Rule 6(d) does not apply to a Ticket received by a Player as a Consolation Prize.

(e) In order to ensure a fair game experience for all Players the details held by the Licensee by way of Computer Records are regarded as final. As such, a Ticket which is recorded as void or cancelled in the Licensee's Computer Records shall be void regardless of whether such Ticket was cancelled in error, and no Prize shall be payable in respect of such Ticket unless such voiding or cancellation was the result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. When cancelling a Ticket it is the responsibility of the Player to ensure that the correct Ticket has been cancelled based on the cancellation receipt or other information provided to the Player, and to inform the Retailer or the Licensee if, based on that receipt or other information, there has been an error in relation to cancellation of the Ticket. Neither the Retailer nor the Licensee shall be liable to the Player in respect of an error in the cancellation of a Ticket if the Player has failed to inform the Retailer or the Licensee, of the error in the cancellation of a Ticket unless resulting from fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission.

Effective: 12 January 2024

- (f) Where an Entry in a Draw Lottery Game has been transferred to the central processing computer equipment via a Computer Linked Terminal and recorded on the computer records but:
  - no Selling Fee has been paid to the Retailer in whose place of business the Computer Linked Terminal is located prior to the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Drawing; and
  - (ii) the Retailer has failed to cancel the Entry before the Close of Acceptance of Entries in respect of that Drawing; then

the Retailer shall meet the cost of the Selling Fee in respect of the Entry and in such case, for the purposes of these Rules, such Retailer shall:

- (iii) be considered a Player; and
- (iv) be the holder of the Entry; and
- (v) owe the Licensee the amount of the unpaid Selling Fee as a debt due and owing to the Licensee.
- (g) It is the responsibility of the Player to check that the details shown on a Ticket are correct.
- (h) A Reseller has no authority to verify the accuracy or completion by a Player of any part of an approved form of Entry whether received by post, telephone, facsimile, modem (internet) or otherwise. Entry into a Draw Lottery Game by a Player with a Reseller does not exempt the Player from being bound by these Rules and a Player utilising a Reseller to submit an approved form of Entry shall accept all risks, losses, delays, errors or omissions which may occur in any manner in relation to such approved form of Entry, the issue of any Ticket and the payment of any Prize.
- (i) It shall be the responsibility of the Player to ensure the safe custody of a Ticket issued to the Player.
- (j) A Ticket shall at all times remain the property of the Licensee and a Player shall deliver up any Ticket to the Licensee upon demand.

Effective: 12 January 2024

### RULE 7 COMMISSION AND ANCILLARY FEE

- (a) The Licensee is Approved to charge the Player Commission in the amounts specified in Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 of these Rules. By entering a Draw Lottery Game the Player accepts liability to pay the Commission to the Licensee.
- (b) A Reseller may charge an Ancillary Fee as authorised by the Chief Executive Officer of the Licensee from time to time. Players will be notified of any such changes in accordance with the Reseller's terms and conditions.

Rules Issue No.: 4.6 Page 14
Effective: 12 January 2024

### RULE 8 SUBMISSION OF AN ENTRY

- (a) The Licensee may impose a reasonable registration fee payable by a Player for the provision by the Licensee of the player registration service. The registration fee will be advised to the Player prior to application. Application will be by way of an application form as approved by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (b) A person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not enter a Draw Lottery Game or a Promotional Draw Lottery Game.
- (c) An Entry or Automatic Entry may only be made through the Licensee or a Retailer.
- (d) The correct Selling Fee and player registration fee (if applicable) must be paid by a Player to a Retailer or to the Licensee in respect of an Entry.
- (e) The form of payment of the Selling Fee or player registration fee (if applicable) must be acceptable to the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).
- (f) A Player will remain anonymous with respect to having won a Prize unless the Player opts out of anonymity by:
  - (i) appropriately marking a Prize claim form;
  - (ii) advising the Licensee's representative upon being contacted by such person with notice of having won a Prize; or
  - (iii) completing the relevant section on the membership application form (for Players who become a Registered Player).
- (g) Any marks and other written notations appearing on an approved form of Entry are taken to be made or given exclusively by the Player.
- (h) No Player may submit an approved form of Entry as trustee, representative or nominee for another person or persons. Each transaction effected by a Player will be conducted solely with the Player.
- (i) Other than as provided for in Rules 6(d) and 6(e) no Ticket may be withdrawn or altered after issue to a Player without the consent of the Licensee (acting reasonably).
- (i) Form of entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game
  - (i) The Chief Executive Officer is to approve the form of entry for a Promotional Draw Lottery Game prior to the commencement of the Promotional Draw Lottery;
  - (ii) Without limiting Rule 8(j)(i), the form of entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game may be any of the following (or combination of the following):
    - (1) part of a Ticket;
    - (2) any other ticket or document;
    - (3) entries made by means of an electronic or mechanical device or by telecommunications system.
  - (iii) If any entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game is to consist of a ticket, part of a Ticket or document, such ticket, part of a Ticket or document issued to an entrant in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game:

Effective: 12 January 2024

e: 12 January 2024

- (1) constitutes the Player's official receipt;
- (2) is, following its acceptance, to constitute the Player's acknowledgment of the details on the entry, and acknowledgment that those details are correct; and
- is to be the only document issued by the Licensee, its Retailers to the entrant evidencing the processing of an entry in the Promotional Draw Lottery Game.
- (iv) The Selling Fee payable for an Entry is set out in Schedule 1 for Retailers (other than Resellers) and Schedule 2 for Resellers.

Effective: 12 January 2024

### RULE 9 PRIZES

- (a) The Prize Pool in a Draw Lottery Game shall be not less than fifty five percent (55%) and not greater than sixty four point six percent (64.6%) of Subscriptions.
- (b) The Prize Structure and Jackpot Prize in a particular Draw Lottery Game shall be funded in whole or in part from the Prize Pool and shall be determined by the Licensee.
- (c) Where the cost of a Prize Structure and Jackpot Prize in a particular Draw Lottery Game is less than the Prize Pool Contribution set out in Schedule 3, that amount representing the difference between that cost and the Prize Pool Contribution shall be retained in the Prize Reserve Fund.
- (d) Where the cost of a Prize Structure and Jackpot Prize in a particular Draw Lottery Game would otherwise exceed the Prize Pool Contribution set out in Schedule 3, the amount representing the difference between that cost and the Prize Pool Contribution shall be drawn from the Prize Reserve Fund.
- (e) A Prize is won by an Entry that contains a Winning Number;
- (f) A Consolation Prize is won by an Entry that contains:
  - (i) A Number in a Ticket Pool that occurs in sequence immediately before, or a Number in a Ticket Pool that occurs in sequence immediately after, a Winning Number, as the case may be, except that:
    - (1) If the Number "1" in a Ticket Pool is a Winning Number then the Number "2" will win two Consolation Prizes: and
    - (2) If the last Number of the Ticket Pool is a Winning Number then the second last Number of the Ticket Pool will win two Consolation Prizes.
  - (ii) The Jackpot Number where the Jackpot Number does not win the Jackpot Prize
- (g) The Jackpot Prize is won if the Jackpot Number in a Drawing is the same as a Winning Number in that Drawing;
- (h) In relation to the Jackpot Prize for the Super Jackpot:
  - (1) The Guaranteed Minimum Jackpot is set out in Schedule 3;
  - (2) If the Jackpot Prize is not won in a Drawing it will increase in value by the Jackpot Increment amount set out in Schedule 3, in each subsequent Drawing until won, after which it will revert to the Guaranteed Minimum Jackpot amount specified in Schedule 3;
- (i) In relation to the Jackpot Prize for the Mega Jackpot:
  - (1) The Guaranteed Minimum Jackpot is set out in Schedule 3;
  - (2) If the Jackpot Prize is not won in a Drawing it will increase in value by a Jackpot Increment amount set out in Schedule 3, in each subsequent Drawing until won, after which it will revert to the Guaranteed Minimum Jackpot amount specified in Schedule 3;
- (j) Schedule 3 contains the details of the Ticket Pool, Prize Structure and the Jackpot Prize for the Super Jackpot and the Mega Jackpot.
- (k) Second Drawing

The Licensee may, subject to the Approval of the Minister, and shall where the Minister so directs,

Effective: 12 January 2024

provide for the payment of an additional Prize or Prizes, in accordance with the Conditions of the Product Licence, by means of a Second Drawing in any Draw Lottery Game provided that:

- (i) the Second Drawing shall be conducted following the Drawing of a Draw Lottery Game;
- (ii) an Entry made in respect of the Draw Lottery Game shall be entered automatically into the Second Drawing and shall not require the payment of any further Subscription;
- (iii) the Prize or Prizes payable in relation to the Second Drawing shall be payable in respect of each Entry containing a Winning Number;
- (iv) the amount or amounts of such Prize or Prizes shall be determined by the Chief Executive Officer and shall be paid from the Prize Reserve Fund;
- (v) the Second Drawing shall not constitute a separate Draw Lottery Game.
- (I) A Draw Lottery Game may include:
  - (i) an additional Prize or Prizes; and/or
  - (ii) Prizes paid on special occasions; and/or
  - (iii) Prizes paid pursuant to Rule 9(k);

Any such Prize or Prizes may be paid in monetary terms or in kind and shall be paid from the Prize Reserve Fund.

- (m) Prizes in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game
  - (i) The Prizes payable in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game may consist of one or more of the following:
    - (1) money;
    - (2) holidays;
    - (3) travel;
    - (4) accommodation;
    - (5) services or goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee, whether or not for valuable consideration;
    - (6) Entries in a Draw Lottery Game or another lottery Conducted by the Licensee; and
    - (7) such other Prizes as may (subject to this clause) be determined by the Chief Executive Officer;
  - (ii) A Prize in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game must not consist of or include tobacco;
  - (iii) A Prize in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game must not consist of or include liquor within the meaning of the Liquor Act 1982;
- (n) Determination of Prizes in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game
  - The Chief Executive Officer is to determine the number, nature and value of Prizes in each Promotional Draw Lottery Game;
  - (ii) The Licensee is to publicly advertise the number, nature and value of, and the conditions relating to payment of, Prizes in each Promotional Draw Lottery Game Conducted by it;

Effective: 18 May 2025

- (iii) The Chief Executive Officer may (acting reasonably) change or alter the nature of any Prize offered in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game, including (but not limited to) the following:
  - (1) the replacement of any holiday destination offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another holiday destination;
  - (2) the replacement of any mode of travel offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another mode of travel;
  - (3) the replacement of any form of accommodation offered as a Prize or part of a Prize with another form of accommodation;
  - (4) the resupply of services or the replacement of goods provided by the Licensee or by persons or bodies other than the Licensee; and
  - (5) the conversion of any Prize (or part of a Prize) provided by the Licensee or by another person or body into a monetary equivalent.
- (iv) The Prizes in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game are payable in such manner as is approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of that Promotional Draw Lottery Game

Issue No.: 4.8 Page 19 Effective: 18 May 2025

### RULE 10 ANNOUNCEMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) Following each Drawing of a Draw Lottery Game the Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) each Winning Number;
  - (ii) the Jackpot Number; and
  - (iii) the value of the Provisional Prizes and the Prizes.
- (b) Following each Drawing of a Draw Lottery Game the Licensee may make available to the media as soon as possible after, and in respect of, that Drawing:
  - (i) the names and addresses of Provisional Prize Winners only where anonymity does not apply in accordance with Rule 8(f) or where Provisional Prize Winners are not Registered Players;
  - (ii) information on the manner of payment of Prizes; and
  - (iii) the manner in which claims under Rules 11(a), 11(b), 11(h) and 11(i) must be made.
- (c) The Licensee may make available to the media the results of each Promotional Draw Lottery Game as soon as possible after the completion of such Promotional Draw Lottery Game.
- (d) The Licensee shall make available to the media (and elsewhere at the Chief Executive Officer's discretion) the results of each Second Drawing as soon as possible after the completion of that Second Drawing.

Effective: 18 May 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

### RULE 11 PROCEDURES FOR CLAIMING AND PAYMENT OF PRIZES

- (a) In relation to a Draw Lottery Game:
  - Other than as provided for Registered Players, any Provisional Prize must be claimed by lodgement with the Licensee of a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 11(j) and any other evidence that the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably);
  - (ii) The date of lodgement of a Prize claim in accordance with Rule 11(a)(i) is the day of receipt by the Licensee.
- (b) A Registered Player winning a first prize and/or a Jackpot Prize will be notified personally or by mail within five (5) calendar days after the Drawing Date. In respect of any Provisional Prize won by a Registered Player the Chief Executive Officer may require that Registered Player to lodge with the Licensee a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 11(i) hereof.
- (c) Where a Registered Player has been requested to claim a Provisional Prize the Prize may be paid in accordance with the procedure and conditions set out in Rule 11(d) hereof.
- (d) A Provisional Prize shall not be payable as a Prize until after the expiry of the Provisional Period and shall be payable by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account.
- (e) For Registered Players:
  - a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00, shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid upon surrender of a winning Ticket, by the Registered Player to a Retailer unless the Ticket is also entitled to a Provisional Prize and/or a Consolation Prize in which case it will be paid in accordance with Rules 14(b)-(d):
  - (ii) a Prize not claimed or paid in accordance with Rule 14(e)(i) may be paid by the Licensee (at its election) either by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or nominated Australian bank account.

Prizes paid in accordance with this Rule 14(e) will be paid not earlier than the day immediately after the relevant Drawing Date, and not later than a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably).

- (f) For a Player who is not a Registered Player, any Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 shown on a Computer Linked Terminal will be paid to a Player, upon surrender of a winning Ticket, except if it is linked to a winning Entry that is entitled to a Provisional Prize and/or a Consolation Prize in which case the prize(s) will be paid at the same time to the Player in accordance with these Rules, by a Retailer with a Computer Linked Terminal within a period of time determined by the Chief Executive Officer, after the drawing date (acting reasonably).
- (g) A Prize not paid by a Retailer in accordance with Rule 11(e) will be paid by the Licensee by remittance of the funds by electronic funds transfer into the Prize Winner's online account or a players' nominated Australian bank account upon the submission to the Licensee of a Prize claim form, the Prize winning Ticket and such other evidence as the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time require (acting reasonably).

Effective: 18 May 2025

- (h) A nominal and reasonable postage, handling or processing fee may be deducted from all Prize payments other than in respect of non-monetary Prizes.
- (i) A:
  - (i) Registered Player who claims to be entitled to a first prize and/or a Jackpot Prize pursuant to Rule 11(b) and who has not been notified within five (5) days in accordance with Rule 11(b) and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal;
    or
  - (ii) Player who claims to be entitled to a Provisional Prize and whose Ticket is not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal;

must claim promptly by completing a Prize claim form and delivering it to the Licensee at the address printed on the Prize claim form and such Prize claim form must contain or be accompanied by the like particulars set out in Rule 11(j) and be received not later than ten (10) consecutive calendar days after the Drawing Date, starting on the Drawing Date.

A claim not received in accordance with this Rule 11(i) will be rejected and the Licensee shall have no liability in relation thereto unless the Ticket was wrongly not shown as a winning Ticket on a Computer Linked Terminal as a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

- (j) A:
  - (i) Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (ii) Registered Player who claims to be entitled to a Prize not exceeding \$1,000.00 and whose Ticket is not shown as a winner on a Computer Linked Terminal and/or where the Prize has not been paid in accordance with Rule 11(e);

must lodge a Prize claim form containing or accompanied by the particulars set out in Rule 11(j).

- (k) The particulars required for a Prize claim are:
  - (i) the name and address of the Player;
  - (ii) the Ticket Number;
  - (iii) the Winning Number(s) shown on the Ticket;
  - (iv) the Player's registration number if a Registered Player;
  - the Ticket, which must be legible and be consistent with the details held by the Licensee's Computer Records and must not be mutilated, altered, reconstituted, counterfeit or stolen; and
  - (vi) such further evidence or information as the Licensee reasonably requires.
- (I) Notwithstanding the provisions of this Rule 11, the Licensee may elect or agree to pay a prize by cheque once the accumulated and consolidated value of Prizes payable reaches a threshold amount determined by the Chief Executive Officer (acting reasonably);
- (m) The Chief Executive Officer may, in the Chief Executive Officer's absolute discretion, require a person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize to furnish such additional or alternative evidence as the Chief Executive Officer deems necessary to prove that the person is the Player entitled to that Prize or Provisional Prize. Such entitlement may be proved to the satisfaction of the Chief Executive Officer, notwithstanding the fact that the person claiming to be entitled to a Prize or a Provisional Prize may fail to meet one or more of the elements (1), (2) or (3) contained in the definition of Player or may fail to meet some or all the provisions contained in

Effective: 18 May 2025

	these Rules governing Prize entitlement.
(n)	All cheques will be crossed and marked "Not Negotiable" and will be drawn in favour of the Player in accordance with these Rules.

Draw Lottery Rules Issue No.: 4.8
Effective: 18 May 2025

- (o) The payment of a Prize to any Player who is known to have died before receiving any or all of a particular Prize shall be made in accordance with the laws of New South Wales.
- (p) Subject to Section 27 of the Act, all unclaimed or uncollected Prizes shall be retained in the Prize Fund for payment to the Players entitled thereto.
- (q) Where payment by the Licensee of a Prize is made by cheque, such cheque will be forwarded by such of the following methods as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably):
  - (i) by hand upon any conditions that the Chief Executive Officer may determine;
  - (ii) by post whether certified, registered, or ordinary post; or
  - (iii) as otherwise directed in writing by the Player.
- (r) Where payment of a Prize is made by cheque and mailed, it shall be posted to the name and address shown on the Prize claim form or, in the case of a Registered Player, to the name and address appearing on the Licensee's records relating to that Player. A nominal and reasonable sum may be deducted to cover postage and processing.
- (s) Thereafter the Licensee shall not be held liable for any loss, delay in the delivery thereof or any negotiation of such cheque other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee. A certificate under the hand of the Chief Executive Officer verifying the date of posting shall be conclusive evidence of same. Any Prize sent by the Licensee to a Player and any refund of Selling Fees sent by post will be sent to the name and address advised in writing by the Player. Where more than one name is advised, payment to any one person so named at any address so given shall discharge the Licensee from all liability other than that which is a result of fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.
- (t) The payment of all Prizes pursuant to this Rule 11 will discharge the Licensee from liability notwithstanding the existence of any trust, whether express, constructive or implied. Where the Licensee has paid a Player pursuant to this Rule 11 and the Chief Executive Officer is, after such payment has been made, of the view (acting reasonably) that:
  - (i) the Player was not the Player to whom such payment should have been made; or
  - (ii) a Prize is not payable to the Player;

the Player shall upon being requested to do so by the Licensee in writing, refund to the Licensee the monies forwarded to him or her unless the payment of the Prize to the Player was a result of the fraud, wilful misconduct or a negligent act or omission by the Licensee.

(u) A Prize may be claimed through a Retailer or by mail directed to:

the postal address publicly notified from time to time on promotional material published by the Licensee or on the Website. A Prize claim form for a Prize must be forwarded by the Player to the Licensee direct.

- (v) Any Prize to be paid in accordance with Rule 9(k) or Rule 9(m) shall be forwarded to the winner thereof in such manner as the Chief Executive Officer may direct (acting reasonably).
- (w) No Prize shall be payable in respect of a Ticket which fails any confidential security test of the Licensee.
- (x) The Licensee shall be entitled, in its absolute discretion, to recognise the person who holds, bears and submits a Ticket as the Prize winner.
- (y) The Licensee accepts no responsibility or liability for lost or stolen Tickets.

Effective: 18 May 2025

- (z) Payment of Prizes in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game
  - (i) A Prize is not payable in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game unless:
    - (1) the entry submitted in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game is in the form determined by the Chief Executive Officer under Rule 8(j)(i); and
    - (2) if the form of entry requires the Player to have purchased a Ticket in a Draw Lottery Game, the Ticket in the Draw Lottery Game must satisfy any test used by the Chief Executive Officer to determine whether the Ticket in the Draw Lottery Game is Valid; and
    - (3) the claimant has complied with all conditions relating to the Promotional Draw Lottery Game advertised under Rule 9(n)(ii).
  - (ii) The Licensee may record on an entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game a verification code or other test and use it to determine whether the entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game is Valid and whether it has won a Prize. A Prize is not payable in respect of an entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game, on which such a test is recorded, if the entry does not satisfy the test.

Effective: 18 May 2025

### RULE 12 DISQUALIFICATIONS

- (a) Notwithstanding that a Ticket may have issued, Entry in a Draw Lottery Game or entry in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game may be disqualified and no claim shall be entered in respect of it if the Chief Executive Officer is of the opinion that it should be so disqualified in any of the circumstances described in Rule 12(b), or in other circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer reasonably considers are of a similar nature or similarly justify the disqualification of the Entry.
- (b) The reasons for disqualification include:
  - tender of insufficient Selling Fee or a dishonoured cheque or unacceptable form of remittance;
  - (ii) the Player or Syndicate Player had defaulted in payment of any previous Selling Fee or Syndicate Share Fee;
  - (iii) reasonable suspicion of fraud or attempted fraud (whether computer related or otherwise);
  - (iv) Ticket fails any security tests of the Licensee;
  - (v) reasonable suspicion of unauthorised use of a Computer Linked Terminal; or
  - (vi) a Malfunction occurring in respect of the Computer Linked Terminal or the Licensee's central processing computer equipment.
- (c) The Licensee shall use its best endeavours to notify a Player, whose name and address is known to the Licensee, that an Entry has been disqualified and the reason therefore and the Licensee may in respect thereof refund to the Player any Selling Fee paid or provide the Player with an equivalent Entry in a future Draw Lottery Game. Where the Licensee does not know of the name and address of a Player the Licensee shall publicise, in a reasonable manner, the disqualification of such Entry.

Effective: 18 May 2025

[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

### RULE 13 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) Nothing in these Rules (including in the following provisions of this Rule 13, which must be read subject to this Rule 13(a)):
  - excludes, restricts, or modifies any guarantee, term, condition, warranty or any right or remedy, implied or imposed by any law or legislation which cannot lawfully be excluded or limited, including the Australian Consumer Law which contains guarantees that protect the purchasers of goods and services in certain circumstances; or
  - (ii) limits the liability of the Licensee or any Retailer for fraud or wilful misconduct.
- (b) The total amount recoverable by the Player in respect of any liability owed to a Player in accordance with these Rules is limited as follows:
  - (i) if the liability relates to an Entry, to the greater of:
    - (1) the total amount paid by the Player in respect of that Entry; and
    - (2) if the Player would have won a Prize in respect of that Entry but for the events giving rise to the liability, the amount of such Prize; and
  - (ii) in all other cases, \$10,000.
- (c) By entering a Draw Lottery Game a Player acknowledges that they have entered into an agreement with the Licensee and, where an Entry is purchased from a Retailer, the Retailer and agrees to be bound by the provisions of these Rules which subsist for the benefit of the Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Retailer and all Employees thereof.
- (d) The Licensee will have no responsibility or liability to a Player in respect of an Entry until a Ticket is issued to that Player in accordance with these Rules.
- (e) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability or responsibility to a Player or any person for or in respect of any failure, disruption or malfunction of Computer Linked Terminals, electrical power, telecommunications links or computers resulting in loss or corruption of information retained on any Computer Records held by the Licensee except to the extent the loss or corruption was caused by the fraud or wilful misconduct of such a person.
- (f) The Licensee, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, each and every Retailer, and each and every Employee or agent of the Licensee or a Retailer, shall have no liability or responsibility for any consequence of interference with or interruption to any Draw Lottery or Promotional Draw Lottery Game due to fire, storm, flood, riot, civil commotion, strike, failure or disruption of electrical power supply or telecommunications or other cause not within the reasonable control of such person.
- (g) In the acceptance and processing of any approved form of Entry or Automatic Entry culminating in the issue of a Ticket or ticket in a Promotional Draw Lottery Game, a Retailer shall for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (h) In the cancellation of a Ticket, the processing of a Prize claim form, the submission of a Prize claim form to the Licensee and the payment of a Prize, a Retailer shall at all times and for all purposes be the agent of a Player and not the agent of the Licensee or the Chief Executive Officer.
- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 13(d), in the acceptance of Commission by a Retailer on behalf of the Licensee, the Retailer shall for this purpose be the agent of the Licensee and not the agent of the Player.
- (j) The State of New South Wales, the Crown in right of that State, the Government of that State, the Minister, their successors and the employees and agents of each and every one of them shall have

Effective: 18 May 2025



[NSWGG-2025-212-8] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

### RULE 14 EFFECTIVE DATE

- (a) The Draw Lottery Rules made pursuant to the Act and in force immediately prior to the date upon which these Rules take effect are rescinded except as provided in Schedule 3 for Entries submitted on or before 17 March 2015.
- (b) Entries made pursuant to Rules previously in force under any earlier Product Licence and which relate to a Drawing or Drawings to be conducted on or after the date these Rules take effect, shall be taken to be submitted as Entries in such Drawing or Drawings pursuant to those previous Rules.

Effective: 18 May 2025

# The Licensee may enter into agreements or arrangements, subject to the provisions of the Act, with other persons or bodies for the purpose of promoting any Promotional Draw Lottery Game.

AGREEMENTS RELATING TO A PROMOTIONAL DRAW LOTTERY GAME

RULE 15

Effective: 18 May 2025

### **SCHEDULE 1**

# SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR DRAW LOTTERY GAMES THAT APPLY TO RETAILERS (OTHER THAN RESELLERS)

Super Jackpot			
Entry Type	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
1 Number in the Ticket Pool	\$2.30	\$2.00	\$0.30

Mega Jackpot			
Entry Type	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
1 Number in the Ticket Pool	\$5.70	\$5.00	\$0.70

Effective: 18 May 2025

### **SCHEDULE 2**

# SELLING FEES PAYABLE FOR DRAW LOTTERY GAMES THAT APPLY TO RESELLERS

Super Jackpot			
Entry Type	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
1 Number in the Ticket Pool	\$2.20	\$2.00	\$0.20

Mega Jackpot			
Entry Type	Selling Fee	Subscription	Commission
1 Number in the Ticket Pool	\$5.50	\$5.00	\$0.50

Issue No.: 4.8 Effective: 18 May 2025

### Super Jackpot

Prize Level	Prize	Number of Prizes
1st Prize	\$100,000	1
2nd Prize	\$10,000	1
3rd Prize	\$5,000	1
4th Prize	\$500	2
5th Prize	\$200	10
6th Prize	\$100	20
7th Prize	\$50	100
8th Prize	\$25	600
9th Prize	\$15	750
10th Prize	\$10	2,480

Consolation Prize Levels	Prize	Number of Prizes
1st Prize	\$1,000	2
2nd Prize	25 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	2
3rd Prize	15 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	2
4th Prize	10 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	4
5th Prize	5 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	20
6th Prize	3 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	40
7th Prize	2 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	200
8th Prize	1 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	1,200
9th Prize	1 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	1,500
10th Prize	1 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	4,960
Jackpot Prize	10 x "\$2 Free Ticket"	1
Jackpot Prize		
Guaranteed Minimum Jackpot	\$500,000	
Jackpot Increment	\$120,000 - \$137,000	)

<sup>&</sup>quot;\$2 Free Ticket" means a Number in a future Ticket Pool for the Super Jackpot.

Prize Pool Contribution

Effective: 18 May 2025

30 May 2025

61.52%

### Mega Jackpot

Ticket Pool =	200,000 sequential numbers from 1 to 200,000	
---------------	--	--

Prize Levels	Prize	Number of Prizes
1st Prize	\$200,000	1
2nd Prize	\$20,000	1
3rd Prize	\$5,000	1
4th Prize	\$1,000	5
5th Prize	\$500	10
6th Prize	\$100	25
7th Prize	\$75	75
8th Prize	\$40	600
9th Prize	\$20	700
10th Prize	\$12	2,800

Consolation Prize Levels	Prize	Number of Prizes
1st Prize	\$1,000	2
2nd Prize	25 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	2
3rd Prize	15 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	2
4th Prize	10 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	10
5th Prize	5 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	20
6th Prize	3 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	50
7th Prize	2 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	150
8th Prize	1 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	1,200
9th Prize	1 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	1,400
10th Prize	1 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	5,600
Jackpot Prize	10 x "\$5 Free Ticket"	1
Jackpot Prize		

Jackpot Prize		
Guaranteed Minimum Jackpot	\$1,000,000	
Jackpot Increment	\$215,000 - \$255,000	
Prize Pool Contribution	62.25%	

<sup>&</sup>quot;\$5 Free Ticket" means a Number in a future Ticket Pool for the Mega Jackpot.

Issue No.: 4.8 Effective: 18 May 2025

### **Real Property Act 1900**

### **Lodgment Rules Version 2.1**

Notice is hereby given under section 12F of the Real Property Act 1900 that on 1 July 2025 Version 2.1 of the Lodgment Rules will commence and will replace Version 2 of the Lodgment Rules.

Dated: 28 May 2025

Danusia Cameron Registrar General Office of the Registrar General

### **Explanatory note**

The object of this notice is to provide at least 20 business days' notice of the commencement of Version 2.1 of the Lodgment Rules, in accordance with section 12F(3) of the Real Property Act 1900.

Office of the Registrar General

# Lodgment Rules

Section 12F Real Property Act 1900 Version 2.1

1 July 2025



### Real Property Act 1900 - Section 12F

These Lodgment Rules will come into effect on 1 July 2025. They have been made under section 12F of the Real Property Act 1900 on behalf of the Registrar General by New South Wales Land Registry Services (NSW LRS), under delegation, pursuant to the Land and Property Information NSW (Authorised Transaction) Act 2016 and published in the Gazette on 30 May 2025.

### Copyright and disclaimer

© State of New South Wales through the Office of the Registrar General 2025. Information contained in this publication is based on knowledge and understanding at the time of writing and is subject to change. For more information, please visit registrargeneral.nsw.gov.au/copyright.

This copyright work is licensed under a Creative Commons Australia Attribution 4.0 licence, http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nd/4.0/



# Contents

1	Preliminary		1	
2	Commencement		2	
3	Defi	nitions and Interpretation	3	
	3.1	Definitions	3	
	3.2	Interpretation	4	
4	The	The General Register of Deeds		
	4.1	Registration of instruments generally	5	
	4.2	Registration of writs, court orders or legal proceedings	5	
	4.3	Registration of notices of resumption	6	
	4.4	Production of instruments and other documents for registration	6	
	4.5	Instruments to comply with Schedule 1 requirements	6	
	4.6	Plans and diagrams to comply with Schedule 1 requirements	6	
	4.7	Vacation of registration	7	
5	Lod	gment requirements for Miscellaneous Dealing form	8	
6	Req	uirements for plans annexed to dealings or caveats lodged in the Torrens Register	9	
7	Requirements for deposited plans lodged under the Conveyancing Act 1919			
	7.1	Lodgment of plans and other documents	10	
	7.2	Content of administration sheet	11	
	7.3	Administration sheet to comply with Schedule 8	12	
	7.4	Form and content of section 88B instruments	12	
	7.5	Section 88B instrument to comply with Schedule 9	13	
8	Requirements for strata plans			
	8.1	Lodgment of strata plans and other documents	14	
	8.2	Location plans and floor plans	15	
	8.3	Administration sheet	15	
	8.4	Proposed affecting interests	15	
9	Searches			
	9.1	Official searches under Part 11A of the Real Property Act 1900	16	
	9.2	Official searches under section 197 of the Conveyancing Act 1919	16	
	9.3	Public searches for the purposes of section 199 of the Conveyancing Act 1919	16	
10	Lod	gment requirements for the Dealing with Exception form		
11		uirements for making alterations to dealings, caveats and instruments lodged in tronic form in the Torrens Register	19	
Sch	edule	1 Requirements for instruments registered in the General Register of Deeds	20	
Sch	edule	2 Requirements for dealings, caveats and instruments lodged in paper form in	the 23	

Schedule 3 caveats	Requirements for plans annexed to dealings (other than leases of premises) 26	or
Schedule 4	Requirements for plans annexed to leases of premises	29
Schedule 5	Requirements for lodging deposited plans	32
Schedule 6	(repealed)	35
Schedule 7	(repealed)	36
Schedule 8	Requirements for administration sheet lodged with deposited plans	37
Schedule 9	Requirements for section 88B instruments	39
Schedule 10	Requirements for lodging strata plans	41
Schedule 11	Location plans	44
Schedule 12	Floor plans	46
Schedule 13	Requirements for administration sheet lodged with strata plans	48
Schedule 14	(repealed)	50
Schedule 15	Lodgment requirements for Miscellaneous Dealing form	51
Schedule 16	Lodgment requirements for Dealing with Exception form	52
Schedule 17 lodged in	Requirements for making alterations to dealings, caveats and instruments electronic form in the Torrens Register	53

# Preliminary

These Lodgment Rules are made by NSW LRS on behalf of the Registrar General (under delegation), under section 12F (see below) of the Real Property Act 1900 and may be referred to as the Lodgment Rules.

### "12F Lodgment rules

- (1) The Registrar-General may make rules (lodgment rules), not inconsistent with a relevant Act or the regulations under a relevant Act, for or with respect to any of the following —
  - (a) the lodgment of documents under or for the purposes of a relevant Act, including requirements as to the preparation, form and content of documents and the procedures to be followed in connection with the lodgment of documents,
  - (b) the procedure for the making of any application in connection with the provision of titling and registry services,
  - (c) business operating hours for the purposes of the provision of titling and registry services.
  - (d) any other matter that is required or permitted to be the subject of lodgment rules by a provision of a relevant Act or the regulations under a relevant Act.

Note — Requirements of the lodgment rules are requirements made under this Act. Section 39 of this Act provides for the rejection of documents that do not comply with such a requirement. Section 195B of the Conveyancing Act 1919 makes similar provision.

- (2) The lodgment rules cannot make provision for or with respect to matters for or with respect to which conveyancing rules may be determined.
- (3) A lodgment rule must be published in the Gazette and commences on the day or days specified in the lodgment rule. Commencement is to be no earlier than 20 business days after the day on which the lodgment rule is published in the Gazette unless the Minister approves of an earlier commencement in a particular case (but no earlier than the date of publication of the lodgment rule in the Gazette).
- (4) A lodgment rule may also be published on a website maintained by the Registrar-General or in such other manner as the Registrar-General considers appropriate.
- (5) The power to make lodgment rules includes the power to amend or repeal the rules.
- (6) In this section —

document includes dealing, plan, application, caveat and memorandum.

relevant Act means this Act or any other Act under which titling and registry functions are exercised."

# 2 Commencement

These Lodgment Rules come into force on 1 July 2025.

# 3 Definitions and Interpretation

**Note:** The Conveyancing Act 1919, Real Property Act 1900, Strata Schemes Development Act 2015 and the Interpretation Act 1987 (and any regulations made under those Acts) contain definitions and other provisions that affect the interpretation and application of these Lodgment Rules.

### 3.1 Definitions

### 3.1.1 In these Lodgment Rules:

administration sheet in relation to a plan (other than a strata plan), means the separate document, in the approved form, required to be lodged with the plan under section 195A of the CA. In relation to a strata plan means an administration sheet within the meaning of the SSDA.

**affecting interest** means an easement, a profit à prendre, a restriction on the use of land or a positive covenant.

approved means approved for the time being by the Registrar General.

**approved form** means a form approved by the Registrar General for the purposes of the CA, RPA or SSDA or any other Act in relation to which the expression is used.

CA means the Conveyancing Act 1919.

**Dealing with Exception form** means the approved form to be used to attach certain dealings and caveats and to be lodged electronically, pursuant to Rule 10 of these Lodgment Rules.

deeds index particulars form means an approved form setting out the particulars of or relating to an instrument that is signed and lodged for registration under section 184D(1) of the CA.

**deposited plan** means a plan (other than a strata plan) lodged for registration or recording with the Registrar General under the CA.

**ECNL** means the Electronic Conveyancing National Law.

Electronic Lodgment Network has the same meaning as in the ECNL.

**General Register of Deeds** means the General Register of Deeds maintained under section 184C of the CA.

**Lodgment Rules exception form** means a form approved by NSW LRS which lists the reasons for using the Miscellaneous Dealing form or the Dealing with Exception form. Available here: <a href="https://www.nswlrs.com.au">www.nswlrs.com.au</a>.

*Miscellaneous Dealing form* means the approved form to be used to attach certain dealings, caveats or other instruments and to be lodged electronically, pursuant to Rule 5 of these Lodgment Rules.

**NSWLRS** means New South Wales Land Registry Services, the operator of the land titling and registry functions under the Land and Property Information NSW (Authorised Transaction) Act 2016.

**NSW LRS Connect** means the electronic plan lodgment system, established under section 195AA of the CA, provided by NSW LRS to enable lodgment of plans and other documents electronically for registration, recording or other purposes under the CA or a related Act.

NSW LRS Deposited Plan Lodgment Checklist means the checklist approved by NSW LRS to accompany a plan lodged for registration as a deposited plan, as amended from time to time.

NSW LRS Strata Plan Lodgment Checklist means the checklist approved by NSW LRS to accompany a strata plan lodged for registration, as amended from time to time.

plan of survey means a formal land survey plan within the meaning of the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002.

RPA means the Real Property Act 1900.

section 88B instrument means an instrument of a kind that:

- i. under clause 18 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018, is required to accompany a deposited plan or strata plan (other than a building alteration plan) that creates an affecting interest under section 88B of the CA; or
- ii. under clause 19 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018, is required to accompany a deposited plan or strata plan (other than a building alteration plan) that releases an easement or profit à prendre under section 88B of the CA.

SSDA means the Strata Schemes Development Act 2015.

strata plan includes, unless these Lodgment Rules provide otherwise, a strata plan, a strata plan of subdivision, a strata plan of consolidation or a building alteration plan within the meaning of the SSDA.

Torrens Register means the Register required to be maintained by section 31B(1) of the RPA.

### 3.2 Interpretation

In these Lodgment Rules, unless a contrary intention is evident:

- 3.2.1 A reference to these Lodgment Rules is a reference to these Lodgment Rules as amended, varied or substituted from time to time.
- 3.2.2 A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation includes:
  - a) all legislation, regulations, proclamations, ordinances, by-laws and instruments issued under that legislation or provision; and
  - b) any modification, consolidation, amendment, re-enactment or substitution of that legislation or provision.
- 3.2.3 Where a word or phrase is given a defined meaning, any other part of speech or grammatical form in respect of that word or phrase has a corresponding meaning.
- 3.2.4 A reference to a Rule or Schedule is a reference to a Rule of, or a Schedule to, these Lodgment Rules.
- 3.2.5 A reference to a Rule includes a reference to all of its sub-requirements.
- 3.2.6 Where general words are associated with specific words which define a class, the general words are not limited by reference to that class.
- 3.2.7 Notes included in these Lodgment Rules do not form part of the Rules.
- 3.2.8 The word "or" is not exclusive.

## 4 The General Register of Deeds

**Note**: See also provisions of the *Conveyancing Act 1919* and the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018.

## 4.1 Registration of instruments generally

- 4.1.1 An instrument that is lodged for registration in the General Register of Deeds must be accompanied by:
  - (a) a registration copy of the instrument or a request that a registration copy of the instrument be prepared by the Registrar General;
  - (b) a completed deeds index particulars form that includes the certificate referred to in section 184D(3) of the CA;
  - (c) the prescribed fee as determined by Schedule 1 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018;
  - (d) a completed statement of the title particulars in the approved form, if required by the Registrar General; and
  - (e) a completed notice of sale in the approved form, if required by the Registrar General.
- 4.1.2 Rule 4.1 does not apply to:
  - (a) the registration, under section 186 of the CA, of writs, court orders or current legal proceedings:
  - (b) the registration, under section 196A of the CA, of notices of resumption; or
  - (c) the registration of notifications of compulsory acquisition under a Commonwealth Act.

### 4.2 Registration of writs, court orders or legal proceedings

- 4.2.1 An application for registration of a writ, court order or current legal proceedings in the General Register of Deeds under section 186 of the CA must be in the approved form and must be accompanied by:
  - (a) the original or a copy of the writ, court order or legal proceedings;
  - (b) a completed deeds index particulars form that includes the certificate referred to in section 184D(3) of the CA; and
  - (c) the prescribed fee as determined by Schedule 1 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018.
- 4.2.2 The application may also be accompanied by a registration copy of the writ, court order or legal proceedings.

1 July 2025 5

## 4.3 Registration of notices of resumption

- 4.3.1 A notice of resumption that is lodged for registration in the General Register of Deeds under section 196A(3)(a) of the CA must be accompanied by:
  - (a) a completed deeds index particulars form that includes the certificate referred to in section 184D (3) of the CA;
  - (b) the prescribed fee as determined by Schedule 1 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018, and
  - (c) a completed notice of sale in the approved form, if required by the Registrar General.

# 4.4 Production of instruments and other documents for registration

- 4.4.1 An instrument that is lodged for registration in the General Register of Deeds (including any accompanying application and any registration copy of the instrument or application):
  - (a) must have endorsed on it the name and address of the person by whom or on whose behalf it is lodged; and
  - (b) must be produced to the Registrar General in such manner as may be approved.
- 4.4.2 Documents that are lodged for registration must not be bound together except by means of a pin, staple or split pin or other similar means acceptable to the Registrar General.

## 4.5 Instruments to comply with Schedule 1 requirements

4.5.1 An instrument lodged for registration in the General Register of Deeds (including any accompanying application and any registration copy of the instrument or application) must comply with the requirements set out in Schedule 1.

# 4.6 Plans and diagrams to comply with Schedule 1 requirements

- 4.6.1 The registration copy of a plan or diagram annexed to an instrument or, if no registration copy is lodged, the plan or diagram from which a registration copy is to be prepared by the Registrar General must:
  - (a) comply with the requirements set out in Schedule 1;
  - (b) have all line work, dimensions, hatchings and notations in dense black ink;
  - (c) not have on it any coloured ink; and

1 July 2025 6

(d) must have margins of not less than 10 mm on the top, bottom and sides.

## 4.7 Vacation of registration

- 4.7.1 For the purposes of section 190A(3) of the CA, an application for vacation of a registration under Division 2 of Part 23 of the CA must:
  - (a) be made in the approved form;
  - (b) be accompanied by the prescribed fee as determined by Schedule 1 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018.

[NSWGG-2025-212-9] NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

## Lodgment requirements for Miscellaneous Dealing form

Note: See also provisions of the Real Property Act 1900 and the Real Property Regulation 2019.

- 5.1 The Miscellaneous Dealing form can be used to electronically lodge:
  - (a) dealings or caveats; or
  - (b) instruments.
- 5.2 A Miscellaneous Dealing form lodged pursuant to Rule 5.1(a) must:
  - (a) satisfy an exception published on the Registrar General's website from time to time; and
  - (b) be accompanied by a properly completed Lodgment Rules exception form, unless otherwise approved by NSW LRS.
- 5.3 NSW LRS may approve a Miscellaneous Dealing form, or any accompanying documents, to be lodged otherwise than in accordance with Rule 5.1.
- 5.4 Schedule 15 sets out the requirements for the lodgment of the Miscellaneous Dealing form.

Note: The Registrar General will provide a 20-business day notice period before any amendment to the exceptions are published on its website.

1 July 2025 8 NSW Government Gazette

# 6 Requirements for plans annexed to dealings or caveats lodged in the Torrens Register

**Note**: See also provisions of the *Real Property Act 1900* and the *Real Property Regulation 2019*. This rule applies to any dealing or caveat lodged affecting the Torrens Register.

- 6.1 A plan that is annexed to a dealing (other than a lease of premises) or caveat must comply with the requirements of Schedule 3.
- 6.2 A plan that is annexed to a lease of premises must comply with the requirements of Schedule 4.

## Requirements for deposited plans lodged under the Conveyancing Act 1919

Note: See also provisions of the Conveyancing Act 1919 and the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018.

#### 7.1 Lodgment of plans and other documents

7.1.1 A plan lodged for registration or recording as a deposited plan must be lodged using NSW LRS Connect.

**Note**: From 1 July 2025, plans may no longer be lodged by hand.

#### 7.1.2 A plan:

- (a) must be lodged in the approved form as an image format that complies with Schedule 5;
- (b) may be accompanied by a digital file in an approved digital file format.

Note: "Land XML" is the current approved digital file format.

- 7.1.3 Any document that is required to be lodged with the plan must be lodged as an image format using NSW LRS Connect and must comply with the following requirements:
  - (a) a document comprising more than one sheet must be created as a multipage file; and
  - (b) the document must be legible and of a standard that will enable it to be clearly reproduced by the image capture processes employed by NSW LRS.

Note: Unless excepted by regulations made under any Act, section 6A(3) of the CA provides that all documents that are required to be lodged with the plan must also be lodged electronically.

#### A plan must be lodged with: 7.1.4

- (a) a completed NSW LRS Deposited Plan Lodgment Checklist in the approved form, if required by the Registrar General;
- (b) a completed statement of title particulars in the approved form for land not under the RPA, if required by the Registrar General; and
- (c) such other instruments and data as the Registrar General may require.

Note: An administration sheet is also required to be lodged with the plan (see section 195A of the CA).

1 July 2025 10 NSW Government Gazette

7.1.5 The prescribed fee as determined by Schedule 1 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018 must be paid in the manner and by the time specified by the Registrar General.

#### Content of administration sheet 7.2

#### An administration sheet: 7.2.1

- (a) must repeat the heading of the plan with which it is required to be lodged and the surveyor's reference (if applicable) in the appropriate panels on each sheet of the approved form;
- (b) must contain the following certificates (endorsed in the appropriate panels on the approved form):
  - (i) a survey certificate of a surveyor registered under the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002 that is in the form prescribed by the regulations made under that Act, unless the Registrar General dispenses with the certificate;

Note: Section 195C(1)(c) of the Conveyancing Act 1919 enables the Registrar General to dispense with the certificate.

- (ii) in the case of a plan of subdivision (other than a plan referred to in section 195C(2) of the CA) - a subdivision certificate; or
- (iii) such other certificates as the Registrar General may require, and
- (c) in the case of an administration sheet for a deposited plan that does not comprise a plan of survey - must contain a statement identifying the source of the information from which the plan has been compiled.

Note: Plans of this kind are compiled plans for the purposes of the regulations made under the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002.

#### 7.2.2 In Rule 7.2.1, a reference to a subdivision certificate is:

- (a) if the plan concerned is a plan of subdivision for lease purposes within the meaning of Division 3B of Part 2 of the CA — a reference to a subdivision certificate stating that the plan is a plan of subdivision for lease purposes and that it relates to land within a caravan park or a manufactured home estate; or
- (b) if the plan is a plan of subdivision for lease purposes within the meaning of Division 3C of Part 2 of the CA — a reference to a subdivision certificate stating that the plan is a plan of subdivision for forestry lease purposes.

Note: Division 3 of Part 3 of the Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018 may require further matters to be included on the administration sheet.

## 7.3 Administration sheet to comply with Schedule 8

7.3.1 An administration sheet must comply with the requirements set out in Schedule 8.

#### 7.4 Form and content of section 88B instruments

- 7.4.1 The instrument must, in Part 1 of the approved form, repeat each (if any) statement of intention to create an affecting interest in the same form (and, where there is more than one statement of intention, in the same order) as set out in the administration sheet lodged with the relevant plan.
- 7.4.2 The instrument must contain in Part 1 of the approved form, after each such statement of intention, a schedule setting out the lot numbers of the lots burdened by the affecting interest (numbered individually and in numerical sequence) and, opposite the lot number of each lot burdened:
  - (a) the numbers of the lots intended to receive the benefit of the affecting interest;
  - (b) the name of any road to which any affecting interest is to be appurtenant;
  - (c) the name of anybody in whose favour any easement referred to in section 88A of the CA or positive covenant without a dominant tenement is to be created; and
  - (d) the name of any prescribed authority in whose favour any restriction or positive covenant that is of the type that may be imposed under section 88D or 88E of the CA is to be created.
- 7.4.3 The instrument must, in Part 1A of the approved form, repeat each (if any) statement of intention to release an easement or profit à prendre in the same form (and, where there is more than one, in the same order) as set out in the administration sheet lodged with the relevant plan.
- 7.4.4 The instrument must contain in Part 1A of the approved form, after each such statement of intention, a schedule setting out the lot numbers of the lots burdened by each easement or profit à prendre proposed to be released and, opposite the lot number of each lot burdened:
  - (a) the numbers of the lots that receive the benefit of the easement or profit à prendre;
  - (b) the name of any road to which the easement is appurtenant; and
  - (c) the name of any prescribed authority in whose favour any easement referred to in section 88A of the CA was created.
- 7.4.5 If each lot in a plan is intended to be burdened by an affecting interest, the benefit of which is intended to be received by every other lot in the plan, it is sufficient if the words "each lot" and "every other lot", or words to the same effect, are respectively noted in the schedule.
- 7.4.6 The instrument is to set out, in Part 2 of the approved form, the terms of each affecting interest referred to in any statement of intention set out in Part 1 of the approved form.
- 7.4.7 However, if a statement of intention in Part 1 of the instrument uses an expression, the meaning of which is provided for in the CA by section 88A and Schedule 4A or section 181A and Schedule 8, and it is intended:
  - (a) that the expression have that meaning in the instrument no terms are to be set out in Part 2 of the approved form in respect of the statement of intention; or

- (b) that the expression have another meaning in the instrument the terms of the relevant easement are to be set out in Part 2 of the approved form in respect of the statement of intention.
- 7.4.8 No sketch, drawing or other diagram is to appear on the instrument.

## 7.5 Section 88B instrument to comply with Schedule 9

7.5.1 A section 88B instrument must comply with the requirements set out in Schedule 9.

**Note**: A section 88B instrument is required by the *Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018* to be in the approved form.

## 8 Requirements for strata plans

**Note**: See also provisions of the Strata Schemes Development Act 2015 and the Strata Schemes Development Regulation 2016.

## 8.1 Lodgment of strata plans and other documents

8.1.1 A strata plan lodged for registration or recording must be lodged using LRS Connect.

**Note**: From 1 July 2025, plans may no longer be lodged by hand.

#### 8.1.2 A plan:

- (a) must be lodged in the approved form as an image format that complies with Schedule 10; and
- (b) may be accompanied by a digital file in an approved digital file format.
- 8.1.3 Any document that is required to be lodged with the plan must be lodged as an image format using NSW LRS Connect and must comply with the following requirements:
  - (a) a document comprising more than one sheet must be created as a multipage file; and
  - (b) the document must be legible and of a standard that will enable it to be clearly reproduced by the image capture processes employed by NSW LRS.

**Note**: Unless excepted by regulations made under any Act, section 197(3) of the SSDA provides that all documents that are required to be lodged with the plan must also be lodged electronically. Documents subject to the requirements of Rule 8.1.3 include:

- (a) a strata development contract;
- (b) a strata management statement;
- (c) by-laws;
- (d) a section 88B instrument; or
- (e) an administration sheet.
- 8.1.4 The plan must be lodged with:
  - (a) completed NSW LRS Strata Plan Lodgment Checklist in the approved form, if required by the Registrar General; and
  - (b) such other instruments and data as the Registrar General may require.

8.1.5 The prescribed fee as determined by Schedule 7 of the *Strata Schemes Development Regulation 2016* must be paid in the manner and by the time specified by the Registrar General.

## 8.2 Location plans and floor plans

- 8.2.1 A location plan must comply with Schedules 10 and 11.
- 8.2.2 A floor plan must comply with Schedules 10 and 12.

### 8.3 Administration sheet

8.3.1 An administration sheet must comply with Schedule 13.

## 8.4 Proposed affecting interests

- 8.4.1 A strata plan may designate the site of a proposed affecting interest that is intended to be created (otherwise than under section 88B of the CA) if:
  - (a) the interest is shown as proposed by use of the word "proposed" or an abbreviation of that word;
  - (b) no statement of intention to create the affecting interest is included in the administration sheet lodged with the strata plan;
  - (c) if the affecting interest is to apply to only part of the land to which the strata plan relates, the proposed site of the affecting interest is shown and it is distinguished from any other affecting interest to be created under section 88B of the CA; and
  - (d) if the affecting interest is limited by height or depth, the height or depth of the interest is clearly shown.

1 July 2025 15

## 9 Searches

**Note**: See also provisions of the *Real Property Act* 1900, *Real Property Regulation* 2019, *Conveyancing Act* 1919 and the *Conveyancing (General) Regulation* 2018.

# 9.1 Official searches under Part 11A of the Real Property Act 1900

- 9.1.1 A request under Part 11A of the RPA must:
  - (a) be limited to parcels of land held by one proprietor or jointly held by 2 or more proprietors; and
  - (b) be lodged personally, by post or by other means approved by the Registrar General.

# 9.2 Official searches under section 197 of the Conveyancing Act 1919

- 9.2.1 A request under section 197 of the CA for a search of old system title land, or a request for an office copy of a certificate of the result of such a search, must be made in the approved form.
- 9.2.2 A request is to be limited to a single chain of title.
- 9.2.3 The prescribed fee as determined by Schedule 1 of the *Conveyancing (General) Regulation*2018 must, if required by the Registrar General, be paid before delivery of the office copy of a certificate of the result of a search.
- 9.2.4 If a request is withdrawn after commencement but before completion of a search, such fees as the Registrar General determines (having regard to the work done up to the time of withdrawal) must be paid.
- 9.2.5 The Registrar General may require an interim payment of fees before completion of a search.

## 9.3 Public searches for the purposes of section 199 of the Conveyancing Act 1919

- 9.3.1 For the purposes of section 199 of the CA:
  - (a) the prescribed times at which information in the registers is to be made available are:
    - (i) in the case of information in the registers provided in printed form 8.30 am to 4.30 pm New South Wales Standard Time each day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) or, where the function of responding to a search request is exercised by the authorised operator, the ordinary business hours of the authorised operator; or

- (ii) in the case of information in the registers provided in electronic form between the hours of 1.00 am and midnight New South Wales Standard Time each day (subject to scheduled maintenance or unavoidable system interruptions);
- (b) the information is to be made available (in response to a request for the dispatch of information by post or other approved means) by the Registrar General furnishing a copy of the information; and
- (c) the prescribed fee for making the information available is the fee as determined by Schedule 1 of the *Conveyancing (General) Regulation 2018*.

## 10 Lodgment requirements for the Dealing with Exception form

Note: See also provisions of the Real Property Act 1900 and the Real Property Regulation 2019.

- 10.1 The Dealing with Exception form must satisfy an exception published on the Registrar General's website from time to time, and be accompanied by a properly completed Lodgment Rules exception form, unless otherwise approved by NSW LRS.
- NSW LRS may approve a Dealing with Exception form, or any accompanying documents, to 10.2 be lodged otherwise than in accordance with Rule 10.1.
- 10.3 Schedule 16 sets out the requirements for the lodgment of the Dealing with Exception form.

Note: The Registrar General will provide a 20-business day notice period before any amendment to the exceptions are published on its website.

1 July 2025 18 NSW Government Gazette

## Requirements for making alterations to dealings, caveats and instruments lodged in electronic form in the Torrens Register

Note: See also provisions of the Real Property Act 1900 and the Real Property Regulation 2019.

The requirements for making an alteration to a dealing, caveat and/or instrument lodged electronically are set out in Schedule 17.

[NSWGG-2025-212-9]

30 May 2025

## Schedule 1 Requirements for instruments registered in the General Register of Deeds

Note: See Rules 4.5 and 4.6.

#### 1 Text

The text must be clearly printed or written:

- (a) across the width of each sheet of paper used; and
- (b) on one side only of each sheet.

#### 2 Margins

The sheets used must have clear margins:

- (a) on the first sheet of not less than 25 mm at the top and 10 mm on each side and bottom;
- (b) on each subsequent sheet of not less than 10 mm on each side and at the top and bottom.

#### 3 Paper

The paper used must be:

- (a) white or off white and free from discolouration and blemishes;
- (b) of archival quality; and
- (c) 297 millimetres in length by 210 millimetres in width (standard A4), or such other sized paper as may be approved by the Registrar General.

#### 4 Lettering

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves, all words must be in the English language, and all letters, numbers and other symbols must be in a font style that is:

- (a) at least 10 point (1.8 mm) in size;
- (b) dense black or dense dark blue in colour;
- (c) open in formation and construction; and
- (d) in an upright style.

The lines must not overlap. A carbon copy, or a copy in which the typewritten characters blur or spread or are liable to mark or damage an adjacent sheet, will not be accepted.

Handwriting and any imprint of a seal must be clear and legible and in dense black ink or dense dark blue ink.

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves or this Schedule provides otherwise, symbols may only be used for punctuation of text, and letters must be used instead of special symbols.

#### 5 Name and address

The name and address of a witness who attested to the signing of an instrument is to be set out below the witness's attestation if the attestation does not include the name and address.

#### 6 Content must not extend into margin

No printing, writing or other notation (other than directions or notations authorised by the Registrar General or as otherwise provided for by this Schedule) must appear in, or extend into, the margin.

#### 7 Content must not extend into any seal

No printing, writing or other notation must extend into any seal.

#### 8 Information to be included on registration copy

In the top margin on the first sheet of a registration copy there must be printed or written the nature of the original instrument and a note of the stamp duty, if any, appearing on the original instrument.

#### 9 Alterations

Alterations may only be made by striking through the matter intended to be altered or by interlineation and not by rubbing, scraping or cutting the surface of the paper or by using correction fluid. An alteration must be verified by the parties to the instrument.

#### 10 Verification of alterations

Signatures or initials verifying alterations must be placed in the margin as near as practicable to the alteration.

#### 11 No creases

The instrument must be flat and free from creases caused by folding or otherwise.

#### 12 Registration copy must be true copy

If a registration copy is made by a photographic or similar approved copying process, the image in the copy must be dense black, permanent, legible and clearly reproduce all details and notations visible on the original. The process must not affect the quality and permanence of the paper.

#### 13 Part lots

A part of a lot must not be shown on a plan or diagram unless the whole of the lot is shown on another part of the plan or diagram, whether or not on the same sheet.

## 14 Plans or diagrams

Any plan or diagram included in, or annexed to, the instrument must not be in the form of a plan of survey unless the Registrar General otherwise permits.

## Schedule 2 Requirements for dealings, caveats and instruments lodged in paper form in the Torrens Register

Note: See Rule 5.

#### 1 Text

The text must be clearly printed or written across the width of each sheet of paper used.

#### 2 Language

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves, all text must be in the English language.

#### 3 Single sided sheet

The text must be printed or written on only one side of each sheet.

#### 4 Margins

The sheets used must have clear margins:

- (a) on the first sheet of not less than 25mm at the top and 10mm on each side and at the bottom; and
- (b) on each subsequent sheet of not less than 10mm on each side and at the top and bottom.

#### 5 Paper

The paper used must be:

- (a) white or off white and free from discolouration, blemishes and creases;
- (b) of archival quality, and
- (c) 297 millimetres in length by 210 millimetres in width (standard A4), or such other sized paper as may be approved by the Registrar General.

#### 6 Lettering

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves, all letters, numbers and other symbols appearing in text must be in a font style that is:

- (a) at least 10 point (1.8mm) in size;
- (b) dense black or dense dark blue in colour;
- (c) open in formation and construction; and

(d) in an upright style.

The lines must not overlap. A carbon copy, or a copy in which the typewritten characters blur or spread, or are liable to mark or damage an adjacent sheet, will not be accepted.

Handwriting and any imprint of a seal must be clear and legible and in dense black or dense dark blue ink.

All symbols used must be letters unless:

- (a) the Registrar General otherwise approves; or
- (b) this Schedule otherwise provides.

#### 7 Reproduction

All typewriting, printing, handwriting and any imprint of a seal must be to a standard that will enable it to be clearly reproduced by the imaging processes employed by the Registrar General.

#### 8 Content must not extend into margin

Typewriting, printing, writing or seals must not extend into the margin.

#### 9 Content must not extend into seal

Typewriting, printing, writing or signatures must not extend into any seal.

#### 10 Alterations

Alterations must be made by striking through the matter intended to be altered and not by rubbing, scraping or cutting the surface of the paper or by using correction fluid.

Signatures or initials noting alterations by interlineation or the striking through of matter must be placed in the margin as near as practicable to the alteration.

In addition, the name of the person noting the alteration must be printed in cases where:

- (a) the person initials an alteration; or
- (b) the person notes an alteration by signature but the person's name cannot be clearly ascertained.

The date of the alteration must be included.

#### 11 Pages of annexure

The pages of an annexure to a dealing must be numbered sequentially in the centre of the foot of each page as "Page ... of ... pages" and the annexure:

- (a) must be identified (on the annexure itself) as an annexure to the dealing:
- (b) must be signed, on the first and last pages, by the parties to the dealing (or, if a party is a body corporate, by a person who has attested the affixing of the seal of the body corporate or who has otherwise signed on its behalf); and
- (c) must be referred to in the body of the dealing.

#### 12 Additional or inserted sheets

An additional or inserted sheet intended to form part of a dealing:

- (a) must be attached to the dealing in a manner acceptable to the Registrar General, and
- (b) if it contains matter that would normally be inserted in a form approved by the Registrar General must be signed by the parties to the dealing (or, if a party is a body corporate, signed by a person who has attested the affixing of the seal of the body corporate or who has otherwise signed on its behalf).

#### 13 Notification of additional or inserted sheet

If, apart from any matter contained in an additional or inserted sheet, it is not readily apparent from the body of a dealing that the additional or inserted matter is intended to form part of the dealing:

- (a) a note referring to the additional or inserted matter (or covenants by number where appropriate) must be added to the body of the dealing; and
- (b) a note identifying the additional or inserted matter must be added to the additional or inserted sheet containing that matter.

#### 14 Dimensions

Dimensions referred to in a dealing:

- (a) in the case of dimensions of length, must be expressed in metres and not in any other unit of measurement of length (whether or not related to the metre); and
- (b) in the case of dimensions of area, must be expressed in square metres, hectares or square kilometres and not in any other unit of measurement of area (whether or not related to the square metre, hectare or square kilometre).

#### 15 Preparation of annexures, additional sheets or inserted sheets

Annexures, additional sheets or inserted sheets may be prepared by means of a photographic or similar process approved by the Registrar General and, if so prepared:

- (a) must comply with items 1-14;
- (b) must contain only printing that is permanent and legible with a dense black image free from excessive background;
- (c) must be so prepared that the process does not affect the quality of the paper;
- (d) must not include photographs, except with the consent of the Registrar General; and
- (e) must be authenticated by original signatures.

# Schedule 3 Requirements for plans annexed to dealings (other than leases of premises) or caveats

Note: See Rule 6.1

#### 1 Identification of land

A plan must identify the land to which it relates.

#### 2 Clarity

A plan must be drawn in a manner and to a scale that allows all details and notations to be clearly reproduced by the imaging processes used by the Registrar General.

#### 3 Particulars

A plan must contain the following particulars:

- (a) a statement on each sheet of the reduction ratio at which the plan is drawn;
- (b) the north point (which must be directed upwards) and the meridian to which it relates;
- (c) complete dimensions (including area) of every parcel comprised in the plan;
- (d) sufficient information to define any proposed easement, or any proposed variation of an existing easement, and its relationship to the boundaries of any affected parcel,
- (e) if prepared by a registered land surveyor within the meaning of the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002, the signature of the surveyor;
- (f) the date of preparation of the plan; and
- (g) the signature of each person who has signed the dealing or caveat to which the plan is annexed.

#### 4 Description of land

The description of the part of the land shown in the plan must agree with the description of that part shown in the dealing or caveat.

#### 5 Length measurements

The lengths shown on a plan must be expressed in metres and not in any other unit of measurement of length (whether or not related to the metre), without the use of any symbol or abbreviation to represent the metre as the unit of measurement employed.

#### 6 Area measurements

Area measurements shown on a plan must be expressed in the following units of measurement:

- (a) areas of less than one hectare must be expressed in square metres accompanied by the symbol "m2":
- (b) areas of one hectare or more but less than 10,000 hectares must be expressed in hectares (using not more than 4 significant figures) accompanied by the symbol "ha"; and
- (c) areas of 10,000 hectares or more must be expressed in square kilometres accompanied by the symbol "km²".

#### 7 Lettering

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves, all words, letters, figures and symbols appearing on a plan:

- (a) must be shown in capital letters (except as provided by item 6);
- (b) must be open in formation and construction;
- (c) must be drawn in an upright style; and
- (d) must be in the English language.

#### 8 Alterations

A plan may be altered only by, or with the authority of, the person who prepared the plan by striking through the matter to be altered.

In particular, a plan may not be altered by the use of correction fluid or by rubbing, scraping or cutting the surface of the sheet on which the plan is drawn.

The Registrar General may require a sheet on which a plan is drawn to be replaced if, in the opinion of the Registrar General any alteration on the sheet will render it unsuitable for imaging.

Signatures or initials noting alterations by interlineation or the striking through of matter must be placed as near as practicable to the alteration by the person who prepared the plan and made the alteration.

In addition, the name of the person noting the alteration must be printed in cases where:

- (a) the person initials an alteration; or
- (b) the person notes an alteration by signature but the person's name cannot be clearly ascertained.

The date of the alteration must be included.

#### 9 Lodgment as annexure

If lodged as an annexure, a plan must be neatly and clearly drawn without colour or edging.

#### 10 Paper

Each plan sheet must consist of white or off-white paper of an archival quality, or some other medium approved by the Registrar General.

#### 11 Plan drawn

A plan must be drawn on only one side of a plan sheet and must be drawn on a matt surface.

#### 12 Plan sheet

Each plan sheet must be free from discolouration, blemishes and creases.

#### 13 Sheet dimensions

Each plan sheet must be 297mm in length by 210mm in width (standard A4) and have clear margins of at least 10mm on each side and at the top and bottom.

#### 14 Plan endorsed on dealing or caveat

If a plan is endorsed on a dealing or caveat, it must be drawn in such a manner that the lines and notation of the plan do not obscure or interfere with any writing or printing on the dealing or caveat.

#### 15 Original plan not available

Where the original plan is not available, an annexed plan may be a reproduction prepared by means of a photographic or similar process approved by the Registrar General and, if so prepared:

- (a) must comply with items 1-14;
- (b) must contain only printing that is permanent and legible with a dense black image free from excessive background;
- (c) must be so prepared that the process does not affect the quality of the paper; and
- (d) must be authenticated by original signatures.

#### 16 Plans annexed to dealings

Plans annexed to dealings must be compiled plans and not plans of survey except with the consent of the Registrar General.

#### 17 Registered plan not to be annexed

A registered plan must not be annexed to a dealing or caveat.

## Schedule 4 Requirements for plans annexed to leases of premises

Note: See Rule 6.2

#### 1 Definition of premises

For the purposes of this Schedule, premises means a building or part of a building, unless the Registrar General approves otherwise.

#### 2 Identification of premises

A plan must identify the premises to which it relates.

#### 3 Whole of building premises

Premises that comprise the whole of a building may be defined by measurements in a plan.

#### Part of building premises

Premises that comprise part of a building may be identified in a plan by showing the outer walls of the building and defining the leased area by reference to:

- (a) internal walls and fixtures; or
- (b) dimensions.

#### 5 Consistency with lease

The description of any premises shown in a plan must agree with the description of those premises shown in the lease.

#### 6 Reproduction

A plan must be drawn in a manner and to a scale that allows all details and notations to be clearly reproduced by the imaging processes used by the Registrar General.

#### 7 Clarity

A plan must be neatly and clearly drawn without colour or edging.

#### 8 **Particulars**

A plan must contain the following particulars:

- (a) the north point (which must be directed upwards);
- (b) if the Registrar General so requires, dimensional connections of the leased premises to the title boundaries;
- (c) a statement as to the floor level on which the premises are located, where appropriate;

- (d) sufficient information to define any proposed easement and its relationship to the boundaries of the affected parcel; and
- (e) the signature of each person who has signed the lease to which the plan is annexed.

#### 9 Length measurements

The lengths shown on a plan must be expressed in metres and not in any other unit of measurement of length (whether or not related to the metre), without the use of any symbol or abbreviation to represent the metre as the unit of measurement employed.

#### 10 Area measurements

Area measurements shown on a plan must be expressed in square metres accompanied by the symbol "m²".

#### 11 Lettering

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves, all words, letters, figures and symbols appearing on a plan:

- (a) must be shown in capital letters (except as provided by item 10);
- (b) must be open in formation and construction;
- (c) must be drawn in an upright style; and
- (d) must be in the English language.

#### 12 Alterations

A plan may be altered only by, or with the authority of, the person who prepared the plan by striking through the matter to be altered.

In particular, a plan may not be altered by the use of correction fluid or by rubbing, scraping or cutting the surface of the sheet on which the plan is drawn.

The Registrar General may require a sheet on which a plan is drawn to be replaced if, in the opinion of the Registrar General, any alteration on the sheet will render it unsuitable for imaging.

Signatures or initials noting alterations by interlineation or the striking through of matter must be placed as near as practicable to the alteration by the person who prepared the plan and made the alteration.

In addition, the name of the person noting the alteration must be printed in cases where:

- (a) the person initials an alteration; or
- (b) the person notes an alteration by signature but the person's name cannot be clearly ascertained.

The date of the alteration must be included.

#### 13 Paper

Each plan sheet must consist of white or off-white paper of an archival quality, or some other medium approved by the Registrar General.

#### 14 Plan drawn

A plan must be drawn on only one side of a plan sheet and must be drawn on a matt surface.

#### 15 Plan sheet

Each plan sheet must be free from discolouration, blemishes and creases.

#### 16 Sheet dimensions

Each plan sheet must be 297mm in length by 210mm in width (standard A4) and have clear margins of at least 10mm on each side and at the top and bottom.

#### 17 Original plan not available

Where the original plan is not available, an annexed plan may be a reproduction prepared by means of a photographic or similar process approved by the Registrar General and, if so prepared:

- (a) must comply with items 1-16;
- (b) must contain only printing that is permanent and legible with a dense black image free from excessive background;
- (c) must be so prepared that the process does not affect the quality of the paper; and
- (d) must be authenticated by original signatures.

#### 18 Plan annexed to lease

Plans annexed to leases must be compiled plans and not plans of survey except with the consent of the Registrar General.

#### 19 Registered plan not to be annexed

A registered plan must not be annexed to a lease.

## Schedule 5 Requirements for lodging deposited plans

Note: See Rule 7.1.2.

#### File type in which plan to be created

A plan must be created as an image in a PDF format, in the approved form.

A plan, created in a digital file format, must be lodged using Land XML.

A plan comprising more than one sheet must be created as a multipage file.

#### 2 Numbering

Each plan sheet must be numbered consecutively.

#### 3 Margins

A margin of at least 10 millimetres must be left around the plan drawing area of each plan sheet.

No printing, writing or other notation (other than directions or notations authorised by the Registrar General) must appear in, or extend into, the margin.

#### Lettering

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves, all words must be in the English language, and all letters, numbers and other symbols appearing on a plan must be in a font style that is:

- (a) dense and black in colour;
- (b) in upper case only (except as otherwise provided by this Schedule);
- (c) open in formation and construction; and
- (d) in an upright style.

Unless the Registrar General otherwise approves or this Schedule provides otherwise, symbols may only be used for punctuation of text, and letters must be used instead of special symbols.

#### 5 Use of colouring and edging prohibited

Neither colouring nor edging are to be used on a plan sheet.

#### 6 Clarity of detail

The plan must be drawn to a scale and the image created in a manner that allows all details and notations to be capable of clear and high-resolution image capture and reproduction by the image capture processes employed by NSW LRS. NSW LRS may require a plan file to be resubmitted if, in the opinion of NSW LRS, the plan image does not comply with this clause.

1 July 2025 32 NSW Government Gazette

#### 7 Alterations

A plan image must not be altered.

Any alterations must be made to the relevant Computer Aided Drafting (CAD) software plan file and a new PDF image created and relodged.

#### 8 Information to be included on plan sheets

Each plan sheet in a series of plan sheets must be numbered consecutively as part of the series (for example, the first and second sheets in a plan that is made up of 4 sheets must be numbered "Sheet 1 of 4 sheets" and "Sheet 2 of 4 sheets", respectively).

Each plan sheet must contain a north point (directed towards the top of the plan sheet) and must also specify the orientation to which the north point relates.

Any separate diagrams or tabulations of dimensions or marks used in an additional sheet must be shown on the sheet.

No information (other than the plan and any separate diagrams and tabulations of dimensions and marks relating to the plan) is to appear within the plan drawing area of a plan sheet.

#### 9 Linear dimensions

Linear measurements must be expressed in metres, correct to 3 decimal places, without any accompanying symbol.

If a length of less than one metre is shown, the decimal point must be preceded by the numeral "0".

#### 10 Area dimensions

Area measurements must be expressed as follows:

- (a) areas of less than one hectare must be expressed in square metres, accompanied by the symbol "m²";
- (b) areas of one hectare or more must be expressed in hectares (using not more than 4 significant figures), accompanied by the symbol "ha"; and
- (c) areas of 10,000 hectares or more must be expressed in square kilometres, accompanied by the symbol "km²".

The total area of a parcel:

- (a) must be shown within or related to the most significant part of the parcel; and
- (b) must be the exact mathematical total of all the areas shown on the plan as being within that parcel.

#### 11 Reduction ratio

There must be a statement on each sheet of the reduction ratio at which the plan is drawn.

#### 12 Identification of adjoining land

The identity of all adjoining land must be shown current as at the date of lodgment of the plan.

#### 13 Identification of new or proposed affecting interests

A plan must contain sufficient information to define the site of:

- (a) any affecting interest that is intended to be created as a consequence of the registration of the plan;
- (b) any easement or profit à prendre intended to be partially released as a consequence of the registration of the plan; and
- (c) any proposed affecting interest, or proposed variation or partial release of an easement or profit à prendre; and

and where necessary, must also contain sufficient information to indicate the relationship of any such affecting interest to the boundaries of any affected parcel or lot.

If a proposed easement is in respect of an existing tunnel, pipe, conduit, wire or other similar object that is underground or is within or beneath an existing building, it is sufficient to indicate on the plan the approximate position of the easement.

#### 14 Identification of existing affecting interests

A plan must:

- (a) contain sufficient information to define the site, nature and origin of any existing affecting interest affecting a parcel; and
- (b) wherever possible, show the relationship of the affecting interest to the boundaries of the parcel.

If an easement is in respect of an existing tunnel, pipe, conduit, wire or other similar object that is underground or is within or beneath an existing building, it is sufficient to indicate on the plan the approximate position of the easement.

In this clause, origin, in relation to an existing affecting interest means the Gazette reference or registration number of the instrument or plan by which the affecting interest was granted, reserved, notified or otherwise created.

#### 15 Signatures not to appear

No signatures, initials or seals are to appear on the plan drawing sheets.

Note: All signatures and seals must be shown on the administration sheet.

1 July 2025 34 NSW Government Gazette

## Schedule 6 (repealed)

 1 July 2025
 35

 [NSWGG-2025-212-9]
 NSW Government Gazette
 30 May 2025

## Schedule 7 (repealed)

36 1 July 2025 NSW Government Gazette

## Schedule 8 Requirements for administration sheet lodged with deposited plans

Note: See Rule 7.3.

#### 1 Use of approved form

Any signatures, seals or certificates that cannot satisfactorily be shown on one sheet may be shown on one or more additional sheets in the approved form.

Note: An administration sheet is required by section 195A of the Conveyancing Act 1919 to be in the approved form. The completed administration sheet must be lodged with and in the same manner as the plan. This Schedule prescribes additional requirements.

Note: A schedule of street addresses, if available, is required to be shown in the approved format on an administration sheet by section 61 of the Surveying and Spatial Information Regulation 2024.

#### 2 Image

The image must:

- (a) have a white or off white background;
- (b) be free from discolouration, blemishes and creases;
- (c) be of a standard capable of clear and high-resolution image capture and reproduction; and
- (d) be a standard A4 size.

#### 3 Margins

The sheets used must have clear margins of not less than 10 mm on each side and top and bottom.

No printing, writing or other notation (other than directions or notations authorised by the Registrar General or as otherwise provided for by this Schedule) must appear in, or extend into, the margin.

#### Lettering

The text of an administration sheet must be clearly printed or written:

- (a) across the width of each panel on the sheet of paper used; and
- (b) on one side only of each sheet.

All text must be at least 10 point (1.8mm) in size and be clear and legible and dense black in colour. The lines must not overlap. An image in which the typewritten characters blur or spread, or are liable to mark or damage an adjacent sheet, will not be accepted.

Handwriting and any imprint of a seal must be clear and legible and in dense black in colour.

#### 5 Alterations

Alterations may only be made by striking through the matter intended to be altered or by interlineation and not by using correction fluid or digital white out. An alteration must be verified by the parties to the instrument.

#### 6 Verification of alterations

Signatures or initials verifying alterations must be placed in the margin as near as practicable to the alteration.

#### 7 Information to be included on multiple sheets

If the administration sheet comprises more than one sheet, each sheet other than the first sheet must repeat:

- (a) the heading on the first sheet;
- (b) if the administration sheet relates to a plan of subdivision the subdivision certificate number and date of endorsement; and
- (c) the surveyor's reference.

Each sheet must be numbered:

- (a) sequentially in the top right hand corner of each sheet as "Sheet ... of ... sheets"; and
- (b) separately from the drawing sheets.

# Schedule 9 Requirements for section 88B instruments

Note: See Rule 7.7.

#### 1 Text

The text of a section 88B instrument must be clearly printed or written:

- (a) across the width of each sheet of paper used; and
- (b) unless the Registrar General otherwise permits, on one side only of each sheet.

#### 2 Margins

The sheets used must have clear margins:

- (a) on the first sheet of not less than 10 mm (on the left hand side), 10 mm (on the right hand side), 25 mm (at the top) and 10 mm (at the bottom); and
- (b) on each subsequent sheet of not less than 10 mm (on the sides and top and bottom).

No printing, writing or other notation (other than directions or notations authorised by the Registrar General) must appear in, or extend into, the margin.

#### 3 Image

The image must:

- (a) have a white or off white background;
- (b) be free from discolouration, blemishes and creases;
- (c) be of a standard capable of clear and high-resolution image capture and reproduction; and
- (d) be a standard A4 size.

#### 4 Size of lettering

All text must be at least 10 point (1.8 mm) in size and be clear and legible and dense black or dense dark blue in colour. The lines must not overlap. An image in which the typewritten characters blur or spread, or are liable to mark or damage an adjacent sheet, will not be accepted.

#### 5 Legibility

Handwriting and any imprint of a seal must be clear and legible and in dense black ink or dense dark blue ink.

#### 6 Alterations

Alterations may only be made by striking through the matter intended to be altered or by interlineation and not by using correction fluid or digital white out. An alteration must be verified by the parties to the instrument.

#### 7 Verification of alterations

Signatures or initials verifying alterations must be placed in the margin as near as practicable to the alteration.

#### 8 Signatures

The final sheet must bear:

- (a) in any case the attested original signatures of the persons who appear to the Registrar General to be the owners, mortgagees, or covenant chargees of the land over which the easement, or in respect of which the restriction on the use of land, covenant or profit à prendre, is intended to be created;
- (b) in the case of the creation of an easement referred to in section 88A of the CA the attested original signature of the prescribed authority in whose favour the easement is to be created:
- (c) in the case of the creation of a restriction on the use of land, or a positive covenant, that is of a type that may be imposed under section 88BA, 88D or 88E of the CA — the attested original signature of any prescribed authority in whose favour the restriction or positive covenant is to be created;
- (d) in the case of the creation of a covenant intended to impose an obligation (however described) on a prescribed authority, or the owner of land that is not shown on the plan, to maintain or repair, or to contribute to the maintenance or repair of, the site of an easement the attested original signature of the prescribed authority or owner;
- (e) in the case of the release or partial release of an easement or profit à prendre:
  - (i) the attested original signatures of the persons who appear to the Registrar General to be the owners, mortgagees or covenant chargees of the land that has the benefit of the easement or profit à prendre; and
  - (ii) the attested original signature of any person whose consent is required to the release or partial release; and
- (f) in any case the capacity in which each signatory has signed.

#### 9 Numbering of sheets

If the instrument comprises more than one sheet:

- (a) each sheet other than the first sheet and the final sheet must repeat the heading on the first sheet and the plan identification appearing in Part 1 of the instrument;
- (b) each sheet other than the final sheet must be signed by an attesting witness to the final sheet; and
- (c) each sheet must be numbered sequentially in the top right hand corner of each sheet as "Sheet ... of ... sheets".

#### 10 References to signatures

In this Schedule, a reference to a signature includes a reference to the affixing of a seal or any other method by which a corporation or prescribed authority executes an instrument.

# Schedule 10 Requirements for lodging strata plans

Note: See Rule 8.1.2

### 1 File type for plans

A plan must be created as an image in a PDF format in the approved form.

A plan, where created in a digital file format, must be created in the approved form.

A plan comprising more than one sheet must be created as a multipage file.

### 2 Margins

No printing, writing or other notation (other than directions or notations authorised by the Registrar General) must appear in, or extend into, the margin.

### 3 Lettering

All words must be in the English language, and all letters, figures and symbols appearing on a plan must be in a font style that is:

- (a) dense and black in colour;
- (b) in upper case only (except as otherwise provided by this Schedule);
- (c) open in formation and construction; and
- (d) in an upright style.

Symbols may not be used except for the purposes of punctuation.

The Registrar General may approve departures from this clause.

### 4 Use of colouring and edging prohibited

Neither colouring nor edging are to be used on a plan sheet.

### 5 Clarity of detail

The plan must be drawn to a scale and the image created in a manner that allows all details and notations to be capable of clear and high-resolution image capture and reproduction by the image capture processes employed by NSW LRS. NSW LRS may require a plan file to be resubmitted if, in the opinion of NSW LRS, the plan image does not comply with this clause.

### 6 Alterations made to plans before registration

An alteration to a plan is to be made by creating a new version of the plan file and not by altering the version that was lodged.

If an alteration to a plan affects a lot boundary or the area of a lot, authentication of the plan is required following the alteration by a duly authorised officer of a local council or an accredited certifier signing and dating the strata certificate.

The Registrar General may require that a qualified valuer certify that the schedule of unit entitlement accurately reflects a plan following an alteration by signing and dating the valuer's certificate.

The Registrar General may require the registered proprietor or any other person to authenticate a plan following an alteration by signing and dating the administration sheet.

### 7 Information to be included on plan sheets

Each plan sheet in a series of plan sheets must be numbered consecutively using whole numbers starting from the first sheet and show the total number of sheets in the series, for example, "Sheet 1 of 5 sheets".

Each sheet of a location plan or floor plan must contain a north point that is directed towards the top of the sheet.

No information (other than the plan and any separate diagrams and tabulations of dimensions relating to the plan) is to appear within the plan drawing area of a plan sheet unless otherwise authorised by this Schedule.

### 8 Linear dimensions

Linear measurements must be expressed in metres (correct to 3 decimal places) without any accompanying symbol.

If a length of less than 1 metre is shown, the decimal point must be preceded by the numeral "0".

### 9 Area dimensions

Area measurements must be expressed as follows:

- (a) areas of less than 1 hectare must be expressed in square metres, accompanied by the symbol "m²"; and
- (b) areas of 1 hectare or more must be expressed in hectares (using not more than 4 significant figures), accompanied by the symbol "ha".

A statement may be added to the plan stating that all areas are approximate.

The total area of a lot:

- (a) must be shown within or relevant to the most significant part of the lot; and
- (b) must be the exact mathematical total of the areas shown elsewhere in the plan within or relevant to the component parts of that lot.

### 10 Bearings and angles

Bearings must not be shown on any plan sheet unless they form part of permitted survey information.

Angular relationships must be established by linear dimensions and rectangular offsets only, and not by use of angular dimensions, except in the case of an angular dimension of 90 degrees, which must be shown as such.

### 11 Signatures not to appear

The plan drawing sheets are not to show any signatures or seals unless otherwise authorised or required by these Lodgment Rules.

Note: Generally, signatures and seals must be shown on the administration sheet.

# Schedule 11 Location plans

Note: See Rule 8.2

### 1 Approved form

A location plan must be in the approved form.

### 2 Whole of building location plan

A location plan for the whole of a building must show the following:

- (a) the parcel boundaries and the lengths of those boundaries;
- (b) the external limits of the building;
- (c) the external limits of any structural feature used in the plan to define lots;
- (d) the external limits of any lots or parts of lots that are within the parcel but not within the building (external lots); and
- (e) if any encroachment exists, sufficient information to indicate the nature and extent of the encroachment.

### 3 Part of building location plan

A location plan for part of a building must show the following (using such elevations, sections, levels and planes as the Registrar General considers to be necessary):

- (a) the boundaries of the land occupied by the building and the lengths of those boundaries;
- (b) the external limits of the building:
- (c) the external limits of the part of the building to which the plan applies;
- (d) the parcel boundaries to the extent necessary to show the location of the following:
  - (i) the part of the building to which the plan applies;
  - (ii) any structural feature used in the plan to define lots; and
  - (iii) any external lots; and
- (e) if any encroachment exists, sufficient information to indicate the nature and extent of the encroachment.

### 4 Particulars

A location plan must also show the following:

- (a) the identity of all land that adjoins the parcel current as at the date of lodgment;
- (b) the street number of the building;
- (c) the number of floors or levels in the building:
- (d) the material from which the external walls of the building are constructed;
- (e) if the building is within 2 metres of a parcel boundary (but is not on the boundary), connections that accurately show the relationship of the boundary to the building; and

(f) if an external lot is within 2 metres of a parcel boundary (but is not on the boundary), connections that accurately show the relationship of the boundary to the structural feature used to define the external lot. These connections should correspond to those used on the floor plan that defines the lots.

### 5 Connections

All connections shown on a location plan must be referred to a stated surface of a floor, wall, ceiling or structural feature.

### 6 Reduction ratio

There must be a statement on each sheet of a location plan of the reduction ratio at which the plan is drawn.

### 7 Affecting interests

If an affecting interest affects a parcel, the location plan must:

- (a) contain sufficient information to define the site and nature of the affecting interest;
- (b) contain the registration number of the instrument or plan, or the Gazette reference, by which the interest was granted, reserved, notified or otherwise created; and
- (c) wherever possible, show the relationship of the affecting interest to the boundaries of the parcel.

### 8 Existing or proposed easement

If an existing or proposed easement is in respect of an existing tunnel, pipe, conduit, wire or other similar object, which is underground or is within or beneath an existing building, it is sufficient to indicate on the location plan the approximate position of the easement.

### 9 Information relating to affecting interests

A location plan must contain sufficient information:

- (a) to define the site of any affecting interest that is intended to be created (whether as a consequence of the registration of the plan or otherwise) and that affects common property, other than common property within a building; and
- (b) to indicate, where necessary, the relationship of the affecting interest to the boundaries of any affected parcel or lot.

## Schedule 12 Floor plans

Note: See Rule 8.2.

### Approved form

A floor plan must be in the approved form.

### 2 Separate sheet

A floor plan must be on a separate sheet to the location plan.

### 3 Particulars

A floor plan must:

- (a) show the boundaries of each lot and each part of a lot;
- (b) show the area of each lot and each part of a lot;
- (c) include a lot number for each lot and, if a lot has separate parts, clearly identify each of those parts;
- (d) show boundaries defined by walls or other structural features (structural boundaries) by the use of thick lines;
- (e) show other boundaries (line boundaries) by the use of thin lines and include sufficient connections from walls or other structural features to accurately show the location of those line boundaries;
- (f) if an upper or lower boundary of a lot or part of a lot is not limited by a structural feature—include statements sufficient to accurately indicate the location of that boundary;
- (g) include notations to clearly identify any encroachment that is designated for use with a lot; and
- (h) show all structures on a lot (other than a dividing fence within the meaning of the *Dividing Fences Act 1991*) that are outside a building and within 1 metre of the boundary of the lot and include notations to clearly identify whether each such structure is common property or part of the lot.

### 4 Levels

A floor plan must show the lowest level to the highest level unless evidence is provided from an addressing authority approving the levels to be shown in a different manner.

### 5 Boundaries and encroachments

A floor plan must not show the relationship of lot boundaries to parcel boundaries, except to the extent necessary to show any encroachments.

### 6 Reduction ratio

There must be a statement on each sheet of a floor plan of the reduction ratio at which the plan is drawn.

### 7 Sufficient information to define existing easements

A floor plan may show sufficient information to define the site of an existing easement that is located within a building if the Registrar General agrees that the enjoyment of the easement would be reliant on its position being shown in such a manner.

### 8 Sufficient information to define affecting interests

A floor plan must contain sufficient information to define the site of:

- (a) any affecting interest intended to be created as a consequence of the registration of the plan that affects a lot in the plan or common property within a building; and
- (b) any proposed easement over a lot in the plan or common property within a building.

### 9 Position of proposed easement

If a proposed easement is in respect of an existing tunnel, pipe, conduit, wire or other similar object which, is underground or is within or beneath an existing building, it is sufficient to indicate on a floor plan the approximate position of the easement.

# Schedule 13 Requirements for administration sheet lodged with strata plans

Note: See Rule 8.3.

Note: An administration sheet must be in the approved form (see the definition of administration sheet in section 4(1) of the SSDA). All signatures and seals must be shown on the administration sheet. No signatures or seals are to appear on the plan drawing sheets. The completed administration sheet forms part of the plan and must be lodged with and in the same manner as the plan.

Note: A schedule of street addresses, if available, is required to be shown in the approved format on an administration sheet by section 61 of the Surveying and Spatial Information Regulation 2024.

### Use of approved form 1

An administration sheet must be in an approved form.

Any signatures, seals or certificates that cannot satisfactorily be shown on one sheet may be shown on one or more additional sheets in an approved form.

### 2 Image

The image must:

- (a) have a white or off white background
- (b) be free from discolouration, blemishes and creases;
- (c) be of a standard capable of clear and high-resolution image capture and reproduction;
- (d) be a standard A4 size.

### 3 Clarity

Text must be clearly printed or written:

- (a) across the width of each panel on the sheet of paper used; and
- (b) on one side only of each sheet.

Text or seals (other than directions or notations authorised by the Registrar General) must not extend into a margin.

### Alterations 4

Alterations must be made by adding to or striking through the matter intended to be altered.

1 July 2025 48 NSW Government Gazette

Alterations must be authenticated by signing and dating as near as practicable to the alteration.

### 5 Information to be included on multiple sheets

If the administration sheet comprises more than one sheet, each sheet must be numbered consecutively using whole numbers starting from the first sheet and show the total number of sheets, for example, "Sheet 1 of 5 sheets".

# Schedule 14 (repealed)

1 July 2025 50 NSW Government Gazette 30 May 2025

# Schedule 15 Lodgment requirements for Miscellaneous Dealing form

Note: See Rule 5.

### Preparation of instrument, dealing or caveat

The dealing or caveat referred to in Rule 5.1.1 must comply with Schedules 2, 3 and 4 as applicable.

The instrument referred to in Rule 5.1.2 must comply with Rule 4.

### 2 Creation of electronic file

The properly completed instrument, dealing or caveat must be an electronic file created in a format approved by the Registrar General.

A document comprising more than 1 sheet must be created as a multipage file.

### 3 Lodging procedure

The electronic file must be lodged together with the:

- (a) Miscellaneous Dealing form available in the ELN; and
- (b) Unless otherwise approved by NSW LRS, the Lodgment Rules exception form, which must indicate which reason has been selected for the lodgment of this form.

**Note**: The completed document(s) must be retained by the lodging party for a period of at least 7 years following the date of registration of the dealing (see Rule 6.6 of the NSW Participation Rules).

# Schedule 16 Lodgment requirements for Dealing with Exception form

Note: See Rule 10.

### Preparation of dealing or caveat

The dealing or caveat referred to in Rule 10.1 must comply with Schedules 2, 3 and 4 as applicable.

### 2 Creation of electronic file

The properly completed dealing or caveat must be an electronic file created in a format approved by the Registrar General.

A document comprising more than 1 sheet must be created as a multipage file.

### 3 Lodging procedure

The electronic file must be lodged together with the:

- (a) Dealing with Exception dealing form available in the ELN; and
- (b) Unless otherwise approved by NSW LRS, the Lodgment Rules exception form, which must indicate which reason has been selected for lodgment of this form.

**Note**: The completed document(s) must be retained by the lodging party for a period of at least 7 years following the date of registration of the dealing (see Rule 6.6 of the NSW Participation Rules).

# Schedule 17 Requirements for making alterations to dealings, caveats and instruments lodged in electronic form in the Torrens Register

Note: See Rule 11.

### 1 Lodgment procedure

The standard of the electronic file received by the Registrar General must be acceptable to the Registrar General.

The document must be submitted through the channel approved by the Registrar General, together with all required attachments.

**Note**: The completed document(s) and all evidence must be retained by the lodging party for a period of at least 7 years following the date of registration of the dealing (see Rule 6.6 of NSW Participation Rules)

### 2 Making alterations to electronic dealings procedure

A Dealing, caveat or instrument that requires a minor alteration after a requisition has been received will be required to be altered and re-submitted.

Alterations must be made by striking through the matter intended to be altered and not by rubbing, scraping or cutting the surface of the paper or by using correction fluid.

Signatures or initials noting alterations by interlineation or the striking through of matter must be placed in the margin as near as practicable to the alteration.

In addition, the name of the person noting the alteration must be printed in cases where:

- (a) the person initials an alteration; or
- (b) the person notes an alteration by signature, but the person's name cannot be clearly ascertained.

The date of the alteration must be included.

### Office of the Registrar General

McKell Building 2-24 Rawson Place Sydney NSW 2000

T: 1300 318 998

W: registrargeneral.nsw.gov.au



### **ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION ACT 2009**

Cancellation of Registration pursuant to Section 74

TAKE NOTICE that the registration of the following associations is cancelled by this notice pursuant to section 74 of the Associations Incorporation Act 2009.

RANDWICK CITY TOURISM INCORPORATED	Y1387512
SAAA CHAPTER TWO CAMDEN DISTRICT INCORPORATED	Y3060446
SINGLETON SENIOR CITIZENS WELFARE ASSOCIATION INC	Y1122022
SOVEREIGN CHURCH INCORPORATED	INC9895441
ST ANDREWS NETBALL CLUB INCORPORATED	INC9892916
THE BYRON MUSIC SOCIETY INCORPORATED	INC9877434
THE FILM SEEN INCORPORATED	INC9881464

Cancellation is effective as at the date of gazettal.

Dated this 28th day of May 2025.

Megan Green

Delegate of the Commissioner

**NSW Fair Trading** 

### **Subordinate Legislation Act 1989**

### Community consultation on the draft Valuation of Land Regulation 2025

Notice is hereby given, under the *Subordinate Legislation Act 1989*, section 5, that the Department of Planning, Housing and Infrastructure is proposing to replace the Valuation of Land Regulation 2018 with the Valuation of Land Regulation 2025.

The object of this regulation is to repeal and remake, with minor changes, the Valuation of Land Regulation 2018.

The draft regulation is on public exhibition from 30 May 2025 to 29 June 2025.

Members of the public are invited to have their say by making a written submission via email before 5:30pm on Sunday, 29 June 2025.

You can read the proposed regulation and find out how to make a submission by visiting: <a href="nsw.gov.au/have-your-say">nsw.gov.au/have-your-say</a>.

29 May 2025

Stewart McLachlan Chief Executive Officer Value NSW